
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Monday, 2 September 2019. 
 01476 406080

Paul Thomas, Interim Chief Executive
www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

    

Tuesday, 10 September 2019 at 4.00 pm
Witham Room - Council Offices, St. Peter's Hill, 

Grantham. NG31 6PZ

Cabinet 
Members:

Councillor Matthew Lee, The Leader of the Council (Chairman)
Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Deputy Leader of the Council (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor Barry Dobson, Cabinet Member for Housing
Councillor Helen Goral, Cabinet Member for Growth
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations
Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Communities, Health and Wellbeing
Councillor Nick Robins, Cabinet Member for Planning
Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance
Councillor Hannah Westropp, Cabinet Member for Communications and Engagement

Agenda
1.  Apologies

2.  Minutes of the previous meeting
Minutes of the meeting held on 9 July 2019.

3.  Disclosure of Interests (if any)

4.  Local Plan (Key Decision)
Report of the Cabinet Member for Planning on consultation in respect of the 
schedule of the main modification to the Local Plan following its public 

(Pages 3 - 136)

Cabinet

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


examination.

5.  University Centre, South Kesteven (Key Decision)
Report of the Cabinet Member for Growth on the award of a contract for the fit 
out works for the university centre in Grantham and delegate authority for 
making in-project decisions.

(Pages 137 - 140)

6.  Witham Slea Blue/Green Corridor (Key Decision)
Report of the Cabinet Member for Growth.

(Pages 141 - 148)

7.  Climate change emergency
Report of the Cabinet Member for Environment on declaring a climate 
emergency.

(Pages 149 - 159)

8.  Matters Referred to Cabinet by the Council or Overview & Scrutiny 
Committees
Report of the Leader of the Council.

(Pages 161 - 169)

9.  Representations and questions from Non Cabinet Members

10.  Cabinet Forward Plan
Report of the Leader of the Council.

(Pages 171 - 181)

Exclusion of the press and public

The appendices to the non-key decision relating to the purchase of land in Grantham contain 
information that is exempt under paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 
(as amended). If members wish to discuss the content of these appendices it may be necessary to 
exclude the press and public from the meeting to ensure that information that is exempt under these 
provisions is not disclosed to them.

11.  Items raised by Cabinet Members including reports on Key and Non Key 
Decisions taken under Delegated Powers.
Report of the Leader of the Council.

(Pages 183 - 306)

12.  Any other business which the Chairman, by reason of special 
circumstances, decides is urgent



Cabinet 
10th September 2019

Report of: Councillor Nick Robins, 
Cabinet Member for Planning

        

Local Plan – Proposed Main Modifications

Report Author

Roger Ranson, Head of Planning Policy 

 01476 406438

 r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Growth Key All Wards

Reviewed by: Sylvia Bland, Head of Development Control 27 August 2019

Approved by: Paul Thomas, Interim Chief Executive 30 August 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Nick Robins, Cabinet Member for Planning 1 September 2019

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

1. It is recommended that Cabinet considers and approves for public consultation the 
schedule of main modifications to the Local Plan following its public examination, 
as set out in Appendices 1 and 2, in order that the plan is found sound.

2. It is recommended that Cabinet approves the draft Local Development Scheme as 
set out in Appendix 4 of this report setting out the timetable for the Local Plan and 
associated development plan documents. 

3

Agenda Item 4

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
1.1 Members will be aware that the Local Plan was approved for its statutory consultation and 

subsequent submission to the Secretary of State at the meeting of full Council held on 24th 
May 2018.  The plan together with all valid responses made to the statutory consultation 
was submitted to the Secretary of State in January 2019.  A public examination into the plan 
was conducted by an independent Government appointed Inspector during May 2019. 

1.2 This process has followed The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012  which requires a local planning authority to ‘submit’ its Local Plan for 
examination, and that ‘submitted’ document must be the same one as was consulted upon 
prior to its submission (i.e. the ‘Proposed Submission’ Local Plan). In other words, the local 
planning authority is not permitted to make changes to the Local Plan, from the Proposed 
Submission version to the Submitted version.

1.3 However, sections 20 and 23 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as 
amended, inter alia, by the Localism Act 2011) makes provision for ‘modifications’ to be 
made to a Local Plan, from the Submitted Local Plan and before it is adopted. In legal 
terminology, there are two types of ‘modifications’: ‘main’ and ‘additional’. The ‘additional’ 
modifications are commonly referred to as ‘minor’ modifications, to more clearly distinguish 
them from ‘main’ modifications.

1.4 Only the Inspector can ‘recommend’ (though in a practical sense, if the Local Plan is to be 
adopted, this means ‘require’) ‘main modifications’. These are modifications which are 
necessary to make the Submitted Local Plan ‘sound’, and therefore enable the Local Plan 
to be adopted by the Council. A local planning authority, however must ask the Inspector to 
recommend such main modifications (s20(7C)). South Kesteven District Council made that 
request prior to the commencement of the Local Plan examination, knowing that the plan 
would require main modifications to be made to it. 

1.5 Whilst only the Inspector can recommend ‘main modifications’, it is common practice for the 
local planning authority to suggest what those main modifications could be. The reasons 
why a local planning authority might suggest such main modifications are:

- Because the local planning authority itself has spotted something in (or missing from) 
the Submitted Local Plan which appears to be ‘unsound’, and wishes the Inspector to 
recommend a modification to correct it; and/or

- Because, as part of the ongoing examination process, it appears to both the Inspector 
and the local planning authority that an amendment is necessary, and therefore the 
Inspector asks the local planning authority to make a suggestion as to what an 
amendment might be.

1.6 Appendix 1 sets out a schedule of the current list of ‘main modifications’ to be suggested by 
the South Kesteven District Council to the Inspector for his consideration (i.e. these are 
changes compared with the Local Plan which has been Submitted (which in turn, is the 
same Local Plan which was consulted upon as a Proposed Submission version, in 2018).  
This is accompanied by related changes to the Policies map – Appendix 2 – and an 
addendum to the Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal – Appendix 3.  Whilst these are 
suggested ‘main modifications’ following the public hearing, it is recognised that these are 
necessary to ensure that the plan is found sound through its examination.  These are 
therefore recommended to the Cabinet to approve for public consultation.  Responses made 
to this consultation will then be forwarded to the Inspector to enable him to produce his final 

4



report on the examination.  It should be made clear that this consultation is only concerned 
with the proposed main modifications identified to make the Local Plan 'sound' and is not a 
consultation on the Local Plan as a whole. Consultation on the Proposed Main 
Modifications, Proposed Policies Map Modifications and the accompanying Sustainability 
Appraisal is expected to run for 6 weeks from 30th September to 11th November 2019 if 
Cabinet agrees to the recommendations set out in this report.  

1.7 Following receipt of this final report from the Inspector, the Council will then be in a position 
to adopt the Local Plan.  There is absolutely no obligation on the Inspector to accept any of 
the Council’s suggested main modifications. The Inspector will consider them all, and will 
determine the final list of main modifications which are necessary to make the Local Plan 
‘sound’, and therefore adoptable. The final ‘main modifications’ list prepared by the 
Inspector might exclude all or some in the suggested list attached, might amend some in 
the suggested list, and/or might add new main modifications not currently set out in the 
suggested list. 

1.8 The legislation also allows a local planning authority to prepare a schedule of ‘additional 
(minor) modifications’, and include such modifications in the final Local Plan which it adopts. 
These minor modifications are not considered or approved by the Inspector, and do not 
require consultation. The legislation (s23(3)(b)) makes it clear what could constitute a ‘minor 
modification’: in short, the minor modifications (taken together) must not materially affect the 
policies that would be set out in the Local Plan if it was adopted with the main modifications 
but no other modifications. It is completely at the discretion of the local planning authority to 
prepare a list of ‘minor modifications’, and to take responsibility for ensuring that such 
modifications are indeed ‘minor’ (i.e. do not materially affect the policies). In practice, ‘minor 
modifications’ tend to be very minor indeed. They are normally one of the following:

- Correcting typographical errors;

- Presentational improvements;

- Updating factual text; and

-  Minor wording changes, to make the text clearer

There are usually very few ‘minor modifications’ which apply to policies themselves within a 
Local Plan. They normally only apply to the supporting text. Where they do apply to policies, 
particular care needs to be taken that they are indeed ‘minor’.  These are not open to 
consultation and full Council at its meeting on 24th May 2018 delegated minor changes to 
the plan to the Strategic Director of Growth in consultation with the Cabinet portfolio holder.

1.9 There are a number of main modifications and the key elements of the suggested main 
modifications deal with the following:

- The full objectively assessed need for housing (OAN) should be increased from 625 
dwellings per annum in the submitted plan to include a 5-6% uplift for market signals. 
The modified OAN would be 650 dwellings and should apply from 2016/17 onwards 
for the remainder of the plan period.  

- Clarity within the plan at Policy SP1 and within the monitoring section that the land 
supply assessment is predicated on a 20% buffer brought forward to provide choice 
and competition and the “Liverpool” approach to recovering past shortfall in housing 
delivery.

5



- The re-allocation of employment site BO.E2 Land North of Manning Road, Bourne for 
residential development (107 dwellings) and connected insertion of new policy BRN-
H1, and modification of Policy BRN.1 in respect of the balance of the town’s housing 
requirement to be allocated through a Neighbourhood Plan.

- An extension to the employment allocation at the Grantham Southern gateway, policy 
GR.SE1 to bring forward an additional parcel of land for employment use.   The 
inclusion of Roseland Business Park (R1) under PolicyE1.  Moving site DEP.SE1 
(Peterborough Road, Market Deeping) from Policy E1 to E2.  No other de-allocations 
of any employment sites other than Manning Road, Bourne site as referenced above.

- An increase in the capacity at the proposed allocation at Prince William of Gloucester 
Barracks, Grantham to be delivered within the plan period from 500 to 1775 dwellings 
including 175 units within the deliverable supply and an additional 8ha employment 
land allocation through a modified Policy GR3- H5. 

- Increases to the capacity of the following proposed allocations: Wilsford Lane North, 
Ancaster to 96 dwellings; Low Road, Barrowby to 270 dwellings (this to be an 
authoritative figure rather than indicative) and Linchfield Road, Deepings to 680 
dwellings.

- An amendment to Policy H2 on Affordable Housing to reduce the requirement to 20% 
in the urban area of Grantham due to the viability of developments here and in line 
with the findings of the Housing Delivery Test Action Plan.  The affordable housing 
requirement will remain at 30% elsewhere except for the urban extensions on the edge 
of Grantham which will be subject to individual viability appraisal.

- An early review policy to respond to the latest housing need methodology including 
any duty to co-operate considerations as well as future employment land requirements 
and provision of sites to need identified needs for gypsy and traveller accommodation.

1.10 To take account of the progress with the Local Plan, a revised Local Development 
Scheme has been prepared, setting the timetable for taking the plan forward to adoption 
alongside other proposed development plan documents.  This is attached at Appendix 4 
and is recommended to Cabinet for approval.

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
2.1 The Local Plan has been subject to considerable consultation in line with statutory 

requirements throughout its preparation and production.  The Cabinet is recommended to 
approve the suggested main modifications for public consultation, with the responses to this 
consultation being forwarded to the Inspector for his consideration.   

2.2 This report is due to be considered by the Finance, Economic Development and Corporate 
Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC) at its meeting on 5th September and  
therefore any comments from the OSC will be reported at the meeting of Cabinet.    

3 Available Options Considered
3.1 Whilst these main modifications are suggestions, in reality they are required to ensure that 

the Local Plan is found sound through its independent examination and take account of all 
the evidence presented at the public hearing of the examination.  The only other available 
option for the Cabinet to the proposed recommendations is therefore not to accept the main 
modifications.  This is not recommended as it would lead to the Local Plan being found 
unsound and therefore the Council needing to start on the production of a new Local Plan, 

6



with a lack of up to date adopted local planning policies to guide future development 
proposals in the meantime.   

4 Preferred Option
4.1 The preferred option therefore is for Cabinet considers this report and approves the 

recommendations set out above.  

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s)
5.1 This will enable the Local Plan to be found sound through its independent examination and 

progress to its statutory adoption.  

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
6.1 Following the decision of Cabinet, it is necessary to undertake public consultation on the 

suggested main modifications.  Responses to the consultation will be forwarded to the 
Inspector to enable him to complete his final report.  On receipt of the final report, the Council 
can then move forward to adopt the Local Plan.

7 Financial Implications 
7.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.  Financial Implications 

reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Director of Finance. 

8 Legal and Governance Implications 
8.1 There are no direct legal implications arising from this report, other than the statutory 

requirements for producing the Local Plan in line with the Town and Country Planning 
(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 and the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004 (as amended, inter alia, by the Localism Act 2011), which are set out in the body 
of the report.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Lee Sirdifield, Strategic Director – Transformation 
and Change. 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
9.1 There are no direct equality and safeguarding implications arising from this report.

10 Risk and Mitigation
10.1 There are no significant risks to the Council arising from this report.

11 Community Safety Implications 
11.1 There are no significant community safety implications arising from this report.

12 Other Implications (where significant) 
12.1 None

13 Background Papers
13.1 None

14 Appendices
14.1 Appendix 1 – Schedule of suggested main modifications to the South Kesteven Local Plan

7



14.2 Appendix 2 – Proposed related changes to the Policies Map

14.3 Appendix 3 - Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal addendum 

14.4 Appendix 4 - Draft Local Development Scheme 

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

26 July 2019

Previously Considered by: Finance, 
Economic Development and Corporate 
Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee

5 September 2019

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  10 September 2019

8



 

 
 

 

 

South Kesteven Local Plan 

 

Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications 

 

Published xxxx 

 

 

 

FOR CONSULTATION ONLY 

 

 

9

A
ppendix 1



 

 
 

South Kesteven Local Plan – Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications 

Introduction 

The Local Plan was submitted to the Secretary of State on January 15th 2019, and Hearing Sessions were conducted by Government appointed Inspector 

David Spencer in May 2019.  Sections 20 and 23 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended, inter alia, by the Localism Act 2011) make 

provision for modifications to be made to a Local Plan, from the Submitted Local Plan and before it is adopted. 

In legal terminology there are two types of modifications, ‘main’ and ‘additional’.  The additional modifications are commonly referred to as ‘minor’ 

modifications, to more clearly distinguish them from ‘main modifications’.  This schedule includes proposed main modifications. 

Proposed Main Modifications 

Main modifications are modifications which are necessary to make the Submitted Local Plan ‘sound’, and therefore enable the Local Plan to be adopted.  A 

local planning authority must ask the Inspector to recommend such main modifications.  South Kesteven District Council asked Inspector David Spencer to 

recommend modifications within a letter sent to the Inspector on 11 March 2019 (ref. EX/SKDC/11 within the Examination Library). 

Whilst the Inspector can recommend ‘main modifications’, it is common practice for the local planning authority to suggest what those main modifications 

could be.  The reasons why a local planning authority might suggest such main modifications are: 

• Because a local planning authority itself has spotted something in (or missing from) the Submitted Local Plan which appears to be ‘unsound’, and 

wishes the Inspector to recommend a modification to correct it; and/or 

• Because, as part of the ongoing examination process, it appears to both the Inspector and the local planning authority that an amendment is 

necessary, and therefore the Inspector asks the local planning authority to make a suggestion as to what an amendment might be. 

The first column of the schedule is the reference number of the suggested modification.  Also included is cross-reference to the Inspector’s Action Points 

(ref. EX/INS/21 within the Examination Library).  The second, third, fourth and fifth columns show the relevant section, policy, paragraph and page number 

to easily reference the modification.  The sixth column cross-references any main modifications proposed to the Policies Maps.  The seventh and eight 

columns detail the proposed modifications and the justification for it, and the ninth column identifies whether the modification should be subject to 

Sustainability Appraisal, in the opinion of the Council.  The schedule is ordered by page number. 

Proposed main modifications to the Local Plan policies and text is denoted by strikethrough of deleted text; and newly inserted text is underlined and in 

bold. 

10

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=24762&p=0
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=24762&p=0
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25113&p=0
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25113&p=0


 

 
 

 

 

Determining whether a Sustainability Appraisal is required 

The Main Modifications will be screened for their likely significance in terms of impact on the Sustainability Objectives. Significant modifications in terms of 

the SA are considered to be changes that altered the focus of the policy, insertion of additional policy criteria or changes that placed a greater emphasis on 

certain elements of a policy. 

• Non-significant modifications in terms of the SA were considered to be grammatical corrections, updated information, changes for improved clarity 

and/or changes to re-structure a policy but with no additions or deletions to text. 

 

• Changes considered to be significant require re-visiting the previous SA work and considering whether the previous scoring and commentaries are 

still relevant and valid. Any new policies introduced into the Local Plan as a result of the proposed main modifications will require SA. 

 

Commenting upon the Main Modifications  

Any representations received on this schedule of Proposed Modifications, and the accompanying Policy Map Modifications, will be carefully considered by 

the Inspector prior to their report being finalised, and prior to the Local Plan being formally adopted. 

Representations should only be made on the modifications as set out in this document. This is not a consultation on the full Local Plan. 

Please send all representations (making it clear that it is a representation on this consultation document, and what aspect you are commenting upon) to: 

Email:    planningpolicy@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Post:     Planning Policy  
South Kesteven Council Offices,  
St. Peter’s Hill 
Grantham, 
Lincolnshire,  
NG31 6PZ 

11



 

1 
 

Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications 

 

New MM 
Reference 
(ordered by 
page 
number) 

Section of 
Proposed 
Submission 
Version 

Sub Section/Policy Paragraph Page 
No. 

Proposals 
Map Ref. 

Proposed Main Modification  Justification SA 

MM1 
 
AP70 

(iv) Summary Planning for 
population 
changes 

 15  Amend text on page 15; 
 
This population growth and the likely changes to households have been used to produce an assessment of the 
number of additional homes required in the District up to 2036.The assessed need is based on the 
Peterborough Sub-Region Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA), which covers the period 2011 to 
2036. This provides a minimum requirement for the new Local Plan to allocate sufficient land to enable an 
average of 650 625 homes per annum, uplifted from 625 from 2016, to be built over the period 2011-36. This 
equates to 16,125 15,625 new homes in the plan period. Taking account of homes already completed and 
already planned for, there is a remaining amount of around 3,400 6,909 homes to be provided for in the new 
Local Plan, as a minimum. 
 
Our aim is for the majority of all planned housing development to be focused upon growing Grantham in 
order to support and indeed strengthen its role as a Sub-regional Centre.  
 

Given their role as market towns with a range of services and facilities, the Local Plan also proposes new 
development in Stamford, Bourne and the Deepings.  
 
A review of the Larger Villages (formerly Local Service Centres) has been undertaken and the results 
show that Castle Bytham no longer has sufficient services and facilities to be classified as one. Fifteen 
Larger Villages have been identified and following a detailed site assessment process thirteen eleven 

sites have been identified as potential housing allocations. In addition to these allocations, the plan 
supports sensitive infill housing development within the built-up part of settlements and the 
redevelopment of previously developed sites in all fifteen Larger Villages. 
 

Factual Update to 
reflect amended 
Housing Need and 
Housing land 
supply. 

No 

MM2 General   18  Include a statement within the Local Plan (added to paragraph 1.2) and Policies Map: ‘This Local Plan replaces 
both the Core Strategy and Site Allocations & Policies DPD’ 

Legal Compliance No 

MM3 1. South 
Kesteven Local 
Plan 2011-2036 

What does the 
Local Plan mean in 
terms of growth 
for South 
Kesteven. 

1.9 – 1.11 19  1.9 This Proposed Submission Local Plan (June 2017) is based on housing growth in relation to the ‘Objectively 
Assessed Need’ (OAN). The OAN considered the need for market, affordable, and other tenures of housing 
across the District. The OAN has been determined through the preparation of a Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment (SHMA) (July 2014) March 2017 for the Peterborough sub-regional housing market area which 
includes the adjoining local authorities of South Holland, Peterborough and Rutland. Some elements of the 
SHMA, including the OAN figure, were refreshed in a report published in October 2015. The OAN increases 
from was assessed as 625  to 650 dwellings per year from 2016 to take into account market signals, this 
equates to or a requirement for 16,125 15,625 new homes across the period 2011 to 2036.As completions 
over the period April 2011 to March 2018 have been considerably below this average, there is a requirement 
for the Local Plan to plan for 686 dwellings per annum as a minimum for the remainder of the plan period to 
2036.  
 
1.10 In September 2017, the Government published a consultation document entitled "Planning for the right 
homes in the right places", which has the intention of moving away from localised methods of calculating 
housing need and instead focusing on a national standardised methodology for calculating 'local housing 
need'. However, the Government’s proposals as set out in the consultation on the revised NPPF allow for the 

Incorrect figure. 
Local Plan housing 
requirement is set 
out through Policy 
SP1. 

No 

12



 

2 
 

New MM 
Reference 
(ordered by 
page 
number) 

Section of 
Proposed 
Submission 
Version 

Sub Section/Policy Paragraph Page 
No. 

Proposals 
Map Ref. 

Proposed Main Modification  Justification SA 

Council to use its own evidence of housing need, based on the lower minimum assessed need of 625 650 
dwellings per annum, uplifted from 625 from 2016, for the period 2011 to 2036.  
 
1.11 Whilst the Proposed Submission Local Plan is based on the Council’s own evidence of housing need, the 
Plan contains a supply of housing it is intended to plan for housing growth of around 18 13% above the 
minimum required to deliver the OAN and Local Plan requirement of 16,125 new homes up to 2036. This will 
provide choice and consistency in housing provision and also address the under-performance of the housing 
market in recent years. As any future review of the Local Plan will need to take account of the Government’s 
proposed standardised methodology, the supply of housing planned level of growth as set out in this plan will 
ease any transition that will need to be in place at the first review of the Local Plan. 

MM4 
 
AP70 

1. South 
Kesteven Local 
Plan 2011-2036  

Challenges for the 
Local Plan to 
address 

 33  Amend text in table on page 33; 
 

Economic Challenges Social Challenges Environmental 
Challenges 

• High levels of car 
dependency and 
outward 
community by 
South Kesteven 
residents 

• 625 650 new 
homes, uplifted 
from 625 from 
2016, are 
needed annually 
over the period 
2011-2036 to 
meet our 
Objectively 
Assessed Need 
(OAN) 

• Need to protect 
and enhance 
local wildlife, its 
habitats and 
important 
natural features 

……. 

Factual Update to 
reflect amended 
Housing Need and 
Housing land 
supply. 

No 

MM5 
 
AP70 

1. South 
Kesteven Local 
Plan 2011-2036  

Creating 
Sustainable 
Communities 

1.60 36  Amend text of paragraph 1.60 as below;  
 
1.60 There is an assessed requirement for 15,625 16,125 additional new dwellings in South Kesteven from the 
period 2011 to 2036. The Local Plan allocates suitable sites to meet this housing requirement and will provide 
a trajectory which indicates how much housing development is expected to take place in each year of the 
plan period. The number of older people living in the District is expected to increase significantly over the 
plan period - this has significant implications for meeting housing, health and care needs, which the plan 
needs to positively respond to. There will be a need to plan for self-build and custom house building and to 
meet any requirements for assisted home purchase as well as Affordable Housing schemes currently available 
as well as any that may be introduced by the Government. 

Factual Update to 
reflect amended 
Housing Need and 
Housing land 
supply. 

No 

MM6 
 
AP74 

Strategic 
Objectives for 
the Local Plan 

Strategic 
Objectives for the 
Local Plan 

Table after 
paragraph 
1.73 

45  Include additional objective in the table after paragraph 1.73 of the Local Plan’s strategic objectives as below; 
 
Objective 15      To minimise pollution which affects health and wellbeing 
 
 

To enable air 
quality to be 
reflected in the 
strategic 
objectives of the 
plan.  

Yes 

MM7 
 
AP2 

Strategic 
Objectives for 
the Local Plan  

  45  Include Key Diagram (EX/SKDC/25) (appendix 2) into the Strategic Objectives for the Local Plan section, under 
the Strategic Objectives as follows: 
 

To accord with 
national policy 

No 

13



 

3 
 

New MM 
Reference 
(ordered by 
page 
number) 

Section of 
Proposed 
Submission 
Version 

Sub Section/Policy Paragraph Page 
No. 

Proposals 
Map Ref. 

Proposed Main Modification  Justification SA 

1.74 The diagram below indicates the broad spatial strategy for the Local Plan, and its context.  The reasoned 
justifications for this is detailed in subsequent plan chapters. 
 

MM8 
 
AP8 

2. Planning 
Policies for 
South Kesteven 

SD1 presumption 
in Favour of 
Sustainable 
Development  

 46  Modification is proposed to remove Policy SD1 from the Local Plan Policy repeats 
what is stated 
within the NPPF  

Yes 

MM9 
 
AP9 

2. Planning 
Policies for 
South Kesteven 

SD2 The Principles 
of Sustainable 
Development in 
South Kesteven 

 47  Insert an additional bullet point after bullet point e to read: 
 
f. the pollution of air, land, water, noise and light. 

To respond to 
comments made 
by the GLNP 
(SKR319) and to 
ensure 
consistency with 
para 109 of the 
NPPF. 

Yes 

MM10 
 
A22 

Spatial Strategy 
and Settlement 
Hierarchy 

Assessing Local 
Housing Need 

2.2 – 2.6 48  Amend supporting text (paragraphs 2.2-2.6) of Policy SP1 as follows; 
 
2.2 The Local Plan needs to make provision to meet the full objectively assessed need for market and 
affordable housing over the plan period. proactively plan for the future provision of new housing. The 
population of South Kesteven District is expected to grow by over 26,000 residents by 2036. The plan 
translates the and that growth in population into a need for a particular number of new homes, which it 
then distributes in a sustainable pattern across the whole of is translated into a need for additional new 
housing throughout the district. 
 
2.3 Previously the Core Strategy adopted in 2010 set out a requirement for 13,600 new homes from the 
period 2006 to 2026. This equated to a minimum requirement of providing an average of 680 new homes 
annually. By February 20187,680 new homes have been completed against the Core Strategy’s target figure 
of 13,600 with the average annual rate of completions being approximately 640 dwellings per annum over 
the Core Strategy plan period. 
 
2.34 Since the Core Strategy was adopted, the The National Planning Policy Framework was published by the 
Government in March 2012. has been It introduced a particular emphasis on significantly boosting the 
supply of land for housing, which is to be delivered through a ‘plan-led’ planning system. A new series of 
new household and population projections have also been published, which enable the Council to form an 
accurate and up to date picture of the district’s population and the way in which it is likely to change by 
2036. Specifically, that information has been fed into a Strategic Housing Market Assessment (March 2017), 
to derive South Kesteven’s and other change made to national planning policy. In addition, new population 
projections incorporating changes to the District’s demographic profile have been produced. The SHMA 
update (2017) has used these latest population figures in order to produce an Objectively Assessed Need of 
16,125 new for South Kesteven as 625 dwellings across per annum, for the period 2011 to 2036. To ensure 
the Objectively Assessed Need is met in full, the This equates to a minimum Local Plan requirement for 
South Kesteven is to provide an additional 15,625 16,125 dwellings across new homes over the plan period 
2011 to 2036, equating to 650 dwellings per annum after applying an uplift from 625 in 2016 to take into 
account market signals.  
 

For clarity 
regarding buffer 
of the housing 
supply and to 
update of figures 
in line with 
Objectively 
Assessed Need. 

No 

14



 

4 
 

New MM 
Reference 
(ordered by 
page 
number) 

Section of 
Proposed 
Submission 
Version 

Sub Section/Policy Paragraph Page 
No. 

Proposals 
Map Ref. 

Proposed Main Modification  Justification SA 

2.54 Since 2011, there have been 3,839 4506 housing completions. Details on housing completions are 
recorded in the five-year housing land supply assessment dated May 2019. 
 
2.5 Whilst the housing requirement is based on the Objectively Assessed Need, the Plan trajectory (which 
indicated broadly when and how much housing the Council expects to be delivered) contains a “buffer” of 
around 18% above the minimum required to deliver the Local Plan requirement of 16,125 new homes up to 
2036. The purpose of the buffer is to provide developers with a greater choice of sites and a contingency in 
case some which are included in the supply are not delivered within the timeframes anticipated. This 
should help insure the Council delivers at least the full requirement.  
 
2.6 Based on the context, vision and objectives of the Local Plan, Policy SP1 sets out the overarching spatial 
strategy for the Local Plan. This is then followed by Policy SP2 Settlement hierarchy. Taken together, they 
indicate how the total number of new homes that are to be built will be distributed across the whole 
district to achieve a sustainable pattern of development.  
 

MM11 
 
AP12 

Spatial Strategy 
and Settlement 
Hierarchy 

Policy SP1: Spatial 
Strategy 

 49  Amend Policy SP1 as below;  
 
 

SP1: Spatial Strategy 

 
The Local Plan will deliver sustainable growth across the District and throughout the Plan 
Period (2011 – 2036). To achieve new growth the Local Plan includes allocations for both 
housing and employment land. 
 
All allocations proposed in the plan are the most suitable and sustainable development 
options and provide for a variety of site types and sizes to ensure choice is offered to the 
market and delivery is achievable. 
 
The Objectively Assessed Need for South Kesteven is 15,625 16,125 new dwellings. To ensure the 
Objectively Assessed Need is met in full, the minimum Local Plan requirement for South Kesteven is 
16,125 dwellings across This equates to a minimum requirement to deliver on average 625 new homes 
per annum for the period 2011 to 2036., this applies an uplift from 625 to 650 dwellings per annum 
from 2016 to take into account market signals. 
 
In recognition of recent past housing delivery rates having previously been below the 625 
dwellings per annum requirement, the Local Plan incorporates policies and proposals 
sufficient to enable the delivery of approximately 13% in excess of the minimum Objectively 
Assessed Need. This approach will offer choice and contingency to the housing market, 
tackle affordability pressures and ensure the delivery of at least the minimum Objectively 
Assessed Need over the plan period. 
 
The overall strategy of the Plan is to deliver sustainable growth, including new housing and job creation, 
in order to facilitate growth in the local economy and support local residents. The focus for the majority 
of growth is in and around the four market towns, with Grantham being a particular focal point.  Larger 
Villages will provide a supporting role in meeting the development needs of the District. Development 
should create strong, sustainable, cohesive and inclusive communities, making the most effective use of 

For Clarity 
regarding buffer 
of the housing 
supply and an 
update of figures 
in line with the 
Objectively 
Assessed Need.  
 
To respond to 
comments made 
by the GLNP 
(SKR319 and 
SKR327) and to 
ensure 
consistency with 
paras 7, 10, 11 of 
the NPPF and to 
ensure internal 
consistency within 
the Plan. 
 

Yes 

15



 

5 
 

New MM 
Reference 
(ordered by 
page 
number) 

Section of 
Proposed 
Submission 
Version 

Sub Section/Policy Paragraph Page 
No. 

Proposals 
Map Ref. 

Proposed Main Modification  Justification SA 

appropriate previously developed land (where possible) and enabling a larger number of people to 
access jobs, services and facilities locally. Development should provide the scale and mix of housing types 
that will meet the identified need for South Kesteven (as informed by the Peterborough Sub Regional 
Housing Market Assessments) and a range of new job opportunities in order to secure balanced 
communities (as informed by the Employment Land Study). 
 
Decisions on investment in services and facilities, and on the location and scale of new 
development, will be taken on the basis of the Settlement Hierarchy as set out in Policy SP2. 
Proposals should protect the best and most versatile agricultural land so as to protect opportunities 
for food production and the continuance of the agricultural economy. Development affecting the 
best and most versatile agricultural land will only be permitted if:   
 

• There is insufficient lower grade land available at that settlement (unless development of such 

lower grade land would be inconsistent with other sustainability considerations); and 

• Where feasible, once any development which is permitted has ceased its useful life the land will 

be restored to its former use, and will be of at least equal quality to that which existed prior to 

the development taken place (this requirement will be secured by planning condition where 

appropriate). 

 

 
 

MM12 
 
AP13 

2. Planning 
Policies for 
South Kesteven 

SP2 Settlement 
Hierarchy  

 51  Modification to bullet 3 of Policy SP2 to include the following text; and modification of Thurlby and Caythorpe  
to include the adjoining villages of Northorpe and Frieston respectively: 
 

• In the Larger Villages as defined below, in addition to allocations, development proposals which 
promote the role and function of the Larger Villages, and will not compromise the settlement’s 
nature and character, will be supported.  
 

Ancaster Barkston 

Barrowby Baston 

Billingborough Caythorpe and Frieston 

Colsterworth Corby Glen 

Great Gonerby Harlaxton 

Langtoft Long Bennington 

Morton South Witham 

Thurlby and Northorpe 

 
 
Modification of policy to identify a defined reference list of “smaller settlements” which were assessed 
through the Settlement Hierarchy Review of 2017.  This would lead on from the larger villages section under 
its own separate bullet point.  
 

To include directly 
adjoining villages 
to the villages of 
Thurlby and 
Caythorpe  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Yes 

16



 

6 
 

New MM 
Reference 
(ordered by 
page 
number) 

Section of 
Proposed 
Submission 
Version 

Sub Section/Policy Paragraph Page 
No. 

Proposals 
Map Ref. 

Proposed Main Modification  Justification SA 

• In the Smaller Villages as defined below, development will be supported in accordance with Policy 
SP3, SP4 and all other relevant policies, where development will not compromise the village’s 
nature and character. 

 
 
           

Aisby Frognall Rippingale 

Allington  Fulbeck  Ropsley 

Aslackby  Greatford  Sedgebrook 

Barholm Great Ponton Skillington  

Barkston Haconby  Stubton  

Belton  Hanthorpe  Sudbrook 

Braceborough  Horbling  Swayfield  

Boothby Pagnell  Hougham  Swinstead  

Burton Coggles  Hough on the Hill  Syston  

Carlby  Ingoldsby  Twenty 

Carlton Scroop  Irnham  Toft  

Castle Bytham Kirkby Underwood Tallington  

Claypole  Lenton  Uffington 

Denton  Little Bytham  Welby  

Dowsby  Manthorpe (Bourne)  Westborough  

Dry Doddington  Marston Witham on the Hill  

Dunsby  North Witham  West Deeping  

Dyke  Oasby   

Woolsthorpe By 

Colsterworth  

Edenham  Old Somerby  Woolsthorpe By Belvoir  

Folkingham  Pickworth  
 

Foston Pointon  
 

 
 

For clarity 
regarding which 
villages policies 
SP3 and SP4 apply 
to.   

17



 

7 
 

New MM 
Reference 
(ordered by 
page 
number) 

Section of 
Proposed 
Submission 
Version 

Sub Section/Policy Paragraph Page 
No. 

Proposals 
Map Ref. 

Proposed Main Modification  Justification SA 

MM13 
 
AP15 

2. Planning 
Policies for 
South Kesteven 

SP3 Infill 
Development   

 52  Proposed modification to the policy to include reference to Policy SP2  
 
In all settlements defined in Policy SP2, infill development, which is in accordance with all other relevant 
Local Plan policies, will be supported that… 
 
Proposed modification to policy to include the following reference, to be inserted following the criteria: 
 
The Council is preparing a Design SPD to assist with the submission of applications against the above 
criteria SP3.  This Policy is to be read in conjunction with the Design SPD, and any development proposals 
will be expected to have regard to the Design SPD. 
 

For clarity 
regarding which 
settlements policy 
SP3 applies to and 
to reference the 
emerging Design 
SPD as a tool to 
enable successful 
applications 
against the 
criteria in Policy 
SP3. 

Yes 

MM14 
 
AP16 

2. Planning 
Policies for 
South Kesteven 

SP4 Development 
on the edge of 
Settlements  

 52  Proposed modification of Policy SP4 (Criteria a) to define “substantial support from the local community” 
 
Proposals for development on the edge of a settlement, as defined in Policy SP2, which are in 
accordance with all other relevant Local Plan policies, will be supported provided that the essential criteria a-f 
below are met. The proposal must: 
 

a. Demonstrate clear evidence of substantial support from the local community* through an 
appropriate, thorough and proportionate pre-application community consultation exercise. Where 
this cannot be determined, support (or otherwise) should be sought from the Town or Parish Council 
or Neighbourhood Plan Group or Forum, based upon material planning considerations; 

 
To be included on the end of the policy;  
 
* the term ‘demonstration of clear local community support’ means that at the point of submitting a 
planning application to the local planning authority, there should be clear evidence of local community 
support for the scheme, with such support generated via a thorough, but proportionate, pre-application 
consultation exercise, where demonstratable evidence of local community support or objection cannot be 
determined, then there will be a requirement for support from the applicable Parish or Town Council or 
Neighbourhood Plan Group. If an application is in doubt as to what would constitute a ‘thorough but 
proportionate’, preapplication consultation exercise, then the applicant should contact the applicable local 
planning authority. 
 
Proposed modification of Policy SP4 (criterion c) to clarify development adjacent to existing and extended 
edges. 
 

c. Be adjacent to the existing pattern of development for the area, or adjacent to developed site 
allocations as identified in the development plan; 

 

For clarity 
regarding criteria 
a of SP4 and 
defining in greater 
detail what is 
“substantial 
support from the 
local community” 
and how it should 
be sought.  

Yes 

MM15 
 
AP70 

Meeting 
Housing Need 

Delivering New 
Homes  

2.16-2.18 54   Amend text of paragraphs 2.16-2.18 as below; 
 
Delivering New Homes 
2.16 The Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) Updates 2017 establishes an Objectivity Assessed 
Need (OAN) for South Kesteven of 15,625 16,125 dwellings from 2011 to 2036 which equates to 625 650 new 
homes, uplifted from 625 from 2016 per annum. A breakdown of housing completions, commitments and 

Factual Update to 
reflect amended 
Housing Need and 
Housing land 
supply 

No 

18



 

8 
 

New MM 
Reference 
(ordered by 
page 
number) 

Section of 
Proposed 
Submission 
Version 

Sub Section/Policy Paragraph Page 
No. 

Proposals 
Map Ref. 

Proposed Main Modification  Justification SA 

proposed allocations by settlement category is set out below – Local Plan allocations are set out under each 
settlement: 

 
 
 
 
 
  
 

 Total 

Completions 

April 2011 to 

March 2018 

Consents 

(Full 

Permission) 

Commitments 

(Former 

allocations or 

Outline 

Permission) 

New Local 

Plan 

Allocations 

Total 

Grantham 1,107 792 5,222 904 8,025 

Stamford 569 489 134 2,112* 3,304 

Bourne 1,075 527 353 200** 2,155 

The Deepings 466 265 113 663 1,507 

Larger Villages 475 221 119 1,023 1,838 

Smaller Villages 183 90 20 540*** 833 

Total  3,875 2,384 5,961 5,442 17,662 

Calculation of 

Minimum 

requirement, 

2011-2036 

OAN gives 15,625 (625 x 25) plus a 13% over provision across the plan period 

gives a total of 17,662 dwellings 

19



 

9 
 

 

*assumes 650 capacity from the Quarry Farm to be considered within the Rutland Local Plan, in 
line with a Memorandum of Co-operation between South Kesteven District Council, Rutland 
County Council and Lincolnshire County Council 
**assumes capacity of 200 100 to be identified through the Bourne Neighbourhood Plan 
***windfall allowance in smaller villages to reflect policy change, based on 30 per annum for 
2018-36 2021-36. 
**** not including small site lapse rate 
 
 

 

 Total 

Completions 

April 2011 to 

March 2019 

Consents 

(Full/ RM 

Permission) 

Commitments 

(Outline 

Permission) 

Allocations 

(including 

allocations 

with 

planning 

permission) 

Council’s 

Proposed 

Capital 

Programm

e  

Total 

Grantham 1,424 1,147 1,410 4979 117 9,077 

Stamford 608 334 101 2112* 0 3,155 

Bourne 1,241 708 26 207** 20 2,202 

The 

Deepings 

582 295 152 753 11 1,793 

Larger 

Villages 

465 220 151 1,036 0 1,872 

Smaller 

Villages 

186 102 99 360*** 0 747 

Total Supply  4,506 2,806**** 1,939**** 9,447 148 18,84

6 

Percentage breakdown of new development based on Consents + Commitments + Allocations (sum 

of 2nd, 3rd and 4th columns above)* 

Grantham  50.3% 

Stamford 19.9% 

Bourne 7.8% 

The Deepings 7.6% 

Larger Villages 9.7% 

Smaller Villages 4.7% 

20



 

10 
 

New MM 
Reference 
(ordered by 
page 
number) 

Section of 
Proposed 
Submission 
Version 

Sub Section/Policy Paragraph Page 
No. 

Proposals 
Map Ref. 

Proposed Main Modification  Justification SA 

 
 
2.17 The NPPF allows Local Planning Authorities to make an allowance for windfall sites in the five year supply 
if there is compelling evidence that sites have consistently become available in the local area and will 
continue to provide a reliable source of housing supply. Windfall sites are sites not specifically identified as 
being available for residential development but which may come forward on, subject to suitability. Examples 
may include the redevelopment of previously development land within a 
town or village, or small infill sites within settlements. 
 
2.18 There is a strong track record of windfall sites becoming available in South Kesteven. Whilst the supply of 
windfall sites is finite it is expected that the number of new dwellings being delivered on small windfall sites 
in the smaller villages will continue, and the more permissive policy incorporated through SP3: Infill 
Development will further enable this. The windfall allowance for the smaller villages amounts to 30 dwellings 
per annum for 2021 -2036. This is calculated on the basis of the Plan period having a further 187 years. The 
Council is committed to delivering its OAN, as a minimum, and to ensure the Plan achieves a minimum of 625 
650 dwellings per annum, uplifted from 625 from 2016, the allocations included within the Plan are sufficient 
to deliver an over provision of approximately 13%. 18%. 
 

Percentage breakdown of new development based on Consents + Commitments + Allocations + 

Council’s Capital Programme (sum of 2nd, 3rd, 4th, 5th and 6th columns above)* 

Grantham  53% 

Stamford 18% 

Bourne 7% 

The Deepings 8% 

Larger Villages 10% 

Smaller Villages 4% 

MM16 2. Planning 
Policies for 
South Kesteven 

Meeting Housing 
Needs 
 
H1: Housing 
Allocations 

 56 LV-H1  
 
(ref. 
SKPMC-1) 
of the 
Proposed 
Policy Map 
Main 
Modificati
ons) 
 
DEP1-H2 
 
(ref. 
SKPMC-6 
of the 

Amend policy H1 as below; 
 
The following sites are proposed for residential development over the plan period. Sites are also shown on 
the Policies Map 
 

Policy Code Settlement Location Site Area 
(Hectares) 

Indicative number 
of units 

GR3:H1 Grantham Spitalgate Heath – 
Garden Village 

215 2,150 1,650 to be 
delivered by 2036 
(total capacity 
estimated as 
3,700) 

GR3:H2 Grantham Rectory Farm 
(Phase 2 North 
West Quadrant) 

61.05 1,150 

Factual update 
and clarification 
on the removal of 
allocations and 
site capacities/ 
delivery 

Yes 

21



 

11 
 

New MM 
Reference 
(ordered by 
page 
number) 

Section of 
Proposed 
Submission 
Version 

Sub Section/Policy Paragraph Page 
No. 

Proposals 
Map Ref. 

Proposed Main Modification  Justification SA 

Proposed 
Policy Map 
Main 
Modificati
on) 
 
LV-H7  
 
(ref. 
SKPMC-9) 
of the 
Proposed 
Policy Map 
Main 
Modificati
ons) 
 
LV-H4  
 
(ref. 
SKPMC-10) 
of the 
Proposed 
Policy Map 
Main 
Modificati
ons) 
 

GR3:H3 Grantham Rectory Farm 
(Phase 3 North 
West Quadrant) 

22.54 404 

GR3:H4 Grantham Land North of 
Longcliffe Road 

37.52 480 

GR3:H54 Grantham Prince William of 
Gloucester 
Barracks 

184 500 (1,775 to be 
delivered by 2036) 
(total capacity 
estimated as 
4,000) 

STM1-H1 Stamford Stamford North 53.03 1,300 

STM1-H2 Stamford Stamford East 9.13 162 

DEP1-H1 The Deepings Towngate West 3.12 73 

DEP1-H2 The Deepings Land East of 
Linchfield Road 

5.08 100 

DEP1-H32 The Deepings Land off Linchfield 
Road 

32.98 590 680 

 
Larger Villages 

LV-H1 Ancaster Wilsford Lane 
(North) 

2.32 3.95 35 96 

LV-H2 Ancaster Wilsford Lane 
(South) 

3.02 35 

LV-H3 Barrowby Low Road 13.05 230 270 

LV-H4 Billingborough Grimers Transport 
Site 

1.16 23 

LV-H54 Colsterworth Bourne Road 4.45 70 

LV-H65 Corby Glen Swinstead Road/ 
Bourne Road 

10.56 250 

LV-H7 Corby Glen Swinstead Road 
West 

1.38 30 

LV-H86 Great Gonerby Easthorpe Road 1.82 45 

LV-H9 Langtoft Former Gravel 
Works 

2.84 35 

LV-H107 Long Bennington Main Road (South) 1.87 55 

LV-H118 Long Bennington Main Road (North) 1.27 30 

LV-H129 Morton Folkingham Road 4.61 70 

LV-H1310 South Witham Thistleton Lane 
and Mill Lane 

1.42 34 

LV-H1411 South Witham Land North of 
High Street 

1.34 31 

LV-H1512 Thurlby Part of Elm Farm 
Yard 

2.53 50 

 
 

22



 

12 
 

New MM 
Reference 
(ordered by 
page 
number) 

Section of 
Proposed 
Submission 
Version 

Sub Section/Policy Paragraph Page 
No. 

Proposals 
Map Ref. 

Proposed Main Modification  Justification SA 

 

MM17 
 
AP24 & 
AP84 

Meeting 
Housing Need 

H2: Affordable 
Housing  

 61 Reference 
SKPMC-2 
of the 
Proposed 
Policy Map 
Main 
Modificati
ons 

Amend wording of Policy H2: Affordable Housing Contribution; 
 
H2: Affordable Housing Contribution 
 
All developments comprising 11 or more dwellings (or greater than 1000m2 gross floorspace) should make 
provision for 30% of the scheme’s total capacity as affordable housing, except within the urban area of 
Grantham as defined on the Policies Map where the affordable housing requirement on such developments 
will be 20%. 
 
This should normally be provided within the development site. Where it is demonstrated that a development 
proposal cannot accommodate the affordable housing requirement on site the Council may accept provision 
off site; or as a commuted sum in lieu. In such cases the applicant will be expected to demonstrate why this 
exemption should be made based on the viability and specifics of an individual site. 
 
Proposals which seek to under-develop or split sites in a way that seeks to reduce the Affordable Housing 
contribution and/or promote off-site provision will not be acceptable.  
 
All affordable housing will be expected to: 
 

a. include a mix of socially rented/affordable rent/intermediate rent and intermediate market housing 
appropriate to the current evidence of local need and local incomes as advised by the Council; 

b. be well integrated with the open market housing through layout, siting, design and style; and 
c. be of an appropriate size and/or property type to meet the need identified by the current evidence of 

local housing need for affordability the area; and 
d. meet the accessible homes standard applicable in that location. The size and location of groups of 

affordable homes should be discussed and agreed with the Council. 
 

The Council will expect this requirement to be met in all cases.  
 
The Council will consider site specific viability assessments only on brownfield development sites across the 
district and on sites within the Grantham residential allocations covered under Policy GR3. Otherwise, 
oOnly in circumstances where it is clearly demonstrated with financial evidence, that a site is affected by 
unforeseen abnormal costs (or exceptionally low completed development values) will a lower provision be 
considered. 
 
In such cases where site specific viability assessments are applicable, the Council will consider alternative 
options to deliver a range of affordable and intermediate products and an overage clause will be included to 
cover any the deficit in provision. This must be justified through clear evidence set out in a viability assessment 
which the Council will have independently assessed. The applicant will be expected to meet the cost of this 
assessment.  
 
Where commuted sum payments in lieu of provision have been agreed, they will normally be used where 
possible for the provision of affordable housing within the vicinity of the development site. In other 
circumstances contributions may be pooled to provide affordable housing elsewhere in the district. 
 

To provide clarity 
on affordable 
housing provision 
in line with the 
evidence. 

Yes 

23



 

13 
 

New MM 
Reference 
(ordered by 
page 
number) 

Section of 
Proposed 
Submission 
Version 

Sub Section/Policy Paragraph Page 
No. 

Proposals 
Map Ref. 

Proposed Main Modification  Justification SA 

 

MM18 
 
AP25 

Meeting 
Housing Need 

H3: Self and 
Custom Build 
Housing 

 63  Amend policy H3 to remove restriction as below; 
 
On sites of 400 or more units, up to at least 2% of the plots will be provided for self and custom build 
housing…. 

To lift the 
restriction on the 
provision of self 
and custom build 
housing  

Yes 

MM19 
 
AP26 

Meeting 
Housing Needs 

Policy H4: Meeting 
all Housing Needs 

 64  Amend Policy H4, criterion a. as follows: 
 

a. Enable older people and the most vulnerable to promote, secure and sustain their independence in a 
home appropriate to their circumstances, including through the provision of specialist housing (as 
defined in the Glossary) across all tenures in sustainable locations.   New housing proposals shall 
take account of the desirability of providing This will include provision retirement accommodation, 
extra care and residential care housing and other forms of supported housing. [Specialist housing 
provision should meet recognised dementia and/or relevant industry standards] 

 

For clarity Yes 

MM20 
 
AP27 

2. Planning 
Policies for 
South Kesteven 

H5: Gypsies and 
Travellers 

 65  Amend wording of Policy H5: Gypsies and Travellers; 
 
H5: Gypsies and Travellers 
Proposals for residential Gypsy and Traveller pitches will be supported where: 

a. the proposed site provides and acceptable living environment for its residents; 
b. the site has good access to the highway network and will not cause traffic congestion or safety 

problems; 
c. the site is in reasonable proximity accessible to shops, schools and health facilities by public 

transport, on foot or by bicycle; 
d. the site is not identified as an area at risk of flooding in the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA); 

and 
e. the scale and layout of the site will respect its relationship with any residential (settled) community 

and not place undue pressure on the local infrastructure.  

For clarity Yes 

MM21 
 
AP28 

2. Planning 
Policies for 
South Kesteven 

H6: Travelling 
Showpeople 

 66  H6: Travelling Showpeople 
Proposals for residential yards (or plots) for Travelling Showpeople will be supported where: 
 

a. the proposed site provides an acceptable living environment for its residents, including sufficient 

space for storage and maintenance of associated equipment;  

b. the site has good access to the highway network and will not cause traffic congestion or safety 

problems; 

c. the site is in reasonable proximity accessible to shops, schools and health facilities by public 

transport, on foot or by bicycle; 

d. the scale and layout of the site will respect its relationship with the residential (settled) community 

and not place undue pressure on the local infrastructure; and 

e.  the site is not identified as an area at risk of flooding in the SFRA. 

 

For clarity Yes 

MM22 
 
AP31 

2.Planning 
Policies for 
South Kesteven 

Economic 
Prosperity 

 76 GR-SE1  
 
(reference 
SKDCMC – 

Proposed additional site specific employment allocation policy for GR.SE1: 

 

A site specific 
policy to provide 
additional 
guidance to 

Yes 

24



 

14 
 

New MM 
Reference 
(ordered by 
page 
number) 

Section of 
Proposed 
Submission 
Version 

Sub Section/Policy Paragraph Page 
No. 

Proposals 
Map Ref. 

Proposed Main Modification  Justification SA 

3 of 
Proposed 
Policy Map 
Main 
Modificati
ons) 

Policy E1: Grantham Southern Gateway Strategy Employment Opportunity (118.91  hectares) 

This site is considered to be of strategic employment importance given its relationship to the principal areas 

of growth and its accessibility via the strategic road network.  

Proposals will be encouraged that help to create an attractive and vibrant gateway to the sub-regional centre 

of Grantham and that assist in delivering a step-change in the quality and quantity of employment 

opportunities provided in the town and District.  

Proposals will not be supported that cause harm to the strategic employment focus of this site. Appropriate 

proposals for new B1, B2 and/or B8 uses and/or redevelopment of for B1, B2 and/or B8 uses on this Strategic 

Employment Site identified on the Policies Map will be supported where proposals:  

• do not conflict with neighbouring land uses;  

• scale does not harm the character and/or amenities of the locality; and  

• do not impact unacceptably on the local and/or strategic highway network. 

 Other employment generating uses outside of the B-use classes may also be appropriate and will be 

considered where the promoter actively engages with the Council and an end-user for the proposal has been 

positively identified.  To encourage the delivery of these sites, the Council will consider supporting initial 

infrastructure provision that enables the first buildings to be bought forward. 

Proposals for development should:  

a. Create attractive landscaped edges to the western and southern boundaries, and incorporate new green 

infrastructure within the Strategic Employment Opportunity where possible; 

b. Bring forward development in a co-ordinated way to make the effective use of development land and 

highway infrastructure; 

c. Provide the highway infrastructure to access the site and to ensure that impact on the existing highway 

network is minimised, including the provision of any appropriate mitigation to the strategic highway 

network; 

d. Ensure that there are appropriate measures to enhance access and the provision of public transport to 

Grantham town centre; 

e. Provide safe and convenient highway, footway and cycleway connections throughout the Strategic 

Employment Opportunity, including the provision of footpaths along Gorse Lane;   

f. Provide appropriate surface water management; 

g. Ensure a good quality of design commensurate with the vision of creating a create an attractive and vibrant 

gateway to the sub-regional centre of Grantham  and, regarding land immediately to the south of Gorse Lane 

and to the west of the A1, have building heights which respect the sensitivities of the surrounding landscape;  

h. Demonstrate and incorporate suitable measures, where appropriate, to ensure that there will be no 

material adverse impact on the Bowl Barrow Scheduled Monument; and  

provide clarity to 
developers, local 
communities and 
other interested 
parties about the 
nature and scale 
of development. 

25



 

15 
 

New MM 
Reference 
(ordered by 
page 
number) 

Section of 
Proposed 
Submission 
Version 

Sub Section/Policy Paragraph Page 
No. 

Proposals 
Map Ref. 

Proposed Main Modification  Justification SA 

i. Provide a Minerals Resource Assessment to take account of the Minerals Safeguarding Area. 

 
 

MM23 
 
AP37 & 
AP34 

2. Planning 
Policies for 
South Kesteven 

Economic 
Prosperity 
 
E1: Strategic 
Employment Sites 

 76 EMP-R1 
 
(ref 
SKDMC-4 
of 
Proposed 
Policy Map 
Modificati
ons) 
 
DEP-SE1 
 
(ref. 
SKPMC-11) 
of the 
Proposed 
Policy Map 
Main 
Modificati
ons) 
 
GR-SE1  
 
(reference 
SKDCMC – 
3 of 
Proposed 
Policy Map 
Main 
Modificati
ons) 

Amend Policy E1; 
 

Policy E12: Strategic Employment Sites  

These sites are considered to be of strategic employment importance given their relationship to principal areas 

of growth and their accessibility via the strategic road network. Proposals will not be supported that cause harm 

to the strategic employment focus of these sites.  

Appropriate proposals for new B1, B2 and/or B8 uses and/or redevelopment of for B1, B2 and/or B8 uses on 

the Strategic Employment Sites identified on the Policies Map and listed below will be supported where 

proposals:  

• do not conflict with neighbouring land uses;  

• scale does not harm the character and/or amenities of the locality; and  

• do not impact unacceptably on the local and/or strategic highway network. 
 
 Other employment generating uses outside of the B-use classes may also be appropriate and will be considered 

where the promoter actively engages with the Council and an end-user for the proposal has been secured 

positively identified.  

To encourage the delivery of these sites, the Council will consider supporting initial infrastructure provision that 

enables the first buildings to be bought forward. 

Grantham 

Site Reference Address Hectares 

GR.SE1 Grantham Southern Gateway, comprising 105.94 comprising: 

SKLP323 KING 31 28.40 

SKLP227 and 
SKLP143 

Land South of Gorse Lane 15.20 

SKLP272 Land South of Gorse Lane, West of A1* 
*To respect the sensitivities of the surrounding landscape 
proposals on this site should be kept low profile, single storey. 
This site is also required to ensure the delivery of essential 
infrastructure and any development proposal shall not impact 
on the delivery of this. 

 

SKLP188 Land West of B1174 and East of A1 13.72 

SKLP202 Land West of A1 37.33 

 

Stamford 

Site Reference Address Hectares 

For clarity Yes 

26



 

16 
 

New MM 
Reference 
(ordered by 
page 
number) 

Section of 
Proposed 
Submission 
Version 

Sub Section/Policy Paragraph Page 
No. 

Proposals 
Map Ref. 

Proposed Main Modification  Justification SA 

ST.SE1* 
SKLP131 

Exeter Fields, Empingham Road, Stamford 9.80 

 

 

Bourne 

Site Reference Address Hectares 

BO.SE1 
(SKLP277) 

Land South of Spalding Road, Bourne 8.00 

 

The Deepings 

Site Reference Address Hectares 

DEP.SE1 
(SKLP281) 

Land Fronting Peterborough Road, Market Deeping 4.20 

DEP.SE2* 
(SKLP177) 

Extension to Northfields Industrial Estate, Market Deeping 14.00 

 

Long Bennington 

Site Reference Address Hectares 

R1 Roseland Business Park 9.01 

 

*This site is situated within a Minerals Safeguarding Area. Before considering a planning application or 

allocation for this site a Minerals Assessment will be required. 

#This site has implemented planning permission for B1, B2 and B8 uses. 

 

MM24 
 
AP34 & 
AP36 

2. Planning 
Policies for 
South Kesteven 

Economic 
Prosperity 
 
E2: Employment 
Allocations 

 78 BO-E2 
 
(ref. 
SKPMC-10) 
of the 
Proposed 
Policy Map 
Main 
Modificati
ons) 
 
DEP-SE1 
 
(ref. 
SKPMC-11) 

Amend Policy E2: Employment Allocations 
 
E23: Employment Allocations 
Appropriate proposals for new B1, B2 and/or B8 uses and/or redevelopment to B1, B2 and/or B8 uses on 
employment sites identified on the Policies Map and listed below will be supported where proposals: 

• Do not conflict with neighbouring land uses; 

• Scale does not harm the character and/or amenities of the area; and 

• Do no impact unacceptably on the local and/or strategic highway network. 
Other employment generating uses, outside of the B-use classes may also be appropriate on these sites, and 
will be considered where the promoter actively engages with the Council and an end-user for the proposal 
has been secured positively identified. 
 

For clarity Yes 

27



 

17 
 

New MM 
Reference 
(ordered by 
page 
number) 

Section of 
Proposed 
Submission 
Version 

Sub Section/Policy Paragraph Page 
No. 

Proposals 
Map Ref. 

Proposed Main Modification  Justification SA 

of the 
Proposed 
Policy Map 
Main 
Modificati
ons) 
 

 
*This site is situated within a Minerals Safeguarding Area. Before considering a planning application or 
allocation for this site a Minerals Assessment will be required.  
 
 
 

Site Reference Address Hectares 

ST.E1* 
(SKLP322 and 
SKLP324) 

Land East of Ryhall Road Stamford 3.80 

BO.E1 
(SKLP236) 

Adjacent to A151 Raymond Mays Way (Elsea Park), Bourne 1.20 

BO.E2 
(SKLP276) 

Land North of Manning Road and West of Meadow Road, Bourne 16.10 

BO.E3 
(SKLP279) 

Land North of Bourne Eau and East of Car Dyke, Bourne 3.00 

DEP.SE1* 
(SKLP281) 

Land fronting Peterborough Road, Market Deeping 4.20 

GR.E1* Prince William of Gloucester Barracks 8.00 

MM25 
 
AP37 

2. Planning 
Policies for 
South Kesteven 

Economic 
Prosperity 
 
E3: Protection of 
Existing 
Employment Sites 

 80 EMP-R3 
 
(reference 
SKDMC-8 
of the 
Policy Map 
Proposed 
Main 
Modificati
ons) 

Amend policy E3; 
 
E34: Protection of Existing Employment Sites 
 
The following locally important employment sites identified on the Policies Map will be protected to ensure 
continued provision of locally important employment opportunities. Proposals for the re-development of these 
sites, outside of employment generating uses will be resisted. Appropriate proposal for new B1, B2 and/or B8 
uses and/or redevelopment of for B1, B2 and/or B8 as well as other employment generating uses outside of 
the B-use classes will be supported where proposals: 

• do not conflict with neighbouring land uses; 

• scale does not harm the character and/or amenities of locality; and 

• do not impact unacceptably on the local and/or strategic highway network. 
 
 

Site Address Site Reference  Area (ha) 

Alma Park & Withambrook Park Industrial Estate, 

Grantham 
G27 34.98 

Autumn Park Industrial Estate, Dysart Road, Grantham G18 4.58 

Belton Lane Industrial Estate,  Grantham G25 1.97 

Burton Lane/High Dyke, Easton, Grantham R7 26.55 

Dysart Road, Grantham G8 0.70 

For clarity Yes 

28



 

18 
 

New MM 
Reference 
(ordered by 
page 
number) 

Section of 
Proposed 
Submission 
Version 

Sub Section/Policy Paragraph Page 
No. 

Proposals 
Map Ref. 

Proposed Main Modification  Justification SA 

Gonerby Hill Foot, Grantham G5 4.10 

Gonerby Moor, Grantham R3 
45.30 

35.83 

Gonerby Road, Grantham G6 7.90 

Fire Station, Harlaxton Road, Grantham G12 2.30 

Inner Street, Grantham G24 2.40 

Land at junction of Dysart Road and Kempton Way, 

Grantham 
G17 7.00 

Land North of Earlesfield Lane, Grantham G16 10.60 

Land South of Earlesfield Lane, Grantham G15 5.60 

London Road Industrial Estate, Grantham G21 3.20 

North end of Trent Road, Grantham G9 2.10 

North of Dysart Road/ west of Railway line, Grantham G19 4.10 

Londonthorpe Lane, Grantham G26 5.10 

Spittlegate Level, Grantham G20 15.80 

Springfield Park Industrial Estate, Grantham G13 7.70 

Swingbridge Road, Grantham G11 14.20 

Venture Way, Grantham G10 11.00 

Old Hampsons Site, Harlaxton Road, Grantham G28 0.80 

Old School, Station Road, Grantham G22 0.40 

East of Ryhall Road, Stamford S6 4.10 

Gwash Way, East of Ryhall Road, Stamford  S5 2.70 

Land North of Barnack Road, Stamford  S8 6.40 

Land south of Uffington Road, Stamford S2 0.40 

North of Barnack Road, Stamford S1 8.20 

29



 

19 
 

New MM 
Reference 
(ordered by 
page 
number) 

Section of 
Proposed 
Submission 
Version 

Sub Section/Policy Paragraph Page 
No. 

Proposals 
Map Ref. 

Proposed Main Modification  Justification SA 

North of Uffington Road, Stamford S7 2.20 

East of Cherry Holt Road, Bourne B7 9.10 

East of Cherry Holt Road, Bourne B9 15.00 

Pinfold Industrial Estate and adjacent area, Bourne B6 13.40 

West of Cherry Holdt Road, Bourne B8 6.60 

Northfields Industrial Estate, Market Deeping D3 21.10 

Honey Pot Lane, Colsterworth  R8 10.20 

Land adjacent to A1 Colsterworth R4 9.50 

King Street Industrial Estate, Langtoft R9 2.60 

Long Bennington Business Park, Main Road, Long 

Bennington 
R5 2.80 

Roseland Business Park near Long Bennington R1 
6.10 

35.83 

White Leather Square, Billingborough R6 4.30 
 

MM26 
 
AP39 

2. Planning 
Policies for 
South Kesteven 

Economic 
Prosperity 
 
E5: Loss of 
Employment Land 
and Buildings to 
Non-Employment 
Uses 

 83  Amend Policy E5; 
 

E56: Loss of Employment Land and Buildings to Non-Employment Uses 
 
In addition to the sites allocated in Policies E1 and E2 and the locally important employment sites listed 
in Policy E3, tThe Council will seek to retain and enhance existing areas of employment use, as well as 
the sites identified in Policies E1 to E4, unless it can be demonstrated that: 
 

a. the site is vacant and no longer appropriate or viable as an employment site – this may include 
the need for an and there is evidence that effective, robust and proportionate marketing of the 
land and buildings to be undertaken; and has taken place; 

b. redevelopment would maintain the scale of employment opportunities on the site, or would 
will deliver wider benefits, including regenerating vacant or unutilised land; or 

c. the alternative use would not be detrimental to the overall supply and quality of employment 
land within the district; or and  

       d.    the alternative use would resolve existing conflicts between land uses. 
 

 

For clarity Yes 

MM27 
 
AP40 

2. Planning 
Policies for 
South Kesteven 

E6 Rural Economy  84  Amend bullet point d. of policy E6 Rural Economy to read: 
 

E67: Rural Economy 

Proposals for the following types of small business schemes will be supported, provided that it is 
demonstrated that the business will help to support, or regenerate the rural economy: 

To respond to 
comments made 
by the GLNP 
(SKR320) and to 
ensure 
consistency with 

Yes 

30



 

20 
 

New MM 
Reference 
(ordered by 
page 
number) 

Section of 
Proposed 
Submission 
Version 

Sub Section/Policy Paragraph Page 
No. 

Proposals 
Map Ref. 

Proposed Main Modification  Justification SA 

 
Farming; 
Forestry; 
Equine; 
Rural enterprise; 
Sport and Recreation; and 
Tourism 

 
Proposals must demonstrate that they meet all of the following criteria: 
a. be of a scale appropriate to the rural location; 
b. be for a use(s) which is(are) appropriate or necessary in a rural location, providing local employment 

opportunities which make a positive contribution to supporting the rural economy; 
c. the use / development respects the character and appearance of the local landscape, having 

particular regard to the Landscape Character Assessment, and will not negatively impact on existing 
neighbouring uses through noise, traffic, light and pollution impacts; and 

d. avoid harm to areas, features or species which are protected because they are important for wildlife, 
biodiversity, natural, cultural or historic assets, including their wider settings.” 

the NPPF, which 
refers to the 
conservation and 
enhancement of 
the natural 
environment and 
biodiversity on 
protected sites 
and more widely. 

MM28 2. Planning 
Policies for 
South Kesteven 

Visitor Economy 2.84 86  Amend the text of para 2.84 to read: 
 
The visitor economy is an important part of South Kesteven’s local economy. The District attracts over 2.2 
million visitors a year, generating over £156 million and supporting 2,500 jobs. In addition to the architectural 
and historical beauty of the District’s villages, and countryside and natural environment, other major 
attractions within the District are Belton House, Woolsthorpe Manor, the Georgian heritage of Stamford, 
Grimsthorpe Manor, Easton walled garden and St Wulfram’s Church in Grantham; the rural parts of the 
District provide attractions through walking and cycling routes, canal and waterways, aviation history and 
other varied attractions…” 

To respond to 
comments made 
by the GLNP 
(SKR321) to 
recognise the role 
and importance of 
the natural 
environment in 
tourism activities. 

No 

MM29 
 
AP42 

2. Planning 
Policies for 
South Kesteven 

E8 Visitor 
Economy 

 86  Amend the wording of policy E8 Visitor Economy at bullet point a. as follows: 
 

E89: Visitor Economy 

Proposals for development of the local visitor economy will be supported where these: 
 
a. allow provision for visitors which is appropriate in use and character to South Kesteven’s settlements and 

maintains the quality of the countryside and the natural environment;” 
 

To respond to 
comments made 
by the GLNP 
(SKR321) to 
recognise the role 
and importance of 
the natural 
environment in 
tourism activities. 

No 

MM30 
 
AP41 

Economic 
Prosperity 

E7: Other 
Employment 
Proposals  

 86  Amend Policy E7: Other Employment Proposals as below; 
 
E78: Other Employment Proposals 
 
Other employment proposals in locations not covered by the above policies will be 
supported, provided there is a clear demonstration that; 
a. there are no suitable or appropriate sites or buildings within allocated sites or the built 
up area of existing settlements; 
b. there is no significant any adverse impact on the character and appearance of the area and the amenity of 
neighbouring uses; 
c. there are no significant any adverse impact on the local highway network; 

For clarity Yes 

31



 

21 
 

New MM 
Reference 
(ordered by 
page 
number) 

Section of 
Proposed 
Submission 
Version 

Sub Section/Policy Paragraph Page 
No. 

Proposals 
Map Ref. 

Proposed Main Modification  Justification SA 

d. there is no significant any likely adverse impact on the viability of delivering any allocated employment 
site; 
and 
e. there is a any business case which demonstrates that the business requires a location outside an 
allocated employment site. 

MM31 2. Planning 
Policies for 
South Kesteven 

Landscape 
Character 

 88  Insert new text after paragraph 2.85 as follows: 
 
The District can be divided into four National Landscape Areas and further subdivided into seven Landscape 
Areas, each with its own distinctive characteristics. The Kesteven Uplands, the largest and central part of 
the District, contains a high proportion of ancient woodlands, both semi-natural and replanted, and is 
abundant with species-rich calcareous grassland. The agricultural classification of the land is mainly Grade 
3, with swathes of Grade 2 along the Lincoln Edge. The Fen area of South Kesteven is also Grade 2 high 
quality agricultural land. Within the Fens, ecological interest is concentrated around the drainage ditches 
which can support a range of wetland species.  
 

To respond to 
comments made 
by the GLNP 
(SKR323) and to 
ensure 
consistency with 
the NPPF (in 
particular 
paragraphs 9, 109, 
117 and 118). 

No 

MM32 2. Planning 
Policies for 
South Kesteven 

Biodiversity and 
Geodiversity 

 90  Insert new text after paragraph 2.89 as follows: 
 
South Kesteven has a variety of nature reserves and protected sites as described below. These sites should 
be seen as part of an ecological network, managing, restoring and creating habitat in the right places helps 
rebuild a resilient network and enables species to thrive not just in one place but across wider landscapes. 
There are two Natura 2000 Special Area of Conservation (SAC) sites in the district: Baston Fen and 
Grimsthorpe Park. There are nearly 400 Tree Preservation Orders throughout the District and South 
Kesteven is also home to a nationally significant population of native White Clawed Crayfish.   
 
Development will seek to provide net gain to the environment and biodiversity of the District, in particular 
Priority habitats and species. This will ensure that the wider benefits of the natural environment can be 
appreciated by all; this natural capital includes flood alleviation, pollination services, healthy soil and clean 
air. 
 

To respond to 
comments made 
by the GLNP 
(SKR323) and to 
ensure 
consistency with 
the NPPF (in 
particular 
paragraphs 9, 109, 
117 and 118). 

No 

MM33 
 
AP5 

2. Planning 
Policies for 
South Kesteven 

EN2 Protecting 
Biodiversity and 
Geodiversity 
 

 91  Amend the wording of policy EN2 Protecting Biodiversity and geodiversity as follows: 
 
The Council, working in partnership with all relevant stakeholders, will facilitate the conservation, 
enhancement and promotion of the District’s biodiversity and geological interest of the natural environment 
throughout the district. This includes seeking to enhance ecological networks and seeking to deliver a net 
gain on all proposals, where possible.  
  
Proposals that are likely to have a significant effect on an International Site will be considered in the context 
of the statutory protection which is afforded to the site.  
Proposals that are likely to have a significant impact on sites designated internationally, nationally or 
locally for their biodiversity and geodiversity importance, species populations and habitats identified in the 
Lincolnshire Biodiversity Action Plan, Geodiversity Strategy and the Natural Environment and Rural 
Communities (NERC) Act 2006 will only be permitted in exceptional circumstances: 
 

• In the case of internationally designated sites (alone or in combination), where there is no alternative 
solution and there are overriding reasons of public interest for the development. 

To respond to 
comments made 
by the GLNP, to 
ensure 
consistency with 
the NPPF and for 
legal compliance. 

Yes 

32



 

22 
 

New MM 
Reference 
(ordered by 
page 
number) 

Section of 
Proposed 
Submission 
Version 

Sub Section/Policy Paragraph Page 
No. 

Proposals 
Map Ref. 

Proposed Main Modification  Justification SA 

• Proposals that are likely to have an adverse effect on a In the case of National Sites (alone or in 
combination) will not normally be permitted, except where the benefits of development in that location 
clearly outweigh both the impact on the site and any broader impacts on the wider network of National 
Sites. 

• In Instances where development proposals will have a negative impact on a the case of Local Sites (or 
other site of nature or geological importance), it should first be ascertained whether impacts could be 
avoided, if this is not possible, then they should be mitigated. If mitigation is not possible, then 
compensation will be sought. (e.g. Local Wildlife Sites) or sites which meet the designation criteria for 
Local Sites, the reasons for development must clearly outweigh the long term need to protect the site.  
 

In exceptional circumstances where detrimental impacts of development cannot be avoided (through 
locating an alternative site) the Council will require appropriate mitigation to be undertaken by the 
developers or as a final resort compensation. Where none of these can be achieved then planning 
permission will be refused. Where any mitigation and compensation measures are required, they should be 
in place before development activities start that may disturb protected or important species. 
 
Planning permission will be refused for development resulting in the loss, deterioration or fragmentation of 
irreplaceable habitats, including ancient woodland and aged or veteran trees, unless the need for, and 
benefits of, the development in that location clearly outweigh the loss or harm.” 

MM34 2. Planning 
Policies for 
South Kesteven 

EN2 Protecting 
Biodiversity and 
Geodiversity 
 

 91  Insert a new paragraph before the final paragraph of policy EN2 Protecting Biodiversity and Geodiversity, 
which starts “Planning permission will be refused for development….”: 
 
Development proposals that are likely to result in a significant adverse effect, either alone or in 
combination, on any internationally designated site, must satisfy the requirements of the Habitats 
Regulations. Development requiring Appropriate Assessment will only be allowed where it can be 
determined, taking into account mitigation, that the proposal would not result in significant adverse effects 
on the site’s integrity. 
 

For effectiveness, 
clarity and legal 
compliance with 
the Habitats 
Regulations. 

Yes 

MM35 
 
 
AP72 

2. Planning 
Policies for 
South Kesteven 

  91  Create a new sub heading ‘Green Infrastructure’ and insert new supporting text between the policy text 
boxes for EN2 Protecting Biodiversity and Geodiversity and EN3 Green Infrastructure as follows: 
 
The concept of green infrastructure involves a connected approach to environmental management. It 
utilises a landscape scale approach and focuses on the relationships between habitats, greenspaces, such as 
green open spaces, bluespaces as networks and the wildlife/communities that they benefit, rather than on 
the needs of individual sites, species and neighbourhoods. Green infrastructure provides multiple benefits 
and vital functions for the economy, people, wildlife and communities including health, tourism, flood 
management, climate change mitigation and clean air. It will be highly valued and considered a priority 
within planning.  
 
Green Infrastructure should provide for multi-functional uses for example wildlife, recreational and cultural 
experience, as well as delivering ecological benefits, flood protection and microclimate control. It includes 
habitats, rivers and their floodplains, greenspaces and civic areas and should operate at all spatial scales 
from urban centres through to open countryside. As such Policy OS1 should be read in conjunction with 
EN3.   
 

To respond to 
comments made 
by the GLNP 
(SKR325) and to 
ensure 
consistency with 
the NPPF. 

No 

33



 

23 
 

New MM 
Reference 
(ordered by 
page 
number) 

Section of 
Proposed 
Submission 
Version 

Sub Section/Policy Paragraph Page 
No. 

Proposals 
Map Ref. 

Proposed Main Modification  Justification SA 

Connectivity between different green infrastructure assets can help maximise the benefits that they 
generate. Well-connected green infrastructure assets create a network that allows and encourages 
movement by people and wildlife, helping to maximise the benefits and support adaptation and resilience 
to a changing climate.  
 
The Council will work to ensure the promotion of green infrastructure, prioritising proposals that 
contribute to net gain and enhancement of green infrastructure. 

MM36 2. Planning 
Policies for 
South Kesteven 

EN3 Green 
Infrastructure 

 91  Amend 1st paragraph of policy EN3 Green Infrastructure by creating a new 2nd paragraph after “…each other 
and the wider countryside” as follows: 
 
Development proposals should ensure that existing and new green infrastructure is considered and 
integrated into the scheme design, taking opportunities to enrich biodiversity habitats, enable greater 
connectivity and provide sustainable access for all. Proposals which may result in recreational and visitor 
pressure on designated biodiversity sites will be particularly expected to provide such green infrastructure. 

For effectiveness 
and clarity and 
legal compliance 
with the Habitats 
Regulations. 

Yes 

MM37 2. Planning 
Policies for 
South Kesteven 

EN4 Pollution 
Control 

 93  Amend the wording of policy EN4 Pollution Control before the 2nd paragraph as follows: 
 
Development should seek to minimise and where possible contribute to the protection and improvement 
of the quality of air, land and water. In achieving this:  
 
Development should be designed from the outset to improve air, land and water quality and promote 
environmental benefits.  
 
Development that, on its own or cumulatively, would result in significant air, light, noise, land, water or other 
environmental pollution or harm to amenity, health well-being or safety will only not be permitted. if the 
potential adverse effects can be mitigated to an acceptable level by other environmental controls, or by 
measures included in the proposals. It should also be ensured that nNew development proposals do should 
not have an adverse impact on existing operations.  
 
Development will only be permitted if the potential adverse effects can be mitigated to an acceptable level 
by other environmental controls, or by measures included in the proposals.    
 
Development that would lead to deterioration or may compromise the ability of a water body or 
underlying groundwater to meet good status standards in the Anglian River Basin Management Plan 
(required by the Water Framework Directive) will not be permitted.  
 
Where development is situated on a site with known or high likelihood of contamination, remediation 
strategies to manage this contamination will be required.   
 
Subject to the Policies in this Plan, planning permission will be granted for development on land affected by 
contamination where it can be established by the proposed developer that the site can be safely and viably 
developed with no significant impact on either future users or on ground and surface waters. 

To respond to 
comments made 
by the GLNP 
(SKR326) and to 
ensure 
consistency with 
the NPPF and the 
requirements of 
the Water 
Framework 
Directive. 

Yes 

MM38 2. Planning 
Policies for 
South Kesteven 

Reducing the Risk 
of Flooding 

 93  After paragraph 2.102, insert the following new text: 
 
The District contains some important Water Framework Directive (WFD) water bodies including the Upper 
Witham, River Welland and River Glens. The Upper Witham currently supports endangered native crayfish, 
brown trout and grayling. A range of pressures including poor habitat, diffuse and point source pollution, 

To respond to 
comments made 
by the GLNP 
(SKR328), 
consistency with 

No 

34



 

24 
 

New MM 
Reference 
(ordered by 
page 
number) 

Section of 
Proposed 
Submission 
Version 

Sub Section/Policy Paragraph Page 
No. 

Proposals 
Map Ref. 

Proposed Main Modification  Justification SA 

invasive species and low flows are impacting these water bodies and preventing the target of good status 
from being achieved.  
 
There is a requirement for the WFD status of surface and ground water bodies across the district to be 
improved. Therefore the Council will seek to deliver improvements to the water environment through 
development, which will not only help to improve WFD status but can deliver multiple benefits. The 
proposals to create a green corridor along the Witham in Grantham shows the potential for what can be 
achieved when considering growth alongside environmental enhancement opportunities.  
 
The WFD requires Member States to achieve ‘good ecological status’ in all surface freshwater bodies 
between 2015 and 2027 and to ensure that in future there is no ‘deterioration’ of the ecological potential 
of the water environment. Different water bodies are categorised based on four elements - biology, 
chemical water quality, physical structure and water quality – which together determine the overall 
ecological potential of the surface water environment. The Anglian River Basin Management Plan details 
what actions need to be taken in order for the WFD requirements to be met in the area. Development that 
could potentially lead to river status deterioration or compromise the achievement of good ecological 
status as set out in the Anglian River Basin Management Plan should be accompanied by a suitable 
assessment and proposals for mitigation.   
 
There is a presumption against the use of non-mains foul drainage, except where it is proven that it is not 
reasonable to use mains drainage, taking into account cost, practicality and sustainability.  
 
Brownfield land may be subject to contamination from previous uses, which can pose risk to surface water, 
human health and the wider environment. South Kesteven’s geology includes large areas dominated by the 
Lincolnshire Limestone which is classified as a Principal Aquifer. These aquifers exhibit high permeability 
and provide a high level of water storage. They support water supply and river base flow on a strategic 
scale.  Other substantial areas of South Kesteven are located over sand and gravel deposits which are 
classified as Secondary Aquifers. These aquifers support water supplies at a local scale and in some cases 
form an important source of base flow to rivers. Principal and Secondary Aquifers are vulnerable to 
contaminants.  
 
The Environment Agency is the statutory body responsible for the management of groundwater resources. 
As such proposed development on Brownfield sites should be considered in the context of its prepared 
guidance on groundwater protection ‘The Environment Agency’s approach to groundwater protection’ 
which sets out its approach to the management and protection of groundwater. The guidance is available 
on the Gov.UK website.   
 
Contamination can also occur in other locations, including in the countryside (e.g. by inappropriate 
spreading of materials such as sludges, or as a result of contamination being moved from its original 
source). 
 
In addition, some areas may be affected by the natural or background occurrence or potentially hazardous 
substances, such as radon, methane or elevated concentrations of metallic elements.  
In enabling redevelopment of brownfield sites remediation may be necessary. The level of remediation 
required will be dependent on the proposed end use of the land.   
 

the NPPF and the 
requirements of 
the Water 
Framework 
Directive. 

35



 

25 
 

New MM 
Reference 
(ordered by 
page 
number) 

Section of 
Proposed 
Submission 
Version 

Sub Section/Policy Paragraph Page 
No. 

Proposals 
Map Ref. 

Proposed Main Modification  Justification SA 

Where development is proposed on a site which is known or has the potential to be affected by 
contamination, a preliminary risk assessment should be undertaken by the developer and submitted to the 
local planning authority as the first stage in assessing the risk. Preliminary risk assessments and subsequent 
investigations should be carried out in accordance with the Environment Agency’s Contaminated Land 
Report (CLR 11) ‘Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination’, or any subsequent 
replacements.   
 
Unless this initial assessment clearly demonstrates that the risk from contamination can be satisfactorily 
reduced to an acceptable level, further site investigations and risk assessment will be needed before the 
application can be determined.   
 
Remediation strategies should be proportionate to the proposed end use and should seek to ensure that 
there is no additional risk arising from the development. Remediation strategies are dependent on 
desktop/research based survey and potentially testing/site investigation and these will advise the 
necessary level of remediation. Prior to submitting SuDS proposals, developers should ensure that land is 
suitable for soakaways, and that the soakaways would provide effective drainage and protect vulnerable 
groundwater from contamination.   
 
Where pollution issues are likely to arise, intending developers should hold pre-application discussions 
with the local planning authority, the relevant pollution control authority and stakeholders with a 
legitimate interest.   
 
In cases where planning permission is granted for development of a site on which the presence of 
contamination is known or suspected, the responsibility for safe development for the site rests with the 
developer and landowner. 

MM39 2. Planning 
Policies for 
South Kesteven 

EN5 Reducing the 
Risk of Flooding 

 95  Amend 4th paragraph of policy EN5 Reducing the Risk of Flooding to read: 
 
…On-site attenuation and infiltration will be required as part of any new development wherever possible. It 
should also consider the achievement of Opportunities must be sought to achieve multiple benefits, for 
example through green infrastructure provision and biodiversity enhancements in addition to their drainage 
function. 

To respond to 
comments made 
by the GLNP 
(SKR329). 

No 

MM40 
 
AP77, AP79 
and AP78 

Protecting and 
Enhancing the 
Natural and Built 
Environments/ 
The Built 
Environment: 
Promoting Good 
Quality Design  

DE1: Promoting 
Good Quality 
Design 

 99  Amend wording of Policy DE1: Promoting Good Quality Design; 
 

DE1: Promoting Good Quality Design 
 
To ensure high quality design is achieved throughout the District, all development proposals will be 
expected to:  

a. Make a positive contribution to the local distinctiveness, vernacular and character of the area. 
Proposals should reinforce local identity and not have an adverse impact on the streetscene, 
settlement pattern or the landscape / townscape character of the surrounding area. Proposals should 
be of an appropriate scale, density, massing, height and material, given the context of the area; 

b. Ensure there is no adverse impact on the amenity of neighbouring users in terms of noise, light 
pollution, loss of privacy and loss of light and have regard to features that minimise crime and the 
fear of crime; and 

c. Provide sufficient private amenity space, suitable to the type and amount of development proposed; 
Development proposals should seek to: 

To accord with 
building 
regulations. 

Yes 

36



 

26 
 

New MM 
Reference 
(ordered by 
page 
number) 

Section of 
Proposed 
Submission 
Version 

Sub Section/Policy Paragraph Page 
No. 

Proposals 
Map Ref. 

Proposed Main Modification  Justification SA 

d. Retain and incorporate important on site features, such as trees and hedgerows and incorporate, 
where possible, nature conservation and biodiversity enhancement into the development; 

e. Provide well designed hard and soft landscaping; and 
f. Effectively incorporate onsite infrastructure, such as flood mitigation systems or green infrastructure, 

as appropriate. 
 

All major development (as defined in the Glossary) must demonstrate compliance with: 
a. Building for Life 12; 

b. Lifetime Homes (only where the LTH requirement is stricter than Category 2); 

ig.   Neighbourhood Plan policies; 
       j.h  Manual for Streets guidance and relevant Lincolnshire County Council guidance 
       k.j  Village design statements, where approved by the Council.         
        j. For new residential proposals, development should perform positively against Building for Life 12; 
 
Planning permission for new residential development above a threshold of 10 or more dwellings will be 
granted subject to a target of at least 10% of new dwellings being developed as ‘Accessible and Adaptable’ 
in line with the optional standards set out in Part M4(2) of the Building Regulations. 
 
 
Residential development on sites of 400 or more dwellings All Strategic developments must contribute 
towards innovative design, to encourage sustainable living and working across the District. This should be 
delivered through exemplary design, construction and community facilities within all strategic developments.  
 
Residential development on sites of 400 or more dwellings and All large scale or other significant 
Developments (defined by the Council)* will undergo an independent Design Review, at an early stage as 
part of comprehensive masterplanning or through pre-application advice. The Council and the Applicant 
will be equally involved in the selection of a review panel. The cost associated with the Design Review will be 
covered, in full, by the Applicant. 
* It is not anticipated that this will apply to all significant developments will be determined and instead will 
be applied on a case by case basis, depending on the context of each individual site.  
 
When selecting schemes to undergo Design Review from both allocated sites and subsequent proposals, the 
following criteria will act as guidance: 
 
i. Significant major planning proposals that include large buildings or groups of buildings such as large 

scale housing schemes, religious buildings, museums or art galleries, hospitals, shopping and leisure 

complexes, and office or commercial buildings;  

ii. Strategic or regeneration opportunity sites;  

iii. Infrastructure projects such as stations, and other transport interchanges; 

iv. Sites with special significance or local interest or proposals which are out of the ordinary in their 

context or setting because of their scale;  

v. Schemes that by their nature, setting or location are likely to be seen as unusual, particularly 

controversial or setting a precedence. This includes proposals which are likely to establish the 

planning, form or architectural quality for future large scale development or redevelopment; and 

37



 

27 
 

New MM 
Reference 
(ordered by 
page 
number) 

Section of 
Proposed 
Submission 
Version 

Sub Section/Policy Paragraph Page 
No. 

Proposals 
Map Ref. 

Proposed Main Modification  Justification SA 

vi. Schemes with a significant impact upon the public realm, such as major changes in the public realm 

or proposals to enhance public squares and civic open spaces; and 

vii. Where a masterplan or concept framework is needed to ensure the satisfactory development of a 

complex or multi-ownership site.  

 

 
 

MM41 
 
AP80 

2. Planning 
Policies for 
South Kesteven 

OS1 Open Space  102  Amend the 4th paragraph of policy OS1 Open Space as follows: 
 
All new open space provision should take account of best practice guidance and design principles, and seek 
net gains to biodiversity and green infrastructure where possible. The longevity of new open space provision 
shall be safeguarded, through agreed management and maintenance arrangements.  

To respond to 
comments made 
by the GLNP 
(SKR330) and to 
ensure 
consistency with 
the NPPF. 

Yes 

MM42 3. South 
Kesteven’s 
Communities  

Grantham 
Residential 
Allocations 

3.18 116 GR3-H4  
 
(ref. 
SKPMC-7 
of Policies 
Maps 
Proposed 
Modificati
on) 

Amend wording of paragraph 3.18 
 
3.18 Further land is identified for allocation at Rectory Farm (North-West Quadrant) (GR43:H3). Land north of 
Longcliffe Road (Manthorpe) (GR4:H4) has recently been granted planning permission on appeal but is 
included as an allocation in order to establish development principles for the site to help guide further 
applications to enable development to take place. The Prince William of Gloucester barracks has been 
identified for release and redevelopment by the Ministry of Defence. This site (GR53:H54 Prince William of 
Gloucester Barracks (SKLP 316)) is allocated for development in the second 10 year period of the Local Plan – 
from 20262-2036.  
 

For clarification 
on the removal of 
allocation GR3-
H4: Land north of 
Longcliffe Road 
(Manthorpe) and 
delivery of 
GR3:H5 Prince 
William of 
Gloucester 
Barracks 

No 

MM43 3. South 
Kesteven’s 
Communities 

GR3: Grantham 
Residential 
Allocations: 
 
GR3-H1 Spitalgate 
Heath – Garden 
Village 

 117  Insert an additional development principle after bullet point j of policy GR3 –H1 as follows: 
 
k. That development should seek to improve biodiversity and minimise any impact on the Woodnook 
Valley SSSI. 

To respond to 
comments made 
by the GLNP 
(SKR333). 

Yes 

MM44 Grantham 
Residential 
Allocations 

GR3-H2: Rectory 
Farm (Phase 2 
North West 
Quadrant 
(SKLP134, 267, 
268) 

 118  GR3-H2: Rectory Farm (Phase 2 North West Quadrant) (SKLP134, 267, 268) 
Indicative Unit Numbers: 1150 
Approximate Density: 30 Dwellings per hectare 
Development of the North West Quadrant Phase 2 must be planned for in a comprehensive 
manner such that each of the three phases (and corresponding landowners/developers/site 
promoter(s)) work together to provide a single urban extension. 
 
The Council will work with the site promoter(s) / landowners / developers to ensure that a 
planning application / master planning strategy is developed that enables planning 
applications for the site to be progressed without compromising the delivery of the whole site 
comprehensively. 
 
Applications that fail to demonstrate how they relate and connect to the wider site, including, 

To include 2 
additional criteria 
regarding a 
comprehensive 
masterplan of the 
site, and 
mitigation 
measures to the 
Strategic Road 
Network.  

Yes 

38



 

28 
 

New MM 
Reference 
(ordered by 
page 
number) 

Section of 
Proposed 
Submission 
Version 

Sub Section/Policy Paragraph Page 
No. 

Proposals 
Map Ref. 

Proposed Main Modification  Justification SA 

where relevant, connections to the neighbouring Poplar Farm development will be resisted. 
 
The following development principles accompany this allocation: 
a. Development should provide a strategic access solution which limits the number of new 
access points onto the A52 Barrowby Road. The strategic access solution should include 
details on vehicular, pedestrian and cycleway connections to the adjacent Poplar Farm. 
 
b. The layout of the development should provide appropriate transport infrastructure 
measures to encourage walking, cycling and use of public transport in order to maximise 
opportunities for sustainable modes of transport. 
 
c. Provide for safe and convenient highway, footway, and cycleway connections throughout 
the site connecting residents to local schools, including the new Poplar Farm Primary 
School, community facilities and into the town centre. 
 
d. The development will make suitable open space provision including providing an 
additional playing field or land for such use, adjacent to the boundary of Poplar Farm 
School. 
 
e. Land in the North-West corner of the site, following the public footpath known as Barr 
11/4, shall be used for the provision of landscaping and open space only, to protect the 
sensitive landscape from development. 
 
f. The development should incorporate Sustainable Urban Drainage systems where 
practical and possible to do so. 
 
g. The development should provide net gains in biodiversity on site and contribute to wider 
ecological networks where possible. 
 
a. Development of this site should seek to positively incorporate strategic views towards the Town’s heritage 

assets and their setting (i.e. Belmount Tower, St Wulfram’s, and St Sebastian’s). The topography of the site 
shall be carefully considered to ensure that development proposals minimise possible harm to cross town 
views of these heritage features. 

 
b. Additional treatment capacity is required at waste water treatment works and new discharge permits are 

required for water quality targets. This should be incorporated early on in the development of scheme 
specifics as part of a scheme wide delivery strategy which demonstrates that capacity is available or could 
be made available to serve the development subject to phasing.  

 
c. To ensure the development achieves good, high quality design a design code will be prepared for the 

whole site. 
 
d.  Detailed proposals should come forward comprehensively to reflect the Development Brief for this site. 
 
l. The development will provide appropriate mitigation measures to the Strategic Road Network if required 
and demonstrated by relevant transport assessment and agreed with Highways England. 

39



 

29 
 

New MM 
Reference 
(ordered by 
page 
number) 

Section of 
Proposed 
Submission 
Version 

Sub Section/Policy Paragraph Page 
No. 

Proposals 
Map Ref. 

Proposed Main Modification  Justification SA 

 

MM45 Grantham 
Residential 
Allocations 

GR3-H3: Land 
adjacent to 
Rectory Farm 
(Phase 3 North 
West Quadrant) 
SKLP51 and SKLP 
313) 

 120  GR3-H3: Land adjacent to Rectory Farm (Phase 3 North West Quadrant) (SKLP51 and SKLP 313) Indicative Unit 
Numbers: 404 Assumed Density: 30 Dwellings per hectare  
The following development principles accompany this allocation:  
a. A comprehensive masterplan will be prepared for this site, which clearly sets out an appropriate 
relationship with the adjacent Rectory Farm site/s (Phase 2 North West Quadrant).  Detailed proposals 
should come forward comprehensively to reflect the Development Brief for this site.  
b. In masterplanning the site consideration should be given to providing vehicular, pedestrian and cycleway 
connections into the site from the adjacent Rectory Farm development (North West Quadrant Phase 2). 
c. The layout of the development should provide appropriate transport infrastructure measures to encourage 
walking, cycling and use of public transport in order to maximise opportunities for sustainable modes of 
transport.  
d. Provide safe and convenient highway, footway, and cycleway connections throughout the site connecting it 
to local schools, community facilities and into the wider town.  
e. The development should incorporate Sustainable Urban Drainage systems where practical and possible to 
do so.  
f. The development should provide net gains in biodiversity on site and contribute to wider ecological 
networks where possible.  
g. The northern edge of the site shall not extend any further north than as shown on the policies map; this is 
to prevent possible impact on heritage features, their settings and the landscape. 
 h. Noise mitigation measures shall be proactively incorporated in the development. 
 i. Sensitive landscaping treatments shall be provided along the northern edge of the site. 
 j. Additional treatment capacity is required at waste water treatment works and new discharge permits are 
required for water quality targets. This should be incorporated early on in the development of scheme 
specifics as part of a scheme wide delivery strategy which demonstrates that capacity is available or could be 
made available to serve the development subject to phasing. 
 k. To ensure the development  achieves good, high quality design a design code will be prepared for the site. 
l. The development will provide appropriate mitigation measures to the Strategic Road Network if  required 
and demonstrated by relevant transport assessment  and agreed with Highways England. 
 

To include a 
criterion regarding 
mitigation 
measures to the 
Strategic Road 
Network. 

Yes 

MM46 
 
AP62 

3. South 
Kesteven’s 
Communities 

GR3-H4 Land 
North of Longcliffe 
Road and Ryedale 
Close, Manthorpe 
Road 

 121 GR3-H4 
 
(ref. SKPC-
7 of Policy 
Map 
Proposed 
Modificati
ons) 

Remove allocation GR3:H4 
 Land North of Longcliffe Road and Ryedale Close, Manthorpe Road (SKLP45).  

Site has been 
granted planning 
permission  

No 

MM47 
 
AP63 

3.South 
Kesteven’s 
Communities  

GR3-H5: Prince 
William of 
Gloucester 
Barracks (SKLP316) 

 122  Amend wording of Policy GR3-H5: Prince William of Gloucester Barracks;  
 
GR3-H54: Prince William of Gloucester Barracks (SKLP316) 
Indicative Unit Numbers of a minimum of 3,500 – 4,000 (approx. 1,775: 500 (anticipated to be constructed 
delivered by 2036) 
 
Planning permission will be granted for the creation of a new settlement based on garden village principles, 
with a minimum of 3,500 to 4,000 dwellings on the site of the Prince William of Gloucester Barracks. Any  

To update Policy 
in light of new 
evidence, 
including the 
Statement of 
Common Ground 
with Defence 

Yes 

40



 

30 
 

New MM 
Reference 
(ordered by 
page 
number) 

Section of 
Proposed 
Submission 
Version 

Sub Section/Policy Paragraph Page 
No. 

Proposals 
Map Ref. 

Proposed Main Modification  Justification SA 

scope to increase site capacity beyond 4,000 dwellings would need to be subject to more detailed evidence 
and design work being undertaken.  
 
The new community should be developed as a comprehensive mixed-use scheme and should be developed 
in accordance with a comprehensive masterplan prepared for the whole site, which the Council will be 
consulted on prior to the submission of a planning application. 
 

The proposed development will comprise new homes together with employment generating uses, local 
services and community uses, extensive open space provision and substantial tree planting. The 
development must ensure that the following key elements are provided: 

a. a new employment generating area of about 8 hectares located to optimise access to the A52 in 
order to support the development of a sustainable new community; 

b. highway infrastructure to access the site and to ensure impact on the existing highway network is 
minimised, including the provision of any appropriate mitigation to the strategic highway network 

c. a demonstrable design logic that fosters and supports a sense of community; 
d. provision of new primary school and additional secondary school places as required; 
e. an appropriate mix of housing types, affordability and tenures to meet housing needs, subject to 

market conditions and viability; 
f. a village hub with local neighbourhood shops to serve the everyday needs of residents and create a 

community destination to support a sense of community; 
g. new green infrastructure incorporating networks of multifunctional green spaces; high quality open 

space; accessible opportunities for recreation through the provision of open space and private 
gardens; and the provision of areas of woodland and green access routes; 

h. safe and convenient highway, footway, and cycleway connections throughout the site connecting it 
to local schools, community facilities and linking to Grantham, Spitalgate Heath Garden Village and 
the wider countryside; 

i. appropriate surface water management including Sustainable Urban Drainage systems where 
practical; 

j. the establishment of appropriate liaison and governance solution identifying the ways in which 
long term stewardship can be secured to support the new community and to ensure the creation of 
a flourishing and vibrant place where people want to live and work in the future; and 

k.  consideration of the scope to increase site caapcity beyond 4,000 dwellings subject to more 
detailed evidence and design work being undertaken. 

 
For the purposes of any forthcoming planning applications, the Masterplan for the 
development will determine the capacity for the site and should therefore be supported by 
the following evidence: 
 

i. a comprehensive Travel Plan to maximise integrated transport choice and connections to services 
and facilities in neighbouring settlements. These could include; appropriate access arrangements 
and a network of dedicated pedestrian and cycle links throughout the new settlement with direct 
and clearly defined connections to neighbouring settlements and appropriate infrastructure to 
facilitate the use of electric vehicles; 

ii. of how development will avoid, minimise and where necessary mitigate or compensate any adverse 
environmental impact, enhance the landscape and provide green infrastructure to support the 
creation of new habitat and an overall increase in biodiversity across the whole site. 

Infrastructure 
Organisation. 

41



 

31 
 

New MM 
Reference 
(ordered by 
page 
number) 

Section of 
Proposed 
Submission 
Version 

Sub Section/Policy Paragraph Page 
No. 

Proposals 
Map Ref. 

Proposed Main Modification  Justification SA 

iii. of the most appropriate means of managing waste water and surface water that meets the 
requirements of the Water Framework Directive and secures improvements in water quality and 
surface water management; 

iv. of how development will avoid, minimise and enhance or compensate any adverse effect on 
designated and non-designated heritage assets; and 

v. that the new settlement will be developed within a set of high quality design principles concerning 
the use of appropriate styles and materials and incorporates sustainably designed “future proof” 
homes and workplaces 
 

The following development principles accompany this allocation: 
 

e. A comprehensive masterplan will be prepared for this site, which clearly sets out an appropriate 
relationship with the adjacent Spitalgate Heath – Garden Village allocation. 

f. To ensure the development achieves good, high quality design a design code will be prepared for the 
site. 

g. Additional treatment capacity is required at waste water treatment works and new discharge permits 
are required for water quality targets.  This should be incorporated early on in the development of 
scheme specifics as part of a scheme wide delivery strategy which demonstrates that capacity is 
available or could be made available to serve the development subject to phasing.  

h. The development should incorporate Sustainable Urban Drainage systems where practical and 
possible to do so.  

i. The development should provide net gains in biodiversity on site and contribute to wider ecological 
networks where possible.  

j. The development must provide safe and convenient highway, footway, and cycleway connections 
throughout the site connecting it to local schools, community facilities and into the wider town.  

MM48 Stamford 
Residential 
Allocations 

STM1-H1 Stamford 
North) 
(SKLP257/258/240
) 

 128  STM1-H1: Stamford North (SKLP257, SKLP258, SKLP240) Indicative Unit Numbers: 1,300 Approximate Density: 
30 Dwellings per hectare  
The following development principles accompany this allocation:  
a. A high level masterplan, supported by a detailed development brief, appropriate full transport assessment  
and phasing plan, is required for the entire site (to include for the land extending into Quarry Farm, Rutland 
with an additional capacity of 650 dwellings).  
b. The layout of the development should provide appropriate transport infrastructure measures to encourage 
walking, cycling and use of public transport in order to maximise opportunities for sustainable modes of 
transport.  
c. Safe and convenient highway, footway, cycleway connections shall be provided throughout the site 
connecting it to local schools, community facilities and into the wider town. 
 d. An East-West road to be provided through from Old Great North Road to Ryhall Road. This should offer 
mitigation to the town centre from the traffic generated as a result of this development. 
 e. The development shall accommodate specialist housing needs through the provision of retirement 
housing, extra care or residential care housing. 
 f. The development shall make provision for a new primary school.  
g. The development shall make provision for contributions towards the expansion or improvement of the 
adjacent secondary school. 
 h. The development shall make provision for a local centre, to serve the needs of both existing and new 
residents to the area. The local centre should include the provision of appropriate social and community 
facilities.  

To strengthen the 
amended criteria, 
and include an 
additional 
criterion regarding 
mitigation 
measures to the 
Strategic Road 
Network. 

Yes 

42



 

32 
 

New MM 
Reference 
(ordered by 
page 
number) 

Section of 
Proposed 
Submission 
Version 

Sub Section/Policy Paragraph Page 
No. 

Proposals 
Map Ref. 

Proposed Main Modification  Justification SA 

i. The development should positively respond to green infrastructure opportunities and provide sensitive 
landscaping to the northern edge of the site.  
j. Land to the east of the dismantled railway line should can be utilised primarily for the provision of open 
space and strategic landscaping only in order that the character of this area remains open and verdant.  No 
development should take place on this land. 
k. The development should provide net gains in biodiversity on site and contribute to wider ecological 
networks where possible. 
l. The development will provide appropriate mitigation measures to the Strategic Road Network to be 
agreed with Highways England. 

MM49 
 
AP55 

Stamford 
Residential 
Allocations 

STM1-H2: 
Stamford East 
(SKLP300,318) 

 129  Amend criterion g. as follows: 
 
g. The site is situated within a Minerals Safeguarding Area. Before considering a planning application or 
allocation for this site a Minerals Assessment will be required. A Minerals Assessment will be required as 
part of any planning application.  

To provide  clarity 
that a minerals 
assessment will be 
required as part of 
any planning 
application. 

Yes 

MM50 
 
AP68 

Bourne Housing 
Need 

BRN1  134  Amend Policy as follows: 
 
BRN1: Bourne Housing Need 
 
1 new housing site is allocated in Bourne (Policy BRN1 – H1).  It is intended that any additional sites for 
housing development in Bourne will be allocated in the Bourne Neighbourhood Plan. This will be subject to 
separate local consultation, examination and referendum through the neighbourhood planning process.  It is 
expected that the Neighbourhood Plan body will work in partnership with the Council to identify suitable, 
sustainable locations for a minimum of 100 200 new additional homes over the Local Plan period. 
 

To reflect 
planning 
application and 
new allocation at 
Manning Road, 
Bourne for 107 
(see also Main 
Modification for 
Policy BRN1-H1) 

Yes 

MM51 Bourne   134 BO.E2 to 
BRN1-H1 
 
(ref. 
SKPMC-11) 
of the 
Proposed 
Policy Map 
Main 
Modificati
ons) 
 

Insert new Policy: 
 
BRN1-H1: Manning Road, Bourne 
 
Indicative Unit Numbers: 107 
Approximate Density: (30 dwellings per hectare) 
 
The following development principles accompany this allocation 
 

a. a comprehensive masterplan is required for the site. 
b. Highway, footway, cycleway connections shall be provided throughout the site which connect the site 

to the wider town. 
c. Development should integrate the public right of way along the Carr Dyke into pedestrian movement 

routes through the site. 
d. Development should ensure the integration of the Carr Dyke as a positive landscape feature into the 

layout and provision of open space and ensure that the requisite easement to the Carr Dyke is 
provided to allow maintenance of the water feature. 

e. Development should minimise conflict with existing industrial development to the east, providing an 
attractive frontage to the public highway, and provide significant landscaping to the northern 
boundary to enable a green edge to the development with the adjacent open countryside. 
 

To include new 
Policy for the 
allocation of the 
Manning Road, 
Bourne site. 

Yes 

43



 

33 
 

New MM 
Reference 
(ordered by 
page 
number) 

Section of 
Proposed 
Submission 
Version 

Sub Section/Policy Paragraph Page 
No. 

Proposals 
Map Ref. 

Proposed Main Modification  Justification SA 

MM52 The Deepings DEP1: The 
Deepings 
Residential 
Allocations 

 141 DEP1-H2 
(ref. 
SKPMC-6 
of the 
Proposed 
Policy Map 
Main 
Modificati
on) 
 

Remove allocation DEP1-H2; Land East of Linchfield Road; 
 
 
 

Site has been 
granted planning 
permission 
(S17/2466) and 
s106 signed 

No 

MM53 
 
AP66 

3. South 
Kesteven’s 
Communities 

The Deepings 
DEP1-H3: 
Linchfield Road 

 142  Amend capacity and density of allocation DEP1-H3: Linchfield Road 
 
DEP1-H21: Linchfield Road (SKLP253) 
Indicative Unit Numbers: 590 680 
Approximate Density: 30 Dwellings per hectare 

For transparency 
on allocations 
potential capacity 

Yes 

MM54 
 
AP66,AP44 
& AP43 

3. South 
Kesteven’s 
Communities 

Larger Village 
Allocations:  
Ancaster 
LV-H1 Wilsford 
Lane 

 148 LV-H1  
 
(ref. 
SKPMC-1) 
of the 
Proposed 
Policy Map 
Main 
Modificati
ons) 

Ancaster: Residential Allocations 
LV-H1: Wilsford Lane (SKLP315) 
Indicative Unit Numbers: 35 96 
Approximate Density: 16 30 Dwellings per hectare – lower density based on gateway location. 
 
The following development principles accompany this allocation: 
 

a. Landscape screening to Southern edge will be required so as to reduce the impact on views into the 
site from the open countryside. 

b. This site is situated within a Minerals Safeguarding Areas and a Limestone Mineral Safeguarding 
Area. Before considering a planning application or allocation for this site, a Minerals Assessment will 
be required.  

c. The development will provide net gains in biodiversity on site and contribute to wider ecological 
networks where possible. 

d. Access will be taken from Wilsford Lane. 
 
 
 

For transparency 
on allocations 
potential capacity 

Yes 

MM55 
 
AP45 

3. South 
Kesteven’s 
Communities 

Larger Village 
Allocations:  
LV-H2: Wilsford 
Land (South) 
Ancaster 

 149  Remove the requirement for a Minerals Assessment prior to allocation for LV-H2: Wilsford Lane;  
 
b. This site is situated within a Minerals Safeguarding Areas and a Limestone Mineral Safeguarding Area. 

Before considering a planning application or allocation for this site, a Minerals Assessment will be 
required.  

 

Clarification on 
the requirements 
of Mineral 
Assessments  

Yes 

MM56 
 
AP66 & 
AP86 

3. South 
Kesteven’s 
Communities 

Larger Village 
Allocations: 
Barrowby 
LV-H3: Low Road 

 157  Amend policy LV-H3: Low Road as below; 
 
 
LV-H3: Low Road (SKLP36, SKLP250 and SKLP270) 
Indicative Unit Numbers: 230  
Approximate Density: 30 dwellings per hectare 
 

For transparency 
on allocations 
capacity as an 
authoritative 
rather than 
indicative figure. 
To ensure a 

Yes 

44



 

34 
 

New MM 
Reference 
(ordered by 
page 
number) 

Section of 
Proposed 
Submission 
Version 

Sub Section/Policy Paragraph Page 
No. 

Proposals 
Map Ref. 

Proposed Main Modification  Justification SA 

Land is allocated for up to 270 new dwellings at a maximum density of 35 dwellings per hectare 
 
The following development principles accompany this allocation: 

a. A masterplan is required for the entire site. All parties shall work together to bring forward a 
comprehensive plan for the site, including the phasing of development. The masterplan is to be 
agreed by the Council following consultation with the local community. Detailed proposals will only 
be permitted where these are in accordance with the agreed masterplan.  

b. Additional treatment capacity is required at waste water treatment works and new discharge permits 
are required for water quality targets. This should be incorporated early on in the development of 
scheme specifics as part of a scheme wide delivery strategy which demonstrates that capacity is 
available or could be made available to serve the development subject to phasing. 

c. The masterplan and development proposals will incorporate a suitable substantial landscape and 
boundary treatment for the southern and eastern edges of the site allocation. No development will 
be permitted beyond the site allocation.  

d. The phasing of the development shall occur in accordance with the Infrastructure Delivery Plan, with 
particular relevance to education and capacity at Barrowby Primary school. 

e. The masterplan and development proposals will shall provide suitable and appropriate residential 
amenity buffers to the eastern edge in respect of the electricity pylons and the A1 and to the 
southern edge in respect of the high pressure gas line.  

f. Potential landscape impacts should be mitigated through high quality design and landscaping.  
g. The development should provide net gains in biodiversity on site and contributed to wider ecological 

networks where possible.  

comprehensive 
development and 
a well-planned 
edge to the 
eastern and 
southern 
boundaries of the 
site.  

MM57 3. South 
Kesteven’s 
Communities 

Larger Village 
Allocations: 
Billingborough 

 160 LV-H4  
 
(ref. 
SKPMC-10) 
of the 
Proposed 
Policy Map 
Main 
Modificati
ons) 
 

Remove allocation LV-H4: Grimers Transport Site  Site has been 
granted planning 
permission 
(S16/1197) and 
s106 signed 

No 

MM58 3. South 
Kesteven’s 
Communities 

Larger Village 
Allocations:  
Billingborough 

3.67 160  Delete paragraph 3.67; 
3.67 The proposed allocation in Billingborough – known as Grimers North, is for approximately 23 new homes 
on a previously developed site within a prominent village location. The allocation promotes a currently vacant 
site for re-development, representing a logical extension to an adjacent site that already benefits from 
planning permission (Grimers South). Whilst the allocation is relatively modest in numbers this acknowledges 
the presence of recent permissions within the village and the number of outstanding commitments arising 
from unimplemented planning permissions including the previously allocated site of the former Aveland 
School (Site 
Allocations and Policies DPD). 

Clarification as 
allocation has 
been removed 

No 

MM59 
 
AP46 

3. South 
Kesteven’s 
Communities 

Larger Village 
Allocations: LV-H5: 
Bourne Road 

 166  Proposed modification to remove the requirement for a Minerals Assessment prior to allocation for LV-H5: 
Bourne Road and include additional wording so a Minerals Assessment will be required before considering a 
planning application. 
 

Clarification on 
the requirements 
of Mineral 
Assessments  

Yes 

45



 

35 
 

New MM 
Reference 
(ordered by 
page 
number) 

Section of 
Proposed 
Submission 
Version 

Sub Section/Policy Paragraph Page 
No. 

Proposals 
Map Ref. 

Proposed Main Modification  Justification SA 

(SKLP23) 
Colsterworth 

The site is situated within a Minerals Safeguarding Area, which seeks to safeguard the minerals resource in 
the ground for future potential working. The final allocation therefore be accompanied by a Minerals 
Assessment. Before considering a planning application for this site, a Minerals Assessment is required. 
  

MM60 
 
AP48 

3. South 
Kesteven’s 
Communities 

Larger Village 
Allocations:  
LV-H6: Swinstead 
Road/Bourne Road 
(SKLP4, SKLP320) 
Corby Glen 

 169  Amend Policy LV-H6: Swinstead Road 

Corby Glen: Residential Allocations 

LV-H65: Swinstead Road / Bourne Road (SKLP4, SKLP320) 
Indicative Unit Numbers: 250 
Approximate Density: 30 dwellings per hectare.  
The following development principles accompany this allocation: 
 

a. A comprehensive masterplan is required for the entire site.  

b. An East-West connection (transport and pedestrian) should be provided by the development. 
c. Pedestrian links, footways or cycleway connections into village, and adjacent playing fields from the 

site should be incorporated in the development proposal.  

d. The development shall accommodate specialist housing needs through the provision of good quality 

family housing that is both well designed and integrated into the development proposal. 

e. Landscape screening shall be provided along the northern and eastern edges of the site.  
k. This site is situated within a Minerals Safeguarding Area and Limestone Minerals Safeguarding 

Area. Before considering a planning application for this site, a Minerals Assessment will be 
required.  

To ensure 
landscape 
screening along 
eastern as well as 
northern edges of 
the site.  
Site identified 
within a 
Limestone 
Mineral 
Safeguarding 
Area. 

Yes 

MM61 3. South 
Kesteven’s 
Communities 

Larger Village 
Allocations:  
Corby Glen 

3.76 169  Amend wording of paragraph 3.76; 
 
3.76 The proposed allocations for Corby Glen are is for approximately 280 250 new homes on two sites. With 
respect to tThe larger proposed allocation at Swinstead Road/ Bourne Road, it is proposed in particular to 
promote the provision of family housing, as unlike any other larger village, Corby Glen benefits from the 
provision of a secondary school.  

For clarification 
on the removal of 
allocation LV-H7: 
Swinstead Road 

No 

MM62 
 
AP50 

3. South 
Kesteven’s 
Communities 

Larger Village 
Allocations:  
LV-H7: Swinstead 
Road (SKLP280) 

 170 LV-H7  
 
(ref. 
SKPMC-9) 
of the 
Proposed 
Policy Map 
Main 
Modificati
ons) 
 

Remove allocation LV-H7: Swinstead Road (SKLP280).  Site has been 
granted planning 
permission 

No 

MM63 Langtoft 
Residential 
Allocation  

Langtoft 
Residential 
Allocation (LV-H9: 
Former Gravel 
Works, Stowe 

 178 LV-H9 
 
(Reference 
SKPMC-5 
of 
Proposed 

Delete allocation. Site now has 
Planning 
Permission with a 
signed s106. 

No 

46



 

36 
 

New MM 
Reference 
(ordered by 
page 
number) 

Section of 
Proposed 
Submission 
Version 

Sub Section/Policy Paragraph Page 
No. 

Proposals 
Map Ref. 

Proposed Main Modification  Justification SA 

Road (SKLP31 and 
SKLP33) 

Policy Map 
Main 
Modificati
ons) 

MM64 
 
AP52 

3. South 
Kesteven’s 
Communities 

Larger Village 
Allocation: South 
Witham 
Residential 
Allocation 
LV-H13: Thistleton 
Lane and Mill Lane 
(SKLP43, SKLP123) 

 188  Insert 2 additional development principles after bullet point g of policy LV-H13 as follows: 
 
h. That development should seek to improve biodiversity and minimise any impact on South Witham 
Quarry RIGS/cLGS. 
     
i. This site is situated within a Minerals Safeguarding Area and Limestone Minerals Safeguarding Area.  
Before considering a planning application for this site, a Minerals Assessment will be required. 

To respond to 
comments made 
by the GLNP 
(SKR334). 

Yes 

MM65 
 
AP53 

3. South 
Kesteven’s 
Communities 

Larger Village 
Allocations:  
LV-H14: Land 
North of High 
Street (SKLP312) 
South Witham 

 188  Proposed additional criterion as site identified within a Limestone Mineral Safeguarding Area; 
     
h. This site is situated within a Minerals Safeguarding Area and Limestone Minerals Safeguarding Area.  
Before considering a planning application for this site, a Minerals Assessment will be required. 

Site identified 
within a 
Limestone 
Mineral 
Safeguarding Area 

Yes 

MM66 
 
AP54 

Thurlby: 
Residential 
Allocation 

LV-H15: Part of Elm 
Farm Yard 
(SKLP16) 

 191  Expand wording at criterion c. as follows: 
 
 c. Pedestrian links, such as footway connections into village from the site should be incorporated in the 
development proposals.  This should include safe pedestrian connectivity east and west of the A15 to village 
facilities. 

To provide 
certainty of safe 
pedestrian 
connectivity 

Yes 

MM67 4. Infrastructure 
and Developer 
Contributions 

ID1 Infrastructure 
for Growth 

 196  Insert a new paragraph after the 4th paragraph of policy ID1 Infrastructure for Growth as follows: 
 
Planning permission should only be granted if it can be demonstrated that there is or will be sufficient 
infrastructure capacity provided within an agreed timescale to support and meet all the requirements 
arising from the proposed development. 

To respond to 
comments made 
by the GLNP 
(SKR331) and to 
ensure 
consistency with 
para 177 of the 
NPPF. 

Yes 

MM68 
 
AP82 

4. Infrastructure 
and Developer 
Contributions 

ID2: Transport and 
Strategic Transport 
Infrastructure 

 198  Amend criterion d. of policy ID2 as below;  
 

a. Do not unacceptably severely impact on the safety and movement of traffic on the highway network 
or that any such impacts can be mitigated through appropriate improvements, including the provision 
of new or improved highway infrastructure; and  
 

For clarity Yes 

MM69 
 
AP 83 

4. Infrastructure 
and Developer 
Contributions  

ID3: Broadband 
and 
Communication 
Infrastructure  

 201  Amend Policy ID3: Broadband and Communications Infrastructure; 
 

ID3: Broadband and Communications Infrastructure 

Proposals to enhance information communication networks, such as superfast broadband, will be 
supported across the district. 

 
Proposals of 30 dwellings or more will be required to provide fixed fibre superfast broadband, where this 
is technically feasible and subject to viability. 

For clarity Yes 

47



 

37 
 

New MM 
Reference 
(ordered by 
page 
number) 

Section of 
Proposed 
Submission 
Version 

Sub Section/Policy Paragraph Page 
No. 

Proposals 
Map Ref. 

Proposed Main Modification  Justification SA 

 
Proposals for residential development of less than 30 dwellings and commercial development will be 
required to provide fixed fibre broadband where this is technically feasible, subject to viability. 

 
New developments must be served by either: 
a. Fibre to the Premises (FTTP) technology; or 
b. Fibre to the Cabinet (FTTC) technology enabling access to broadband speeds of up to 80 megabits 

per second; or 
c. any other emerging communication technology. 

 
 

MM70 
 
AP70 

5. Monitoring 
and 
Implementation 

Monitoring 
Framework 

5.4 202  Amend paragraph 5.4 as below;  

 
5.4 The Local Plan indicators are set out below. The baseline for reporting will be either 
The commencement of the Plan period (2011) or the adoption of the Plan. 
 
Key Local Plan Indicators 

• Amount of development by type within each settlement as identified in the 
settlement hierarchy; 

• Supply of ready to develop housing sites in order to maintain at least a 5 year rolling 
supply; 

• Net additional dwellings delivered based on the minimum requirement to deliver an 
average of 625 650 dwellings per annum, uplifted from 625 from 2016,  over the plan period; 

• Number of affordable dwellings delivered based on the policy of 30% of homes on 
sites of more than 11 dwellings; ………………. 

Factual Update to 
reflect amended 
Housing Need and 
Housing land 
supply 

No 

MM71 
 
AP65 

5. Monitoring 
and 
Implementation 

Residential 
Completions 

5.10-5.13 203  Amend wording of paragraphs 5.10 -5.13 of the Monitoring and Implementation Framework, as below;  
 
5.10 The strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) Update 2017 sets out an Objectively Assessed Housing 
Need (OAN) for South Kesteven of 625 dwellings per annum for the period 2011-36, this has been increased 
to 650 dwellings per annum from 2016 to take into account market signals equating to a total of 15,625 
16,125 dwellings over the plan period. To ensure that the OAN is met in full, the Plan includes a minimum 
requirement of 650 dwellings per annum from 2016, equating to 16,125 dwellings over the plan period. 
This is the minimum number of homes that the Local Plan needs to provide for. Additional land can be 
allocated in order to provide choice to the market and great certainty to deliverability of the Plan.  
 
5.11 The housing trajectory below sets out the expected rates of completions, based on information by site 
promoters and other site intelligence. The trajectory has been broken down by type of supply including: 

• Large sites with planning permission not under construction 

• Large sites under construction 

• Small sites with planning permission, including under construction 

• Windfall Allowance (2020-2036) 

• Sustainable Urban Extensions with planning permission 

• Proposed Local Plan Allocations 

• Council’s Capital Programme Sites 

• Completions (2011-2019) 

• Local Plan requirement of 650 dwellings per year up to 2036. 

For clarity 
regarding buffer 
of the housing 
supply and to 
update of figures 
in line with 
Objectively 
Assessed Need. 

No 

48



 

38 
 

New MM 
Reference 
(ordered by 
page 
number) 

Section of 
Proposed 
Submission 
Version 

Sub Section/Policy Paragraph Page 
No. 

Proposals 
Map Ref. 

Proposed Main Modification  Justification SA 

5.12 The trajectory shows a shortfall of housing since 2011. A deliverable land supply is to be calculated 
using the Liverpool Method for the first five years of the Plan Period, taking account of the shortfall since 
2011 across the plan period. This is due to the allocation of multiple strategic sites through the plan, which 
will generally require significant new infrastructure and therefore take longer to reach the development 
phase than smaller sites.  
 
5.13 A windfall allowance has been applied to the trajectory. To avoid double counting the windfall 
allowance is excluded from the first 2 years of the trajectory, and the current commitments are deducted 
from the allowance within the first 5 years. 
 
5.14 Whilst the housing requirement is based on the Objectively Assessed Need, the Plan trajectory 
contains a buffer of around 18% above the minimum requirement to deliver the Local Plan requirement of 
16,125 new homes up to 2036, and to provide choice and contingency.  
 
 
5.11 The District has a committed supply of 8,726 dwellings, 
 
5.12 The plan incorporated a 13% over allocation, in order to offer choice and contingency to the market, as 
well as recognising that a number of units are committed on large sites and these will take time to complete.  
 
5.13 The housing trajectory below sets out the expected rates of completions, based on information provided 
by site promoters, per annum across the plan period. The housing trajectory is a guide only, there is nothing 
to prevent completions exceeding these figures; however, it is anticipated that the 13% over allocation, will 
assist the Plan delivers in delivering the minimum requirement of 15,625 homes for the Plan period of 2011 
to 2036.  

MM72 
 
AP29 

5. Monitoring 
and 
Implementation 

Review  203  Include new Policy on the review of the  Local Plan including supporting reasoned justification as below;  
 
 
The Council is committed to an early review of this Local Plan beginning in April 2020.  The plan was submitted 
to the Secretary of State for examination towards the end of the transition period.  It has therefore been 
examined against the context of national planning policy set out in the 2012 National Planning Policy 
Framework.  An early review will enable policies and proposals to take account of the revised National 
Planning Policy Framework introduced in July 2018. 
 
In addition during the public examination hearings into the Local Plan a number of issues were highlighted 
for specific attention in the next review of the Local Plans. These include for the review to reflect the changes 
to housing methodologies as set out in the 2018 NPPF.  An early review will also offer the opportunity to 
update other elements of the Council’s evidence base, particularly the 2015 Employment Land Study.  The 
examination also highlighted a need for an early review to the Local Plan in order to provide certainty in 
meeting the accommodation needs of the gypsy and traveller community through a positive site allocation(s) 
where updated evidence to inform the review  continues to show an identified need for permanent pitches 
for gypsies and travellers. 
 
Policy M1 accordingly requires that the next full review of the Local Plan should start in 2020 with South 
Kesteven Local Plan submission for examination anticipated by the end of 2023. 
 

To confirm review 
of the Local Plan 

Yes 

49



 

39 
 

New MM 
Reference 
(ordered by 
page 
number) 

Section of 
Proposed 
Submission 
Version 

Sub Section/Policy Paragraph Page 
No. 

Proposals 
Map Ref. 

Proposed Main Modification  Justification SA 

Policy M1: Review of the Local Plan 
 
The Council will commit to undertake an early review of the Local Plan to commence from April 2020, 
with submission to the Secretary of State for examination anticipated by the end of December 2023. 
The Council will consider options to undertake this review in conjunction with neighbouring 
authorities. Specific matters to be addressed by the review include, but are not limited to, the 
following: 

b. The progress being made towards implementation of the spatial strategy for South Kesteven, 
in particular the focus on development in Grantham to be achieved by the end of the plan 
period; 

c. Taking account of the latest National Planning Policy Framework, particularly in relation to 
the assessment of housing needs and future requirement for employment land; and 

d. Further assessment of the needs of the Gypsy and Traveller Community, including Travelling 
Showpeople, and the need to allocate land to meet identified needs.  

 

 
 

MM73 
 
AP67 

5. Monitoring 
and 
Implementation 

Monitoring 
Framework 

Figure 41 205  Update and amend figure 41 Indicative Local Plan Housing Trajectory with new graph based on the new 
revised housing land supply paper (EX/SKDC/40) and further modifications (see appendix 1 for revised figure 
41).  
 

To present a 
realistic trajectory 
based on revised 
housing land 
supply paper and 
modifications.  

No 

MM74 
 
AP72 

Appendix 1 Glossary  208  Amend Glossary phrase ‘Green Infrastructure’; 
 

Green Infrastructure A network of multi-functional green and blue spaces, urban and rural, which is 
capable of delivering a wide range of environmental and quality of life benefits 
for local communities.  

 
 

To clarify green 
infrastructure 
includes ‘green’ 
and ‘blue’ 

No 

MM75 
 
AP78 

Appendix 1 Glossary  209  Insert definition of ‘Major Developments’ to the Glossary;  

Major Developments 
(also known as Strategic 
Development) 

Major development as defined in the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2010 means 
development involving any one or more of the following;  

1. the winning and working of minerals or the use of land for mineral-
working deposits; 

2. waste development 
3. the provision of dwelling houses where; 

a. the number of dwelling houses to be provided is 10 or more; or,  
b. the development is to be carried out on a site having an area of 

0.5ha or more and it is not known whether the development 
falls within sub paragraph (c)(i); 

4. the provision of a building or buildings where the floor space to be 
created by the development is 1,000m2 or more; or, 

5. development carried out on a site having an area of 1ha or more.  
 

 

For clarity No 

50



 

40 
 

New MM 
Reference 
(ordered by 
page 
number) 

Section of 
Proposed 
Submission 
Version 

Sub Section/Policy Paragraph Page 
No. 

Proposals 
Map Ref. 

Proposed Main Modification  Justification SA 

MM76 
 
AP26 

     Insert definition of ‘Specialist Housing’ 
 

Specialist Housing A range of housing options built to assist people such as older people, adults 
with dementia, adults with learning disabilities and/or autism, people with 
physical disabilities and vulnerable adults, including those with mental 
health issues, with their accommodation and support needs.  Such specialist 
housing falls within Use Class C2 (Residential Institutions) of the Use Classes 
Order 1987 (as amended), and includes Extra Care Housing, Residential Care 
Housing and Sheltered Housing. 
 

 

 No 

MM77 
 
AP85 

Appendices 
(new appendix) 

  213  Include Monitoring Framework (EX/SKDC/28) as Appendix 4 of the Local Plan (see Appendix 3). To provide a 
monitoring 
framework to 
assess Plan 
policies. 

No 

MM78 Appendices 
(new appendix) 

  213  At Appendix 5 of the Local Plan, include a Schedule of South Kesteven Core Strategy, Site Allocations and 
Policies Development Plan Document, and Local Plan 1995 Saved Policies and the Effect of the adoption of 
the South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 the Local Plan. (See appendix 4)  
 

To confirm which 
development plan 
policies would be 
superseded on 
adoption of the 
submitted plan.  

No 

 

Appendices 

• Appendix 1: Figure 41, page 205 (Main Modification 33) 

• Appendix 2: Key Diagram to be inserted on page 45 of the Plan following the Strategic Objectives (Main Modification 59) 

• Appendix 3: Monitoring Framework to be included at Appendix 4 of Local Plan (Main Modification 73) 

• Appendix 4: Schedule of Saved Policies to be included at Appendix 5 of Local Plan (Main Modification 75) 

51



 

Year

20
11

/1
2

20
12

/1
3

20
13

/1
4

20
14

/1
5

20
15

/1
6

20
16

/1
7

20
17

/1
8

20
18

/1
9.

20
19

/2
0.

20
20

/2
1.

20
21

/2
2.

20
22

/2
3.

20
23

/2
4.

20
24

/2
5.

20
25

/2
6.

20
26

/2
7.

20
27

/2
8.

20
28

/2
9.

20
29

/3
0.

20
30

/3
1.

20
31

/3
2.

20
32

/3
3.

20
33

/3
4.

20
34

/3
5.

20
35

/3
6.

Large sites with Planning Permission not underconstruction 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 101 256 440 360 265 165 103 85 85 45 45 30 0 0 0 0 0

Large Sites Underconstruction 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 73 20 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Small Sites with planning permission, including under construction
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

110 110 80 80 80 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Windfall Allowance 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30

Sustainable Urban Extensions with PP 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 435 330 153 60 24 173 221 206 150 150 150 0 0 0 0 0 0

Proposed Local Plan Allocations 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 104 318 564 649 612 630 630 650 695 635 615 615 565 565 555 585

Neighbourhood Plan Allocations 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 20 20 20 20 20 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Council Capital Programme 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 20 14 78 26 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Annual Housing Requirement (OAN) 650 625 625 625 625 625 650 650 650 650 650 650 650 650 650 650 650 650 650 650 650 650 650 650 650 650

Completions* 494 497 541 652 483 426 412 676 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

52

amybonfield
Typewritten Text

amybonfield_1
Typewritten Text
Appendix 1: Figure 41, page 205



 

53

amybonfield_2
Typewritten Text
Appendix 2: Key Diagram to be inserted on page 45 of the plan following Strategic Objectives (MM 59)



 
Local Plan Monitoring and Implementation Framework  
 

1 
 

Policy  Indicator  Target Source  Action and Contingencies
SD1: The Principles of 
Sustainable 
Development in South 
Kesteven 
 

The number of applications refused 
planning permission due to non‐
compliance with Policy SD2 and 
supported at appeal. 

To ensure sustainable 
development is achieved 

Planning Application 
decisions and Planning 
Appeal decisions. 

Review evidence with possible review of policy 
through review of the Local Plan 

SP1: Spatial Strategy Number and percentage of dwellings 
completed, by location, in accordance 
with Policy SP2: Settlement Hierarchy. 

Majority of housing to be 
delivered in Grantham, and 
then as per the Settlement 
Hierarchy as defined in 
Policy SP2. 
 

Monitoring of housing 
completions via planning 
decisions/ site visits/ 
/building control records, 
NHBC records 

Identify problem and barrier(s) to development via 
assessment and/or discussions with interested parties 
including re. viability.  Consider review of policy 
through Local Plan Review. 

SP2: Settlement 
Hierarchy 
 

See Indicator for policy SP1 See Target for Policy SP1 See Source for Policy SP1 See Action and Contingencies for SP1

SP3: Infill Development
 

The number of applications refused 
planning permission contrary to Policy 
SP3, and supported at appeal. 

No applications refused 
planning permission, 
contrary to Policy SP3, to be 
supported at appeal. 

Planning Application 
decisions and Planning 
Appeal decisions. 

Consider review of Policy SP3 through Local Plan 
Review. 

SP4: Development on 
the Edge of 
Settlements 
 

The number of applications refused 
planning permission contrary to Policy 
SP4, and supported at appeal. 

No applications refused 
planning permission, 
contrary to Policy SP4, to be 
supported at appeal. 

Planning Application 
Decisions and Planning 
Appeal decisions. 

Consider review of Policy SP4 through Local Plan 
Review 

SP5: Development in 
the Open Countryside 
 

The number of applications refused 
planning permission contrary to Policy 
SP5, and supported at appeal. 

No applications refused 
planning permission, 
contrary to Policy SP5, to be 
supported at appeal. 

Planning Application 
Decisions and Planning 
Appeal decisions. 

Consider review of Policy SP5 through Local Plan 
Review. 

H1: Housing Allocations
 

Total number of dwellings completed 
annually, by location and status 
(allocation or windfall) 

Deliver 650 dwellings per 
annum to meet the 
required need over the plan 
period 

Monitoring of housing 
completions via planning 
decisions/ site visits/ 
/building control records, 
NHBC records 

Identify problem and barrier(s) to development via 
assessment and/or discussions with interested parties 
including re. viability. Review unimplemented housing 
site allocations – consider removal or addition 
allocations. Bring sites forward later phases of the plan 
period is appropriate in accordance with 5YHLS. 
Follow HDT guidance and requirements.  

54

amybonfield_3
Typewritten Text

amybonfield_4
Typewritten Text

amybonfield_5
Typewritten Text

amybonfield_6
Typewritten Text

amybonfield_7
Typewritten Text

amybonfield_8
Typewritten Text

amybonfield_9
Typewritten Text

amybonfield_10
Typewritten Text

amybonfield_11
Typewritten Text

amybonfield_12
Typewritten Text

amybonfield_13
Typewritten Text

amybonfield_14
Typewritten Text

amybonfield_15
Typewritten Text

amybonfield_16
Typewritten Text
Appendix 3: Monitoring Framework



 
Local Plan Monitoring and Implementation Framework  
 

2 
 

Policy  Indicator  Target Source  Action and Contingencies
Number of lapsed sites per annum 
across all sites (allocations and 
windfall) 

To monitor the number of 
lapsed sites and removal of 
such sites from housing 
supply commitments. 

Monitoring of housing 
completions via planning 
decisions/ site visits/ 
/building control records, 
NHBC records 

If lapsed sites are not being accurately recorded, 
review monitoring methods. 

Number of demolitions per annum 
across all sites (allocations and 
windfall) 

To monitor the number of 
demolitions and removal of 
such sites from housing 
supply commitments. 

Monitoring of housing 
completions via planning 
decisions/ site visits/ 
/building control records, 
NHBC records 

If demolitions are not being accurately recorded, 
review monitoring methods 

Loss of residential to other use classes 
(no. of dwellings) across all sites 
(allocations and windfall) 

No net loss of residential to 
other uses. 

Monitoring of housing 
completions via planning 
decisions/ site visits/ 
/building control records, 
NHBC records 

Identify the problem and look to rectify though Local 
Plan Review. 

H2: Affordable Housing 
Contributions 
 

Proportion of housing completions on 
qualifying sites that are affordable.  

30% of total housing 
completions on all eligible 
sites  
 
20% in urban area of 
Grantham 

Monitoring of housing 
completions via planning 
decisions/ site visits/ 
/building control records, 
NHBC records 

Consider the need to revise affordable housing policy 
requirements through the plan review.  

H3: Self and Custom 
Build Housing 
 

Total number of individuals/ families 
and groups registered on the Self‐build 
and Custom build Housing Register. 
Number of specifically stated self‐build 
plots permitted as part of planning 
application on sites of 400 or more 
units. 

At least 2%  of self and 
custom build plots 
permitted on sites with 400 
or more units 

Monitoring of housing 
completions via planning 
decisions/ site visits/ 
/building control records, 
NHBC records 

Consider the need to revise the Self and Custom Build 
Housing policy requirements through the Local Plan 
review. 

H4: Meeting All 
Housing Needs 
 

Number of varying housing types, as 
identified in Policy H4,permitted and 
completed, by location – including 
specialist housing 

Delivery of a suitable range 
and mix of house types 
which are appropriate to 
their locations and local 
needs 

Monitoring of housing 
completions via planning 
decisions/ site visits/ 
/building control records, 
NHBC records 

Consider the need to revise the policy requirements 
through the Local Plan review. 

55



 
Local Plan Monitoring and Implementation Framework  
 

3 
 

Policy  Indicator  Target Source  Action and Contingencies
H5: Gypsies and 
Travellers 
 

Number of approved gypsy and 
traveller pitches from development 
control, planning policy records. 
 

Meet the assessed needs of 
gypsies and travellers 
according to the SKDC and 
RC GTAA (2015). 
No unauthorised 
encampments per annum. 

Monitoring of planning 
permissions, liaising with 
the community, inc. site 
visits 

Consider the need to allocate specific gypsy and 
traveller sites through the Plan review 
Regular review of evidence base to determine need.   

H6: Travelling 
Showpeople 
 

Number of approved pitches from 
development control and planning 
policy records. 

Meet needs identified in 
accordance with the SKDC 
and RC GTAA 

Monitoring of planning 
permissions, liaising with 
the community, inc. site 
visits. 

Consider the need to allocate specific travelling 
Showpeople sites through the Plan review. 
Regular review of evidence base to determine need.   

SP6:  Community 
Services and Facilities 
 

Number & type of services and 
facilities lost in South Kesteven by 
location. 

No net loss of  facilities to 
ensure community facilities 
are provided to meet local 
needs 

Monitoring of change of use 
permissions, site visits. 

Consider review of policy through the Local Plan 
review. 

E1: Grantham Southern 
Gateway Strategy 
Employment 
Opportunity 

Amount of new employment land 
committed or completed (by use class) 
on the Grantham Southern Gateway 
site in accordance with Policy E1. 
 
Amount of other employment 
generating uses committed or 
completed on the Grantham Southern 
Gateway site in accordance with Policy 
E1. 

Development of Strategic 
Employment Site within the 
plan period. 

Monitoring of planning 
commitments and 
completions, site visits. 

Consider review of Employment evidence, including 
liaison with interested parties; and review of the 
policy through review of the plan. 

E2: Strategic 
Employment Sites 
 

Amount of new employment land 
(m2/ha) committed or completed on 
Strategic Employment Sites as defined 
in Policy E2. 

Development of Strategic 
Employment Sites within 
the plan period. 

Monitoring of planning 
commitments and 
completions, site visits. 

Consider review of Employment evidence, including 
liaison with interested parties; and review of the 
policy through review of the plan. 

E3: Employment 
Allocations 
 

Amount of new employment land 
(m2/ha) committed or completed on 
allocated Employment Sites as defined 
in policy E3 

Development of 
Employment land 
allocations within the plan 
period. 

Monitoring of planning 
commitments and 
completions, site visits 

Consider review of Employment evidence, including 
liaison with interested parties; and review of the 
policy through review of the plan. 

56



 
Local Plan Monitoring and Implementation Framework  
 

4 
 

Policy  Indicator  Target Source  Action and Contingencies
E4: Protection of 
Existing Employment 
Sites 
 

Amount of land lost (m2/ha) from 
existing employment sites as defined 
in policy E4. 

No loss of Existing 
Employment sites as 
defined in policy E4 

Monitoring of planning 
commitments and 
completions, site visits 

Consider review of Employment evidence, including 
liaison with interested parties; and review of the 
policy through review of the plan. 

E5: Expansion of 
Existing Businesses 
 

Amount of new employment land 
permitted or completed (m2/ha) 
resulting in the expansion of an 
existing building 

Net expansion of existing 
businesses, where 
appropriate. 

Monitoring of commitments 
and completions, site visits 

Consider review of Employment evidence, including 
liaison with interested parties; and review of the 
policy through review of the plan. 

E6: Loss of Employment 
Land and Buildings to 
Non‐Employment Uses 
 

Amount of employment land and 
buildings lost (m2/ha) to non‐
employment uses. 

No loss of Existing 
Employment sites as 
defined in policy E6 

Monitoring of planning 
commitments and 
completions, site visits 

Consider review of Employment evidence, including 
liaison with interested parties; and review of the 
policy through review of the plan. 

E7: Rural Economy
 

Amount of rural employment land 
(m2/ha) permitted for the uses 
defined in Policy E7, by location. 

No rural development 
permitted contrary to Policy 
E7.  

Monitoring of planning 
permissions and 
completions, site visits. 

Consider review of the policy through review of the 
plan. 

Number of applications supported at 
appeal when citing this policy within 
reason for refusal 

E8: Other Employment 
Proposals 
 

Amount of employment land (m2/ha) 
permitted for the uses defined in 
Policy E8, by location. 

No employment proposals 
permitted contrary to Policy 
E8. 

Monitoring of planning 
permissions and 
completions, site visits 

Consider review of the policy through review of the 
plan. 

Number of applications supported at 
appeal when citing this policy within 
reason for refusal 

E9: Visitor Economy
 

Number of new or improved (or 
committed) visitor economy type 
facilities by location. 

No development proposals 
permitted contrary to Policy 
E9. 

Monitoring of planning 
permissions and 
completions, site visits 

Consider review of the policy through review of the 
plan. 

Number of applications supported at 
appeal when citing this policy within 
reason for refusal 

EN1: Landscape 
Character 
 

Number of applications supported at 
appeal when citing this policy within 
reason for refusal 

No applications approved 
contrary to Policy EN1 and 
supported at appeal.  To 
ensure that development is 
appropriate to the 

Monitoring of appeal 
decisions, site visits 

Consider review of policy through review of the plan. 

57



 
Local Plan Monitoring and Implementation Framework  
 

5 
 

Policy  Indicator  Target Source  Action and Contingencies
character and significant 
natural historic and cultural 
attributes and features of 
the landscape 

EN2: Protecting 
Biodiversity and 
Geodiversity 
 

Change in areas of biodiversity 
importance including: 
 

 Wildlife sites 
 Candidate/potential Local 

Wildlife Sites 
 Protected species record 

 

No net loss of designated 
wildlife sites or protected 
species. 

Greater Lincolnshire 
Environment Partnership 
 
 

Consider review of policy through early review of the 
plan. 
 
   

Number of applications supported at 
appeal when citing this policy within 
reason for refusal 

No applications to be 
allowed which impact on 
nature consideration 
interests to ensure 
development minimises the 
impact of biodiversity and 
wildlife. 

Monitoring of appeal 
decisions 

Consider review of policy through early review of the 
plan. 

EN3: Green 
Infrastructure 
 

Number of applications refused 
planning permission contrary to EN3 
and supported at appeal 

No applications approved 
contrary to Policy or 
supported at appeal. 

Monitoring of appeal 
decisions 

Consider review of policy through early review of the 
plan. 

EN4: Pollution Control
 

Number of applications refused 
planning permission contrary to EN4 
and supported at appeal 

No applications approved 
which would not on its own, 
or cumulatively lead to 
unacceptable levels of 
pollution. 

Monitoring of appeal 
decisions 

Consider review of policy through early review of the 
plan. 

EN5: Reducing the Risk 
of Flooding 
 

Number of planning permissions 
approved contrary to Environment 
Agency advice on flooding and water 
quality grounds 

No applications to be 
allowed contrary to 
Environment Agency advice 

Monitoring of planning 
permissions. 

Consider the review of the policy through early review 
of the plan. 

EN6: The Historic 
Environment 
 

Number of applications refused in 
accordance with Policy EN6 and 
supported at appeal. 

No applications approved 
contrary to Policy EN6 

Monitoring of appeal 
decisions 

Consider review of the policy through early review of 
the plan. 

58



 
Local Plan Monitoring and Implementation Framework  
 

6 
 

Policy  Indicator  Target Source  Action and Contingencies
EN7: Protection and 
Enhancing Grantham 
Canal 
 

Applications permitted or completed 
that are designed to develop the 
canal’s recreational, nature 
conservation, heritage and tourism 
appeal. 

To enhance the Grantham 
Canal 

Monitoring of permissions 
and completions 

Consider review of the policy  through early review of 
the plan. 

Number of applications refused in 
accordance with Policy EN7 and 
supported at appeal 

To protect the alignment of 
the Grantham Canal as 
shown on the Policies Map. 

Monitoring of appeal 
decisions 

Consider review of policy through review of the plan. 

DE1: Promoting Good 
Quality Design 
 

Number of applications refused in 
accordance with Policy DE1 and 
supported at appeal 

No applications approved 
contrary to Policy DE1 or 
supported at appeal  

Monitoring of planning 
appeal decisions. 

Identify reasons for lack of implementation. Consider 
review of the policy requirements of this and other 
policies where they prevent effective implementation 
of this policy.  

Percentage of new dwelling son sites 
of 10 dwellings or more being 
developed as ‘Accessible and 
Adaptable’ in line with the optional 
standards set out in Part M4(2) of the 
Building Regulations. 

10% of new dwellings on 
sites of 10 dwellings or 
more to be developed as 
‘Accessible and Adaptable’ 
in line with the optional 
standards as set out in Part 
M4(2) of the Building 
Regulations. 
 

Monitoring of planning 
permissions and appeal 
decisions 

Identify reasons for lack of implementation.  Consider 
review of the policy requirements of this and other 
policies where they prevent effective implementation 
of this policy. 

SB1:  Sustainable 
Building 
 

Number of applications refused in 
accordance with Policy SB1 and 
supported at appeal 

All development proposals 
will be expected to mitigate 
against and adapt to 
climate change  

Planning appeal decisions. Identify reasons for lack of implementation. Consider 
review of the policy requirements of this and other 
policies where they prevent effective implementation 
of this policy.  

OS1: Open Space 
 

Number of applications refused in 
accordance with Policy SB1 and 
supported at appeal.  

No net loss Planning appeal decisions Review reason(s) for the decision and if necessary 
review and amend policy.  

RE1: Renewable Energy 
Generation 
 

Number of applications refused in 
accordance with Policy RE1 and 
supported at appeal 

No applications approved 
contrary to Policy or 
allowed at appeal. 

Planning appeal decisions Possible review and amendment of policy at Local Plan 
Review. 

GR1: Protecting and 
Enhancing the Setting 
of Belton House and 
Park 

Number of Planning Permissions and 
completions within the Buffer Zone set 
out in the Belton House and Park 
Study. 

No planning permission 
granted which impacts 
(negatively) on the setting 
of Belton House and Park 

Planning permission data. Review reason(s) for the decision and if necessary 
review and amend policy. Consider publication of 
additional guidance or specific SPD. 

59



 
Local Plan Monitoring and Implementation Framework  
 

7 
 

Policy  Indicator  Target Source  Action and Contingencies
 
GR2: Sustainable 
Transport in Grantham 
 

Contributions to necessary transport 
improvements and the delivery of the 
objectives of the Grantham Transport 
Strategy by appropriate development 
as defined in Policy GR2 either directly 
or indirectly through developer 
contributions 

100% of eligible 
development to make 
necessary transport 
improvements and deliver 
the objectives of the 
Grantham Transport 
Strategy 

Planning permission data 
and developer contributions 

Possible review of policy through review of Local Plan. 

GR3‐H1: Spitalgate
Heath – Garden Village 
(Southern Quadrant), 
Grantham  
 

Number of housing commitments and 
completions each year, against the 
trajectory. 

Deliver a total of 2000 
homes by 2036 

Housing commitments and 
completions 

Identify problem and barrier(s) to development via 
assessment and/or discussions with interested parties 
Bring sites forward in later phases of the plan period if 
appropriate, in accordance with 5 year housing land 
supply.  
 
Work with key partners, developers and landowners 
to facilitate and enable development (e.g. access to 
finance, including grants, renegotiation of S106). 
Consider whether a policy review is appropriate if 
targets are not being met after 3 consecutive years. 

GR3‐H2: Rectory Farm 
(phase 2 North West 
Quadrant), Grantham 
 

Number of housing commitments and 
completions each year, against the 
trajectory. 

Deliver a total of 1150 
homes by 2036. 

Housing commitments and 
completions 

Identify problem and barrier(s) to development via 
assessment and/or discussions with interested parties 
Bring sites forward in later phases of the plan period if 
appropriate, in accordance with 5 year housing land 
supply.  
Work with key partners, developers and landowners 
to facilitate and enable development (e.g. access to 
finance, including grants, renegotiation of S106). 
Consider whether a policy review is appropriate if 
targets are not being met after 3 consecutive years. 

GR3‐H3: Land adjacent 
to Rectory Farm (Phase 
3 North West 
Quadrant), Grantham 
 

Number of housing commitments and 
completions each year, against the 
trajectory. 

Deliver a total of 404 homes 
by 2036. 

Housing commitments and 
completions 

Identify problem and barrier(s) to development via 
assessment and/or discussions with interested parties 
Bring sites forward in later phases of the plan period if 
appropriate, in accordance with 5 year housing land 
supply.  

60



 
Local Plan Monitoring and Implementation Framework  
 

8 
 

Policy  Indicator  Target Source  Action and Contingencies
Work with key partners, developers and landowners 
to facilitate and enable development (e.g. access to 
finance, including grants, renegotiation of S106). 
Consider whether a policy review is appropriate if 
targets are not being met after 3 consecutive years. 

GR3‐H4: Land North of 
Longcliffe Road and 
Ryedale Close, 
Manthorpe Road, 
Grantham 
 

Number of housing commitments and 
completions each year, against the 
trajectory. 

Deliver a total of 480 homes 
by 2036. 

Housing commitments and 
completions 

Identify problem and barrier(s) to development via 
assessment and/or discussions with interested parties 
Bring sites forward in later phases of the plan period if 
appropriate, in accordance with 5‐year housing land 
supply.  
Work with key partners, developers and landowners 
to facilitate and enable development (e.g. access to 
finance, including grants, renegotiation of S106). 
Consider whether a policy review is appropriate if 
targets are not being met after 3 consecutive years. 

GR3‐H5: Prince William 
of Gloucester Barracks, 
Grantham 
 

Number of housing commitments and 
completions each year, against the 
trajectory. 

Deliver a total of 1775
homes by 2036. 

Housing commitments and 
completions 

Identify problem and barrier(s) to development via 
assessment and/or discussions with interested parties 
Bring sites forward in later phases of the plan period if 
appropriate, in accordance with 5‐year housing land 
supply.  
Work with key partners, developers and landowners 
to facilitate and enable development (e.g. access to 
finance, including grants, renegotiation of S106). 
Consider whether a policy review is appropriate if 
targets are not being met after 3 consecutive years. 

GR4: Grantham Town 
Centre 
 

Total amount of floor space completed 
(m2) by type for uses set out in Policy 
GR4, within the Town Centre Boundary 
as defined on the proposals map. 

80% of A1 retail uses to be 
located within the Primary 
Shopping Frontages 

Town Centre completions Identify problem and barrier (s) to development, 
working with interested parties.  Possible review of 
relevant evidence. 

The number of applications refused 
planning permission due to non‐
compliance with Policy GR4 and 
supported at appeal. 

100% of new retail 
development to be located 
within the existing town 
centre. 

Planning application and 
appeal information. 

Identify problem and barrier (s) to development, 
working with interested parties.  Possible review of 
relevant evidence. 

61



 
Local Plan Monitoring and Implementation Framework  
 

9 
 

Policy  Indicator  Target Source  Action and Contingencies
STM1‐H1: Stamford 
North, Stamford 
 

Number of housing commitments and 
completions each year, against the 
trajectory. 

Deliver a total of 1300 
homes by 2036. 

Housing commitments and 
completions 

Identify problem and barrier(s) to development via 
assessment and/or discussions with interested parties 
Bring sites forward in later phases of the plan period if 
appropriate, in accordance with 5‐year housing land 
supply.  
Work with key partners, developers and landowners 
to facilitate and enable development (e.g. access to 
finance, including grants, renegotiation of S106). 
Consider whether a policy review is appropriate if 
targets are not being met after 3 consecutive years. 

STM1‐H2: Stamford 
East, Stamford 
 

Number of housing commitments and 
completions each year, against the 
trajectory. 

Deliver a total of 162 homes 
by 2036. 

Housing commitments and 
completions 

Identify problem and barrier(s) to development via 
assessment and/or discussions with interested parties 
Bring sites forward in later phases of the plan period if 
appropriate, in accordance with 5 year housing land 
supply.  
Work with key partners, developers and landowners 
to facilitate and enable development (e.g. access to 
finance, including grants, renegotiation of S106). 
Consider whether a policy review is appropriate if 
targets are not being met after 3 consecutive years. 

STM2: Stamford Town 
Centre Policy  
 

Total amount of floor space completed 
m2 by type for uses set out in Policy 
STM2, within the Town Centre 
Boundary as defined on the proposals 
map. 

80% of A1 retail uses to be 
located within the Primary 
Shopping Frontages 
 
80% of Secondary Shopping 
Frontage to be 
complementary uses. 

Town Centre completions Identify problem and barrier (s) to development, 
working with interested parties.  Possible review of 
relevant evidence. 

The number of applications refused 
planning permission due to non‐
compliance with Policy STM2 and 
supported at appeal. 

100% of new retail 
development to be located 
within the existing town 
centre. 

Planning application and 
appeal information. 

Identify problem and barrier (s) to development, 
working with interested parties.   

62



 
Local Plan Monitoring and Implementation Framework  
 

10 
 

Policy  Indicator  Target Source  Action and Contingencies
BRN1: Bourne Housing 
Need 
 

Bourne Neighbourhood Plan group to 
allocate land sufficient to deliver 100 
new additional homes over the Local 
Plan period within the first five years 
of the Local Plan being adopted. 

To meet Bourne’s Housing 
Need within the plan 
period. 

Bourne Neighbourhood 
Plan. 
 

Should the Neighbourhood Plan not make sufficient, 
suitable and sustainable allocations to meet Bourne’s 
housing requirement within the first five years of the 
Local Plan being adopted, the Local Plan will make the 
requirement allocations through its first review.  

BRN1‐H1: Manning 
Road, Bourne 

Housing commitments and 
completions each year. 

Deliver a total of 107 homes 
by 2036. 

Housing commitments and 
completions  

Identify problem and barrier(s) to development via 
assessment and/or discussions with interested parties 
Bring sites forward in later phases of the plan period if 
appropriate, in accordance with 5 year housing land 
supply.  
 
Work with key partners, developers and landowners 
to facilitate and enable development (e.g. access to 
finance, including grants, renegotiation of S106). 
Consider whether a policy review is appropriate if 
targets are not being met after 3 consecutive years. 

BRN2: Bourne Town 
Centre Policy 
 

Total amount of floor space completed 
(m2) by type for uses set out in Policy 
BRN2  

80% of A1 retail uses to be 
located within the Primary 
Shopping Frontages 
 
80% of Secondary Shopping 
Frontage to be 
complementary uses. 

Town centre completions Identify problem and barrier (s) to development, 
working with interested parties.  Possible review of 
relevant evidence. 

The number of applications refused 
planning permission due to non‐
compliance with Policy BRN2 and 
supported at appeal. 

100% of new retail 
development to be located 
within the existing town 
centre. 

Planning application and 
appeal information. 

Identify problem and barrier (s) to development, 
working with interested parties.   

DEP1‐H1: Towngate 
West, The Deepings 
 

Housing commitments and 
completions each year 

Deliver a total of 73 homes 
by 2036. 

Housing commitments and 
completions 

Identify problem and barrier(s) to development via 
assessment and/or discussions with interested parties 
Bring sites forward in later phases of the plan period if 
appropriate, in accordance with 5 year housing land 
supply.  
Work with key partners, developers and landowners 
to facilitate and enable development (e.g. access to 

63



 
Local Plan Monitoring and Implementation Framework  
 

11 
 

Policy  Indicator  Target Source  Action and Contingencies
finance, including grants, renegotiation of S106). 
Consider whether a policy review is appropriate if 
targets are not being met after 3 consecutive years. 

DEP1‐H1: Land West of 
Linchfield Road, The 
Deepings 
 

Housing commitments and 
completions each year 

Deliver a total of 100 homes 
by 2036. 

Housing commitments and 
completions 

Identify problem and barrier(s) to development via 
assessment and/or discussions with interested parties 
Bring sites forward in later phases of the plan period if 
appropriate, in accordance with 5 year housing land 
supply.  
Work with key partners, developers and landowners 
to facilitate and enable development (e.g. access to 
finance, including grants, renegotiation of S106). 
Consider whether a policy review is appropriate if 
targets are not being met after 3 consecutive years. 

DEP1‐H2: Linchfield 
Road, The Deepings 
 

Housing Commitments and 
completions each year. 

Deliver a total of ‐680 
homes by 2036 

Housing commitments and 
completions. 

Identify problem and barrier (s) to development, 
working with interested parties.  Possible review of 
relevant evidence. 

DEP2: Market Deeping 
Town Centre Policy 
 

Total amount of floor space completed 
(m2) by type for uses set out in Policy 
DEP2  

80% of A1 retail uses to be 
located within the Primary 
Shopping Frontages 
 
80% of Secondary Shopping 
Frontage to be 
complementary uses. 

Town centre completions Identify problem and barrier (s) to development, 
working with interested parties.  Possible review of 
relevant evidence. 

The number of applications refused 
planning permission due to non‐
compliance with Policy DEP2 and 
supported at appeal. 

100% of new retail 
development to be located 
within the existing town 
centre 

Planning application and 
appeal information. 

Identify problem and barrier (s) to development, 
working with interested parties.  Possible review of 
relevant evidence. 

LV‐H1: Wilsford Lane, 
Ancaster 
 

Housing commitments and 
completions each year 

Deliver a total of 96 homes 
by 2036. 

Housing commitments and 
completions 

Identify problem and barrier(s) to development via 
assessment and/or discussions with interested parties 
Bring sites forward in later phases of the plan period if 
appropriate, in accordance with 5 year housing land 
supply.  
Work with key partners, developers and landowners 
to facilitate and enable development (e.g. access to 
finance, including grants, renegotiation of S106). 

64



 
Local Plan Monitoring and Implementation Framework  
 

12 
 

Policy  Indicator  Target Source  Action and Contingencies
Consider whether a policy review is appropriate if 
targets are not being met after 3 consecutive years. 

LV‐H2: Wilsford Lane, 
Ancaster 
 

Housing commitments and 
completions each year 

Deliver a total of 35 homes 
by 2036. 

Housing commitments and 
completions 

Identify problem and barrier(s) to development via 
assessment and/or discussions with interested parties 
Bring sites forward in later phases of the plan period if 
appropriate, in accordance with 5 year housing land 
supply.  
Work with key partners, developers and landowners 
to facilitate and enable development (e.g. access to 
finance, including grants, renegotiation of S106). 
Consider whether a policy review is appropriate if 
targets are not being met after 3 consecutive years. 

LV‐H3: Low Road, 
Barrowby 
 

Housing commitments and 
completions each year 

Deliver a total of 270 new 
dwellings by 2036. 

Housing commitments and 
completions 

Identify problem and barrier(s) to development via 
assessment and/or discussions with interested parties 
Bring sites forward in later phases of the plan period if 
appropriate, in accordance with 5 year housing land 
supply.  
Work with key partners, developers and landowners 
to facilitate and enable development (e.g. access to 
finance, including grants, renegotiation of S106). 
Consider whether a policy review is appropriate if 
targets are not being met after 3 consecutive years. 

LV‐H4: Bourne Road, 
Colsterworth 
 

Housing commitments and 
completions each year 

Deliver a total of 70 homes 
by 2036. 

Housing commitments and 
completions 

Identify problem and barrier(s) to development via 
assessment and/or discussions with interested parties 
Bring sites forward in later phases of the plan period if 
appropriate, in accordance with 5 year housing land 
supply.  
Work with key partners, developers and landowners 
to facilitate and enable development (e.g. access to 
finance, including grants, renegotiation of S106). 
Consider whether a policy review is appropriate if 
targets are not being met after 3 consecutive years. 

LV‐H5: Swinstead 
Road/Bourne Road, 
Corby Glen 

Housing commitments and 
completions each year 

Deliver a total of 250 homes 
by 2036. 

Housing commitments and 
completions 

Identify problem and barrier(s) to development via 
assessment and/or discussions with interested parties 

65



 
Local Plan Monitoring and Implementation Framework  
 

13 
 

Policy  Indicator  Target Source  Action and Contingencies
  Bring sites forward in later phases of the plan period if 

appropriate, in accordance with 5 year housing land 
supply.  
Work with key partners, developers and landowners 
to facilitate and enable development (e.g. access to 
finance, including grants, renegotiation of S106). 
Consider whether a policy review is appropriate if 
targets are not being met after 3 consecutive years. 

LV‐H6: Easthorpe Road, 
Great Gonerby 
 

Housing commitments and 
completions each year 

Deliver a total of 45 homes 
by 2036. 

Housing commitments and 
completions 

Identify problem and barrier(s) to development via 
assessment and/or discussions with interested parties 
Bring sites forward in later phases of the plan period if 
appropriate, in accordance with 5 year housing land 
supply.  
Work with key partners, developers and landowners 
to facilitate and enable development (e.g. access to 
finance, including grants, renegotiation of S106). 
Consider whether a policy review is appropriate if 
targets are not being met after 3 consecutive years. 

LV‐H7: Main Road 
(South), Long 
Bennington 
 

Housing commitments and 
completions each year 

Deliver a total of 55 homes 
by 2036. 

Housing commitments and 
completions 

Identify problem and barrier(s) to development via 
assessment and/or discussions with interested parties 
Bring sites forward in later phases of the plan period if 
appropriate, in accordance with 5 year housing land 
supply.  
Work with key partners, developers and landowners 
to facilitate and enable development (e.g. access to 
finance, including grants, renegotiation of S106). 
Consider whether a policy review is appropriate if 
targets are not being met after 3 consecutive years. 

LV‐H8: Main Road 
(North), Long 
Bennington 
 

Housing commitments and 
completions each year 

Deliver a total of 30 homes 
by 2036. 

Housing commitments and 
completions 

Identify problem and barrier(s) to development via 
assessment and/or discussions with interested parties 
Bring sites forward in later phases of the plan period if 
appropriate, in accordance with 5 year housing land 
supply.  
Work with key partners, developers and landowners 
to facilitate and enable development (e.g. access to 

66



 
Local Plan Monitoring and Implementation Framework  
 

14 
 

Policy  Indicator  Target Source  Action and Contingencies
finance, including grants, renegotiation of S106). 
Consider whether a policy review is appropriate if 
targets are not being met after 3 consecutive years. 

LV‐H9: Folkingham 
Road, Morton 
 

Housing commitments and 
completions each year 

Deliver a total of 70 homes 
by 2036. 

Housing commitments and 
completions 

Identify problem and barrier(s) to development via 
assessment and/or discussions with interested parties 
Bring sites forward in later phases of the plan period if 
appropriate, in accordance with 5 year housing land 
supply.  
Work with key partners, developers and landowners 
to facilitate and enable development (e.g. access to 
finance, including grants, renegotiation of S106). 
Consider whether a policy review is appropriate if 
targets are not being met after 3 consecutive years. 

LV‐H10: Thistleton Lane 
and Mill Lane, South 
Witham 
 

Housing commitments and 
completions each year 

Deliver a total of 34 homes 
by 2036. 

Housing commitments and 
completions 

Identify problem and barrier(s) to development via 
assessment and/or discussions with interested parties 
Bring sites forward in later phases of the plan period if 
appropriate, in accordance with 5 year housing land 
supply.  
Work with key partners, developers and landowners 
to facilitate and enable development (e.g. access to 
finance, including grants, renegotiation of S106). 
Consider whether a policy review is appropriate if 
targets are not being met after 3 consecutive years. 

LV‐H11: Land North of 
High Street, South 
Witham 
 

Housing commitments and 
completions each year 

Deliver a total of 31 homes 
by 2036. 

Housing commitments and 
completions 

Identify problem and barrier(s) to development via 
assessment and/or discussions with interested parties 
Bring sites forward in later phases of the plan period if 
appropriate, in accordance with 5 year housing land 
supply.  
Work with key partners, developers and landowners 
to facilitate and enable development (e.g. access to 
finance, including grants, renegotiation of S106). 
Consider whether a policy review is appropriate if 
targets are not being met after 3 consecutive years. 

LV‐H12: Part of Elm 
Farm Yard, Thurlby 

Housing commitments and 
completions each year 

Deliver a total of 50 homes 
by 2036. 

Housing commitments and 
completions. 

Identify problem and barrier(s) to development via 
assessment and/or discussions with interested parties 

67



 
Local Plan Monitoring and Implementation Framework  
 

15 
 

Policy  Indicator  Target Source  Action and Contingencies
  Bring sites forward in later phases of the plan period if 

appropriate, in accordance with 5 year housing land 
supply.  
Work with key partners, developers and landowners 
to facilitate and enable development (e.g. access to 
finance, including grants, renegotiation of S106). 
Consider whether a policy review is appropriate if 
targets are not being met after 3 consecutive years. 

ID1: Infrastructure for 
Growth 
 

The number of applications subject to 
a viability assessment refused planning 
permission due to insufficient 
infrastructure capacity or provision, 
contrary to Policy ID1, and supported 
at appeal. 

No applications subject to a 
viability assessment that 
are refused planning 
permission, contrary to 
Policy ID1, to be supported 
at appeal. 

Planning Applications and 
Planning Appeal decisions. 

Possible review of whole plan viability assessment and 
first review of the Plan 

ID2: Transport and 
Strategic Transport 
Infrastructure 
 

The number of applications refused 
planning permission due to not 
providing an appropriate 
parking/design statement, or transport 
statement or transport assessment 
and travel plan, in accordance with 
Policy ID2, and supported at appeal. 

Every major development 
permitted is supported by 
an appropriate Travel Plan/ 
Transport assessment or 
the like, in accordance with 
the Policy. 

Monitoring of permissions 
and developer 
contributions/s106 
 
Lincolnshire Local Transport 
Plan 

Possible review of evidence  and policy through Plan 
review, including Infrastructure Delivery Plan and 
Whole Plan Viability Assessment. 

ID3: Broadband and 
Communications 
Infrastructure 
 

The number of applications refused 
planning permission due to Policy ID3, 
and supported at appeal. 

100% new development 
proposals provide FFTP or 
cabling from cabinet to 
edge of property to enable 
sufficient availability of 
broadband and 
communications 
infrastructure 

Planning permission and 
appeal information 

Possible review of infrastructure delivery and viability 
evidence and through review of the Local Plan. 

Policy M1: Review of 
the Local Plan 

Commence review of Local Plan from 
April 2020 

To commence review of 
Local Plan from April 2020 

N/A  Understand delay and commence review. 

 

68



Proposed Modification, to be included as an Appendix to the Local Plan 

1 
 

Schedule of South Kesteven Core Strategy, Site Allocations and Policies Development Plan Document, 
and Local Plan 1995 Saved Policies and the Effect of the adoption of the South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-
2036 
 

Core Strategy and Site Allocation and Policies 
Development Plan Document Saved Policy 

Replacement South Kesteven Local Plan 2011- 2036 
Policy or other Justification 

SP1 Spatial Strategy SP1 Spatial Strategy 

SP2 Sustainable Communities SP2 Settlement Hierarchy  

SP3 Sustainable Integrated Transport GR2 Sustainable Transport in Grantham 
ID2 Transport and Strategic Transport Infrastructure 

SP4 Developer Contributions ID1 Infrastructure for Growth 

EN1 Protection and Enhancement of the 
Character of the District 

EN1 Landscape Character 
EN2 Protecting Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
EN3 Green Infrastructure 
EN4 Pollution Control 
EN6 The Historic Environment 

EN2 Reducing the Risk of Flooding EN5 Reducing the Risk of Flooding  

EN3 Renewable Energy Generation RE1 Renewable Energy Generation 

EN4 Sustainable Construction and Design DE1 Promoting Good Quality Design 
SB1 Sustainable Building 

H1 Residential Development SP1 Spatial Strategy 
SP2 Settlement Hierarchy  
H1 Housing Allocations 

H2 Urban Extension Sites (Grantham)  GR3 Grantham Residential Allocations 

H3 Affordable Housing H2 Affordable Housing Contributions 

H4 Gypsies and Travellers H5 Gypsies and Travellers 

H5 Travelling Showpeople H6 Travelling Showpeople 

E1 Employment Development E1 Strategic Employment  
E2 Employment Allocations 
E3 Protection of Existing Employment Uses 
 

E2 Retail Development GR4 Grantham Town Centre 
STM2 Stamford Town Centre Policy 
BRN2 Bourne Town Centre Policy 
DEP2 Market Deeping Town Centre Policy 

SD1 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable 
Development 

SD2 The Principles of Sustainable Development in 
South Kesteven 

STM1 Housing Allocations in Stamford STM1 Stamford Residential Allocations 

STM2 Employment in Stamford E1 Strategic Employment 
E2 Employment Allocations 

STM3 Mixed Use Urban Extension site in 
Stamford 

STM1 Stamford Residential Allocation 
E1 Strategic Employment 

B1 Employment Allocations in Bourne E1 Strategic Employment Sites 
E2 Employment Allocations 

DE1 Housing Allocations in The Deepings DEP1 The Deepings Residential Allocations 

DE2 Employment Allocations in The Deepings E1 Strategic Employment Sites 

DE3 Mixed Use Urban Extension in Market 
Deeping 

E1 Strategic Employment Sites 

LSC1 Housing Allocations in the Local Service 
Centres 

H1 Housing Allocations  

69

amybonfield_17
Typewritten Text
Appendix 4: Schedule of Saved Policies to be included at appendix 5 



Proposed Modification, to be included as an Appendix to the Local Plan 

2 
 

South Kesteven 1995 Local Plan Saved Policy Replacement South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 
Policy or other Justification 

H1 Housing Allocation (Grantham) GR3 Grantham Residential Allocations 

E1 Employment Allocation (Grantham) E1 Strategic Employment Sites 

H12 Change of Use of Residential Properties 
(Grantham) 

No replacement, Policy not taken forward 

S2 New Shopping Developments in and Around 
Town Centres (Grantham) 

GR4 Grantham Town Centre 

S3 Non-Retail Uses in Primary Town Centre 
Shopping Streets (Grantham) 

GR4 Grantham Town Centre  

REC3 Public Open Space and New Housing 
Development (Grantham) 

OS1 Open Space 

REC4 Playing Fields Provision in New Residential 
Developments (Grantham) 

OS1 Open Space 

REC5 Play Space Provision in New Residential 
Developments (Grantham) 

OS1 Open Space 

REC7 Allotments (Grantham) OS1 Open Space 

REC9 Grantham Canal EN7 Protection and Enhancing Grantham Canal  

REC10 Indoor Leisure Facilities (Grantham) E6 Rural Economy  

REC11 Touring Caravan and Camping Sites 
(Grantham) 

E8 Visitor Economy 

T2 Existing Car Parks (Grantham) No replacement, Policy not taken forward. 

 

SAP H1 Other Housing Development  SP1 Spatial Strategy 
SP2 Settlement Hierarchy 
SP3 Infill Development 
SP4 Development on the Edge of Settlements 

SAP1 Retention of Community Services and 
Facilities 

SP6 Community Service and Facilities 

SAP2 Rural Exception Affordable Housing H2 Affordable Housing Contributions 
SP4 Development on the Edge of Settlements 

SAP3 Supporting Local Business in Local Service 
Centres 

E6 Rural Economy 

SAP4 Business Development in the Countryside 
(Including Rural Diversification Schemes) 

E6 Rural Economy  
SP5 Development in the Open Countryside 

SAP5 Locally Important Existing Employment Sites E3 Protection of Existing Employment Sites 

SAP6 Employment Development at Gonerby 
Moor 

No replacement, Policy not taking forward 

SAP7 Development Within the Defined Town 
Centres 

STM2 Stamford Town Centre Policy 
BRN2 Bourne Town Centre Policy 
DEP2 Market Deeping Town Centre Policy 

SAP8 Town Centre Opportunity Areas STM2 Stamford Town Centre Policy 
BRN2 Bourne Town Centre Policy 
DEP2 Market Deeping Town Centre Policy 

SAP9 Bourne Core Area No replacement, Policy not taken forward 

SAP10 Open Space Provision OS1 Open Space 

SAP11 Protecting and Enhancing the Setting of 
Belton House and Park 

GR1 Protecting and Enhancing the Setting of Belton 
House and Park 

70



 

 

South Kesteven Local Plan 

 

Schedule of Proposed Policies Map Modifications 

 

Draft 1 (published xxxx) 

 

FOR CONSULTATION ONLY 

 

71

A
ppendix 2



 

 

Introduction 

This document is to highlight the schedule of changes proposed to the submission Policies Map following on from the South Kesteven District Council Local 

Plan Examination. Whilst often seen as part of the same document, the Local Plan and the Policies Map are two separate matters.  

Policies Maps have to be prepared to illustrate the key policies of the South Kesteven Local Plan. The maps define the boundaries of the policies contained 

within the Local Plan Document. This includes; allocations for development, minerals and waste sites, environmental protection areas and areas of flood risk.   

A single policy map has been prepared for the whole district. However, some villages within South Kesteven (primarily the 4 Market Towns and identified 

larger villages) require a greater level of detail, as they are affected by more policies.  This means they have been allocated their own specific “Insets” which 

form part of the same policy map, just in greater detail.  

 

Local Plan Examination  

South Kesteven District Council submitted their Local Plan to the planning Inspectorate on the 15thth of January 2019 and the formal public hearing sessions 

took place from the 8th to the 30st of May.  The examination was the final stage in the plan making process and it was the delegated Inspector’s role to examine 

whether the submitted plan met the tests of soundness defined in the NPPF and relevant legislative requirements, including the duty to co-operate. 

The Inspector has now come to a number of conclusions based on consideration of all the evidence through the application of professional expertise and 

judgment. Along with agreement from South Kesteven, these conclusions have been turned into a number of “main modifications” which are proposed 

changes to the Local Plan document and its supporting evidence base.  

For a full list of Proposed Main Modifications, please see the separate document (xxxx) on the website.  

  

72



 

 

Schedule of Policy Map Modifications  

It is a requirement for the council to submit a “submission Policies Map”, which is a map accompanying the Submitted Local Plan showing the proposed 

Policies in a geographically illustrated fashion. Because the Policies Map is not part of the Local Plan, the Inspector cannot recommend main modifications to 

it. However, it is appropriate and necessary for the Inspector to consider the policies of the Plan in respect of what is illustrated on the Policies Map. 

Throughout the Local Plan examination process the Inspector, along with the District Council, have agreed on a number of modifications to policies, which 

subsequently have an impact on the policy map. Therefore, it is appropriate to make relevant changes to ensure that the policies are both effective and 

justified, as not to affect soundness.  

There are a number of changes to the policy map based on the proposed main modifications which include;  

Main modifications to delete allocations from within the submission Local Plan. As such, the allocation will be highlighted as removed from the Local Plan 

and therefore shown as deleted from the policies map.  

Main Modifications to add or expand upon allocations or policies from within the submission Local Plan. As such, the appropriate amendments will be made 

within the Local Plan and therefore the geographical illustration of the additional modification will be shown on the Policies Map.  

Main Modifications to change an allocation from within the submission Local Plan. As such, the appropriate change will be made within the Local Plan and 

therefore the geographical illustration to show the change will be documented on the Policies Map.  

Additionally, there are modifications where illustrations on the submission Policies Map have been found to be incorrect or inappropriate. For example, in 

the case of South Kesteven, a number of allocations within the submission Policies Map were labelled incorrectly. These are not classed as major modifications, 

however in such cases, it is still important that the suggested map change would need to be consulted upon and the Inspector would need to consider any 

comments made.  

 

  

73



 

 

Commenting upon Policy Map Modifications  

Any representations received on this schedule of Proposed Policies Map Modifications will be carefully considered by the Inspector prior to their report being 

finalised, and prior to the Policies Map being formally adopted (alongside the Local Plan). 

Representations should only be made on the modifications as set out in this document. This is not a consultation on the full Local Plan or the wider Policies 

Map. 

Please send all representations (making it clear that it is a representation on this consultation document, and what aspect you are commenting upon) to: 

Email: planningpolicy@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Post: 

Planning Policy  

South Kesteven Council Offices,  

St. Peter’s Hill 

Grantham, 

Lincolnshire,  

NG31 6PZ 

  

74



 

 

Disclaimer – All following maps are subject to the following copywrite statement  

Ordinance survey © Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance survey 100018662 you are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to 

respond to or interact with the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub- licence, distribute or sell any of this 

data to third parties in any form. 

 

  

75



 

 

Schedule of Proposed Major Modifications  

Ref Type Policy Map Reference / 
Inset 

Proposed Modification 
Reference  

Reason for Change 

SKPMC- 1  Addition Inset 6 - LV-H1 Addition to the allocation Original boundary based off pre-
application discussions, no 
constraints identified in squaring 
off the boundary and increasing 
the density of the site.  

SKPMC- 2 Addition Inset 20 - (no ref)  Addition of a Grantham Urban Area 
for affordable housing from 
modified policy H2.  

Due to evidence from the South 
Kesteven Viability Study, an 
“Urban Area” of Grantham has 
been identified were the required 
affordable housing contribution 
will be only 20%. 

SKDMC- 3 Addition Inset 20 - GR- SE1 Addition to the allocation  Site now includes additional land 
at Grantham Southern Gateway 
(extension of SKLP188)  

SKDMC- 4  Addition Deletion 
 

A0 Policy Map - EMP- R1 Addition to Allocation to reflect 
existing and new Employment 
policies the site is now affected by.  
 
Deletion of section which was 
mapped as being part of Melton 
Borough Council.   

Original boundary of Allocation 
was incorrect during the 
Regulation 19 consultation. 
 
Further evidence of additional 
employment potential came 

through reg 19 consultation. Site 

now effected by policies E3 and 
E4.  

SKDMC- 4 (Part 2)  Change A0 Policy Map - EMP- R1 Change to reflect new Employment 
policies the site is now affected by.  
 

Further evidence of additional 
employment potential came 
through reg 19 consultation  

SKPMC- 5 Deletion Inset 41 - LV-H9 Deletion of Allocation Site has been granted planning 
permission 

SKPMC- 6 Deletion Inset 46 - DEP1-H2 Deletion of Allocation Site has been granted planning 
permission 

SKPMC- 7 Deletion Inset 20 - GR3-H4 Deletion of Allocation Site has been granted planning 
permission 

76



 

SKDMC- 8  Deletion A0 Policy Map - EMP- R3 Deletion of section of Allocation Downtown/ Boundary Mill area is 
subject to separate planning 
application for a retail outlet 
village. No longer needs to be part 
of the Protected Employment 
area.  

SKPMC- 9 Deletion Inset 29 - LV-H7 Deletion of Allocation Site has been granted planning 
permission 

SKPMC- 10  Deletion Inset 18 - LV-H4 Deletion of Allocation Site has been granted planning 
permission 

SKPMC- 11 Change  Inset 34 - B0 - E2 Change of Allocation from 
Employment to Residential.  

Planning application for residential 
now at Manning Road  

SKPMC- 12 Change  Inset 46 - DEP- SE1 Change the Allocation from 
Strategic Employment (E2) to 
Employment (E3) 

Site not deemed necessary as a 
strategic employment allocation.  

SKPMC 13 Change  Inset 20 - GR3- H5 8ha of Site to now be for 
employment (E3 ) uses 

Change made to reflect Statement 
of Common Ground agreed 
between the Council and the 
Ministry of Defence DIO prior to 
the Local Plan examination.  This 
includes for the provision of 8 
hectares of employment land as 
part of the increased housing 
capacity of the site to ensure that 
proposals are sustainable through 
a mixed use development.  

 

  

77



 

 

Additional None Main Modifications.  

Additional E4 Sites which were included on the policies map but not labelled include the following;  

 

Policy E4 Allocation name  Location  Label Needed  
Burton Lane/High Dyke, Easton,  Grantham R7 
LondonThorpe Lane,  Grantham G26 
Honey Pot Lane,  Colsterworth R8 

Land adjacent to A1  Colsterworth R4 

King Street Industrial Estate,  Langtoft R9 

Roseland Business Park  Long Bennington R1 

 
  

78



 

SKPMC- 1:  Proposed addition to Site LV-H1.  

  

79



 

SKPMC- 2: Proposed addition of Grantham urban Area (Policy H2)  

  

80



 

SKPMC- 3: Proposed addition to Site GR.SE1  

  

81



 

SKPMC- 4: Proposed addition/deletion to Site EMP-R1 

 

82



 

SKPMC- 4 (Part2): Proposed changes to EMP-R1 

  

83



 

SKPMC- 5: Proposed deletion of allocation LV-H9  

  

84



 

SKPMC-6: Proposed deletion of allocation DEP1-H2  

  

85



 

SKPMC- 7: Proposed deletion of allocation GR3-H4 

  

86



 

SKPMC- 8:  Proposed deletion of section of allocation EMP-R3 

  

87



 

SKPMC- 9:  Proposed deletion of allocation LV-H7  

  

88



 

SKPMC- 10:  Proposed deletion of allocation LV-H4  

 

89



 

SKPMC- 11: Proposed change to allocation B0. E2 – From Employment (E3) to 

Residential 

 

 

90



 

SKPMC- 12:  Proposed change to allocation DEP- SE1- from Strategic Employment (E2) 

to Employment (E3)  

 

 

91



 

SKPMC- 13: Proposed change to allocation GR3-H5 to allocate approx.  8ha of the site 

for be for employment (E3) uses (extent of area yet to be identified)  

 

 

92



 

 

 

Page intentionally left blank 

93



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Sustainability Appraisal (SA) 
for the 
South Kesteven Local Plan 

 
 
 
 
 
 
SA Report Addendum 
to accompany 
Main Modifications 
 
 
   

 

 
August 2019 

 

95

Appendix 3



Sustainability Appraisal (SA) for the 
South Kesteven Local Plan  

 
 

SA Report Addendum to accompany 
Main Modifications  

  
  

 

 
Prepared for: South Kesteven District Council 
 

AECOM 
 
 

Quality information 

Prepared by  Checked by  Approved by  

      

Nick Chisholm-Batten 

Associate Director 

 Alastair Peattie 

Associate Director 

 Steve Smith 

Technical Director 

 

 

 

Revision History 

Revision Revision date Details Authorized Name Position 

V2.0 16th August 2019 Consultation 
version 

16th August 2019 Nick Chisholm-
Batten 

Associate 
Director 

      

      

      

 
 
 

 

Prepared for: 

South Kesteven District Council 

 

 

Prepared by: 

AECOM Infrastructure and Environment Limited 

3rd Floor, Portwall Place 

Portwall Lane 

Bristol BS1 6NA 

United Kingdom 

 

T: +44 117 901 7000 

aecom.com 

 

  

 

 

 

 

© 2019 AECOM Infrastructure and Environment Limited. All Rights Reserved. 

   

This document has been prepared by AECOM Limited (“AECOM”) for sole use of our client (the 

“Client”) in accordance with generally accepted consultancy principles, the budget for fees and the 

terms of reference agreed between AECOM and the Client. Any information provided by third parties 

and referred to herein has not been checked or verified by AECOM, unless otherwise expressly stated 

in the document. No third party may rely upon this document without the prior and express written 

agreement of AECOM. 

96



Sustainability Appraisal (SA) for the 
South Kesteven Local Plan  

 
 

SA Report Addendum to accompany 
Main Modifications  

  
  

 

 
Prepared for: South Kesteven District Council 
 

AECOM 
 
 

Table of Contents 

1. Introduction .............................................................................................. 1 

 

2. This SA Report Addendum ...................................................................... 1 

 

3. What’s the scope of the SA? ................................................................... 2 

 

4. What has plan making/SA involved to this point? ................................... 3 

 

5. Appraising the Main Modifications........................................................... 3 

 

Methodology ............................................................................................................................................ 3 

Screening of the modifications ................................................................................................................ 4 

Detailed appraisal ................................................................................................................................. 10 

 

6. Next steps ............................................................................................. 17 

 

 

  

97



Sustainability Appraisal (SA) for the 
South Kesteven Local Plan  

 
 

SA Report Addendum to accompany 
Main Modifications  

  
  

 

 
Prepared for: South Kesteven District Council 
 

AECOM 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

This page is intentionally blank. 

98



Sustainability Appraisal (SA) for the 
South Kesteven Local Plan  

 
 

SA Report Addendum to accompany 
Main Modifications  

  
  

 

 
Prepared for: South Kesteven District Council 
 

AECOM 
1 
 

1. Introduction 
1.1 South Kesteven District Council is currently preparing a new Local Plan to replace the existing 

planning policies in the South Kesteven Local Development Framework Core Strategy and Site 

Allocation and Policies Development Plan Document, as well as the remaining 'saved' policies 

from the 1995 South Kesteven Local Plan.  The new Local Plan, which will cover the period to 

2036, will be the key planning policy document for the District and will guide decisions on the 

use and development of land. 

1.2 The plan is at an advanced stage of preparation. South Kesteven District Council submitted the 

Local Plan and accompanying SA Report to the Secretary of State for Communities and Local 

Government on 15th January 2019.  

1.3 The Local Plan has since then been the focus of examination hearings (undertaken in May 

2019). During the hearings, the Inspector gave his preliminary views on the matters discussed 

and indicated that modifications would need to be made to the Plan.  Further to the Main 

Modifications suggested and scheduled by South Kesteven District Council, the Inspector 

proposed a number of prospective additional Main Modifications based on the consideration of 

the evidence he had seen and heard. 

1.4 The Main Modifications are scheduled to be published for public consultation in September 

2019. 

2. This SA Report Addendum 
2.1 The Local Plan is being developed alongside a process of Sustainability Appraisal (SA), a 

legally required process that aims to ensure that the significant effects of an emerging draft plan 

(and alternatives) are systematically considered and communicated.  It is a requirement that SA 

is undertaken in line with the procedures prescribed by the Environmental Assessment of Plans 

and Programmes Regulations (the ‘SEA Regulations’) 2004.   

2.2 The aim of this SA Report Addendum is essentially to present information on the proposed 

modifications, and alternatives where appropriate, with a view to informing the current 

consultation and subsequent plan finalisation. 

2.3 In order to achieve this aim, this SA Report Addendum sets out the SA findings in relation to the 

Main Modifications proposed alongside the Local Plan since submission.  

N.B. This report is known as an SA Report ‘Addendum’ on the basis that it is an Addendum to 

the SA Report published/submitted in 2018.  Whilst the focus of this report is on proposed 

modifications (and alternatives), there is a need to bear in mind that the proposed modifications 

will (if taken forward) be implemented alongside the rest of the Local Plan, i.e. that part which is 

not set to be modified.  For this reason, explicit consideration is also given to the effects of the 

Local Plan as modified (i.e. the cumulative effects of the proposed modifications and the rest of 

the Local Plan as submitted). 

  

99



Sustainability Appraisal (SA) for the 
South Kesteven Local Plan  

 
 

SA Report Addendum to accompany 
Main Modifications  

  
  

 

 
Prepared for: South Kesteven District Council 
 

AECOM 
2 
 

3. What’s the scope of the SA? 

The SA Framework 
3.1 The scope of SA work, with respect to the South Kesteven Local Plan, is introduced within the 

Proposed Submission version of the SA Report published in June 2018.  Essentially, the scope 

is reflected in a list of sustainability objectives, which collectively provide a methodological 

‘framework’ for appraisal.  The SA objectives are listed below in Table 3.1.  It has not been 

necessary to update the SA framework for the purposes of this appraisal. 

Table 3.1: The SA framework 

SA theme SA objective 

Biodiversity and 
geodiversity 

• To protect/enhance the District's Natural assets and biodiversity  

Natural resources • Conserve water resources, ensure no deterioration and promote 
improvements in water quality. 

• Maintain air quality within the District. 

• Maximise the use of previously developed land. 

• Ensure development utilises land with the lowest agricultural value first. 

• Minimise waste and encourage the re‐use, recycling and recovery of 
waste materials. 

Climate change • Support climate change mitigation through sustainable design and by 
reducing greenhouse gas emissions, improving energy efficiency and 
developing renewable energy solutions. 

• Reduce the risk of, and damage arising from, flooding. 

Historic environment 
and landscape 

• Conserve and enhance the historic environment, heritage assets and their 
settings. 

• Protect and enhance the character and appearance of the local landscape 
and townscape and ensures new development is of a high quality design 
which reflects local distinctiveness 

Population and 
communities 

• Ensure that the housing needs of all groups in society are met through the 
provision of decent, appropriate and affordable housing. 

• Improve the quality and accessibility of social and community services and 
facilities to meet the needs of residents and visitors. 

• Reduce the need to travel and promote necessary infrastructure 
improvements and sustainable modes of transport (walking, cycling and 
public transport). 

Health and wellbeing • Improve the quantity and quality of publicly accessible open and natural 
green space and promote strategic green infrastructure networks to link to 
it. 

• Promote communities which encourage and support physical activity and 
healthy lifestyles. 

• Create safe places for people to live in, work in and visit through the 
design and location of new development. 

Employment • Create and improve access to high quality employment and training 
opportunities for everyone. 

• Improve the efficiency, competitiveness, vitality and viability of the local 
economy, including the rural economy and town centres 

 

100



Sustainability Appraisal (SA) for the 
South Kesteven Local Plan  

 
 

SA Report Addendum to accompany 
Main Modifications  

  
  

 

 
Prepared for: South Kesteven District Council 
 

AECOM 
3 
 

4. What has plan making/SA involved 
to this point? 

4.1 The Local Plan-making/SA process has been ongoing for a number of years, as explained 

within the section of the SA Report (2018) that answers the question: ‘What has plan-making / 

SA involved up to this point?’   

4.2 At the current time, rather than revisit the whole process to date there is a need to explain the 

SA work undertaken subsequent to the examination hearings, which led to the development of 

proposed modifications. 

5. Appraising the Main Modifications 

Methodology 
5.1 The focus of the appraisal is on the proposed modifications (given that it is the Main 

Modifications that are currently the focus of consultation); however, explicit consideration is also 

given to the effects of the Local Plan as modified (i.e. the cumulative effects of the proposed 

modifications and the rest of the Local Plan as submitted). 

5.2 The current appraisal identifies and evaluates ‘likely significant effects’ of certain proposed 

modifications on the baseline, drawing on the sustainability topics/objectives identified through 

scoping (see Table 3.1) as a methodological framework.  To reiterate, the SA themes are as 

follows: 

• Biodiversity and geodiversity 

• Natural resources 

• Climate change 

• Historic environment and landscape 

• Population and communities 

• Health and wellbeing 

• Employment  

5.3 The updates to the Local Plan since submission comprise in the region of additional 78 

modifications.  As such the first task is to consider proposed modifications in turn, with a view to 

identifying those that require detailed consideration through the SA.  Those which have been 

identified as requiring more in-depth consideration are then subsequently appraised in detail.  

The detailed appraisal considers the likely impact of the change in policy and where relevant, 

compares the change against the appraisal that has already been undertaken and reported in 

previous SA reports.  

5.4 Assumptions are made cautiously, and explained within the text.  The aim is to strike a balance 

between comprehensiveness and conciseness/accessibility to the non-specialist.  In many 

instances, given reasonable assumptions, it is not possible to predict significant effects, but it is 

possible to comment on effects in more general terms.   

5.5 It is important to note that effects are predicted taking account of the criteria presented within 

Schedule 1 of the SEA Regulations.   So, for example, account is taken of the probability, 

duration, frequency and reversibility of effects as appropriate.  Cumulative effects are also 

considered, i.e. effects that become apparent once the effects of the Local Plan are considered 

in a wider context (i.e. recognising that it will not be implemented ‘in a vacuum’). 

101



Sustainability Appraisal (SA) for the 
South Kesteven Local Plan  

 
 

SA Report Addendum to accompany 
Main Modifications  

  
  

 

 
Prepared for: South Kesteven District Council 
 

AECOM 
4 
 

Screening of the modifications  
5.6 Table 5.1 below summarises the Main Modifications undertaken since submission and indicates 

which ones have been screened in for the purposes of SA.  It also presents an overview of the 

rationale for the decision taken. 

Table 5.1:  Screening the Main Modifications for the purposes of SA 

Main 
Modification 

Focus (changes in relation to…) Screened 
in? 

Rationale 

MM1 Page 15 to supporting text. Amend text to 
update housing need and supply. 

No The change provides additional 
clarity, and does not impact on 
the overall Local Plan strategy. 

MM2 Page 18 to supporting text. Addition to 
highlight the documents that the Local Plan will 
replace. 

No The change provides additional 
clarity, and does not impact on 
the overall Local Plan strategy. 

MM3 Page 19 to supporting text. Amend text to 
update housing need and supply. 

No The change provides additional 
clarity, and does not impact on 
the overall Local Plan strategy. 

MM4 Page 33 to supporting text. Amend text to 
update housing need and supply. 

No The change provides additional 
clarity, and does not impact on 
the overall Local Plan strategy. 

MM5 Page 36 to supporting text. Amend text to 
update housing need and supply. 

No The change provides additional 
clarity, and does not impact on 
the overall Local Plan strategy. 

MM6 Strategic objectives. Inclusion of additional 
objective in the table after paragraph 1.73 of the 
Local Plan’s strategic objectives as below. 

No Additional objective does not 
constitute a change to the Local 
Plan policies which the SA 
previously appraised.  

MM7 Strategic objectives. Include Key Diagram 
(EX/SKDC/25) (appendix 2) into the Strategic 
Objectives for the Local Plan section, under the 
Strategic Objectives. 

No Comprises changes to the 
objectives text to provide 
additional clarity. Does not 
constitute a change in the overall 
aim and focus of the objectives. 

MM8 Policy SD1. Removal of policy.  Yes Substantive updates to the Local 
Plan policies which should be 
appraised. 

MM9 Policy SD2 to policy text. Insert an additional 
bullet point after bullet point e to read: 

“f. the pollution of air, land, water, noise and 
light.” 

Yes Substantive updates to the policy 
which should be appraised. 

MM10 Page 48 to supporting text. Amend text to 
provide additional clarity regarding buffer to 
housing supply. 

No The change provides additional 
clarity, and does not impact on 
the overall Local Plan strategy. 

MM11 Policy SP1 to supporting text in policy: For 
clarity regarding buffer of the housing supply 
and an update of figures in line with the 
Objectively Assessed Need.  

 

No Comprises changes to the 
supporting text for the policy to 
provide additional clarity. Does 
not constitute a change in the 
overall aim and focus of the 
policy or have implications for the 
spatial strategy for the district. 

102



Sustainability Appraisal (SA) for the 
South Kesteven Local Plan  

 
 

SA Report Addendum to accompany 
Main Modifications  

  
  

 

 
Prepared for: South Kesteven District Council 
 

AECOM 
5 
 

Main 
Modification 

Focus (changes in relation to…) Screened 
in? 

Rationale 

MM12 Policy SP2 to policy text: For clarity regarding 
which villages policies SP3 and SP4 apply; and 
the extent of the larger villages. 

 

No Comprises changes to the 
supporting text for the policy to 
provide additional clarity. Does 
not constitute a change in the 
overall aim and focus of the 
policy or have implications for the 
spatial strategy for the district. 

MM13 Policy SP3 to policy text: Inclusion of 
additional criteria 

Yes Substantive updates to the policy 
which should be appraised. 

MM14 Policy SP4 to policy text: For clarity regarding 
the gaining of community support. 

 

No Comprises changes to the 
supporting text for the policy to 
provide additional clarity. Does 
not constitute a change in the 
overall aim and focus of the 
policy. 

MM15 Page 54 to supporting text. Amend text to 
update housing need and supply. 

No The change provides additional 
clarity, and does not impact on 
the overall Local Plan strategy. 

MM16 Policy H1 to policy text: Factual update and 
clarification on the removal of allocations and 
site capacities/ delivery. 

Yes Substantive updates to the policy 
which should be appraised. 

MM17 Policy H2 to policy text: Update in relation to 
affordable housing provision in the urban area 
of Grantham. 

Yes Substantive updates to the policy 
which should be appraised. 

MM18 Policy H3 to policy text: Update in relation to 
custom and self-build housing. 

Yes Substantive updates to the policy 
which should be appraised. 

MM19 Policy H4 to policy text: For clarity regarding 
specialist housing. 

 

No Comprises changes to the 
supporting text for the policy to 
provide additional clarity. Does 
not constitute a change in the 
overall aim and focus of the 
policy. 

MM20 Policy H5 to policy text: For clarity regarding 
Gypsies and Traveller provision. 

 

No Comprises changes to the 
supporting text for the policy to 
provide additional clarity. Does 
not constitute a change in the 
overall aim and focus of the 
policy. 

MM21 Policy H6 to policy text: For clarity regarding 
Travelling Showpeople provision. 

 

No Comprises changes to the 
supporting text for the policy to 
provide additional clarity. Does 
not constitute a change in the 
overall aim and focus of the 
policy. 

MM22 Policy E1 to policy text: Inclusion of additional 
criteria for Grantham Southern Gateway. 

Yes Substantive updates to the policy 
which should be appraised. 

MM23 Policy E1 to policy text: For clarity regarding 
Strategic Employment Sites. 

 

No Comprises changes to the 
supporting text for the policy to 
provide additional clarity. Does 
not constitute a change in the 
overall aim and focus of the 
policy. 

103



Sustainability Appraisal (SA) for the 
South Kesteven Local Plan  

 
 

SA Report Addendum to accompany 
Main Modifications  

  
  

 

 
Prepared for: South Kesteven District Council 
 

AECOM 
6 
 

Main 
Modification 

Focus (changes in relation to…) Screened 
in? 

Rationale 

MM24 Policy E2 to policy text: For clarity regarding 
employment allocations. 

 

No Comprises changes to the 
supporting text for the policy to 
provide additional clarity. Does 
not constitute a change in the 
overall aim and focus of the 
policy. 

MM25 Policy E3 to policy text: For clarity regarding 
protection for existing employment sites. 

 

No Comprises changes to the 
supporting text for the policy to 
provide additional clarity. Does 
not constitute a change in the 
overall aim and focus of the 
policy. 

MM26 Policy E5 to policy text: For clarity regarding 
loss of employment land and buildings to non-
employment uses. 

 

No Comprises changes to the 
supporting text for the policy to 
provide additional clarity. Does 
not constitute a change in the 
overall aim and focus of the 
policy. 

MM27 Policy E6 to policy text: For clarity regarding 
the rural economy. 

 

No Comprises changes to the 
supporting text for the policy to 
provide additional clarity. Does 
not constitute a change in the 
overall aim and focus of the 
policy. 

MM28 Page 86 to supporting text regarding the 
visitor economy. 

No The change provides additional 
clarity, and does not impact on 
the overall Local Plan strategy. 

MM29 Page 86 to supporting text regarding the 
visitor economy. 

No The change provides additional 
clarity, and does not impact on 
the overall Local Plan strategy. 

MM30 Policy E7 to policy text: For clarity regarding 
other employment proposals. 

 

No Comprises changes to the 
supporting text for the policy to 
provide additional clarity. Does 
not constitute a change in the 
overall aim and focus of the 
policy. 

MM31 Page 88 to supporting text regarding 
landscape character. 

No The change provides additional 
clarity, and does not impact on 
the overall Local Plan strategy. 

MM32 Page 90 to supporting text regarding 
biodiversity and geodiversity. 

No The change provides additional 
clarity, and does not impact on 
the overall Local Plan strategy. 

MM33 Policy EN2 to policy text: Update in relation to 
biodiversity and geodiversity. 

Yes Substantive updates to the policy 
which should be appraised. 

MM34 Policy EN2 to policy text: Update in relation to 
Habitats Regulations requirements. 

Yes Substantive updates to the policy 
which should be appraised. 

MM35 Page 91 to supporting text: regarding green 
infrastructure. 

No The change provides additional 
clarity, and does not impact on 
the overall Local Plan strategy. 

104



Sustainability Appraisal (SA) for the 
South Kesteven Local Plan  

 
 

SA Report Addendum to accompany 
Main Modifications  

  
  

 

 
Prepared for: South Kesteven District Council 
 

AECOM 
7 
 

Main 
Modification 

Focus (changes in relation to…) Screened 
in? 

Rationale 

MM36 Policy EN3 to policy text: For clarity relating to 
green infrastructure provision. 

 

No Comprises changes to the 
supporting text for the policy to 
provide additional clarity. Does 
not constitute a change in the 
overall aim and focus of the 
policy. 

MM37 Policy EN4 to policy text: Additional provisions 
relating to pollution control. 

Yes Substantive updates to the policy 
which should be appraised. 

MM38 Page 93 to supporting text regarding flood 
risk. 

No The change provides additional 
clarity, and does not impact on 
the overall Local Plan strategy. 

MM39 Policy EN5 to policy text: Relating to flood 
risk. 

 

No Comprises changes to the 
supporting text for the policy to 
provide additional clarity. Does 
not constitute a change in the 
overall aim and focus of the 
policy. 

MM40 Policy DE1 to policy text: Relating to design of 
development. 

 

No Comprises changes to the 
supporting text for the policy to 
provide additional clarity. Does 
not constitute a change in the 
overall aim and focus of the 
policy. 

MM41 Policy OS1 to policy text: Additional 
provisions relating to open space. 

Yes Substantive updates to the policy 
which should be appraised. 

MM42 Page 116 to supporting text: Regarding 
residential allocations in Grantham. 

No The change provides additional 
clarity, and does not impact on 
the overall Local Plan strategy. 

MM43 Policy GR3 to policy text: Additional 
provisions relating to biodiversity and 
geodiversity. 

Yes Substantive updates to the policy 
which should be appraised. 

MM44 Policy GR3-H2 to policy text: Additional 
criteria added to policy. 

No The change does not comprise a 
change to the overall aim and 
focus of the policy. 

MM45 Policy GR3-H3 to policy text: Additional 
criteria added to policy. 

No The change does not comprise a 
change to the overall aim and 
focus of the policy. 

MM46 Policy GR3-H4: Removal of Land North of 
Longcliffe Road and Ryedale Close, Manthorpe 
Road. 

No Site has gained planning 
permission; change does not 
change overall spatial strategy for 
the Local Plan 

MM47 Policy GR3-H5 to policy text: range of 
updates to the allocation. 

Yes Substantive updates to the policy 
which should be appraised. 

MM48 Policy STM1-H1 (Stamford North): to policy 
text: clarification updates to policy. 

No The change provides additional 
clarity, and does not impact on 
the overall Local Plan strategy. 

MM49 Policy STM1-H2 (Stamford East): to policy 
text: clarification updates to policy regarding 
minerals assessments. 

No The change provides additional 
clarity, and does not comprise a 
change to the overall aim and 
focus of the policy. 

105



Sustainability Appraisal (SA) for the 
South Kesteven Local Plan  

 
 

SA Report Addendum to accompany 
Main Modifications  

  
  

 

 
Prepared for: South Kesteven District Council 
 

AECOM 
8 
 

Main 
Modification 

Focus (changes in relation to…) Screened 
in? 

Rationale 

MM50 Policy BRN1: to policy text clarification 
updates, with reference to requirement for 
Neighbourhood Plan. 

No The change provides additional 
clarity, and does not impact on 
the overall Local Plan spatial 
strategy. 

MM51 Policy BRN1-H1: New policy for Manning 
Road, Bourne 

Yes New policy to consider through 
SA process. 

MM52 Policy DEP1-H2: removal of allocation DEP1-
H2; Land East of Linchfield Road. 

 

No Site has gained planning 
permission; change does not 
change overall spatial strategy for 
the Local Plan. 

MM53 Policy DEP1-H3: minor changes in capacity 
and density of the site. 

No The change does not impact on 
the overall Local Plan spatial 
strategy. 

MM54 Policy LV-H1: changes in capacity and density 
of the site. 

Yes Substantive updates to the policy 
which should be appraised. 

MM55 Policy LV-H2 to policy text: clarification 
updates to policy regarding minerals 
assessments. 

No The change provides additional 
clarity, and does not comprise a 
change to the overall aim and 
focus of the policy. 

MM56 Policy LV-H3: Minor changes in capacity and 
density of the site 

No The change does not impact on 
the overall Local Plan spatial 
strategy. 

MM57 Policy LV-H4: Removal of allocation LV-H4: 
Grimers Transport Site 

 

No Site has gained planning 
permission; change does not 
change overall spatial strategy for 
the Local Plan. 

MM58 Page 160 to supporting text. Removal of 
supporting text relating to removed allocation. 

No The change provides additional 
clarity. 

MM59 Policy LV-H5 to policy text: Clarification 
updates to policy regarding minerals 
assessments. 

No The change provides additional 
clarity, and does not comprise a 
change to the overall aim and 
focus of the policy. 

MM60 Policy LV-H6 to policy text: clarification 
updates to policy regarding minerals 
assessments. 

No The change provides additional 
clarity, and does not comprise a 
change to the overall aim and 
focus of the policy. 

MM61 Page 169 to supporting text. Removal of 
supporting text relating to removed allocation. 

No The change provides additional 
clarity. 

MM62 Policy LV-H7: Removal of allocation LV-H7: 
Swinstead Road. 

 

No Site has gained planning 
permission; change does not 
change overall spatial strategy for 
the Local Plan. 

MM63 Policy LV-H9: Removal of allocation LV-H9: 
Former Gravel Works, Stowe. 

 

No Site has gained planning 
permission; change does not 
change overall spatial strategy for 
the Local Plan. 

MM64 Policy LV-H13 to policy text: clarification 
updates to policy regarding minerals 
assessments and biodiversity. 

No The change provides additional 
clarity, and does not comprise a 
change to the overall aim and 
focus of the policy or Local Plan 
strategy. 

106



Sustainability Appraisal (SA) for the 
South Kesteven Local Plan  

 
 

SA Report Addendum to accompany 
Main Modifications  

  
  

 

 
Prepared for: South Kesteven District Council 
 

AECOM 
9 
 

Main 
Modification 

Focus (changes in relation to…) Screened 
in? 

Rationale 

MM65 Policy LV-H14 to policy text: clarification 
updates to policy regarding minerals 
assessments. 

No The change provides additional 
clarity, and does not comprise a 
change to the overall aim and 
focus of the policy or Local Plan 
strategy. 

MM66 Policy LV-H15 to policy text: clarification 
updates to policy regarding pedestrian 
connectivity. 

No The change provides additional 
clarity, and does not comprise a 
change to the overall aim and 
focus of the policy or Local Plan 
strategy. 

MM67 Policy ID1 to policy text: clarification updates 
to policy regarding pedestrian connectivity. 

No The change provides additional 
clarity, and does not comprise a 
change to the overall aim and 
focus of the policy or Local Plan 
strategy. 

MM68 Policy ID2 to policy text: minor updates to 
policy text for clarity. 

No The change provides additional 
clarity, and does not comprise a 
change to the overall aim and 
focus of the policy. 

MM69 Policy ID3 to policy text: updates to policy text 
for clarity. 

No The change provides additional 
clarity, and does not comprise a 
change to the overall aim and 
focus of the policy. 

MM70 Monitoring and Implementation update. 
Factual update to reflect amended housing 
need and supply. 

No The change provides additional 
clarity, and does not impact on 
the overall Local Plan strategy. 

MM71 Monitoring and Implementation update. 
Factual update to reflect amended housing 
need and supply. 

No The change provides additional 
clarity, and does not impact on 
the overall Local Plan strategy. 

MM72 Monitoring and Implementation update. 
Update to confirm Local Plan Review. 

No The change provides additional 
clarity, and does not impact on 
the overall Local Plan strategy. 

MM73 Monitoring and Implementation update. 
Factual update to reflect updated housing 
trajectory. 

No The change provides additional 
clarity, and does not impact on 
the overall Local Plan strategy. 

MM74 Glossary update. Update relating to definition 
of green infrastructure. 

No The change provides additional 
clarity, and does not impact on 
the overall Local Plan strategy. 

MM75 Glossary update. Update relating to definition 
of major developments. 

No The change provides additional 
clarity, and does not impact on 
the overall Local Plan strategy. 

MM76 Glossary update. Update relating to definition 
of specialist housing. 

No The change provides additional 
clarity, and does not impact on 
the overall Local Plan strategy. 

MM77 Appendix. Inclusion of monitoring framework. No The change includes a 
monitoring framework. This does 
not affect the proposed SA 
monitoring framework presented 
in the SA Report. 

MM78 Appendix. Inclusion of schedule of policies. No The change provides additional 
clarity, and does not impact on 
the overall Local Plan strategy. 

107



Sustainability Appraisal (SA) for the 
South Kesteven Local Plan  

 
 

SA Report Addendum to accompany 
Main Modifications  

  
  

 

 
Prepared for: South Kesteven District Council 
 

AECOM 
10 

 

Detailed appraisal 
5.7 The following sections present an appraisal of the Main Modifications which have been 

screened in as requiring closer examination through the SA process. 

Main Modifications relating to MM8 

Table 5.2:  SA themes for which modifications may have an impact 

Biodiversity 
and 

geodiversity 
Natural 

resources 
Climate 
change 

Historic 
environment 

and 
landscape 

Population 
and 

communities 
Health and 
wellbeing Employment 

N N N N N N N 

 

5.8 The modification removes Policy SD1 (Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development).  

Given the former policy mirrors the policy provisions of the NPPF, the modification will not lead 

to significant effects, either on its own or in combination with other policies. This is given the 

Local Plan strategy will not in effect change as a result of the Main Modification. 

Main Modifications relating to MM9 

Table 5.3:  SA themes for which modifications may have an impact 

Biodiversity 
and 

geodiversity 
Natural 

resources 
Climate 
change 

Historic 
environment 

and 
landscape 

Population 
and 

communities 
Health and 
wellbeing Employment 

Y Y Y Y Y Y N 

 

5.9 The modification strengthens Policy SD2 (The Principles of Sustainable Development in South 

Kesteven) in relation to air, land, water and noise pollution through including an additional 

criteria.   

5.10 This additional focus will help ensure new development will avoid impacts on soil, water and air 

quality.  It will also support landscape character and the setting of the historic environment, and 

indirectly support the effective functioning of ecosystem services in the district.  It will also 

support health and wellbeing and the quality of life of the district’s residents.  

Main Modifications relating to MM13 

Table 5.4:  SA themes for which modifications may have an impact 

Biodiversity 
and 

geodiversity 
Natural 

resources 
Climate 
change 

Historic 
environment 

and 
landscape 

Population 
and 

communities 
Health and 
wellbeing Employment 

Y Y Y Y Y Y N 

 

5.11 The Main Modification to Policy SP3 (Infill Development) states that a Design SPD will be 

prepared, on which development proposals will be expected to have regard to. Given the SPD 

is likely to set out a range of provisions for delivering high quality design in the district, the 

modification has the potential to support a range of positive effects relating to the design and 

layout of infill development. 

108



Sustainability Appraisal (SA) for the 
South Kesteven Local Plan  

 
 

SA Report Addendum to accompany 
Main Modifications  

  
  

 

 
Prepared for: South Kesteven District Council 
 

AECOM 
11 

 

Main Modifications relating to MM16 

Table 5.5:  SA themes for which modifications may have an impact 

Biodiversity 
and 

geodiversity 
Natural 

resources 
Climate 
change 

Historic 
environment 

and 
landscape 

Population 
and 

communities 
Health and 
wellbeing Employment 

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 

 

The Main Modification presents clarification on housing numbers regarding the removal of allocations 

and site capacities/delivery. The specific elements of these changes have been discussed under the 

Main Modifications considered below.   

 

Main Modifications relating to MM17 

Table 5.6:  SA themes for which modifications may have an impact 

Biodiversity 
and 

geodiversity 
Natural 

resources 
Climate 
change 

Historic 
environment 

and 
landscape 

Population 
and 

communities 
Health and 
wellbeing Employment 

N N N N Y N N 

 

5.12 The Main Modification presents a number of clarifications on affordable housing provision, 

including a clarification that 20% rather than 30% affordable housing would be sought in the 

urban area of Grantham. This recognises the viability issues of delivering affordable housing in 

Grantham. 

5.13 Whilst a relative reduction of affordable housing provision in the urban area of Grantham may 

reduce the delivery of affordable homes on certain sites, this is likely to be offset at least in part 

overall by an increase in the deliverability of the sites.  This is given the new target reflects the 

reality of viability issues in the town. As such significant negative effects are not anticipated in 

relation to affordable housing provision in the district.   

Main Modifications relating to MM18 

Table 5.7:  SA themes for which modifications may have an impact 

 

5.14 The Main Modification updates Policy H3 (Self and Custom Build Housing) to highlight that at 

least (rather than “up to”) 2% of plots will be provided for custom and self-build housing.  This 

will support the creation of distinctive communities with homes which meet residents’ needs. It 

will also support the development of homes of a high quality and efficient design.  

  

Biodiversity 
and 

geodiversity 
Natural 

resources 
Climate 
change 

Historic 
environment 

and 
landscape 

Population 
and 

communities 
Health and 
wellbeing Employment 

N Y Y Y Y Y N 

109



Sustainability Appraisal (SA) for the 
South Kesteven Local Plan  

 
 

SA Report Addendum to accompany 
Main Modifications  

  
  

 

 
Prepared for: South Kesteven District Council 
 

AECOM 
12 

 

Main Modifications relating to MM22 

Table 5.8:  SA themes for which modifications may have an impact 

 

5.15 The Main Modifications include a new employment policy to provide more detail on the Local 

Plan requirements for the Grantham Southern Gateway Strategy Employment Opportunity 

(which was already allocated through the earlier version of the Local Plan). 

5.16 The new policy sets out a range of additional provisions which seek to maximise the economic 

benefits of the site whilst limiting potential environmental effects. 

5.17 In this respect the policy reiterates that the strategic employment role of the site should not be 

undermined, and that a range of new B1, B2 and/or B8 uses and/or redevelopment of for B1, 

B2 and/or B8 uses should be enabled.  It also facilitates other types of employment uses where 

appropriate.  This will support the economic vitality of Grantham and South Kesteven through 

helping to ensure the delivery of a range of employment types which meet the strategic and 

local employment needs of the district. 

5.18 The policy also sets out a range of provisions for limiting potential effects on the built 

environment of the area and neighbouring uses, and on limiting the effect of increased traffic on 

the road network.  It also recognises the presence of the Minerals Safeguarding Area locally 

and seeks to ensure that adverse effects on the bowl barrow (which has been nationally 

designated as a scheduled monument) are avoided.  The policy also seeks to limit potential 

impacts on local landscape character, and provides a focus on promoting development of a 

high quality and sensitive design which forms a gateway to the town.  The provision of high 

quality green infrastructure networks through the policy will also support health and wellbeing, 

landscape and townscape character, climate change mitigation and adaptation and soil and 

water quality.   

5.19 In this respect, the policy provides appropriate additional policy context for the allocation.  This 

will help ensure that the economic benefits of this strategic-scale employment development can 

be effectively realised, whilst helping to ensure that potential adverse effects are minimised. 

Main Modifications relating to MM33 

Table 5.9:  SA themes for which modifications may have an impact 

 

5.20 The Main Modification seeks to strengthen the biodiversity and geodiversity policy through 

setting out a number of new provisions.  This includes relating to a requirement for biodiversity 

net gain for all proposals (where possible) and further provisions for the protection of 

designated biodiversity and geodiversity sites, and habitats and species.  It also sets out further 

provisions for the ‘exceptional circumstances’ where negative effects cannot be avoided.  

5.21 These provisions will help further protect and enhance biodiversity habitats and support 

ecological networks in the district.  The updates to the policy also mirror some of the provisions 

Biodiversity 
and 

geodiversity 
Natural 

resources 
Climate 
change 

Historic 
environment 

and 
landscape 

Population 
and 

communities 
Health and 
wellbeing Employment 

N Y Y Y Y Y Y 

Biodiversity 
and 

geodiversity 
Natural 

resources 
Climate 
change 

Historic 
environment 

and 
landscape 

Population 
and 

communities 
Health and 
wellbeing Employment 

Y Y Y Y N N N 

110



Sustainability Appraisal (SA) for the 
South Kesteven Local Plan  

 
 

SA Report Addendum to accompany 
Main Modifications  

  
  

 

 
Prepared for: South Kesteven District Council 
 

AECOM 
13 

 

of the recently introduced 25 Year Environment Plan, which promotes a number of these 

elements, including environmental net gain. 

5.22 In this respect the policy will help improve the resilience of biodiversity networks in the district, 

including to the likely effects of climate change.  It will also have indirect benefits for supporting 

landscape and townscape quality and enhancing the functioning of key ecosystem services in 

South Kesteven. 

Main Modifications relating to MM34 

Table 5.10:  SA themes for which modifications may have an impact 

 

5.23 The Main Modification seeks to strengthen the biodiversity policy (Policy EN2, Protecting 

Biodiversity and Geodiversity) through including additional provisions relating to the protection 

of European designated sites in the vicinity of South Kesteven. 

5.24 This will help enhance the performance of the plan against the requirements of the Habitats 

Regulations, with benefits for the resilience of the key habitats and species which the 

international designation of the sites seeks to support. 

Main Modifications relating to MM37 

Table 5.11:  SA themes for which modifications may have an impact 

 

5.25 The Main Modification includes additional provisions within Policy EN4 (Pollution Control).  This 

will enhance the performance of the policy in relation to air, soil and water quality, bringing 

benefits in relation to a number of the SA themes, including with regard to climate change 

mitigation, air quality, soils resources, water resources and health and wellbeing. 

Main Modifications relating to MM41 

Table 5.12:  SA themes for which modifications may have an impact 

 

5.26 The Main Modification includes an additional criterion for Policy OS1 (Open Space).  This seeks 

to implement net gains for biodiversity and green infrastructure provision.  The updates to the 

policy will therefore support enhancements to habitats, species and ecological networks, and 

also, through promoting green infrastructure improvements, support health and wellbeing, 

Biodiversity 
and 

geodiversity 
Natural 

resources 
Climate 
change 

Historic 
environment 

and 
landscape 

Population 
and 

communities 
Health and 
wellbeing Employment 

Y N Y N N N N 

Biodiversity 
and 

geodiversity 
Natural 

resources 
Climate 
change 

Historic 
environment 

and 
landscape 

Population 
and 

communities 
Health and 
wellbeing Employment 

Y Y Y Y Y Y N 

Biodiversity 
and 

geodiversity 
Natural 

resources 
Climate 
change 

Historic 
environment 

and 
landscape 

Population 
and 

communities 
Health and 
wellbeing Employment 

Y Y Y Y Y Y N 

111



Sustainability Appraisal (SA) for the 
South Kesteven Local Plan  

 
 

SA Report Addendum to accompany 
Main Modifications  

  
  

 

 
Prepared for: South Kesteven District Council 
 

AECOM 
14 

 

landscape and townscape quality, climate change mitigation and adaptation and air, soil and 

water quality. 

Main Modifications relating to MM43 

Table 5.13:  SA themes for which modifications may have an impact 

 

5.27 The Main Modification incorporates an additional criterion relating to Policy GR3 (Grantham 

Residential Allocations), specifically GR3-H1 Spitalgate Heath – Garden Village.  This states 

that development should seek to improve biodiversity and minimise any impact on the 

Woodnook Valley SSSI.  This will support existing Local Plan policies relating to biodiversity net 

gain, and also provide additional provisions relating to preventing potential adverse effects on 

the nationally designated SSSI. 

Main Modifications relating to MM47 

Table 5.14:  SA themes for which modifications may have an impact 

 

5.28 The Main Modification presents significant updates to the previous policy for GR3-H5: Prince 

William of Gloucester Barracks.  Most significantly, it increases the delivery of housing on the 

site from 500 dwellings during the plan period to approximately 1,775 dwellings through a 

mixed use development.  The site is largely brownfield, and is relatively unconstrained by 

environmental sensitivities (with one Grade II listed structure, Officers' Mess, Former RAF 

Spitalgate present on the site). 

5.29 In this context the new policy sets out a range of provisions for limiting potential adverse effects 

from the delivery of this level of development at this location.  This includes through initiating 

high quality design and layout, the development of new sustainable transport networks, the 

delivery of multifunctional green infrastructure provision, the protection of features and areas of 

historic environment interest and the management of surface water run-off.  Supporting the 

quality of life and health and wellbeing of residents, the policy seeks to deliver a range of 

housing types and tenures, develop high quality and inclusive neighbourhoods which support 

community cohesion, integrate a range of new community facilities within new development 

areas, deliver new employment land and deliver new pedestrian and cycle links. A key 

approach which will help limit potential effects, realise opportunities for enhancements and 

deliver community vitality be the policy’s commitment to initiate a comprehensive masterplan for 

the site.    

5.30 The updates to the policy will therefore help limit additional potential adverse effects from an 

increase in housing numbers during the plan period, whilst supporting a coordinated approach 

to development which will help deliver an inclusive and successful community. 

  

Biodiversity 
and 

geodiversity 
Natural 

resources 
Climate 
change 

Historic 
environment 

and 
landscape 

Population 
and 

communities 
Health and 
wellbeing Employment 

Y Y Y Y Y Y N 

Biodiversity 
and 

geodiversity 
Natural 

resources 
Climate 
change 

Historic 
environment 

and 
landscape 

Population 
and 

communities 
Health and 
wellbeing Employment 

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 

112



Sustainability Appraisal (SA) for the 
South Kesteven Local Plan  

 
 

SA Report Addendum to accompany 
Main Modifications  

  
  

 

 
Prepared for: South Kesteven District Council 
 

AECOM 
15 

 

Main Modifications relating to MM51 

Table 5.15:  SA themes for which modifications may have an impact 

 

5.31 The Main Modification presents a new policy for the allocation of 107 dwellings at Manning 

Road, Bourne, west of the existing industrial estate. 

5.32 The site is not significantly constrained by historic environment, landscape or biodiversity 

constraints.  As such, the allocation of the site is unlikely to lead to significant environmental 

effects in relation to these themes.  The southern part of the site is covered by a limited area of 

fluvial Flood Zone 2 associated with Carr Dyke Drain.  This is recognised through the policy, 

which seeks to ensure the integration of the Carr Dyke as a positive landscape feature into the 

layout and provision of open space, and that the requisite easement to the Carr Dyke is 

provided to allow its maintenance.  Otherwise, development of the site is likely to lead to the 

loss of Grade 3a agricultural land, which is land classified as the best and most versatile 

agricultural land.  Whilst detailed agricultural land classification has not been undertaken on the 

site itself, land directly to the north of the site has been classified as such.  

5.33 More broadly, the policy seeks to deliver a high quality development at this location, including 

through the implementation of a comprehensive rights of way network, initiating permeability 

with surrounding areas, landscape buffering with the industrial estate located to the east and 

the introduction of landscaping to limit impacts on landscape character to the north.  The 

policy’s commitment to the preparation of a masterplan for the site will also help ensure that a 

high quality, well designed development is secured.  

5.34 As such, with the exception of the loss of land potentially classified as the best and most 

versatile agricultural land, no significant adverse effects are anticipated as a result of the new 

allocation at this location.   

Main Modifications relating to MM54 

Table 5.16:  SA themes for which modifications may have an impact 

 

5.35 The Main Modification increases the size of the residential allocation at site LV-H1 Wilsford 

Lane in Ancaster through extending the allocation to the east.  This increases the capacity of 

the site from 35 to 96 dwellings. 

5.36 In terms of environmental constraints, the extension to the site is located away from key areas 

of historic environment sensitivity in Ancaster, including the Ancaster Roman Settlement 

scheduled monument and the Grade I listed Church of St Martin.  Given topography and 

existing screening, the settings of these features are not likely to be affected adversely by the 

additional area of site which has been allocated. 

5.37 The site is within an SSSI Impact Risk Zone relating to residential development of 100 

dwellings or more.  This relates to the presence of the Moor Closes SSSI (which is located to 

Biodiversity 
and 

geodiversity 
Natural 

resources 
Climate 
change 

Historic 
environment 

and 
landscape 

Population 
and 

communities 
Health and 
wellbeing Employment 

Y Y Y Y Y Y N 

Biodiversity 
and 

geodiversity 
Natural 

resources 
Climate 
change 

Historic 
environment 

and 
landscape 

Population 
and 

communities 
Health and 
wellbeing Employment 

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 

113



Sustainability Appraisal (SA) for the 
South Kesteven Local Plan  

 
 

SA Report Addendum to accompany 
Main Modifications  

  
  

 

 
Prepared for: South Kesteven District Council 
 

AECOM 
16 

 

the west of Ancaster) and the Ancaster Valley SSSI (which is located to the south).  The 

expansion of the allocation to 96 dwellings is just within this threshold.  The potential 

biodiversity value of the site is reflected by the existing policy provision, which states that 

“development will provide net gains in biodiversity on site and contribute to wider ecological 

networks where possible.”   

5.38 In terms of other environmental constraints, the site is located on the South Lincolnshire Edge 

Character Area.  Potential impacts from an expansion of the site on landscape character will be 

limited by the policy’s commitment to implement landscape screening from the open 

countryside. 

5.39 For these reasons the expansion of the site from the Main Modification is unlikely to lead to 

additional significant adverse effects in relation to the historic environment, biodiversity and 

landscape. 

5.40 In terms of agricultural land quality, recent classification has not taken place on the site.  

However the pre-1988 national dataset suggests the land comprises Grade 3 agricultural land.  

Therefore, it is uncertain whether land at this location is Grade 3a land (which is land classified 

as the best and most versatile agricultural land) or Grade 3b land (which is land not classified 

as such). 

5.41 The policy for the site has also been updated to provide further clarification on the Minerals 

Safeguarding Areas present in the area.  This better recognises the minerals resources present 

in the area. 

5.42 As such, with the exception of the possible loss of land classified as the best and most versatile 

agricultural land, no significant adverse effects are anticipated as a result of the extension of 

the allocation at this location.    

114



Sustainability Appraisal (SA) for the 
South Kesteven Local Plan  

 
 

SA Report Addendum to accompany 
Main Modifications  

  
  

 

 
Prepared for: South Kesteven District Council 
 

AECOM 
17 

 

6. Next steps 

Plan finalisation 
6.1 Subsequent to the current consultation the Inspector will consider all representations received, 

before deciding whether to report on the Local Plan’s soundness (with modifications as 

necessary), or hold resumed examination hearings. 

6.2 Assuming that the Inspector is ultimately able to find the Local Plan ‘sound’, it will then be 

adopted by South Kesteven District Council.  At the time of adoption an ‘SA Statement’ will be 

published that explains the process of plan-making/SA in full and presents ‘measures decided 

concerning monitoring’. 

 

 
  

115



Sustainability Appraisal (SA) for the 
South Kesteven Local Plan  

 
 

SA Report Addendum to accompany 
Main Modifications  

  
  

 

 
Prepared for: South Kesteven District Council 
 

AECOM 
18 

 

 

 

  

 

aecom.com   

  

  

116



 
 

South Kesteven Local Plan 2011 -2036 

 

Local Development Scheme 

2019 -2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

September 2019 

 

117

Appendix 4



South Kesteven District Council - Local Development Scheme (2019-2022) 

i 
 

Contents 
1.Introduction ......................................................................................................................................... 1 

1.1 Introduction ............................................................................................................................ 1 

1.2 Purpose of the Local Development Scheme ........................................................................... 1 

2. Development Plan Documents ........................................................................................................... 2 

2.1 What is a Local Plan? .............................................................................................................. 2 

2.2 How are Development Plan Documents Prepared? ........................................................... 3 

3 South Kesteven Local Plan .............................................................................................................. 5 

3.1 Current Local Plan ................................................................................................................... 5 

3.2 Other Plans .................................................................................................................................... 5 

4. What are we proposing to do? ........................................................................................................... 6 

4.1 What development Plan Documents are we going to prepare? ............................................ 6 

4.2 Local Plan Review .................................................................................................................... 8 

4.3 Other Documents to be produced .......................................................................................... 8 

4.4 Neighbourhood Planning ........................................................................................................ 8 

4.5 Evidence Base ......................................................................................................................... 8 

5. Risks to Production ............................................................................................................................. 9 

5.1 Identified Risks ........................................................................................................................ 9 

6. Monitoring ........................................................................................................................................ 10 

6.1 Monitoring ............................................................................................................................ 10 

Appendices .............................................................................................................................................. 1 

Appendix 1: Status of Saved 1995 Local Plan Policies ........................................................................ 1 

Appendix 2: DPD Timetable ................................................................................................................ 1 

Appendix 3: Local Plan process and timetable ................................................................................... 1 

Appendix 4: Other Documents to be Produced .................................................................................. 1 

Glossary ................................................................................................................................................... 1 

 

 

 

 

 

118



South Kesteven District Council - Local Development Scheme (2019-2022) 

1 
 

1.Introduction 
 

1.1 Introduction 
 

1.1.1 The Local Development Scheme (LDS) is a project plan to inform the community and other 

partners what strategic planning documents that are being prepared over the next three 

years. It identifies key milestones in their preparation, including the stages where documents 

will be made available for consultation.  

 

1.1.2 The first LDS came into effect in 2005 when the Plan was referred to as the Local Development 

Framework (LDF); this incorporated both the Core Strategy (CS) and Site Allocations and 

Policies Development Plan Document (SAP DPD). This is the fifth revision of the LDS and will 

accompany the new South Kesteven Local Plan (LP). This LDS was first approved in June 2014 

and this subsequent September 2019 revised version replaces it. 

 

1.1.3 The programme set out in the last LDS was partly achieved with the adoption of the Core 

Strategy in July 2010 and the Site Allocation and Policies DPD in April 2014. The Grantham 

Area Action Plan (GAAP) was not adopted, therefore in June 2014, the Council decided to 

begin the preparation of a new Local Plan for the District.  

 

1.1.4 The LDS contains; 

• Background information to provide context for then LDS 

• Details of which documents the Council will produce or review over the period 2019-

2022, and how they relate to each other 

• A profile and timetable for the production of each strategic document 

 

1.2 Purpose of the Local Development Scheme 
 

1.2.1 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended by the Planning Act 2008 and 

Localism Act 2011) requires a Local Planning Authority to prepare and maintain an LDS setting 

out the Development Plan Documents (DPD) to be produced, the subject matter and 

geographical area of those documents and broad timetable for their production.  
 

1.2.2 The LDS is a public document and provides a starting point for the local community and others 

to find out about the Council’s programme for the preparation of documents that will form 

the South Kesteven Local Plan.  

 

1.2.3 It is our intention to keep to the timetable set out in the LDS, but there may be occasions when 

there will be a need to make revisions to the timetable and documents. We will consider the 

need for revisions to the LDS on an annual basis and also publish up to date information on 

the Local Plan via our website.  

 
 

 

119



South Kesteven District Council - Local Development Scheme (2019-2022) 

2 
 

2. Development Plan Documents 
 

2.1 What is a Local Plan? 
 

2.1.1 Local Plans are prepared in order to guide investment and development in a district, 

borough, or county for over a 20-year period. They shape how the district grows over this 

period, being a key tool in deciding where the housing, retail and business needs of the 

community will be provided, and how important countryside, ecological and heritage 

features are to be protected.  

 

2.1.2 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2012) states that each Local Planning 

Authority (LPA) should produce “a local plan for its area”, which can be reviewed in whole or 

in part. Any additional Development Plan Documents (DPDs) should be used where they can 

be clearly justified. The NPPF also states that Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) 

should only be used where they can help applicants make successful applications or aid 

infrastructure.  

 

2.1.3 A Local Plan can either be a single document or a collection of DPDs that constitute the 

Development Plan for the area. However, the NPPF is clear that the Government’s preferred 

approach is for each LPA to prepare a single Local Plan for its area.  

 

2.1.4 The different types of documents can include multiple DPDs which may cover a range of 

policy areas, a single subject, or specific geographical area. Individual development plan 

documents or coherent parts of a single development plan document can be reviewed 

independently from other development plan documents.  

 

2.1.5 DPDs can include:  

 

• Core Strategy - sets out the overarching spatial vision, strategic objectives, core policies and 

planning framework 

• Development Management Policies - sets out policies for the management of development 

• Sites Specific Allocations – allocates specific sites for housing, employment or other 

development uses and detailed policy guidance.  

 

2.1.6 DPDs are subject to community consultation in accordance with the requirements of a 

Council’s Statement of Community Involvement (SCI). 

 

2.1.7 The SCI sets out the Council’s approach to engaging with local communities and other 

stakeholders during plan preparation and when consulting on planning applications. For 

South Kesteven the SCI was first adopted in 2006, it has since been reviewed and updated to 

reflect legislative and regulatory changes to the planning system which have adjusted the 

publicity and consultation requirements.  The latest SCI was adopted March 2019.  

 

2.1.8 The SCI is a document that supports the Local Plan, it will be monitored and updated via the 

‘Authority’s Monitoring Report’ provision of Regulation 34 of the Town and Country Planning 

(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. In accordance with the Localism Act, the LPA no 

120



South Kesteven District Council - Local Development Scheme (2019-2022) 

3 
 

longer need to prepare an Annual Monitoring Report (AMR), but the duty to monitor 

remains. In view of these requirements, relevant information is published on the Council’s 

website, as soon as it becomes available.  

 

2.1.9 The Local Plan will also include a Policies Map appendix, illustrating the geographical extent 

of policies and proposals on a map based. Each time a DPD is adopted the Policies Maps will 

be revised. 

 

2.1.10 An integral part of producing a Local Plan is the Sustainability Appraisal/ Strategic 

Environment Assessment (SA/SEA). The SA/SEA is produced in tandem with the Local Plan 

and ensure that the Local Plan adopts, as far as possible, the most sustainable options in an 

environment, economic, and social context having been assessed against all other realistic 

options and alternatives.  

 

2.1.11 There is also a legal requirement, through the Conservation of Habitats and Species 

Regulations 2010 (the Habitat Regulations) to consider whether new DPDs are likely to have 

a significant effect on European sites of nature conservation importance. A Habitats 

Regulation Assessment will be prepared and published for each DPD.  

 

2.1.12 Local authorities may also prepare Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) to provide 

further guidance on adopted policies. They can cover a wide range of issues which may be 

thematic (e.g. affordable housing) or site specific (e.g. development briefs). They do not 

form part of the DPD but are taken into account in determining planning applications. They 

are also not subject to independent examination, although they will need to be subject to 

community consultation in accordance with the requirements of the SCI.  

 

2.1.13 Details of SPDs already adopted by the Council are available on the Council’s website. In the 

event that adopted SPDs are reviewed or new ones are proposed, details will be published 

on the website. 

 

2.2 How are Development Plan Documents Prepared? 
 

2.2.1 Although the precise detail of how DPDs should be prepared is a matter for each Council to 

determine, certain stages are prescribed by Regulations within the Town and Country 

Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2015. 

 

2.2.2 The various stages of DPD preparation are illustrated in the diagram below, which is taken 

from the National Planning Practice Guidance published by CLG. 

 

121



South Kesteven District Council - Local Development Scheme (2019-2022) 

4 
 

 

122



South Kesteven District Council - Local Development Scheme (2019-2022) 

5 
 

3 South Kesteven Local Plan 

3.1 Current Local Plan 
 

3.1.1 At the time that this LDS comes into effect, South Kesteven District Council has adopted the 

following documents. The following documents constitute the statutory development plan for 

South Kesteven, with policies that form the starting point for decisions on all planning 

applications in the area.  

 

3.1.2 The Local Plan for South Kesteven currently comprises the: 

Core Strategy (adopted 5th July 2010): sets out the strategic planning framework and vision 

for the District to 2026.  

Site Allocation and Policies DPD (covering the entire District with the exception of 

Grantham) (adopted 17th April 2014): identifies housing and employment sites in Stamford, 

Bourne, the Deepings, and a number of Local Service Centres. 

Remaining ‘saved’ policies from the 1995 South Kesteven Local Plan: Under the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, a number of the policies of the 1995 South Kesteven Local 

Plan were saved in September 2007. Certain saved policies have now been superseded in 

whole or in part by policies in the adopted Core Strategy and Site Allocation and Policies DPD. 

Details of the remaining saved policies can be found in Appendix 1.  

 

3.2 Other Plans  
Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan 

3.2.1 Lincolnshire County Council (LCC) are responsible for the production, monitoring and review 

of a Minerals and Waste Local Plan.  

 

3.2.2 The Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan (LMWLP) is made up of two parts, the Core 

Strategy and Development Management Policies (CSDMP) (adopted June 2016) and the Sites 

Location Document (adopted December 2017) which forms part of the development plan for 

the District.  

 

3.2.3 The LMWLP sets out: 

• The key principles to guide the future winning and working of minerals and the form of waste 

management in the country up to 2031; 

• The criteria against which planning applications for minerals and waste development will be 

considered; and 

• Specific proposals and policies for the provision of land for minerals and waste development. 

 

Neighbourhood Planning 

 

3.2.4 A new system of Neighbourhood Planning was introduced with the Localism Act 2011. This 

enables Parish and Town Councils or designated Neighbourhood Forums (in area without a 

Parish) to prepare Neighbourhood Development Plans (NDPs), Neighbourhood Development 

123



South Kesteven District Council - Local Development Scheme (2019-2022) 

6 
 

Orders and Community Right to Build Orders. These all allow for residents of local 

communities to shape the future of their local area.  

 

3.2.5 There is no requirement to prepare NDPs, but they must take account of national planning 

policy, contribute to sustainable development, and be in conformity with the strategic policies 

of the Local Plan. NDPs must also be subject to public consultation and independent 

examination before a referendum of the local electorate. When completed, NDPs form part 

of the Development Plan for the District.  

 

3.2.6 The current adopted ‘made’ NDPs are; 

• Hough-on-the-hill adopted July 2015 

• Foston adopted June 2017 

• Long Bennington adopted July 2017 

• Colsterworth adopted September 2017 

• Skillington adopted September 2017 

• Subton adopted July 2015 

• Thurlby adopted March 2019 

• Carlby adopted March 2019 

 

3.2.7 The timetable for preparing an NDP is for the local community preparing the Plan to 

determine. Therefore, timetables for NPDs are not included in the LDS.  

 

3.2.8 Details of NDPs being prepared in South Kesteven and the stage they have reached are 

available on the Council’s website. 

 

 

4. What are we proposing to do? 

4.1 What development Plan Documents are we going to prepare? 
 

4.1.1 A new, single Local Plan for South Kesteven is the only DPD intended to be produced and 

replace the Core Strategy, Site Allocation and Policies DPD, and the remaining saved policies 

of the 1995 Local Plan.  

 

4.1.2 The Local Plan will set out the strategic direction for development in the District. It will also 

include; 

• Policies providing the overarching framework for development decisions in the 

District 

• Housing and job numbers for the Local Plan period through to 2036 

• Development Management Policies – these may include policies for design, 

affordable housing, housing mix, employment, infrastructure delivery, rural 

development, tourism, Gypsies and Travellers, renewable energy and climate change. 

• Site allocations for housing and employment 

• Infrastructure Delivery Plan.  

 

124



South Kesteven District Council - Local Development Scheme (2019-2022) 

7 
 

4.1.3 The document profile is set out below. The expected timeline for the key milestones in 

preparing the Local Plan are contained in Appendix 2 and Appendix 3.  

 

South Kesteven Local Plan Profile 

Role and Subject Strategic document setting out the vision, objectives and spatial strategy 
for the District, outlining how the known development requirements for 
the District will be met to 2036, including the amount of housing and 
employment land requirements. It will also include development 
management policies and, if required, site allocations. 

Geographical 
Coverage 

District Wide 

Status Development Plan Document. Once adopted it will replace the Core 
Strategy, Site Allocation and Policies DPD and the remaining saved 1995 
Local Plan Policies. 

Chain of Conformity General conformity with the 2012 National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF). 
The Policies Map will be revised and updated on adoption of the Local 
Plan. 
Any other South Kesteven DPD/SPDs to be consistent with the DPD. 

  

Key Milestones Regulation Timescale 

Commencement of document 
preparation 

 Completed June 2014 

Consultation on the scope of the 
Plan: Issues and Options + Sites and 
Settlements + Draft Local Plan  

Regulation 18 Completed January 2015 to 
August 2017 

Consultation on the Pre-Submission 
Local Plan  

Regulation 19 Completed June – July 2018 

Submission  Regulation 22 Completed January 15th 2019 

Examination Regulation 24 Completed May 8th 2019 – 
30th May 2019 

Inspector’s Report Regulation 25 December 2019 

Adoption Regulation 26 January 2020 

 

Arrangements for Production 

Lead Organisation SKDC Planning Policy Team with support from other Council 
service areas and partner organisations 

Political Management Cabinet decision at relevant key stages and milestones. Full 
Council decision at submission and adopted stages. 
 
Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee may also consider 
versions of the emerging Local Plan and make recommendations 
to Cabinet as appropriate 

Community and Stakeholder 
Involvement 

Stakeholder and community involvement using a range of 
consultation methods in accordance with the SCI 

Monitoring and Review The Local Plan Monitoring Framework will be monitored on an 
annual basis 

 

125



South Kesteven District Council - Local Development Scheme (2019-2022) 

8 
 

4.2 Local Plan Review 
 

4.2.1 Following the Examination Hearing sessions for the New Local Plan, the Council has -proposed 

a main modification to the Plan, which makes a commitment to an early review. As the Local 

Plan was submitted to the Secretary of State for examination during the transition period it 

was examined against the National Planning Policy Framework 2012. An early review will 

enable policies and proposals to take account of the revised National Policy that was 

introduced in July 2018.  

 

4.2.2 The review policy requires the Council to commence document preparation from April 2020, 

with submission to the Secretary of State for examination to be anticipated by the end of 

December 2023.  

 

4.3 Other Documents to be produced 
 

4.3.1 There is no longer a requirement for the LDS to include a programme for the preparation of 

any other planning document that the LPA intends to produce. For this reason, the timeline 

only includes details of South Kesteven’s DPDs. In the interest of transparency, it is proposed 

that the following Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) will be prepared and adopted 

over the next three years; 

 

4.3.2 The timetable for the documents in table above is included in Appendix 4.  

 

4.4 Neighbourhood Planning  
 

4.4.1 The Parish Councils in Rippingale and Dowsby (formally Aveland), Baston, Bourne, Carlton 

and Normanton, Claypole, Old Somerby, Ropsley and District, Stamford and The Deepings 

are currently leading on the preparation of the NDPs in their areas. The Council is supporting 

the Parish Councils in the preparation of their draft NDPs.  

 

4.4.2 The Council will also support other neighbourhood plans that might come forward.  

 

4.5 Evidence Base 
 

4.5.1 Plans need to be supported by a robust evidence base. Evidence studies have been 

completed to support the preparation of the DPDs to date.  

 

Document  Proposed year of adoption 

Design SPD 2020 

Stamford North Development Brief SPD 2020 

Developer Contributions SPD 2021 

126



South Kesteven District Council - Local Development Scheme (2019-2022) 

9 
 

4.5.2 The evidence base will be continued to be updated and expanded as the South Kesteven 

Local Plan is prepared. This will include reviewing existing studies as necessary to make sure 

they remain relevant and up to date. It may also involve the joint commissioning of work 

with neighbouring authorities and/or other partners.  

 

5. Risks to Production 
 

5.1 Identified Risks 
 

5.1.1 The preparation of the Local Plan presents a number of risks which could affect the work 

programme and timetable. These can be addressed through robust planning. The key risks 

and proposed mitigation measures that may need to be implemented in order to ensure 

that sound documents are prepared in a timely manner are identified in the table below; 

 

Risk Impact Mitigation 

Changes to Planning System 

Changes in legislation or 
to National Planning 
Policy 

Regulations may have 
implications for the plan 
preparation, including additional 
work. 

Continued awareness of forthcoming 
legislative and major policy changes.  
Ensure resources are in place to 
implement any changes to 
procedures or handle increased 
work load 

Process 

Higher than expected 
response to 
consultation 

The officer resource/time to 
process and consider 
representations may be 
increased. This could delay timing 
of key milestones e.g. Submission 
of the Plan to Secretary of State 
for examination. 

Deploy additional resources to 
record and appraise representations. 

The Planning 
Inspectorate (PINS) 
unable to meet the 
timetable. (PINS set the 
timetable for the 
examination process 
following submission of 
a DPD) 

Once submitted, the process of 
the Plan to timetable is heavily 
dependent on the ability of PINS 
to resource it. Examination 
and/or Inspectors report delayed, 
and key milestones not met.  

Liaise with PINS on timetable and 
provide early notification of 
anticipated submission date.  

Failure to comply with 
Duty to Cooperate 

Failure to demonstrate that the 
Duty to Cooperate was satisfied 
would render the Plan unsound. 

Develop and implement a Duty to 
Cooperate Plan. Ensuring the Council 
effectively engages with DTC 
partners from the beginning of the 
plan making process at Officer and 
Member Level. 

Plan being found 
unsound 

The Plan cannot process to 
adoption if it is found unsound by 

Ensure we have a complete, clear 
and up to date evidence base, 
including continued engagement 

127



South Kesteven District Council - Local Development Scheme (2019-2022) 

10 
 

an Inspector following 
examination.  
Additional work would be 
required, and the adoption of the 
Plan delayed. 
 
 

with the community and key 
stakeholders. Completion of 
soundness and legal compliance self-
assessment checklist at each stage.  

Legal challenge to the 
Local Plan 

Part or all the document could be 
challenged by third party and 
quashed if challenge 
unsuccessful.  

Engagement of critical friend to 
review and advise at key stages and 
Planning Inspectorate visit before 
submission.  
Seek legal advice as and when 
required. 
Keep up to date with best practice 
through training and PAS website.  

Resources 

Reduced number of 
officers and knowledge 
within the team as a 
result of staff 
sickness/turnover. 

This cannot always be avoided or 
predicted. Significant and 
constant staff turnover would 
severely affect the Council’s 
ability to achieve the time scales 
set out within the LDS 

Encourage team work as part of day 
to day working so all staff have some 
knowledge about all the projects 
currently being undertaken.  
Secondments or short-term contacts 
may be necessary subject to financial 
constraints. 

Financial resources Unforeseen issues can arise 
during the preparation of the 
Local Plan. 

Careful project planning to avoid 
unplanned work.  
Keep under review opportunities for 
joint commissioning of evidence 
base studies. 

Failure of external 
consultants 

The failure of external 
consultation to deliver required 
specialist support could impact 
on the ability to achieve the time 
scales set out. 

Ensure objectives are clearly stated 
in project brief.  
Arrange regular updates and 
meetings with the consultant.  

 

6. Monitoring 

6.1 Monitoring  
 

6.1.1 Progress against the LDS will be reviewed annually and reported through the Authority’s 

Monitoring Report. This will enable consideration of changes, if any, that may be required to 

the LDS including revisions to the Local Plan timetable. Any changes will be brought forward 

through a review of the LDS.  

 

6.1.2 During the year, progress on the preparation of the Local Plan will be published on the 

website ensuring that the local community and others with an interest in the Local Plan are 

kept informed.  

 

 

128



South Kesteven District Council - Local Development Scheme (2019-2022) 

 
 

Appendices 
 

Appendix 1: Status of Saved 1995 Local Plan Policies 
 

Policy Number Policy Name 

Policy H1 Housing Allocation (Grantham) 

Policy E1 Employment Allocation (Grantham) 

Policy H12 Change of Use of Residential Properties (Grantham) 

Policy S1 Town Centre Shopping Area (Grantham) 

Policy S2 New Shopping Developments in and Around Town Centres 
(Grantham) 

Policy S3 Non-Retail Uses in Primary Town Centre Shopping Streets 
(Grantham) 

Policy REC3 Public Open Space and New Housing Development 
(Grantham) 

Policy REC4 Playing Field Provision in New Residential Development 
(Grantham) 

Policy REC5 Play Space Provision in New Residential Developments 
(Grantham) 

Policy REC7 Allotments (Grantham) 

Policy REC9 Grantham Canal 

Policy REC10 Indoor Leisure Facilities (Grantham) 

Policy REC11 Touring Caravan and Camping Sites (Grantham) 

Policy T2 Existing Car Parks (Grantham) 

129



South Kesteven District Council - Local Development Scheme (2019-2022) 

 
 

 

 

 

Appendix 2: DPD Timetable  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M

Commencement of 

Document 

Preparation

Public Participation 

in Document 

Preparation
Submission 

Document 

Publication 

(Regulation 19)

Submission 

(Regulation 22)

Examination 

(Regulation 24)

Inspector's Report 

(Regulation 25)

Adoption 

(Regulation 26)

2018 2019 20202014 2015 2016 2017

130



South Kesteven District Council - Local Development Scheme (2019-2022) 

 
 

Appendix 3: Local Plan process and timetable 
 
Stage 1: Identify issues and collect evidence – Late 2014 
The Council reviewed existing policies and identified any current gaps in policies or evidence bases. 
Began undertaking research to inform the Local Plan.  
 
Stage 2: Consultation: Scoping out the Plan – January to March 2015  
The Council informed stakeholders and the public that a new Local Plan was being produced and asked 
for views on what the plan should cover. The consultation was open for a 6 week period in accordance 
with Regulation 18.  
 
Stage 3: Consultation: Sites and Settlements – July to August 2016  
The Council consulted on the initial appraisal of sites promoted for development and invited 
comments on the review of settlement hierarchy. Consultation was open for a 4 week period in 
accordance with Regulation 18. 
 
Stage 4: Prepare Consultative Draft Local Plan – up to July 2017 
Combining the updated evidence base, technical assessments, consultation responses and internal 
comments enabled the prepared of a draft Local Plan.  
 
Stage 5: Consultation: Draft Local Plan – July 2017 – August 2017 
The Council consulted with stakeholders and the public on the draft Local Plan for a 7 week period 
(extended by a week) in accordance with Regulation 18.  
 
Stage 6: Improve the Plan ready for Publication – August 2017 – May 2018 
The Council took on board comments received during the consultation and prepared any further 
evidence base items needed to prepare the Local Plan for formal consultation prior to submitting the 
Plan for Examination in Public.  
 
Stage 7: Consultation: Publication Local Plan (Regulation 19) – June 2018 – July 2018 
A submission ready version of the plan was made available for stakeholders and the public to 
comment on for 6 weeks. In accordance with Regulation 19 this consultation is formal and statutory 
seeking specifically to establish the Plan’s soundness for Examination in Public. 
 
Stage 8: Submit to Local Plan: January 2019 (Regulation 22)  
The Council assessed the comments received during the regulation 19 formal consultation and 
considered that the Local Plan is sound, therefore it could be submitted for Examination in Public (EiP). 
The plan was submitted to the Secretary of State on the 15th January 2019. 
 
Stage 9: Examination in Public: Commence May 2019 / December 2019  
The Plan was examined by an independent Planning Inspector. Public Hearing sessions were held 
between the 8th May – 30th May (Regulation 24). Following examination, the Plan and any main or 
minor modifications are subject to 6 weeks consultation (under Regulation 19 – relating solely to the 
soundness of the Plan). This timeframe includes receiving the Inspector’s report (December 2019), 
and following the final round of consultation on any Plan modifications. 
 
Stage 10: Adoption: January 2020 (will require special Council meeting)  
If the independent Planning Inspector finds the Local Plan sound, the Plan can be adopted by the Local 
Authority (Regulations 25 and 26). If the Inspector does not find the Local Plan sound, the process 
goes back to stage 6. 

131



South Kesteven District Council - Local Development Scheme (2019-2022) 

 
 

Appendix 4: Other Documents to be Produced 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Key

Commencement of Document Preparation

Public Participation in Document Preparation

Consideration of Representations

Adoption

M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A

Developer 

Contributions  

SPD

Des ign SPD

Stamford North 

Development 

Brief SPD

2020 20212019

132



South Kesteven District Council - Local Development Scheme (2019-2022) 

 
 

Glossary 
 
Community Right to Build Order - an Order made by the local planning authority (under the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990) that allows a local community group to bring forward a small development 

for one or more purposes, such as new homes, businesses and community facilities, but it must be 

small scale in comparison to the size of settlement. 

Core Strategy - sets out the long-term spatial vision and spatial objectives for the district and strategic 
policies and proposals to deliver that vision. 
 
Development Plan Documents (DPDs) - They are spatial planning documents that are subject to 
independent examination. There is a right for those making representations seeking change to be 
heard at an independent examination. 
 
Local Development Framework (LDF) - This term has been replaced by the term ‘Local Plan’. It was 
used to describe a portfolio of Local Development Documents that provide a framework for delivering 
the spatial planning strategy for the area. It also contained a number of other documents, including 
the Annual Monitoring Report, and any 'saved' plans that affect the area. This term is now replaced 
by ‘Local Plan’. 
 
Localism Act 2011 - Government legislation containing wide range of reforms to the planning system. 
 
Local Plan - The new term for the suite of Development Plan documents. It may consist of a single or 
number of Development Plan Documents. 
 
Local Planning Authority  (LPA)- The public authority whose duty it is to carry out specific planning 
functions for a particular area. 
 
Local Development Scheme (LDS) - sets out the programme for the preparation of local development 
documents. 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) - sets out the Governments planning policies. Replaces 
all previous Planning Policy Statements and associated Guidance. 
 
Neighbourhood Development Order - an Order made by a local planning authority (under the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990) which allows communities to grant planning permission for 
development they want to see go ahead in a neighbourhood. It enables them to allow certain 
developments to be built without the need to apply for planning permission. 
 
Neighbourhood Development Plans - The Plans are prepared by a parish council or neighbourhood 
forum for a particular neighbourhood area (made under the Localism Act 2011) and have to be in 
general conformity with the district plan, undergo Examination and a Referendum. After adoption 
they are used (alongside other policy documents) to determine planning applications. 
 
Planning Inspectorate (PINS) - an independent Government agency that processes planning and 
enforcement appeals and holds inquiries into development plan documents. 
 
Policies Map - the policies map illustrates all policies and proposals contained in DPDs, together with 
any saved policies. Previously known as the Proposals Map. 
 

133



South Kesteven District Council - Local Development Scheme (2019-2022) 

 
 

Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) - sets out the standards which the plan-making authority 
intends to achieve in relation to involving the community in the preparation, alteration and continuing 
review of all planning policy documents and in development management decisions. 
 
Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) - an assessment of the environmental effects of policies, 
plans and programmes, required by European legislation, which will be part of the public consultation 
on the policies. 
 
Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) - these cover a wide range of issues on which the plan 
making authority wishes to provide guidance to supplement the policies and proposals in 
development plan documents. They do not form part of the development plan and are not subject to 
independent examination. 
 
Sustainability Appraisal (SA) - a tool for appraising policies to ensure they reflect sustainable 
development objectives (i.e. social, environmental and economic factors). 
 
Abbreviations 
DPD - Development Plan Document  
LDF - Local Development Framework 
LDS - Local Development Scheme 
LMWLP - Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan  
LPA - Local Planning Authority 
MWDF - Minerals and Waste Development Framework 
NDP - Neighbourhood Development Plan 
PINS - Planning Inspectorate 
SA - Sustainability Appraisal 
SCI - Statement of Community Involvement 
SEA - Strategic Environmental Assessment 
SPD - Supplementary Planning Document 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

134



South Kesteven District Council - Local Development Scheme (2019-2022) 

 
 

 

 

 

South Kesteven has a rich and diverse culture – a community made up of people from different 

cultures, with differing backgrounds, beliefs and experiences. This diversity is one of the things 

that make South Kesteven a great place to live and work.  

To ensure all residents of South Kesteven have access to our information material, our 

information is available in a range of different languages and formats, including large print, 

Braille, audio tape and computer disc.  

To request a document in a specific language or format, you can ring us or email us: 

 

          01476 406127                             communications@southkesteven.gov.uk  

Large print, Braille, audio tape or computer disc 

This information can be made available in large print, Braille, on 

audio tape or computer disc. If you, or someone you know, 

might benefit from this service, please contact us. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

135

mailto:communications@southkesteven.gov.uk


South Kesteven District Council - Local Development Scheme (2019-2022) 

 
 

xxxxxxx 

 

 

 

136



Cabinet
10th September 2019

Report of:  Councillor Helen Goral

Portfolio Holder for Growth

        

Delivery of the University Centre SK project, including 
contracts and delegations

Report Author

Liz Bates, Assistant Chief Executive, InvestSK

 07971 722495

 liz.bates@investsk.co.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Growth Key Grantham St Wulfram's

Reviewed by: Lee Sirdifield, Strategic Director – Transformation and 
Change 29 August 2019

Approved by: Paul Thomas, Interim Chief Executive 29 August 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Helen Goral, Portfolio Holder for Growth 29 August 2019

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

1. To enter into a contract with Lindum Construction Services Ltd to deliver the 
capital fit out works for the University Centre, Grantham to a total value not 
exceeding £680k.   

2. To delegate in-project decisions to the Interim Chief Executive and Strategic 
Director for Growth, in consultation with the Cabinet Member. 

137

Agenda Item 5

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
1.1 South Kesteven District Council received a grant of £2 million from the Greater 

Lincolnshire Local Enterprise Partnership (GLLEP) to construct a new building on St 
Peter’s Hill in Grantham. The building has been constructed to accommodate the Savoy 
Cinema, retail units and a new University Technology and Innovation Centre. 

1.2 The University Centre is being delivered in partnership with the University of Lincoln and 
will offer higher education courses, responding to the skills development needs of 
businesses within South Kesteven. The building will act as a key component in driving the 
higher end economy, providing a resilient local skills offer and facilitating business 
investment in workforce development. 

1.3 The capital delivery of the University Centre is being managed by InvestSK in partnership 
with the Council’s Property team, and InvestSK is managing the financial and progress 
reporting to the GLLEP. InvestSK is also liaising with the University and local businesses 
to develop the education and skills programme and ensure learning outputs are met. 

1.4 Following the delivery of the capital fit out of the building, the outputs required through the 
GLLEP contract for the University Centre are 340 learners supported and 30 businesses 
assisted to improve their performance over a 5-year period. Failure to deliver these 
outputs could result in clawback of either a proportion or the full amount of the GLLEP 
grant. 

1.5 South Kesteven District Council appointed Lindum Construction Services Ltd through the 
SCAPE framework to undertake the feasibility and pre-construction phases of the design 
of the University Centre. This is due for completion by September 2019. In order to 
progress the capital fit out of the University Centre, a further contract is now required.  

1.6 Lindum has developed the detailed design and specification and has undertaken a full 
market testing to ensure value for money within the final contract sum. InvestSK has 
appointed Hewitt Freeborn as project managers and quantity surveyors, who have been 
tasked to exert control on the design specification and final contract sum. The most recent 
cost report for the project forecast the contract sum as £679,205 and the final contract 
sum will be produced in September 2019.   

1.7 For the programme and outputs within the GLLEP contract to be achieved it is critical that 
the capital fit out works for the University Centre are completed by January 2020. 

1.8 InvestSK is working with the SKDC Property team to agree terms of tenure with the 
University of Lincoln to reach an agreement that meets the requirements of the GLLEP.

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
2.1 The GLLEP contract and budget was approved by Full Council in January 2019. Progress 

to date has been reported to Cabinet by InvestSK in consultation with the Council’s 
Property team. 

3 Available Options Considered
3.1 An alternative procurement process for the capital works could have been adopted for the 

delivery of this project. However, this would have lengthened the programme considerably 
and may have had an adverse impact on achieving the GLLEP contractual outputs.

138



4 Preferred Option
4.1 Progress the capital fit out works within the SCAPE framework by entering into the 

contract with Lindum Construction Services Ltd. 

4.2 Lindum Construction Services Ltd were appointed by SCAPE through a competitive 
procurement process to be the lead contractor for capital projects in the Midlands (North 
East – lower) from £0 - £750,000 in value. The SCAPE framework has been followed as 
this is designed to enable high quality capital projects in a cost effective and timely 
manner; ensuring the maximum benefit to the local construction supply chain. This is a 
fully compliant public procurement process.

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s)
5.1 Lindum Construction Services Ltd has been procured to undertake the feasibility and pre-

construction design elements of the capital works and therefore it is most cost effective 
and efficient to contract them for the delivery phase.

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
6.1 A decision from Cabinet at this stage will ensure that the contract progresses to the 

required timetable. 

7 Financial Implications 
7.1 The allocated budget of £679,205 will be met by £557,420 from the GLLEP grant and a 

contribution of £121,785 from South Kesteven District Council. 

7.2 The costs could exceed the budgeted sum as a result of the market testing that is 
currently underway.  If this is the case then work will need to be undertaken to reduce the 
costs in order to meet the budget sum.  In the event that this cannot be achieved then 
Cabinet will be asked to consider recommending a budget increase.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Director of Finance

8 Legal and Governance Implications 
8.1 The GLLEP grant contract dated February 2019 requires the Council to deliver the project 

with reference to the specified grant terms and conditions. 

8.2 Appointment under the Scape Framework to Lindum Construction Services Ltd is in 
accordance with the Council’s Contract Procurement Procedure Rules.  

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shelley Hardy Legal Services 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
9.1 As this report relates only to gaining approval for a capital contract, an equality impact 

analysis is not required

10 Risk and Mitigation
10.1 Financial risk:  The specification of capital fit out works has been set out in detail to allow 

for a fully costed market testing process. There is a low level risk that the outcome of this 
process will involve an increase in the current forecast contract sum, however, there are 
also options for value engineering to reduce costs. Cost control during the contract will be 
undertaken by the appointed project managers. 

139



10.2 Project Change Clawback risk: The risk of not progressing this project as planned is that 
the GLLEP may require some or all of the grant allocated to the building to be clawed 
back. Mitigation may be achieved through negotiation but this would be unlikely as the 
University Centre is a fundamental part of the GLLEP’s delivery requirements.

10.3 Contract delivery risk:  The risks involved in delivering the contract are low as this is a 
capital fit out within a new build structure. The contract term is expected to be a maximum 
of 20 weeks and there is very low risk of project over-run following contract approval. The 
project managers will manage progress on site to ensure it is delivered to the required 
timescale. 

10.4 Non-delivery risk:  South Kesteven District Council is contracted to deliver 40 learners in 
2019/20, 60 learners in 2020/21 and 240 learners in future years. In the case of non-
delivery, the GLLEP clawback arrangements will be initiated and a proportion of the 
£2million would have to be repaid.

10.5 Funding availability:  The revenue funding is available in Year 1 (£150,000 for 2019/20) to 
support the costs of the centre during setup and operation. There may be a need for 
additional revenue funding to allow the occupier sufficient time to establish the learning 
centre and to make it financially sustainable. This potential risk will be managed by further 
revenue operating budget bids as necessary to safeguard the functionality of the centre in 
future years of operation. 

10.6 Project failure:  In the case of project failure due to unforeseen circumstances, the project 
delivery strategy will be reviewed and an updated version agreed with the GLLEP. 
However, risk 10.2 should be noted.

11 Community Safety Implications 
11.1 There are none. 

12 Other Implications (where significant) 
12.1 There are no other significant implications. 

13 Background Papers
13.1 Full Council meeting 31st January 2019; Report on Changes to Budget Framework 

2018/19  (pages 28 – 29) Minute 64 (pages 8-10) 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/g3653/Public%20reports%20pack%20
31st-Jan-2019%2014.00%20Council.pdf?T=10

14 Appendices
14.1 N/A

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

12 August 2019

Previously Considered by: Council 31 January 2019

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  10 September 2019

140

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/g3653/Public%20reports%20pack%2031st-Jan-2019%2014.00%20Council.pdf?T=10
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/g3653/Public%20reports%20pack%2031st-Jan-2019%2014.00%20Council.pdf?T=10


Cabinet
10 September 2019

Report of: Councillor Helen Goral
Cabinet Member for Growth

        

Authority to enter into a Funding Agreement with 
Ministry of Housing & Local Government for ERDF 
Grant Funding

Report Author

William Tse, Special Projects and Regeneration Manager, InvestSK

 01476 406376

 william.tse@investsk.co.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Growth Key Two or more Wards

Reviewed by: Lee Sirdifield, Strategic Director, Transformation and 
Change 30 August 2019

Approved by: Paul Thomas, Interim Chief Executive 30 August 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Helen Goral, Cabinet Member for Growth 1 August 2019

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

1. Authority to enter into a Funding Agreement with the Ministry of Housing and Local 
Government.

2. The contract signing to be delegated to the Cabinet Member for Growth and a 
Director (Growth).

3. Authority to appoint a suitable Cabinet member to the board for this programme of 
works and to delegate in-project decisions to the project board.

141

Agenda Item 6

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


4. The Cabinet recommends to Council an amendment of £1,056,615 to the Budget 
Framework to include expenditure in relation to the Witham Slea Blue / Green 
programme.  The financing of this is set out in Paragraphs 1.1 and 1.2 below.  

142



1 The Background to the Report
Introduction

1.1 South Kesteven District Council received a grant in-principle of £743,831 from the 
European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) in April 2019 to deliver 14 projects along 
the Witham and Slea focusing on Environment and Resource Efficiency. 

1.2 The programme is being matched by supporting partners: North Kesteven District Council, 
the Environment Agency and the National Trust at £312,786. The match funding 
committed is as follows:

– North Kesteven District Council (NKDC): £156,300

- Environment Agency (EA): £140,000

– National Trust (NT): £16,486

1.3 To accept the funding from ERDF, a contract is required to be entered into with the 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) for the maximum 
amount of £743,831. MHCLG administers the grant defrayal and delivery for the European 
Union (EU) funded programme.

1.4 South Kesteven District Council (SKDC) will be acting as the lead partner in this ring-
fenced programme which will include delivery of revenue and capital works. The total 
operating budget of this programme being: £1,236,615. SKDC will act as the financial 
body for the project, managing all income and expenditure. 

1.5 The tables pertaining to the programme expenditure, income and SKDC agreed budgets 
are as below:

1.6 SKDC have agreed to support the project with £180,000 which has been split across 3 
years from 2019 to 2022. The revenue funding allocated is split:

- £60,000 for 2019/2020

- £60,000 for 2020/2021

- £60,000 for 2021/2022

This decision is retained in the report for Full Council (minute 75): Budget 2019/20: A 
district that works for everyone, delivering opportunity (Appendix B - Capacity Bids). 

1.7 With the pre-agreed revenue budget of £60,000 per annum from 2019-2022 committed by 
SKDC, the increase to the SKDC budget framework is as follows:

- Increase of £215,274 in year 2019/2020

- Increase of £738,525 in year 2020/2021

2019/2020 2020/2021 2021/2022 2022/2023 (Q1) Totals (All Years)

Total Expenditure: £275,274 £798,525 £162,816 £1,236,615

ERDF Income: £30,489 £540,855 £114,389 £58,097 £743,829

Partner Income: £272,786 £40,000 £0 £312,786

Total Income £303,275 £580,855 £114,389 £58,097 £1,056,615
SKDC Agreed 
Budget: £60,000 £60,000 £60,000 £180,000

143



- Increase of £102,816 in year 2021/2022

This results in a total revenue increase of £1,056,615 from 2019/2022. The funding 
committed at this point will be paid back by ERDF and partner income at: £1,056,616 
which matches the SKDC revenue commitment of £180,000 over 3 years.

1.8 This is a unique opportunity for SKDC to improve the natural environmental infrastructure, 
support the delivery of sustainable housing, and regenerate the urban conurbations via 
partnership grant funding. The result will be an attractive, centralised, environmentally rich 
corridor for residents, visitors, animals and plants.

1.9 SKDC will be entering into an agreement with NKDC, the Environment Agency and the 
National Trust to set out the terms of the partnership and to safeguard SKDC with the 
delivery of the programme. 

Delivery and Outputs
1.10 The delivery will be managed by a 2 person team employed by SKDC who will manage 

the aspects of procurement, quarterly grant claims, surveying and reporting over the 3 
years of delivery. This team is funded by SKDC, who will reclaim a proportion of the 
funding from the grant. The funding reclaimed will be utilised within the programme for 
further delivery of projects.

1.11 The outputs of the programme will support environmental and physical infrastructure for 
6,000 houses envisaged in the towns (Grantham / Sleaford) over the next 20 years; 
develop access for 13,700 residents; improve 7.05 hectares of blue / green areas and 
conserve 5 hectares of land. 

1.12 The project will also have wider outputs which include: health benefits (well-being & 
active-lifestyle), supporting sustainable travel, visitor economy and place-making for South 
Kesteven.

Governance and Partners
1.13 This significant partnership investment will be overseen by a project board which will 

ensure that the funding within this programme will be spent accordingly against the 
projects, delivery is achieved and conditions enacted by the ERDF guidance are adhered.

1.14 Authority will be delegated to the Cabinet Member for Growth to ensure appropriate 
representation on the project board. The representative, a relevant Cabinet Member or 
their substitute, will have responsibility for reporting back progress to Cabinet and Full 
Council as required during the course of the programme.

1.15 A terms of reference will be in place along with quarterly board meetings for the selected 
members who will join the board from the Environment Agency, North Kesteven District 
Council and the National Trust. 

1.16 Wider partners who will support the board include local landowners, Lincolnshire Wildlife 
Trust and Lincolnshire Rivers Trust. 

1.17 Significant partnership working and resource sharing is committed in this programme by 
all partners in order to deliver a project of a total value above the minimum required for 
ERDF (£833,333).

1.18 The programme and projects align with the shared plans of: 

- Lincolnshire Rivers Trust - Urban Opportunities Study

144



- Environment Agency – Urban River & Wetlands Plan

- Lincolnshire Wildlife Trust – River, Wetland and Wildlife targets

- North Kesteven District Council – Local Plan and NK Plan (Environment)

- South Kesteven – Local Plan 2018 to 2036 (Policy: EN1 and EN2)

1.19 The funding received an approval from the Greater Lincolnshire Local Enterprise 
Partnership European Structural Investment Fund Committee in April 2019.

Funding
1.20 The funding from EU programmes including ERDF are guaranteed and underwritten by 

HM Treasury until the end of 2020 and over the project lifetime. This was announced in 
July 2018 and safeguards against both scenarios of EU exit. 

1.21 The funding ratio is 40% from local partners and 60% from ERDF. Therefore, the funding 
impact is as follows: for every £1 contributed from the partnership, £1.50 will be matched 
from the ERDF programme.

1.22 An amendment of £1,056,615 is required to ensure SKDC’s budget framework includes 
the total programme expenditure and partnership contributions by funding the delivery 
costs in advance. 

1.23 The funding from the ERDF will be paid back to SKDC at 60% match funding in quarterly 
arrears. As such, Claims will complete in Q1 of 2022/2023.

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
2.1 Report SEG56 was presented to the Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the 13th 

December 2017. This presentation took place between the 1st stage of bidding and 
preceded the 2nd stage bid which was submitted in June 2018. The Committee welcomed 
the initiative and recognised the opportunity to obtain funding in order to provide better 
links and water management along the Witham Corridor.

2.2 A second representation was made to the Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 
the 14th February 2018 in which the 2nd stage bidding process was outlined.

2.3 Individual projects received consultation with members of the public who represent local 
interest groups such as: Friends of Queen Elizabeth Park, Friends of Wyndham Park and 
Dysart park Action Group.

3 Available Options Considered
3.1 Alternative options for delivering these projects were considered. However, the other 

environmental programmes (e.g. Countryside Stewardship Scheme) were unable to fund 
all of the projects. This would also result in a fragmented delivery programme and omits 
the partnership and resources which are available for the proposed programme. The 
funding ratios would be lower and not all of the programme activities would have been 
eligible. 

3.2 The project can continue without ERDF funding and this will have the result of reducing 
the total operating budget by 60% to: £492,786. This would severely impact the delivery of 
the projects and reduce the overall outputs of the programme which can be delivered. This 
option negatively impacts the support and resources of the overall scheme.

4 Preferred Option

145



4.1 To enter into contract with MHCLG to deliver the scoped programme with partners. Accept 
the funding which has been awarded in-principle from ERDF and to appoint a suitable 
Cabinet member to the programme, who will have delegations to make decisions in 
relation to this project as part of the project board.

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s)
5.1 The funding allows for a tailored programme of delivery which meets the aspirations of the 

partners as well as the ability to deliver these works to support the creation of improved 
natural infrastructure. The programme has been greatly supported and funded by local 
partners who have collectively bid and attributed funding and resources to this 
programme.

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
6.1 A decision from Cabinet at this stage will ensure that the programme progresses to the 

delivery stage and a formal contract is in place between partners and the ERDF to access 
the funding.

6.2 Following the call-in period, the contract will be signed from week commencing the 23rd 
September. A press release will be drafted and sent by SKDC’s Communications team.

7 Financial Implications 
7.1 A revenue budget bid was submitted to Council which approved the expenditure of this 

programme over the 3 years of delivery. The total amount of £180,000 has been approved 
for the period of 2019-2022. 

7.2 An increase to the Council Budget Framework of £1,056,615 over the financial period 
shown at para. 1.5 must be undertaken to include expenditure in relation to the Witham 
Slea Blue / Green programme. This expenditure will be met by ERDF and funding 
committed by partners.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Director of Finance

8 Legal and Governance Implications 
8.1 The MHCLG Funding Agreement is required to set out the conditions for the support for 

the project and the specific requirements concerning the products or services to be, the 
financing plan and the time-limit for execution.  SKDC are the lead Authority for the project 
and therefore will be entering into the Funding Agreement.

A partnership agreement will be required between SKDC, NKDC and the Environment 
Agency regarding the delivery of the project activities to ensure fulfilment of the 
programme.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shelley Hardy Legal Services 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
9.1 A broad statement relating to the Council’s responsibilities on ensuring equality of 

opportunity and the elimination of discrimination was developed as part of the bid to the 
ERDF. Specific projects within the overall programme will require analysis to evidence that 
due regard has been given to the aims of the Public Sector Equality Duty. The duty will 

146



require that this Council ensures that equal access is created or maintained wherever 
possible along the river corridor.

10 Risk and Mitigation
10.1 The projects have been planned in partnership with the Environment Agency and to 

mitigate any negative environmental impact a full ecological and species survey carried 
out along each stretch of the river route where projects are planned. The team and 
partnership have full confidence that this will support the river system in the urban 
conurbations and also in the downstream reaches of the river.

10.2 An ecological clerk will be contracted into the programme to advise and mitigate for any 
protected species which are evident within the river system. Project plans have also taken 
into account the ecological constraints of the seasons, nesting birds, hibernation and 
active wildlife sites.

10.3 Each of the 14 set projects have a 10% contingency built in should any matters arise 
during works and the financial commitment from partners have included the cost for 
contingency.

10.4 Individual project packs have been developed for each project outlining the works and 
consideration for access, materials and constraints on-site. These have been created by 
all involved in the partnership including supporting partners: SKDC, EA, NKDC, 
Lincolnshire Rivers Trust and Lincolnshire Wildlife Trust. These packs are available upon 
request.

10.5 Mitigation for the impact on the programme of the UK’s EU exit has been planned and 
outlined in section 1.20 and 13.5.

10.6 In accepting the funding, any future press opportunities must follow EU branding 
guidelines to include the appropriate EU Logo, SKDC will need to adhere to document 
retention guidelines, provide financial transparency for the programme to MHCLG and 
complete a suitable completion report. These matters will be completed within the project 
programme. 

10.7 A risk assessment has been completed for the programme and although it is not published 
it is available upon request. The risks will be managed by the project delivery team and 
the in-project board during the course of the programme. A regular quarterly report will be 
produced as a requirement for the board and ERDF grant claims on the ongoing risks.

11 Community Safety Implications 
11.1 In all instances, the safety of the public will be paramount during the works with a full 

health and safety assessment being undertaken for each site.

11.2 Any relevant permissions will be sought within project delivery for items which affect the 
highway or walking routes along the river to safeguard members of the public.

12 Other Implications (where significant) 
12.1 None Available.

13 Background Papers
13.1 SEG56 report and minutes 13th December 2017 as follows: 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=631&MID=3446

147

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=631&MID=3446


13.2 Growth Overview and minutes 14th February 2018 is as follows: 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=631&MId=3447

13.3 Full Council Minutes 1st March 2019 approving Budget 2019/20: A district that works for 
everyone, delivering opportunity:  
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=261&MId=3622&Ver=
4

13.4 Full Council Appendix B which outlines the recurring SKDC budget for 3 years 2019-2022: 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s22388/Appendix%20B%20Capacity
%20Bids.pdf

13.5 HM Treasury Funding guarantee for European Union Exit (July 2018): 
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/funding-from-eu-programmes-guaranteed-until-the-
end-of-2020 

13.6 North Kesteven District Council report to Executive Board 8th May 2018: 
https://democracy.n-
kesteven.gov.uk/documents/s87011/01%20Exec%20Report%20PA6%20Funding%208th
%20May%202018%20003.pdf 

13.7 North Kesteven District Council – Central Lincolnshire Local Plan (Adopted 2017): 
https://www.n-kesteven.gov.uk/EasySiteWeb/GatewayLink.aspx?alId=54815

13.8 North Kesteven District Council – Environment (Low Carbon NK): https://www.n-
kesteven.gov.uk/your-council/how-the-council-works/key-plans-strategies-and-
policies/policies/environment/low-carbon-nk-charter-and-plan/

13.9 Lincolnshire Rivers Trust - Urban Opportunities Study (March 2015): https://www.n-
kesteven.gov.uk/_resources/assets/attachment/full/0/20215.pdf

14 Appendices
14.1 N/A

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

12 August 2019

Previously Considered by: Council 1 March 2019

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  10 September 2019

148

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=631&MId=3447
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=261&MId=3622&Ver=4
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=261&MId=3622&Ver=4
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s22388/Appendix%20B%20Capacity%20Bids.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s22388/Appendix%20B%20Capacity%20Bids.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/funding-from-eu-programmes-guaranteed-until-the-end-of-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/funding-from-eu-programmes-guaranteed-until-the-end-of-2020
https://democracy.n-kesteven.gov.uk/documents/s87011/01%20Exec%20Report%20PA6%20Funding%208th%20May%202018%20003.pdf
https://democracy.n-kesteven.gov.uk/documents/s87011/01%20Exec%20Report%20PA6%20Funding%208th%20May%202018%20003.pdf
https://democracy.n-kesteven.gov.uk/documents/s87011/01%20Exec%20Report%20PA6%20Funding%208th%20May%202018%20003.pdf
https://www.n-kesteven.gov.uk/EasySiteWeb/GatewayLink.aspx?alId=54815
https://www.n-kesteven.gov.uk/your-council/how-the-council-works/key-plans-strategies-and-policies/policies/environment/low-carbon-nk-charter-and-plan/
https://www.n-kesteven.gov.uk/your-council/how-the-council-works/key-plans-strategies-and-policies/policies/environment/low-carbon-nk-charter-and-plan/
https://www.n-kesteven.gov.uk/your-council/how-the-council-works/key-plans-strategies-and-policies/policies/environment/low-carbon-nk-charter-and-plan/
https://www.n-kesteven.gov.uk/_resources/assets/attachment/full/0/20215.pdf
https://www.n-kesteven.gov.uk/_resources/assets/attachment/full/0/20215.pdf


Cabinet
10 September 2019

Report of: Cllr Dr Peter Moseley
Cabinet Member for Commercial & 
Operations

        

Climate Emergency 
Public understanding and awareness of the causes and effects of climate change has increased 
significantly over the last few years.  In response, in May 2019 the UK parliament was the first in 
the world to declare a ‘climate and environment emergency’.  This followed growing pressure after 
the Committee on Climate Change’s report on net-zero carbon emissions, weeks of protests about 
perceived government inaction and political meetings with climate figurehead Greta Thunberg.  
Television documentaries, particularly David Attenborough’s ‘Blue Planet’ and ‘Planet Earth’ on 
the BBC, and ‘Our Planet’ on Netflix have also helped to highlight climate change and increase 
public interest.

This report sets out South Kesteven District Council’s (SKDC) declaration of a ‘climate emergency’ 
and ambition to reduce its carbon footprint between now and 2030 and become net-zero carbon 
by 2050.

Report Author

Debbie Roberts, Corporate Project Officer 

 01476 40 60 80

debbie.roberts@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Administrative Administrative All Wards

Reviewed by: Lee Sirdifield, Strategic Director – Transformation & 
Change 29 August 2019

Approved by: Gary Smith, Strategic Director – Commercial & 
Operations 30 August 2019

Signed off by: Cllr Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for 
Commercial & Operations 30 August 2019

149

Agenda Item 7

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

It is recommended that:
1. Cabinet recommends to Council that South Kesteven District Council declares a ‘climate 

emergency’.
2. In response to this, Cabinet recommends that Council:

a. Confirms the political ambition to reduce the organisation’s carbon footprint by 2030 
and to become net-zero carbon by 2050.  This encompasses the Council’s wholly 
owned companies.

b. Recognises the importance of the much more far-reaching impact of the Council’s 
community leadership role to reduce South Kesteven’s carbon footprint (eg 
residents, businesses, other public sector organisations, visitors/commuters, etc).

c. Requests the Interim Chief Executive to establish a ‘Climate Change Action’ task and 
finish group to:

i. identify how the Council’s activities can work towards being net-zero carbon; 
ii. consider the latest climate science and expert advice on solutions; 
iii. consider systematically the climate change impact of each area of the 

Council’s activities;
iv. establish any budgetary implications; and  
v. liaise with the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee and report initial 

findings to the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee in spring 2020.
d. Allocate £50,000 to enable external advice and the recruitment of a Climate Change 

Officer straight away to drive forward the Council’s ambition to be net-zero carbon.

150



Page 3 of 11

1 Introduction
1.1 This report sets out the Council’s positive, proactive and ambitious goals to contribute to 

the global efforts to tackle climate change.  The ‘climate emergency’ declaration and 
commitments represent a major milestone which have far-reaching implications across the 
breadth of services and activities.

1.2 Cabinet is asked to approve the recommendations to be presented to Council which 
pledge to reduce the organisation’s carbon footprint by 2030 and to become net-zero 
carbon by 2050.  Whilst significant carbon emission reductions will be necessary, carbon 
off-setting will be a critical element of achieving net-zero carbon.

1.3 This paper provides both the climate change international context and the impact of 
climate change on Council services. It also sets out the proposed response to climate 
change and reaching net-zero carbon for the organisation.  The report goes on to cover 
the likely service impact and key implications of delivering net-zero carbon across the 
Council’s activities.

1.4 It is recognised that there will be significant challenges to achieve the ambitious net-zero 
carbon commitment but there are, similarly, risks of not doing so.  This report seeks to 
confirm the Council aspirations and sets out an approach to develop a specific climate 
change action plan and to build a wider community movement for change.

2 Climate Change Context
2.1 There is no precise or accepted international definition of a ‘climate emergency’ but it is 

generally taken to mean immediate action and developing policy to mitigate climate 
change beyond current government targets and international agreements.

2.2 Paris Climate Change Agreement – On the 12 December 2015, parties to the United 
Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) reached a landmark 
agreement to combat climate change and to accelerate and intensify the actions and 
investments needed for a sustainable low carbon future.  The Paris Agreement for the first 
time brought all nations into collective agreement on the science and commitment to 
undertake ambitious efforts to combat climate change and adapt to its effects, with 
enhanced support to assist developing countries to do so.  It came into force on 4 
November 2016 after ratification by 55 countries that account for at least 55% of global 
emissions.  The UK signed it on 18 December 2016.  The Paris Agreement’s central aim is 
to keep the global temperature rise this century well below 2 degrees Celsius above pre-
industrial levels and to pursue efforts to limit the temperature increase even further to 1.5 
degree Celsius. 

2.3 Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change Special Report – The Intergovernmental 
Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) is a United Nations body comprising of thousands of 
international scientists who provide governments with regular reports on the best available 
science to support the development of climate policies.  Its Special Report ‘Global 
Warming of 1.5 degree Celsius’ published in October 2018 (see Appendix One) was the 
first in a series of reports in response to the Paris Climate Agreement.  It outlined that to 
limit warming to 1.5 degrees Celsius, a rapid and unprecedented decarbonisation of our 
entire economy and society would be required before 2030.  It stated that:

151



Page 4 of 11

“Limiting global warming to 1.5 degrees Celsius compared to 2 degrees Celsius 
would reduce challenging impacts on ecosystems, human health and well-being” … 
“Avoiding overshoot and reliance on future large scale deployment of carbon dioxide 
removal can only be achieved if global CO2 emissions start to decline well before 
2030”. 

2.4 Committee on Climate Change Report – The government asked its advisory body, the 
Committee on Climate Change (CCC) to reassess the UK’s long-term emissions targets.  
Its report reviewed the work of the IPCC and others, and was published in May 2019.  It 
suggested a national net-zero emissions target by 2050 and stated:

“A net-zero target for 2050 will deliver on the commitment that the UK made by 
signing the Paris Agreement.  It is achievable with known technologies, alongside 
improvements in people’s lives, and within the expected economic cost that 
Parliament accepted when it legislated the existing 2050 target for an 80% reduction 
from 1990.  However, this is only possible if clear, stable and well-designed policies 
to reduce emissions further are introduced across the economy without delay.  
Current policy is insufficient for even the existing targets”. 

2.5 The report stated that if other countries followed the UK there was a 50/50 chance of 
staying below the recommended 1.5 degree Celsius temperature rise by 2100 which was 
considered a dangerous tipping point for changes to the world’s climate. 

2.6 Government response to CCC Report – On the 27 June 2019  the UK became the first 
major economy in the world to pass laws to end its contribution to global warming by 2050.  
The target will require the UK to bring all greenhouse gas emissions to net-zero by 2050, 
compared with the previous target of at least 80% reduction from 1990 levels.

2.7 Councils’ responses – Across the East Midlands local authorities have taken an interest, 
with a number declaring a climate emergency (including the City of Lincoln, North 
Kesteven District Council, Leicestershire County Council, Nottingham City Council, Melton 
Borough Council, Peterborough City Council, Newark & Sherwood District Council, 
Rushcliffe Borough Council, Broxtowe Borough Council, Harborough District Council, 
Kettering Borough Council).  Lincolnshire County Council has increased its emissions 
reduction target but has stopped short of declaring an emergency.  Nationally over 100 
Councils have declared a climate emergency.

3 Impacts of Climate Change on Council Services
3.1 Climate change is expected to increase the frequency of extreme weather events and 

mean higher overall temperatures which will affect the health, wellbeing and safety of 
residents.  This will also – and is already beginning to – have a direct impact across the 
range of Council services:

 Heat waves: Extended periods of hotter than average temperatures in the summer 
means that normal hours of operation will need to be revisited.  For instance, shift 
patterns being changed for staff who operate outside to avoid working during the middle 
of the day when the high surface temperature and the ultraviolet radiation peaks. 

 Flooding: Increased instances of flooding will mean some areas will not be accessible 
for all types of service and the wider impact on flooded households will require 
significant additional support/services from the Council and other partners. 

152



Page 5 of 11

 Snow: Extreme isolated events with the snow and ice being heavier and longer lasting 
than the last few decades will mean that some services will need to be suspended for 
safety reasons.  This may create a service pressure if a backlog accrues which needs to 
be dealt with when the snow and ice recedes.

4 South Kesteven District Council Response
4.1 This report proposes that the Council declares a ‘climate emergency’ and sets out the 

political ambition to reduce the organisation’s carbon footprint by 2030 and to become net-
zero carbon by 2050 (this encompasses the Council’s wholly owned companies).

4.2 Net-zero carbon means balancing carbon dioxide emissions with the 
removal/sequestering of carbon dioxide from the atmosphere, to make up for carbon 
dioxide emissions elsewhere.  Reaching net-zero carbon relies on a combination of 
reducing carbon emissions and carbon off-setting.

4.3 Reducing the organisation’s carbon footprint by 2030 and becoming net-zero carbon by 
2050 is a substantial undertaking which will have profound implications for the Council and 
its services.  It will involve a radical service redesign in many instances.  Achieving net-
zero carbon will require a step-change in carbon efficiency, closed-loop supply chains and 
environmental sustainability.  It will affect all aspects of the Council’s operation, 
fuel/energy use, buildings, supply chain and contractors.  It is likely that the Council would 
need to commit to embracing all relevant technologies and consider the impact on existing 
strategies and plans.

4.4 Achieving net-zero carbon will require dedicated focus to identify options for how this 
could best be delivered to both radically reduce the Council’s carbon footprint and engage 
in carbon off-setting initiatives.  Carbon off-setting schemes enable organisations and 
individuals to invest in environmental initiatives around the world to balance their own 
carbon footprint.  These initiatives are often based in developing countries and usually are 
designed to reduce future emissions.  Carbon off-setting initiatives can also be developed 
locally.  Carbon off-setting projects can involve renewable energy, methane 
collection/combustion, energy efficiency, reforestation and fuel switching.  The Council will 
seek to work with a network of partners to develop or buy-in to the most appropriate mix of 
carbon off-setting initiatives.

4.5 There will be significant financial implications to deliver net-zero carbon that will need to 
be properly assessed and understood, although there will also be invest to save 
investments which will provide longer-term savings.  At this stage, there is no way to 
accurately calculate the full financial cost.  For this reason, it is proposed that a ‘Climate 
Change Action’ task and finish group is established to identify how the Council’s activities 
can work towards being net-zero carbon; consider the latest climate science and expert 
advice on solutions; consider systematically the climate change impact of each area of the 
Council’s activities; and establish any budgetary implications.  

4.6 In the meantime, it is proposed that £50,000 is allocated to enable external advice and the 
recruitment of a Climate Change Officer straight away to drive forward the Council’s 
ambition to be net-zero carbon.  Recurring funds for this post will be built in to the 2020/21 
budget preparation and any additional budgetary requirements would be assessed by the 
‘Climate Change Action’ task and finish group. 

153



Page 6 of 11

4.7 Alongside taking action to contribute to the reduction in the trajectory and pace of climate 
change, the Council will also increasingly need to consider climate change adaptations to 
mitigate the negative impacts or service disruption related to climate change.  

4.8 Whilst the Council has an important role to play to reduce its carbon footprint, it is 
important to recognise the vast majority of carbon emissions from South Kesteven are 
generated by residents, businesses, other public sector organisations and 
visitors/commuters.  The Council has both a responsibility and opportunity to provide 
community leadership to sign others up to take action to reduce their carbon footprint and 
to create a real movement for change.

5 Carbon Reduction – Council Service Impact & Key Implications 
5.1 Growth – Service Impact & Key Implications
5.2 In instances where the Council is undertaking growth and development schemes it will 

embed sustainability and particularly the commitment to reduce the carbon footprint of the 
organisation at the heart of its required outcomes and will ensure that the design, 
procurement and build maximises the opportunity to deliver a positive impact.  This will 
include both encouraging the use of modern, carbon reducing technologies within 
developments and also ensuring that buildings are future proofed by ensuring that design 
enables retrofitting of new technologies over the life time of buildings.

5.3 The Council will undertake robust business cases that fully consider the environmental 
impact of all new developments and major refurbishment projects, which will include 
leisure centres, new housing development (both council houses and other houses), works 
to the Council’s own buildings and any other development or regeneration that the Council 
is involved in.

5.4 As part of this, consideration will be given to further investment in existing buildings and 
offices to make them more environmentally smart, efficient and sustainable (eg automatic 
LED lighting, insulation, fuel sources, water use). 

5.5 Housing/HRA table of planned improvements: 

Existing 
Housing

 The loft insulation programme has been ongoing for the last 3 
years and will be completed in 2019/20

 As needed old boilers have been replaced by more energy 
efficient gas boilers (programme has been running for the last 5 
years).

 From 2025- shift to Electric Boilers
 Replace solid fuel heating with Electric heating powered by Solar 

Panels. By 2030.
 Retrofit Solar Panels to all roofs where applicable.
 Renew old UPVC windows.

New 
Housing:
HRA/
Gravitas

 New build, they are built to lifetime homes standards.
 All new builds to at least sustainable code 3 from 2020
 Include ground Source Heating from 2020 where possible.
 Include air source heating from 2020 where possible.
 Include Solar Panels where possible
 Install electric car charging point to all properties with side 

parking from 2021.

154



Page 7 of 11

5.6 Assessments will be undertaken on costs of housing improvements works.  In regard to 
new build housing, an increase in construction costs will be assumed at 15-20% above 
current per unit costs which will be factored in to capital budgets for 2021/22 onwards.

5.7 Commercial & Operations – Service Impact & Key Implications
5.8 The main carbon usage within Street Scene is in fuel for the fleet, particularly the waste 

collection vehicles.  There are emerging technical innovations which significantly reduce 
carbon emissions but these are currently expensive and have service limitations.

5.9 With the introduction of food waste collections and the subsequent increase in the number 
of anaerobic digester (AD) plants, it is possible that the biogas produced from these plants 
can be used in the future to fuel the waste collection, and other, vehicles.  This has the 
potential to be a locally sourced, carbon friendly and 100% renewable energy source.  The 
supply chain of the fuel would also be neutral as the vehicles would refuel when they went 
to the AD plant to tip food waste.  This would involve the purchase of new vehicles that 
could run on the biogas. 

5.10 Corporate Operations covers a wide range of functions which are high users of energy.  
This includes buildings such as the four leisure centres in the District and also Grantham’s 
crematorium.  Both services are currently managed by external providers.

5.11 Leisure centres are high users of both water and electricity/oil and whilst there are energy 
saving measures on the sites (Combined Heat and Power Pumps and photovoltaic/solar 
panels) there is far more to be done to reduce the carbon footprint.  The current leisure 
management contract expires in January 2021 and this brings the opportunity for 
negotiating with new providers to agree monitoring arrangements for water and energy 
use and set reduction targets, as well as stipulating requirements for recycling and 
sustainable building management.  In addition, the Council’s current commitment to 
building/refurbishment of the leisure centres will bring the opportunity for schemes to 
incorporate energy efficiency into the design.

5.12 Other areas where progress is already being made to reduce the carbon footprint is the 
programme to deploy energy efficient LED lanterns across the Council’s street lights, the 
introduction of two SKDC electric pool cars and the work to install electric vehicle charging 
points in Council car parks in each of the four towns.

5.13 Transformation & Change – Service Impact & Key Implications
5.14 The focus of the transformation and change initiatives will need to consider the 

requirements to become carbon neutral.  This covers the way services are designed to 
enable more environmentally friendly customer access channels and delivery mechanisms 
as well as the way the organisation utilises and deploys corporate resources.

5.15 There will need to be a continued drive towards flexibility in working practices, reducing 
the need for officers and customers to come into Council buildings, as well as reducing the 
requirement to travel to external meetings.

 Include passive housing into design for new housing from 2030.
 Fabric First approach from 2025.
 Maximise MMC opportunities for new construction from 2020.

155



Page 8 of 11

5.16 Further investment in future technologies will be needed, along with training and 
development to enable the organisation to adopt the skills and operate in a more carbon 
friendly manner.

5.17 The design of services will need to continue to consider carbon impacts.  Opportunities to 
reduce the use of materials (e.g. paper, fuel etc) will need to be considered as well as 
where they are sourced from to reduce our overall carbon impact.  There will be some 
challenges faced by the authority if national legislation does not permit services to be 
remodelled to a degree where they are carbon neutral.

5.18 Procurement & Supply Chain – Impact & Key Implications
5.19 The Council will seek to influence the providers of external services and the Council’s 

wider supply chain of goods and services to, as far as practicable, reduce their carbon 
footprint.  Achieving net-zero carbon through the wider provider and supply chain helps to 
multiply the beneficial effect of the Council’s commitment and efforts. 

5.20 Local Authorities are legally bound by the Public Contract Regulations 2015 for 
procurement over specified thresholds.  This requirement is incorporated into the Council’s 
Contract Procedure Rules.  Procurement activity below the stated thresholds would be 
reviewed in the context of the ambition outlined in the report.

5.21 Going forward, any specifications above the stated thresholds will need to factor in carbon 
neutrality where relevant to ensure any suppliers incorporate this into their response.  The 
Council must have regard to its Value for Money statutory responsibilities when 
undertaking its procurement activities so full market engagement would still need to be 
undertaken to ensure this responsibility is met.  

6 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview & Scrutiny
6.1 The Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee have taken an early lead on climate 

change within the Council and agreed on the 18 June 2019 to undertake some targeted 
work on climate change with the expected focus on:

1. Carbon reduction 
2. Carbon off-setting 
3. Use of technology 

6.2 The Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee agreed to hold a series of informal 
workshops to enable information gathering; Members to begin to explore how the Council 
might approach climate change in terms of taking action and implementing policies; and 
Members to consider priorities and proposed next steps.  The first of these workshops was 
held on the 30 July 2019.

6.3 Should the recommendation in this report to set up a task and finish group be approved 
they would liaise with and report back to the Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.

7 Available Options Considered
7.1 The Council could decide to take no action but it is proposed that a tipping point has been 

reached where inaction is no longer tenable.  Alternatively, the organisation could take 

156



Page 9 of 11

more aggressive action – in line with some councils – and declare that the Authority will be 
net-zero carbon by 2030, however, without significantly more work it is not possible to 
accurately gauge the practicalities, implications and costs of this commitment.

8 Preferred Option
8.1 It is proposed that South Kesteven District Council declares a ‘climate emergency’ and 

confirm the Political ambition to reduce the organisation’s carbon footprint by 2030 and to 
become net-zero carbon by 2050 (encompasses SKDC’s wholly owned companies).  This 
report also sets out the proposed next steps to develop the Council’s approach to climate 
change and to assess the financial and other implications.

9 Reasons for the Recommendation (s)
9.1 The recommendations seek to strike the right balance to recognise the climate emergency 

and setting out practical steps to develop the Council’s approach to climate change and to 
ensure Members understand the implications.

10 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
10.1 Subject to approval and any further steer by Cabinet and Full Council, a ‘Climate Change 

Action’ task and finish group will be established.  The group will be tasked to identify how 
the Council’s activities can work towards being net-zero carbon, consider appropriate 
climate change adaptations and establish any immediate budgetary implications.  The task 
and finish group will liaise with the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee and 
report on initial findings to the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee in Spring 
2020. 

10.2 This will provide a strong platform for the Council’s wider community leadership role to 
promote carbon reduction by residents, businesses, other public sector organisations and 
visitors/commuters.

11 Financial Implications
11.1 The report is recommending an allocation of £50,000 to be made available to begin the 

necessary activities.  As this is not currently budgeted, a one-off allocation from the Local 
Priorities Reserve will need to be made.  This will be subject to Council approval.  As 
budget preparatory work for 2020/21 and the two years thereafter is underway, the 
ambition set out in this report will need to be incorporated into budgetary plans from both a 
capital and revenue perspective, where relevant.  

Financial Implications reviewed by:Richard Wyles, Director of Finance

12 Legal and Governance Implications 
12.1 There are no specific legal or governance implications at this stage.  However, this may 

change if, as a consequence of declaring a climate emergency, the Council seeks to 

157



Page 10 of 11

implement policies or other such documents.  There could be matters arising which must 
be assessed further and in more detail at that time.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shelley Hardy, Legal Services

13 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
13.1 There are no specific equality or safeguarding implications at this stage but this will be 

kept under review and, as the programme develops, analysis of impact will be carried out 
and used to inform individual projects as relevant.

14 Risk and Mitigation
14.1 There are significant risks over the next couple of decades if SKDC does not take 

appropriate action to reduce and mitigate the impact of climate change.  In addition, it is 
conceivable that central Government may impose carbon tariffs or carbon reduction 
targets on local authorities as part of the United Kingdom’s carbon commitments; early 
action will position the Council well if this were to happen.

14.2 On the contrary, there are also risks of committing to reaching net-zero carbon within a 
tighter timeframe before the nature or the implications of the required action is understood 
or getting too out of kilter with central Government’s plans.

15 Community Safety Implications 
15.1 There are no specific community safety implications at this stage but this will be kept 

under review and used to inform the programme of work as it develops.

16 Appendices
16.1 Appendix One: ‘Half a Degree of Warming Makes A Big Difference: Explaining IPCC’s 

1.5°C Special Report’ World Resources Institute’s Infographic.

17 Acknowledgements
17.1 This report builds on and borrows from a number of international, national and local 

council reports and materials.

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

Not applicable

Previously Considered by: Not applicable

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  26 September 2019

158



Page 11 of 11

Appendix One: ‘Half a Degree of Warming Makes A Big Difference: Explaining IPCC’s 1.5°C 
Special Report’ World Resources Institute’s Infographic

159



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet
10 September 2019

Report of: Councillor Matthew Lee
The Leader of the Council

        

Matters referred to Cabinet by the Council or Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees
This report highlights any matters referred to the Cabinet by Council or the Council’s Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee since the Cabinet’s last meeting on 9 July 2019, as set out in Appendix 1. 

Report Author

Jo Toomey, Principal Democracy Officer

01476 406152

j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Administrative Administrative All Wards

Reviewed by: Margaret Welton, Senior Research and Support 
Assistant 13 August 2019

Approved by: Shahin Ismail, Interim Head of Legal 23 August 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Matthew Lee, The Leader of the Council 23 August 2019

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

1. It is recommended that the Cabinet notes the contents of the report and the 
matters referred to in Appendix 1.

161

Agenda Item 8

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
Council

1.1 No matters have been referred to Cabinet by Council since the Cabinet’s last meeting on 9 
July 2019.

Overview and Scrutiny Committees
1.2 The Council operates Executive decision-making arrangements as set out in the Local 

Governance Act 2000, which means it is required to have at least one scrutiny committee 
in place. The Council currently has four overview and scrutiny committees. The overview 
and scrutiny committees meet regularly and may hold additional meetings as necessary to 
discuss items within their remit. 

1.3 Any recommendations made, or an overview of the topics discussed, by the Council’s 
overview and scrutiny committees since the last meeting of the Cabinet are contained in 
Appendix 1.

1.4 Where an overview and scrutiny committee meets after the publication of the Cabinet 
agenda, any outstanding recommendations to the Cabinet will be provided in an 
addendum to the Cabinet meeting if the matter relates to an item on the Cabinet’s agenda, 
or a synopsis provided with the agenda for the next Cabinet meeting.

2 Available Options Considered
2.1 This report is a standing item on the agenda for meetings of the Cabinet. No other options 

were considered.

3 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
3.1 Where an item has been considered as part of pre-decision scrutiny, the 

recommendations of the relevant overview and scrutiny committee will either be captured 
within the Cabinet report, or, where the time does not permit, as part of a verbal update 
made during the Cabinet meeting.

4 Financial Implications 
4.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Director of Finance

5 Legal and Governance Implications 
5.1 This report offers the Cabinet an opportunity to consider matters that have been raised by 

other Members at meetings of the Council and committees that operate within the 
Executive function of the Council. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Interim Head of Legal

6 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
6.1 There are no equality or safeguarding implications arising from this report.

7 Risk and Mitigation
7.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and no specific high risks were identified in 

its production. 

162



8 Community Safety Implications 
8.1 There are no community safety implications arising from this report.

9 Background Papers
9.1 There are no background papers to this report. 

10 Appendices
10.1 Appendix 1: Matters referred from Council (Part A) and Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees (Part B)

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

Not required

Previously Considered by: Cabinet 9 July 2019

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  Not required

163



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

MATTERS REFERRED FROM COUNCIL AND 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEES

PART A: MATTERS REFERRED FROM COUNCIL

There are no matters referred by the Council to the Cabinet on this occasion.

PART B: MATTERS REFERRED FROM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEES

FINANCE, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND CORPORATE SERVICES OVERVIEW AND 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Date of meeting: 16 July 2019
Chairman of the Committee: Councillor Graham Jeal

Advertising and Sponsorship Initiative

Considerations:

 The call-in meeting held on Friday 14 June 2019
 The meeting of the Vice-Chairman of the Committee with the Director of Finance 

and the Assistant Chief Executive for Transformation and Change
 Documentation including written references from other local authorities who had 

worked with Publitas, details of previous work the company had carried out and 
their final report and business model

 The Council started dealing with Publitas in October 2018
 The detailed report produced by Publitas describing how it worked and the 

income it could generate for the Council 
 The company had provided details of how it would manage the contract on the 

Council’s behalf
 Training would be provided to the Council’s officers to support performance 

monitoring
 Members and Officers would have an opportunity to review the project half-way 

through the process
 The £40k fee was a one-off fee to cover all work 

Outcomes

 The Vice-Chairman indicated that he was happy with the process followed when 
awarding the contract and considered that the references received had been very 
good 

165

Appendix 1



 No further action needed with reference to the call-in
 The project to be scrutinised going forward
 The Vice-Chairman to provide a written note to the Committee, summarising the 

findings of the review

2018/19 Outturn

Considerations

 The report of the Cabinet Member for Finance regarding the budget outturn 
position at the end of 2018/19 in respect of the General Fund Revenue Budget, 
the Housing Revenue Account Budget and the Capital Programmes associated 
therewith

 The outturn report was approved by the Governance and Audit Committee on 21 
June 2019 and Cabinet on 9 July 2019

 In-year changes had increased the total budget to £19.502m
 Commentary on budget variances of £20,000 and over
 Carry forwards relating to specific items had been agreed by the Governance and 

Audit Committee
 The surplus relating to the Housing Revenue Account had been transferred to 

reserves to provide additional funding for the HRA Capital Programme
 Arrangements for the Pension Review were discussed
 The budget relating to the 100% business rate pilot was reviewed
 Right to buy, void rates and rent write-offs were considered in relation to their 

respective budgets
 Members discussed the need for accounting adjustments 
 Arrangements for factoring the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) into the 

Council budget for future capital asset needs 
 The requirement to reprofile housing scheme budgets to reflect revised 

completion dates
 The Housing Delivery Programme and its budget considerations 
 The Governance and Audit Committee had approved a carry forward in the HRA 

Capital Programme for repairs vehicles
 Underspends associated with the disabled facilities grants provision

Outcomes

 The Cabinet Member for Communities, Health and Wellbeing to provide a written 
update outlining the action to be taken to reduce the underspend in relation to 
disabled facilities grants

Link to relevant papers

 Report from the Cabinet Member for Finance: 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23286/Outturn%20Report
%202018-19%20DRAFT.pdf

 Outturn report appendix 2018-19:
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23287/Outturn%20report%
20appendix%2018-19%20Final.pdf

166

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23286/Outturn%20Report%202018-19%20DRAFT.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23286/Outturn%20Report%202018-19%20DRAFT.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23287/Outturn%20report%20appendix%2018-19%20Final.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23287/Outturn%20report%20appendix%2018-19%20Final.pdf


Performance Reporting

Considerations

 The report of the Deputy Leader of the Council, setting out performance 
information for quarters three and four of 2018/19

 Plans to increase the number of apprenticeships to achieve the associated target
 Rent collection from council homes was slightly below target at the end of quarter 

four
 Occupancy rates of retail units had exceeded targets
 The development and introduction of a new system to collect performance data, 

enabling live reporting
 The new system would be primarily an internal resource
 Arrangements outlining who should have access to the system, and the level of 

access granted to individuals
 The communication plan relating to the rollout of the new system, and any training 

required for users
 The initial procurement, and on-going upkeep costs of the new system
 Arrangement for security measures to protect the Council’s data
 The rate of fly tipping which had shown an increase in performance reporting data
 The regularity with which data was collected, and the possibility of an additional 

breakdown of information in some areas

Outcomes

 A breakdown of the occupancy of retail units by market town to be provided to 
Committee members

 Officers to provide a breakdown of costs relating to the new system and 
information about other users

 Additional information on fly tipping to be circulated to Committee members

Recommendations

 Councillors to have access to the new performance reporting system ahead of its 
main launch to allow the build-up of an archive of data and to enable members 
to answer constituents’ queries when the system goes live 

Link to relevant papers

 Report from the Deputy Leader of the Council:
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23305/OSC%20report%20
16%20July%20v3.pdf

 Quarter 3 2018-19:
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23295/Q3%202018%2020
19.pdf

 Quarter 4 and final outturn for 2018-19:
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23296/Q4%20and%20final
%20outturn%20for%202018%202019.pdf

167

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23305/OSC%20report%2016%20July%20v3.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23305/OSC%20report%2016%20July%20v3.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23295/Q3%202018%202019.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23295/Q3%202018%202019.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23296/Q4%20and%20final%20outturn%20for%202018%202019.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23296/Q4%20and%20final%20outturn%20for%202018%202019.pdf


Funding Update

Considerations

 The challenges facing the Council in relation to national funding and its impact 
on financial review and budgeting work

 The overall reduction in funding, currently sitting at just under 29%
 Local authorities are exploring new ways to focus on innovation and growth, 

rather than relying primarily on making cuts
 The main sources of income for the Council, and the impact of the limitations of 

control over council tax and business rates
 The Revenue Support Grant, which had now been withdrawn
 The government was undertaking a business rates and a fair funding review, with 

changes coming into effect from 2021/22 (a delay of original plans)
 The possible scenarios resulting from the delay, and the effect this would have 

on budgeting   
 The budget deficit projected in the Medium Term Financial Plan would be 

deferred by a year to account for the changes
 The potential impact of reviewing the baseline of business rates income on 

economic growth over time
 The fairer funding review would take into account the cost of service delivery to 

rural areas
 The Council is a member of the Shire Districts Network, through which it had 

been lobbying
 The opportunities and difficulties surrounding the pursuit of commercial 

opportunities as a way of generating income for local authorities

Outcomes

 The Council to continue to make arrangements to increase revenue and review 
budgets where necessary in response to future changes in funding

Link to relevant papers

 Report from the Cabinet Member for Finance:
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23293/Funding%20Update
%20Report.pdf

Contract Tendering Process Review

Considerations

 The Director of Finance’s presentation on contract tendering
 The review of Contract Procedure Rules that was underway following the change 

to working with Welland Procurement in April 2019
 The differing procurement routes taken dependent on the financial value of 

contracts
 The balance of cost and quality in assessing tenders

168

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23293/Funding%20Update%20Report.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23293/Funding%20Update%20Report.pdf


Outcomes

 The Director of Finance to circulate the presentation to Members of the 
Committee

COMMUNITIES AND WELLBEING OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

There are no matters referred by the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to Cabinet on this occasion. 

CULTURE AND VISITOR ECONOMY OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

There are no matters referred by the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee to Cabinet on this occasion. 

ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

There are no matters referred by the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee to 
Cabinet on this occasion. 

RURAL AND COMMUNITIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

There are no matters referred by the Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to Cabinet on this occasion. 

169



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet
10 September 2019

Report of: Councillor Matthew Lee
The Leader of the Council

        

Cabinet Forward Plan for the period 1 September 2019 
to 31 August 2020
This report highlights matters on the Cabinet’s Forward Plan for the period 1 September 2019 to 
31 August 2020.

Report Author

Jo Toomey, Principal Democracy Officer

01476 406152

j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Administrative Administrative All Wards

Reviewed by: Margaret Welton, Senior Research and Support 
Assistant 13 August 2019

Approved by: Shahin Ismail, Interim Head of Legal 23 August 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Matthew Lee, The Leader of the Council 23 August 2019

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

1. It is recommended that the Cabinet notes the contents of the report.

171

Agenda Item 10

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
1.1 The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 

(England) Regulations 2012 sets out minimum requirements for publicity in connection 
with Key decisions. The Council meets these legislative requirements through the monthly 
publication of its Forward Plan. 

1.2 Cabinet may also receive reports on which it is asked to make recommendations to 
Council or review the contents and take any necessary actions. Whilst it is not a 
requirement to publish this information in the Forward Plan, it is the Council’s practice to 
do so. 

1.3 To help the Cabinet understand what issues will be put before it in the longer-term, items 
for consideration have been included in the Cabinet’s Forward Plan (attached as Appendix 
1 to this report). The Forward Plan also includes details of items scheduled for each of the 
Council meetings due to be held within the plan period. 

2 Available Options Considered
2.1 This report is a standing item on the agenda for meetings of the Cabinet. No other options 

have been considered. 

3 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
3.1 The Forward Plan is published each month on the Council’s website. Cabinet Members 

will work with their officers to direct the timeline for each matter, taking account of 
opportunities to consult with the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committees where 
appropriate.

4 Financial Implications 
4.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Director of Finance

5 Legal and Governance Implications 
5.1 The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to information) 

(England) Regulations 2012 set out the minimum requirement to which the Council must 
adhere. Councils may use their discretion to publish information that exceeds the 
minimum requirements.  

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Interim Head of Legal

6 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
6.1 This report provides an overview of the work that the Cabinet will be undertaking. Where 

appropriate, analyses in respect of equalities and safeguarding relevant to its decisions 
will be presented to Cabinet as individual issues come forward. 

7 Risk and Mitigation
7.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and no specific high risks have been 

identified.

8 Community Safety Implications 
8.1 There are no community safety implications arising from this report.

172



9 Background Papers
9.1 Section 9 of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 

Information) (England) Regulations 2012:

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2089/contents/made

10 Appendices
10.1 Appendix 1: Cabinet Forward Plan, 1 September 2019 to 31 August 2020

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

Not required

Previously Considered by: Cabinet 9 July 2019

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  Not required

173

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2089/contents/made


This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET FORWARD PLAN
 Notice of decisions to be made by Cabinet 

1 September 2019 to 31 August 2020

At its meetings, the Cabinet may make key decisions and non-key decisions. They may also make recommendations to Council on 
matters relating to the Council’s budget or its policy framework.

A key decision is a Cabinet decision that is likely:

1. To result in the District Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to 
the District Council’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates; or

2. To be significant in terms of its effects on communities that live or work in an area comprising two or more wards.

A non-key decision is one that is not a key decision.

The Forward Plan

The Cabinet Forward Plan is a rolling, 12-month plan that will be updated on a regular basis. It includes those matters that are 
scheduled to be considered by Cabinet during the plan period. This plan also includes details of those decisions that are due to be 
made by the full Council.

175



Notice of future Cabinet decisions and recommendations to Council 

Summary Date Action Relevant Overview 
& Scrutiny 

Committee and 
date if applicable

Contact

Cabinet – 10 September 2019

Local Plan (Policy Framework Proposal)
Councillor Nick Robins, the Cabinet Member 
for Planning

To approve a period of 
consultation on modifications 
arising from the Inspection of 
the Local Plan

10 Sept 
2019

To agree to go out to 
consultation on any 
modifications arising from the 
Local Plan Inspection

Finance, Economic 
Development and 
Corporate Services 
5 September 2019

Roger Ranson
Tel: 01476 40 64 38
E-mail: r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Witham Slea Blue/Green Corridor (Key Decision)
Councillor Helen Goral, the Cabinet Member 
for Growth

An ERDF funded programme 
seeking to regenerate the 
waterways and green spaces 
in the locations of Grantham 
and Sleaford to provide a 
higher quality environment 
for residents and wider 
ecosystem which run the 
length of urban areas

10 Sept 
2019

To agree to enter into a 
contract with the European 
Regional Development Fund 
(administered by MHCLG) to 
access funding that has been 
successfully awarded to SKDC 
as the lead applicant, and to 
appoint a suitable board 
member and delegate in-
project decisions to the project 
board

Finance, Economic 
Development and 
Corporate Services Ken Lyon

Tel: 01476 40 60 52
E-mail: ken.lyon@southkesteven.gov.uk

University Centre, South Kesteven (Key Decision)
Councillor Helen Goral, the Cabinet Member 
for Growth

To utilise GLLEP approved 
funding of £2 million to 
deliver a higher education 
centre on the first floor of the 
St. Peter’s Hill Cinema 
Development including 
contributions to the shell 
building and public realm

10 Sept 
2019

To agree to enter into a 
contract to deliver the 
construction works and 
delegate in-project decisions to 
the Chief Executive and/or 
Strategic Director for Growth

Finance, Economic 
Development and 
Corporate Services Ken Lyon

Tel: 01476 40 60 52
E-mail: ken.lyon@southkesteven.gov.uk

Cabinet – 8 October 2019

Proposed development brief for land at Stamford North (Key Decision)

176

mailto:r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Relevant Overview 
& Scrutiny 

Committee and 
date if applicable

Contact

Councillor Nick Robins, the Cabinet Member 
for Planning

To consider the proposed 
development brief for land at 
Stamford North prior to 
consultation 

8 Oct 
2019

To approve the draft 
Supplementary Planning 
Document in respect of land at 
Stamford North for consultation

Finance, Economic 
Development and 
Corporate Services Roger Ranson

Tel: 01476 40 64 38
E-mail: r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk

Housing Strategy (Key Decision)
Councillor Barry Dobson, the Cabinet 
Member for Housing

To consider the Council’s 
Housing Strategy 

8 Oct 
2019

To approve the Council’s 
Housing Strategy 

Rural and 
Communities

Harry Rai
Tel: 01476 40 62 99
E-mail: harry.rai@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Leisure Centre Business Plans - Key Decision
Councillor Helen Goral, the Cabinet Member 
for Growth

To consider the detailed 
business plans for the 
delivery of the programme to 
enhance leisure 
opportunities for all.

8 Oct 
2019

To agree the approach to 
delivering the programme to 
enhance leisure opportunities 
for everyone

Culture and Visitor 
Economy

Ken Lyon
Tel: 01476 40 60 52
E-mail: ken.lyon@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Cabinet – 12 November 2019

Gambling Statement of Principles
Councillor Dr. Peter Moseley, the Cabinet 
Member for Commercial and Operations

To consider feedback from 
the consultation on the draft 
Gambling Statement of 
Principles

12 Nov 
2019

To recommend the Gambling 
Statement of Principles to 
Council

Environment 
17 September 2019

Anne-Marie Coulthard
Tel: 01476 40 63 19
E-mail: a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk

Council – 28 November 2019

Gambling Statement of Principles

177

mailto:r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:harry.rai@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:ken.lyon@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Relevant Overview 
& Scrutiny 

Committee and 
date if applicable

Contact

Councillor Dr. Peter Moseley, the Cabinet 
Member for Commercial and Operations

To consider Cabinet’s 
recommendations in respect 
of the draft Gambling 
Statement of Principles

28 Nov 
2019

To adopt the Gambling 
Statement of Principles

Environment
17 September 2019

Anne-Marie Coulthard
Tel: 01476 40 63 19
E-mail: a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk

Cabinet – 10 December 2019

Council Tax Base 2020/21 (Recommendation to Council)
Councillor Adam Stokes, the Cabinet 
Member for Finance

To agree the Council Tax 
base for 2020/21, which will 
form the basis of the Budget 
proposals for the year

10 Dec 
2019

To determine the Council Tax 
Base to form the basis of the 
2020/21 Budget proposals to 
be recommended to Council

Budget
14 January 2020

Richard Wyles
Tel: 01476 40 62 10
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk

Draft Budget proposals
Councillor Adam Stokes, the Cabinet 
Member for Finance

To consider the Draft Budget 
proposals for 2020/21

10 Dec 
2019

To agree the draft budget 
proposals for 2020/21 for 
consultation 

Budget
14 January 2020

Richard Wyles
Tel: 01476 40 62 10
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk

Customer Access Strategy (Key Decision)
Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for 
Communities, Health and Wellbeing

To consider the updated 
customer access strategy

10 Dec 
2019

To approve the Customer 
Access Strategy

Rural and 
Communities

Nova Roberts
Tel: 01476 40 65 06
E-mail: n.roberts@southkesteven.gov.uk

Asset Management Strategy (Key Decision)
Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Deputy 
Leader of the Council 

To consider the draft Asset 
Management Strategy

10 Dec 
2019

To adopt an Asset 
Management Strategy

Finance, Economic 
Development and 
Corporate Services Jane McDaid

Tel: 01476 40 61 77
E-mail: jane.mcdaid@southkesteven.gov.uk

178

mailto:a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:n.roberts@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:jane.mcdaid@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Relevant Overview 
& Scrutiny 

Committee and 
date if applicable

Contact

Council – 30 January 2020

Local Plan (Policy Framework)
Councillor Nick Robins, the Cabinet Member 
for Planning

Consideration of the revised 
South Kesteven Local Plan 
following examination and 
notice of modifications

30 Jan 
2020 

To adopt the revised Local 
Plan for South Kesteven

Finance, Economic 
Development and 
Corporate Services Roger Ranson

Tel: 01476 40 64 38
E-mail: r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Cabinet – 18 February 2020

Budget proposals 2020/21 (Budget framework – recommendation to Council)
Councillor Adam Stokes, the Cabinet 
Member for Finance

To consider the final Budget 
Proposals for 2020/21

18 Feb 
2020

To approve the Cabinet’s 
budget proposals and 
recommend them to Council

Budget
14 January 2020

Richard Wyles
Tel: 01476 40 62 10
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk

Council – 27 February 2019

Budget 2020/21 (Budget Framework)
Councillor Adam Stokes, the Cabinet 
Member for Finance

To consider the Cabinet’s 
Budget Proposals for 
2020/21

27 Feb 
2020

To approve a Budget for 
2020/21

Budget
14 January 2020

Richard Wyles
Tel: 01476 40 62 10
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk

Other items – dates pending

St. Peter’s Hill Re-development – office remodelling (Key Decision and recommendation to Council)
Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Deputy 
Leader of the Council 

To consider proposals for the 
refurbishment of the offices 
at St. Peter’s Hill, following 
the first phase of works to 

Not 
before 
1 Sept 
2019

To approve proposals and 
seek budget approval from 
Council

Finance, Economic 
Development and 
Corporate Services Jane McDaid

Tel: 01476 40 61 77

179

mailto:r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Relevant Overview 
& Scrutiny 

Committee and 
date if applicable

Contact

provide high quality public 
realm through to the new 
cinema 

E-mail: jane.mcdaid@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Strategic Regeneration Acquisitions (Key Decision)
Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Deputy 
Leader of the Council 

Information relating to this 
decision is exempt under 
paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A 
of the Local Government Act 
1972 as amended because it 
contains information which 
relates to the financial or 
business affairs of an 
individual or organisation

Not 
before 
1 Sept 
2019

Finance, Economic 
Development and 
Corporate Services Paul Thomas

Tel: 01476 40 61 62
E-mail: p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk  

Rectory Farm Supplementary Planning Document (Key Decision)
Councillor Nick Robins, the Cabinet Member 
for Planning

To consider the Rectory 
Farm Supplementary 
Planning Document following 
consultation on a draft 
document

Not 
before 
1 Oct 
2019

To approve a Supplementary 
Planning Document in respect 
of Rectory Farm 

Finance, Economic 
Development and 
Corporate Services Sylvia Bland

Tel: 01476 40 63 88
E-mail: s.bland@southkesteven.gov.uk

Cultural Strategy (Key Decision)
Councillor Matthew Lee, the Leader of the 
Council

To consider the draft Cultural 
Strategy for South Kesteven

Not 
before 
1 Sept 
2019

To adopt a Cultural Strategy 
for South Kesteven

Culture & Visitor 
Economy
12 July 2018 Michael Cross

Tel: 01476 40 61 29
E-mail: 
michael.cross@southkesteven.gov.uk  

Design Guide SPD (Key Decision)
Councillor Nick Robins, the Cabinet Member 
for Planning

The document will provide 
guidance to applicants and 
decision-makers in order to 
improve the design quality of 
new development proposals 
as a supplement to the Local 
Plan policies

Not 
before 
1 Nov 
2019

To approve the SPD for 
consultation

Finance, Economic 
Development and 
Corporate Services Roger Ranson

Tel: 01476 40 64 38
E-mail: r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk 

180

mailto:jane.mcdaid@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:s.bland@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:michael.cross@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Relevant Overview 
& Scrutiny 

Committee and 
date if applicable

Contact

Housing Delivery Strategy (Key Decision)
Councillor Barry Dobson, the Cabinet 
Member for Housing

To consider the Council’s 
strategy to address the need 
for the provision of new 
social and affordable homes

Not 
before 
1 Nov 
2019

To approve a Housing Delivery 
Strategy for the Council and 
approach to the provision of 
new social and affordable 
homes within the district

Rural and 
Communities

Ken Lyon
Tel: 01476 40 60 52
E-mail: ken.lyon@southkesteven.gov.uk 

181

mailto:ken.lyon@southkesteven.gov.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet
10 September 2019

Report of: Councillor Matthew Lee
The Leader of the Council

        

Decisions taken by individual Cabinet Members
This report provides an overview of decisions taken by individual Cabinet Members since the last 
meeting of the Cabinet on 9 July 2019.

Report Author

Jo Toomey, Principal Democracy Officer

01476 406152

j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Administrative Administrative All Wards

Reviewed by: Margaret Welton, Senior Research and Support 
Assistant 13 August 2019

Approved by: Shahin Ismail, Interim Head of Legal 23 August 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Matthew Lee, The Leader of the Council 23 August 2019

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

1. It is recommended that the Cabinet notes the decisions taken by individual Cabinet 
Members in the period since the last Cabinet meeting was held on 9 July 2019.

 

183

Agenda Item 11

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background of the Report
1.1 Under the strong Leader model of governance, the Leader can allocate decision-making 

power to the Cabinet and individual Cabinet Members. Decisions of the Cabinet will be 
made during Cabinet meetings while individual Cabinet Members may make decisions at 
any time in accordance with the relevant Regulations. 

1.2 All of the decisions made by individual Cabinet Members since the Cabinet last met are 
attached as appendices to this report. Both the report on which the decision was based, 
and the decision notice are attached. 

1.3 Since the Cabinet met on 9 July 2019, the following decisions have been made:

 Disposal of Market Deeping Town Hall, Market Place, Market Deeping PE6 8EA
Non-key decision taken by The Deputy Leader of the Council on 8 July 2019
Date decision effective: 17 July 2019 (call-in expired)
Report and decision notice attached as Appendix 1

 Work Plan for Food and Health and Safety Enforcement 2019/20
Non-key decision taken by the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations on 8 
July 2019
Date decision effective: 17 July 2019 (call-in expired)
Report and decision notice attached as Appendix 2

 Consultation on the draft ‘Gambling Statement of Principles’
Non-key decision taken by the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations on 11 
July 2019
Date decision effective: 22 July 2019 (call-in expired)
Report and decision notice attached as Appendix 3

 Purchase of land and property in Grantham
Non-key decision taken by the Cabinet Member for Housing on 6 August 2019 
Date decision effective: 14 August 2019 (call-in expired)
Exempt report and decision notice attached as Appendix 4

 Award of Capital Works Contract (car park extension); Wyndham Park, Grantham
Non-key decision taken by the Cabinet for Commercial and Operations on 12 August 
2019
Date decision effective: 21 August 2019 (call-in expired)
Report and decision notice attached as Appendix 5

 Award of Capital Works Contract (new car park); Queen Elizabeth Park, Grantham
Non-key decision taken by the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations on 12 
August 2019
Date decision effective: 21 August 2019 (call-in expired)
Report and decision notice attached as Appendix 6

1.4 Any decisions made after the publication of the agenda will be reported at the next 
meeting of Cabinet.

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
2.1 The report that is presented to the decision-maker includes information on consultation 

and feedback received in respect of the matters to which the decisions listed in this report 
relate.

184



3 Available Options Considered
3.1 This report is a standing item on the agenda for meetings of the Cabinet. No other options 

were considered. 

4 Financial Implications 
4.1 The financial implications are set out within each decision. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Director of Finance

5 Legal and Governance Implications 
5.1 The provisions relating to the Cabinet, its Members and delegations by the Leader are set 

out at Article 8 of the Constitution. The Strong Leader and Cabinet model to carry out 
executive functions was adopted by the Council in accordance with the Local Government 
and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Interim Head of Legal

6 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
6.1 This report provides an overview of decisions that have been made. Each individual report 

on which a decision is based will consider any equality or safeguarding implications. 

7 Risk and Mitigation
7.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and no high risks were identified. 

8 Community Safety Implications 
8.1 There are no community safety implications arising from this report.

9 Background Papers
9.1 None; relevant background papers are referred to in the report for each decision. 

10 Appendices
 Appendix 1: Disposal of Market Deeping Town Hall, Market Place, Market Deeping 

PE6 8EA
 Appendix 2: Work plan for food and health and safety enforcement 2019/20
 Appendix 3: Consultation on the draft ‘Gambling Statement of Principles’
 Appendix 4: Purchase of land and property in Grantham
 Appendix 5: Award of capital works contract (car park extension); Wyndham Park, 

Grantham
 Appendix 6: Award of capital works contract (new car park); Queen Elizabeth Park, 

Grantham

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

Not required

Previously Considered by: Cabinet 9 July 2019

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  Not applicable

185



This page is intentionally left blank



NON KEY DECISION:
REPORT TO CABINET MEMBER

DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY: Councillor Kelham Cooke – The 
Deputy Leader of the Council

REPORT AUTHOR: Chris Pike – Asset and Estate 
Manager

REPORT NO. PD0117

DATE: 1 July 2019 

SUBJECT OF
NON KEY
DECISION:

Disposal of Market Deeping Town Hall, Market Place, 
Market Deeping PE6 8EA

CABINET 
MEMBER REMIT: Commercial

CRIME AND 
DISORDER 
IMPLICATIONS:

None

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION 
ACT 
IMPLICATIONS:

This report is publicly available on the Council’s website 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk via your Council and Democracy 
link

INITIAL EQUALITY 
IMPACT 
ASSESSMENT

Carried out and appended 
to report?

Not Applicable

Full impact assessment 
required?

No
BACKGROUND 
PAPERS:

Current Lease (dated 1st April 2007)

(1) PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 To obtain authority to proceed with the disposal of Market Deeping Town Hall. The 
building to be gifted is shown below and highlighted in red on the plan. 
 

187

Appendix 1

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
file:///V:/GF/Commercial%20Property%20Portfolio/Deepings/Market%20Deeping%20Town%20Hall/Lease%20Details/Current/567%20Completed%20Lease%20-%2013.08.07%20-%20Market%20Deeping%20Town%20Hall.pdf


1.2 The property was built in 1835 and has a frontage to the Market Place. The Town Hall 
is a Grade II listed building which is used by Market Deeping Town Council (MDTC) for 
the purpose of a Town Hall and general ancillary space for MDTC and the community. 

1.3 MDTC have occupied the Town Hall by way of a lease, granted by South Kesteven 
District Council (SKDC) since 1977. The current lease was for a term of 7 years from 
1st April 2007 and for rent of £200 per annum, the tenants were not excluded from 
sections 24 to 28 of the Landlord and Tenant Act 1954 so have rights to renew. 

1.4 The premises requires refurbishment and maintenance works. The ongoing 
maintenance liability will be substantial and costly to SKDC. The roof is in a poor state 
of repair, and although the cost of the works has not been formally documented, the 
estimated refurbishment and repair cost in the region of c£50,000.

1.5 The Town Hall was declared in the previous asset management plan, as a surplus 
asset and SKDC continue to have no use for the premises.

1.6 MDTC have expressed an interest in purchasing the freehold and terms have been 
agreed to gift the asset as per the heads of terms attached in Appendix 1.

1.7 The gifting will be for a value of £1 subject to a covenant restricting any use of the 
building as a Town Hall and community asset only. There will also be a ‘buy back’ 
clause in favour of SKDC which will give SKDC the opportunity to purchase the property 
back at a value of £1.

1.8 Upon the completion of the gifting of the Town Hall, SKDC will cease to have any 
ongoing liability to the maintenance, repair and statutory compliance.

188



(2) RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 To authorise the freehold disposal of Market Deeping Town Hall by way of gift to Market 
Deeping Town Council, subject to the above.

(3) REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)
(including any alternative options considered and rejected)

3.1 The site is surplus to requirements and SKDC has no future intentions to use the 
property. SKDC has not maintained the building over the last 10 years and therefore, 
the building is in some much-needed repair works. 

3.2 The Town Council approached SKDC to purchase the property and are therefore a 
willing purchaser.

3.3 The value being paid at £1 is based on a restriction that the building can only be used 
as a Town Hall and for community purposes and a market value will need to be paid 
by MDTC if they request for this covenant to be released in the future, subject to internal 
approval.

3.4 It is recommended to proceed as per the above on the basis that SKDC has no intended 
future use of the premises and by gifting the premises to MDTC it will release SKDC of 
any ongoing liabilities to maintain, repair and manage the building going forward.

(4) COMMENTS FROM FINANCIAL SERVICES 

The financial implications of this disposal are detailed in the body of this 
report.

(5) COMMENTS FROM LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

The freehold of the land is held by SKDC as surplus land. The Council’s power 
to dispose of land is set out at s123 of the Local Government Act 1972.
This provision permits disposal in any manner the authority wishes provided 
the disposal is at the best price reasonably obtainable. The land has not been 
marketed for sale. A market value has not been determined by the District 
Valuer.

(6) OFFICER CONTACT

Chris Pike   
Asset and Estates Manager
E-mail:  c.pike@southkesteven.gov.uk

(7) DATE DECISION EFFECTIVE:
If decision taken on Monday 8 July date effective will be Wednesday 17 
July 2019 subject to the decision not being called-in.

189

mailto:c.pike@southkesteven.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
Heads of Terms for the disposal of 

Market Deeping Town Hall, Town Hall, Market Place, Market Deeping, Lincolnshire, PE6 8EA 
Subject to Contract and Board Approval 

 

DATE 17th February 2019 

LAND OWNER 
 
 
LAND OWNER 
REPRESENTATIVE 

South Kesteven District Council, Council Offices, St Peters Hill, 
Grantham, Lincolnshire, NG31 6PZ.  
 
Chris Pike, South Kesteven District Council, Council Offices, St Peters 
Hill, Grantham, Lincolnshire, NG31 6PZ. 
 

PURCHASER 
 

Market Deeping Town Council 

PREMISES 
 
 
 

Market Deeping Town Hall 
Town Hall 
Market Place 
Market Deeping 
Lincolnshire 
PE6 8EA 
 

TENURE 
 

Freehold 

TRANSACTION 
 
VALUE OF GIFT 
 
DEPOSIT 
 
WARRANTIES 
 
CONDITION  

Gift of freehold interest 
 
£1 
 
Not applicable 
 
There are no Warranties 
 
Restricted covenant on the land that the building can only be used as a 
town hall. 
 

LEGAL COSTS 
 

Each party to be responsible for their own legal costs incurred in 
respect of the transaction 
 

TIMESCALES 
 
 
 
 
VAT 
 

Exchange of contracts to take place as soon as possible following 
internal approval. 
 
Completion to take place 3 months after exchange 
 
It is assumed that VAT will be applicable to the sale 

LAND OWNERS 
SOLICITORS 

tbc 

191



 
 
 
VENDOR/FREEHOLDERS 
SOLICITORS 
 
PURCHASERS 
CONDITIONS 
 
CONFIDENTIALITY 
 
 
CONTINUATION OF 
EXCLUSIVITY 
AGREEMENT AND 
NON/DISCLOSURE 
AGREEMENT  

tbc 
 
 

a) Subject to Council Approval 
b) Subject to formal Red Book Valuation (if applicable) 
c) Buy back clause in the favor of the SKDC which will give SKDC 

the first opportunity to purchase the property back at a value 
of £1 should both parties cease operating. 
 

The Parties agree that the terms of this transaction shall remain 
confidential between the Parties  
 
It is agreed and acknowledged that the exclusivity agreement and 
non-disclosure agreement is ongoing 

 
 
Dated: 17/02/19  
Chris  Pike 
South Kesteven  
District Council  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

192



CABINET MEMBER 
DECISION

Decision:   

That approval is granted for the freehold disposal of Market 
Deeping Town Hall by way of gift to Market Deeping Town Council 
as outlined in report PD0117.
 
(1) Details of Decision

To seek approval for the freehold disposal of Market Deeping Town Hall by 
way of gift to Market Deeping Town Council.

(2) Considerations/Evidence

The property was built in 1835 and has a frontage to the Market Place. The Town 
Hall is a Grade II listed building which is used by Market Deeping Town Council 
(MDTC) for the purpose of a Town Hall and general ancillary space for MDTC and 
the community. 

MDTC have occupied the Town Hall by way of a lease, granted by South Kesteven 
District Council (SKDC) since 1977. The current lease was for a term of 7 years from 
1st April 2007 and for rent of £200 per annum, the tenants were not excluded from 
sections 24 to 28 of the Landlord and Tenant Act 1954 so have rights to renew. 

The premises requires refurbishment and maintenance works. The ongoing 
maintenance liability will be substantial and costly to SKDC. The roof is in a poor 
state of repair, and although the cost of the works has not been formally 
documented, the estimated refurbishment and repair cost in the region of c£50,000.

The Town Hall was declared in the previous asset management plan, as a surplus 
asset and SKDC continue to have no use for the premises.

MDTC have expressed an interest in purchasing the freehold and terms have been 
agreed to gift the asset as per the heads of terms attached in Appendix 1 to report 
PD0124.

The gifting will be for a value of £1 subject to a covenant restricting any use of the 
building as a Town Hall and community asset only. There will also be a ‘buy back’ 
clause in favour of SKDC which will give SKDC the opportunity to purchase the 
property back at a value of £1.

Upon the completion of the gifting of the Town Hall, SKDC will cease to have any 
ongoing liability to the maintenance, repair and statutory compliance.

193



(3) Reasons for Decision:

The site is surplus to requirements and SKDC has no future intentions to use the 
property. SKDC has not maintained the building over the last 10 years and therefore, 
the building is in some much-needed repair works. 

The Town Council approached SKDC to purchase the property and are therefore a 
willing purchaser.

The value being paid at £1 is based on a restriction that the building can only be 
used as a Town Hall and for community purposes and a market value will need to be 
paid by MDTC if they request for this covenant to be released in the future, subject 
to internal approval.

It is recommended to proceed as per the above on the basis that SKDC has no 
intended future use of the premises and by gifting the premises to MDTC it will 
release SKDC of any ongoing liabilities to maintain, repair and manage the building 
going forward.

Conflicts of Interest

(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded).

NONE

Dispensations

(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted).

NONE

Decision taken by:

Name: Councillor Kelham Cooke
The Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Business Transformation and Property

Date of Decision: 08 July 2019

Date of Publication of Record of Decision:  09 July 2019

Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups):

17 July 2019

194



NON KEY DECISION:
REPORT TO CABINET MEMBER

DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Cabinet Member for Commercial and 
Operations

REPORT AUTHOR: Head of Environmental

REPORT NO. ENV718

DATE: 2 July 2019 

SUBJECT OF
NON KEY
DECISION:

Work Plan for Food and Health and Safety Enforcement 
2019/20

CABINET 
MEMBER REMIT: Commercial and Operations

CRIME AND 
DISORDER 
IMPLICATIONS:

Not applicable 

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION 
ACT 
IMPLICATIONS:

This report is publicly available on the Council’s website 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk via your Council and Democracy 
link

INITIAL EQUALITY 
IMPACT 
ASSESSMENT

Carried out and appended 
to report?

Not Applicable

Full impact assessment 
required?

No
BACKGROUND 
PAPERS: Workplan for Food and Health and Safety Enforcement 

2018/19

195

Appendix 2

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=15568&p=0
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=15568&p=0


(1) PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 To present the Work Plan for Food and Health and Safety Enforcement for 
2019/20 for approval.

(2) RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 It is recommended that the Work Plan for Food and Health and Safety 
Enforcement for 2019/20 be approved.

(3) REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)
(including any alternative options considered and rejected)

3.1 The Food Standards Agency (FSA) requires each Local Authority to produce an 
annual Food Work Plan in accordance with the guidelines set out in the 
Agency’s Framework Agreement on Local Authority Food Law Enforcement.  
This document dictates the structure and content of the work plan. 

3.2 The FSA use the information contained in the plan to assess the Council’s 
delivery of the service and compare performance against other authorities. The 
FSA has powers to take over the management of the food service from local 
authorities who fail to meet performance standards.

3.3 The work plan is predominantly produced to satisfy the requirements of the FSA, 
but also demonstrates how the Council will comply with the Health and Safety 
Executive (HSE) National Local Authority Enforcement Code and incorporates 
work undertaken on other associated activities, including infectious disease 
control and the regulation of private water supplies. 

(4) COMMENTS FROM FINANCIAL SERVICES 

4.1 The delivery of the work plan can be met from budgetary resources allocated in 
the 2019/20 budget framework.  The workplan also includes the provision of 
additional services provided on a cost recovery basis through discretionary 
charges where possible.

(5) COMMENTS FROM LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

5.1 The Council is required under the FSA Framework Agreement and the HSE 
National Local Authority Enforcement Code to produce a work plan for food and 
health and safety enforcement.

5.2 Failure to provide and publish this document contravenes HSE and FSA 
requirements and would result in a breach of duty. 

5.3 The approval of the work plan appended to this report will satisfy that duty and 
demonstrates a commitment of the Council to food and health and safety 
enforcement.

196



(6) APPENDICIES

6.1 Appendix 1 – Work Plan for Food and Health and Safety Enforcement 2019/20

(7) OFFICER CONTACT

Anne-Marie Coulthard
Head of Environmental 
a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk
Tel: 01476 406319

(8) DATE DECISION EFFECTIVE:
If decision taken on Monday 8 July 2019 date effective will Wednesday 17 
July 2019 subject to no call-in being received.

197

mailto:a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Work Plan for  

Food and Health and  

Safety Enforcement 

2019/2020  

199



2 
 

Contents 

1. Introduction ........................................................................................... 3 

1.1 Service aims and objectives ..................................................................... 3 

1.2 Links to corporate objectives and strategies .................................................. 3 

1.3 Links to other Council functions ................................................................ 3 

2. Review of 2018/2019 and estimated work for 2019/2020 ..................................... 4 

2.1 Food Hygiene ...................................................................................... 4 

2.2 Infectious Disease Investigation (ID) ........................................................... 4 

2.4 Private Water Supply Regulation (PWS) ...................................................... 5 

2.5 Enforcement during 2018/19 .................................................................... 5 

2.6 Performance indicators 2018/19 ................................................................ 6 

2.7 Variations from the 2018/19 Work Plan ....................................................... 6 

3. Background ........................................................................................... 7 

3.1 Authority Profile ................................................................................... 7 

3.3 Scope of the Service ............................................................................. 8 

3.4 Accessing the Service ............................................................................ 8 

3.5 Enforcement policy ............................................................................... 9 

4. Service Delivery ...................................................................................... 9 

4.1 Programmed Work ................................................................................ 9 

4.2 Non programmed work ......................................................................... 13 

5. Resources........................................................................................... 17 

5.1 Financial .......................................................................................... 17 

5.2 Staffing allocation ............................................................................... 17 

5.3 Staff training and development ............................................................... 18 

5.4 Quality assessment ............................................................................. 18 

Appendix 1 Programmed food safety intervention work for 2019/2020 .................... 19 

 

  

200



3 
 

1. Introduction 
 
The purpose of the work plan is to set out how the Council delivers official controls and fulfils 
its duties under food safety, health and safety, public health and drinking water legislation. 
 
It is based on the elements required by the Food Standards Agency Framework Agreement, 
but covers all areas work undertaken by the Environmental Health, Commercial Team. 

1.1 Service aims and objectives 
 
The food and health and safety functions make an important contribution towards making the 
district a healthy place to live, work and visit. 
 
The work of the service: 
 

• Supports the economy and business growth in South Kesteven 

• Protects and enhances the local environment 

• Ensures the effective control of risks to the safety, health and wellbeing of our residents  

• Ensures a proportionate, risk-based, targeted approach to enforcement while 
supporting businesses 

1.2 Links to corporate objectives and strategies 
 
As detailed in the Council’s Corporate Strategy 2018-2025, the core strategic goal is to 
achieve complete and sustainable financial autonomy by 2025 through commissioning 
services that are relevant to our community and valued by those who use them.  
 
This work plan supports the ambition to become a modern, agile and commercially competitive 
Council.  Providing additional chargeable services that support food businesses to start up, 
grow and achieve their potential, while continuing to deliver our core statutory functions in the 
efficient and effective way.  

1.3 Links to other Council functions 
 
The work of the Commercial Team links with other services. Some key areas include: 
 
Development Management and Planning Policy 
 
Economic growth and the success of businesses is vital for our thriving district.  Working with 
new businesses in the early planning stages can help to avoid potential future problems, giving 
the business the best possible start. 
 
Licensing  
 
The Council licences premises for late night refreshment (serving hot food and drinks between 
11pm and 5am). The Commercial team support this work, checking licenses during 
inspections and commenting on licence applications.  

201



4 
 

2. Review of 2018/2019 and estimated work for 2019/2020 

2.1 Food Hygiene 
PROGRAMMED WORK Estimated 

2018/19 
Actual  
2018/19 

Estimated 
2019/20 

Food 
interventions  

High risk (Cat A-
C) 

173 193 153 

Medium risk (Cat 
D) 

267 260 203 

Low risk (E and 
outside) 

226 275 262 

Outstanding 
interventions  

High risk (Cat A-
C) 

N/A 0 0 

Medium risk (Cat 
D) 

N/A 2 0 

Low risk (E and 
outside) 

 10 0 

Food and environmental sampling  5 4 5 

Export audit visits 0 0 0 

 

NON-PROGRAMMED WORK Estimated 
2018/19 

Actual 
2018/19 

Estimated 
2019/20 

General  

Food interventions 
and export 
certificates 

125 135 125 

Revisits 100 70 60 

Advice 60 25  

Investigations 60 59 60 

Business advice 125 67 100 

Complaints 130 179 170 

Other requests 190 264 250 

New registration 85 114 100 

Food hygiene 
rating scheme 
(FHRS) 

Enquiries 10 8 10 

Re-score revisits 10 7 10 

Appeal requests 1 1 1 

Right to reply 1 0 1 

2.2 Infectious Disease Investigation (ID) 
 

NON-PROGRAMMED WORK Estimated 
2018/19 

Actual 2018/19 Estimated 
2019/20 

Official notification 200 183 200 

Unofficial notification 45 21 20 

Investigations  40 39 40 

Visits 5 3 5 

 
 

 

202



5 
 

2.3 Health and Safety 
 

PROGRAMMED WORK Estimated 
2018/19 

Actual 
2018/19 

Estimated 
2019/20 

H&S 
interventions  

High risk premises 1 1 1 

Skin piercing 20 20 20 

Cooling tower 
registration 
renewal 

0 14 N/A 

 

NON-PROGRAMMED WORK Estimated 
2018/19 

Actual 
2018/19 

Estimated 
2019/20 

General 
 

H&S inspections 5 2 10 

Revisits 10 8 10 

Advice 5 6 5 

Investigations 20 21 20 

Complaints 25 21 25 

Other requests 50 65 50 

Smoke free 5 3 3 

Skin Piercers 

Enquiries 65 48 65 

Complaints 5 0 1 

New skin piercing 
registrations 

20 47 30 

Accidents 

Reported 80 70 70 

Investigated  
(No visit) 10 

9 20 

Investigated (Visit) 19 10 

2.3 Private Water Supply Regulation (PWS) 
 

 Estimated 
2018/19 

Actual     
2018/19 

Estimated 
2019/20 

PROGRAMMED WORK   

Risk assessment visits 41 2 12 

Sampling visits 26 7  12 

NON-PROGRAMMED WORK 
25 18 30 

Service requests 

2.5 Enforcement during 2018/19 
 

Work Area Improvement Notice Voluntary 
Closure 

Prohibition 
Notice 

Simple 
Caution 

Prosecution 
completed 

Food 4 1 0 0 1 

H&S 4 0 1 0 0 

PWS 1 N/A 0 0 0 

203



6 
 

2.6 Performance indicators 2018/19  
 

Ref No PI Description Target (%) Achieved (%) 

OB09 Food premises that are broadly 
compliant (rated 3 or above in FHRS) 

95 97.77 

KOMD15 Planned high risk food safety 
interventions completed 

99 100 

KOMD16 Planned medium risk food safety 
interventions completed 

95 99.22 

SK641 Planned low risk food safety 
interventions completed 

75 94.9 

SK670 Premises inspected that improved 
FHRS rating or maintained a 5 rating 

70 85 

2.7 Variations from the 2018/19 Work Plan  
 
Staffing Allocation 
 
During 2018/19 a contracted Environmental Health Officer was utilised to cover a 4 month 
period of sickness of 1FTE Food Safety Officer and a temporary reduction in hours from 1FTE 
to 0.6FTE of the second Food Safety Officer. 
 
The contractor focused on medium risk premises, ensuring that the target for all food 
intervention categories was achieved.  However, risk assessment work relating to private 
water supplies was reduced as a consequence and will be addressed in 2019/20.  
 

Food Hygiene 
 
Prosecution  
One prosecution of a convenience store was undertaken under Regulation 19 of the Food 
Safety and Hygiene (England) Regulations 2013 (sale of high risk food past use by).   This 
resulted in a fine of £480 reduced from £720.   
 
Voluntary Closure  
A village fish and chip shop closed voluntarily after officers found unsatisfactory conditions 
relating to pests, cleanliness and poor management of food safety. A prosecution has 
commenced with a trial date set for 2019.  
 

Health and Safety 
 
Prosecution 
Breaches of health and safety were identified in a hotel which resulted in referral for 
prosecution which is expected in 2019.  
 
Accident Investigation 
A range of accidents were investigation during the year.  The most significant was an explosion 
in the kitchen of a hotel which was found to have been caused by a gas cylinder on a blow 
torch used to flambé food. Some staff sustained serious burns and were treated in hospital 
but are now recovered. The investigation concluded that this was an accident and no formal 
action was taken. 
  

 

204



7 
 

Private Water Supply Regulation  
 
The sickness of one and temporary reduction in hours of the other of the two Food Safety 
Officers impacted on the implementation of the new Regulations which came into force in 
2018.  Additional resource has been allocated to this area for 2019/20.   

3. Background 

3.1 Authority Profile 
 
South Kesteven encompasses an area of 365 square miles with four main towns of   
Grantham, Stamford, Bourne and Market Deeping, alongside over 80 villages.  
 
The population of the district is currently estimated at 141,700 (ONS 2017 mid-year population 
estimates).  The overall population size is projected to increase to 161,400 by the year 2041.  
95% of the population is described as white ethnic.  

 
3.2 Organisational Structure 
 
The Council consists of 56 Elected Members with a Conservative majority.  The Cabinet 
consists of 9 Members, with 1 Cabinet Member holding the portfolio for Commercial and 
Operational, this includes food hygiene and health and safety.  
 
The Environmental Health Service is delivered as part of the Council’s Commercial and 
Operational directorate.  
 

 

Chief Executive

Strategic 
Director 

Commercial and 
Operational

Assistant 
Director 

Commercial and 
Operational

East Midlands 
Building Control

Head of Street 
Scene

Head of 
Environmental

Team Leader 
Commercial

Environmental 
Health Officers 

(1.8FTE)

Food, Health & 
Safety Officers 

(2FTE)

Technical 
Support Officer 

(1FTE)

Environmental 
Protection 

Officer (0.1 FTE 
PWS)

Environmental 
Protection & 

Private Sector 
Housing

Neighbourhoods Licensing

Strategic 
Director 

Resources

Strategic 
Director Growth

Assistant Chief 
Executive

Assistant Chief 
Executive

205



8 
 

3.3 Scope of the Service 
 
The remit of the Commercial Team within the Environmental Health Services includes food 
hygiene, health and safety enforcement, infectious disease investigation and the regulation of 
private water supplies.  
 
Provision is made for external specialist services laboratory services: 
 

Provision Laboratory 

Food Examiner Public Health England Food, Water and Environmental 
Microbiology Laboratory, York 

Public Analyst Eurofins, Public Analyst Scientific Services, 
Wolverhampton 

Private water supply testing ALS Environmental Ltd, Coventry 

3.4 Accessing the Service 
 
The Commercial Team is based in Grantham.  Customers may also visit customer services at 
area offices in Bourne, Stamford and Market Deeping as detailed below. 
 
 

Office Opening Times 

Grantham 
Address: 
St Peters Hill 
Grantham 
Lincolnshire 
NG31 6PZ 

Monday, Tuesday and Thursday - 08.45 to 17.15 

Wednesday - 08.45 to 16.00 

Friday - 08.45 to 16.45 

Stamford 
Address: 
1 Maiden Lane 
Stamford 
Lincolnshire 
PE9 2AZ  

Monday, Tuesday and Wednesday - 09.00 to 17.00 

Thursday - 09.00 to 15.30 

Friday - 09.00 to 16.30 

Bourne 
Address: 
3 Abbey Road 
Bourne 
Lincolnshire 
PE10 9EF               

Monday, Wednesday, Friday - 09.00 to 17.00 

Tuesday, Thursday - 09.00 to 18.00 

Saturday - 10.00 to 13.00 

Market Deeping 
Address: 
Deepings Community Centre 
Douglas Road 
Market Deeping 
Peterborough 
PE6 8PA   

Monday to Friday - 09:30 to 14.00 

 
 
 
 
 

206



9 
 

 
 

Contact Details   

 Office hours  
 
01476 40 60 80 
 

 Out of hours emergencies 
 
01476 59 00 44 
 

 E-mail 
 
healthy@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

 Website 
 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

3.5 Enforcement policy 
 
The Council is committed to the Principles of Good Enforcement and the Regulators’ Code.  
Enforcement will be undertaken in accordance with the Council’s Corporate Enforcement and 
Environmental Services Enforcement Policies.   The policy was updated in February 2017 and 
is published on the Council’s website.  

4. Service Delivery 

4.1 Programmed Work 
 
Food Hygiene 
 
Whilst it is primarily the responsibility of the food business to control risks and identify food 
hazards, food premises inspections aim to establish whether food is being handled and 
produced hygienically, assess the effectiveness of controls and identify contraventions.    All 
programmed food safety interventions are undertaken in accordance with the Food Law Code 
of Practice.   
 
Food premises will be visited during normal trading hours, however, due to the nature of some 
businesses this may be outside of normal office hours.  Prior notice of inspections is not 
normally given, although exceptions may be made for some premises in order that key 
personnel may be available.   
 
A range of interventions may be utilised in accordance with the Code of Practice.  These can 
be either official or unofficial controls. 
 
Official controls include: 

• Inspections 

• Monitoring 

• Surveillance 

• Verification 

• Audits 

• Sampling 

207

mailto:healthy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


10 
 

 
Unofficial controls include: 

• Education 

• Advice 

• Coaching 

• Information and intelligence gathering 
 
The Council participates in the national food hygiene rating scheme in accordance with the 
FSA Brand Standard and ratings are displayed on the FSA website. 
 
Details of the programmed work for 2019/2020 are detailed in Appendix 1.   
 
Registered food businesses  
In accordance with EC Regulation 852/2004 all businesses that handle food must be 
registered with their local authority.  Premises in South Kesteven are categorised as follows: 
 

Food Premises Type Number % 

Primary producers 24 1.83 

Manufacturers and packers 44 3.37 

Importers and exporters 4 0.3 

Distributors and transporters 44 3.37 

Retailers 250 19.15 

Restaurants and caterers 939 71.95 

Total 1305  

 
Food hygiene interventions 
In accordance with the Food Standards Agency Food Law Code of Practice, at each 
intervention, a score is given to each business to determine the frequency of interventions.  
The intervention rating is based on assessment of several elements: type of food and 
processing; number and type of consumers potentially at risk; current compliance; risk of 
contamination; confidence in management.  Category A businesses pose the highest risk and 
are inspected more frequently, Category E establishments pose the lowest risk and are subject 
to alternative interventions.  See Appendix 1 for further information.  
 
Businesses within the district are categorised as follows: 
 

Risk Category Minimum Inspection Frequency Number % 

A (High risk) At least every 6 months 3 0.2 

B At least every 12 months 29 2.2 

C At least every 18 months 205 15.7 

D At least every 24 months 468 35.9 

E Programme of alternative  
interventions every 3 years 

510 39.1 

Outside  75 5.8 

Not yet rated  15 1.1 

Total  1305  

 
Premises that achieve an average standard are deemed to be “broadly compliant” with food 
safety requirements.  In 2018/19, 97.8% of premises met this standard. 
 
 
 
 

208



11 
 

Food hygiene rating scheme (FHRS) 
The Food Hygiene Rating Scheme (FHRS) extends to businesses supplying food directly to 
consumers.  This includes restaurants, cafes, retailers and other places where people eat food 
outside of the home.   The overall aim of the scheme is to reduce the incidence of food borne 
illness and the associated costs of this to the economy.  From a local perspective, the scheme 
helps consumers to make informed choices about places they wish to eat or shop for food, 
and through this encourages businesses to improve hygiene standards.  Ratings are displayed 
on the Food Standards Agency website.  
 
In South Kesteven, 72% of food businesses are inside the scope of the scheme.   The rating 
depends on the overall level of compliance across three elements; food hygiene procedures, 
cleanliness and structural compliance and confidence in management.  There is currently a 
high level of compliance in the district, with 85% of food businesses reaching the maximum 
food hygiene rating of 5, achieving full compliance with food hygiene law.   
 
 

FHRS 
Rating 

Description Number % 

5 Very good 794 84.2 

4 Good 94 10 

3 Generally satisfactory 33 3.5 

2 Improvement necessary 13 1.4 

1 Major improvement necessary 8 0.9 

0 Urgent improvement 
necessary 

0 0 

 Total 942  

 
 
Approved food premises 
Certain food premises involved in the production, handling and storage of products of animal 
origin must be approved under EC Regulation 853/2004.  This legislation requires compliance 
with more detailed hygiene requirements than for registered premises. 
 
Approved premises within the district are categorised as follows: 
 

Food Premises Type Number 

School caterer 6 

Cold store 5 

Poultry manufacturer 1 

Mechanically separated meat 
manufacturer 

1 

Biltong manufacturer 1 

Milk and Dairy Processor 1 

Total 15 

 
The milk and dairy processor was a new business for 2018/19. Environmental health officers 
worked closely with the food business operators to ensure the business was able to achieve 
approval. 
 
 
 
 
 

209



12 
 

Food sampling 
Food sampling is an important element of food safety enforcement, providing information 
about the microbiological safety of food which is available within the district. 
 
Sampling will be undertaken in accordance with relevant guidance and may be taken during 
a routine inspection, in response to a complaint or as part of a national sampling programme.  
Officers are expected to undertake a minimum of one sampling exercise per year to maintain 
competency. 

 
Health and Safety 
 
The Council is responsible for enforcing health and safety in approximately 2130 premises in 
the following categories: 
 

• Hotels, campsites and short stay accommodation 

• Residential care homes (in conjunction with the Care Quality Commission) 

• Catering, restaurants and bars 

• Leisure and cultural (e.g. cinemas, places of worship) 

• Offices 

• Retail shops 

• Warehouses 

• Consumer services (e.g. hairdressers, tattooists) 
 
Inspections are carried out in accordance with the Health and Safety Executive’s circular LAC 

67/2 (Rev 8) and National Priority Plans.  In practice this comprises programmed inspections 
of the highest risk workplaces alongside targeted projects.  This is in addition to risk-based 
interventions in response to reported accidents, complaints, dangerous occurrences and 
work-related diseases.  Estimated work for 2019/20 is detailed in section 2.3. 
 
Registered skin piercing establishments and piercers 
Both premises and individuals that carry out tattooing and body piercing are registered as 
follows. 
 

Premises Type Number % 

Semi-permanent make-up 24 24.2 

Cosmetic piercing 5 5 

Electrolysis 17 17.2 

Acupuncture 20 20.2 

Ear piercing 18 18.2 

Tattooist 15 15.2 

Total skin piercing premises 
registrations* 

99 
 

*Some premises carry out more than one skin piercing activity 
 

Individual Piercer Type Number % 

Semi-permanent make-up artist 27 12.4 

Cosmetic piercer 27 12.4 

Electrolysis practitioner 31 14.1 

Acupuncturist 46 21.1 

Ear piercer 37 17 

Tattooist 50 23 

Total  218  

210



13 
 

Tattoo hygiene rating scheme  
The Tattoo Hygiene Rating Scheme (THRS) is a voluntary scheme, and is supported by the The 
Tattoo and Piercing Industry Union and the Chartered Institute of Environmental Health and 

delivered by local authorities.  Although tattooists must register as skin piercers, this voluntary 
scheme was introduced in 2015 to help customers make informed choices about the premises 
they use for tattooing. Eight out of the fifteen registered tattoo studios have joined the scheme.  
Ratings are displayed on the Council’s website.   
 

Rating Description Number 

4 Good  7 

3 Very satisfactory 1 

2 Satisfactory 0 

1 Needs improvement 0 

 Total 8 

 
Private Water Supply Regulation 
 
Private water supplies may come from a variety of sources, including wells, springs, boreholes 
and streams.  Samples of the water are taken and analysed by an accredited laboratory 
against a range of parameters to determine the wholesomeness. Supplies are risk assessed 
to determine contributory factors that may affect water safety such as the proximity of farm 
animals to the supply or type of treatment system. 
 

Supply Type Number % 

Single domestic 25 50 

Multiple domestic 5 10 

Commercial 21 40 

Total Supplies 51  

 
In addition to the minimum legal sampling requirements, sampling on request is also 
undertaken.   Charges are made in accordance with the fees in Private Water Supplies 
(England) Regulations 2018.  

4.2 Non programmed work 
 

Re-visits  
 
Following an inspection it may be necessary to carry out a re-visit after an appropriate time to 
check that matters have been attended to or check compliance with any enforcement notices.  
Reasons for re-visits include: 
 

• The nature of the contravention is deemed so serious that if it was not addressed, 
formal action would need to be taken 

• The number of minor contraventions is excessive and indicative of poor management 
and/or little confidence in the management addressing the matters 

 

 
 
 
 
 

211



14 
 

Service requests 
 
We aim to respond to all complaints and requests for service as soon as possible, but in any 
case, requests will be acknowledged within three working days.  Complainants will be advised 
of the outcome of all complaints.  
 
Anonymous complaints will not usually be investigated unless there is concern about the 
nature of the complaint and/or premises history. 
 
Business owners/managers will be contacted about complaints relating to their premises 
and/or practices, usually by an unannounced visit. 
 

Business advice 
 
We acknowledge that most businesses want to comply with the law and the Commercial Team 
will provide advice and encourage best practice.  Free basic advice is provided to assist 
business in complying with the law.   
 
In 2018, a package of support aimed at both new business start-ups and existing businesses 
who want to improve their food hygiene rating was introduced alongside the Council’s statutory 
functions.  This support is chargeable on a cost recovery basis. More information is provided 
in 4.5 below. 
 

Food safety incidents 
 
Food safety alerts notify the public and food authorities of incidents concerning food which 
does not meet food safety or composition standards.  Alerts from the FSA are received by e-
mail which is monitored during office hours.  Any alert marked “for action” is referred to the 
Team Leader to determine the most appropriate course of action. 
 

Health and safety incidents 
 
Health and safety accidents and complaints are investigated in accordance with the Incident 
Selection Criteria Guidance LAC 22/13 (Rev1). 
 

Investigation of outbreaks and infectious disease 
 
The team work closely with colleagues at Public Health England to identify, control and prevent 
the spread of infectious diseases.  
 
Notifications of infectious disease are investigated using the East Midlands Public Health 
England Protection Team’s Response to Gastrointestinal and Legionnaires’ disease Matrix. 
 
Complaints about suspected food poisoning are investigated in accordance with the infectious 
disease procedure for multiple cases and outbreaks.   
 

Primary/home/lead authority  
 
South Kesteven does not currently have any Primary, Home or Lead authority arrangements 
with businesses. 
 
However, as required by the Regulatory Enforcement and Sanctions Act 2008 (as amended) 
and s.67 and 68 of The Enterprise and Regulatory Reform Act 2013, regard is given to the 

212



15 
 

Primary Authority Principle when carrying out inspections, investigations and enforcement 
action for food safety and health and safety 
 
Businesses with a Primary Authority partnership are identified on the Environmental Health 
premises database. 
 

Liaison with other authorities  
In addition to working with other teams within the Council, officers liaise with other local 
authorities, agencies and organisations to facilitate consistent enforcement, share good 
practice and reduce duplication of effort.   These include: 
 

• Lincolnshire Environmental Health Managers Group 

• Lincolnshire Food Officers Group 

• Lincolnshire Health and Safety Officers Group 

• Kesteven Safety Advisory Group 

• Food Standards Agency (East Midlands, Yorkshire and Humber Region) 

• Health and Safety Executive (Nottingham Region) 

• Public Health England   
o East Midlands Health Protection Team 
o Food Water and Environmental Laboratories York  
o Public Health Laboratory, Birmingham 

• Lincolnshire County Council  
o Trading Standards 
o Fire and Rescue  
o Police 
o Highways and Planning 

• Drinking Water Inspectorate 

• Anglian Water 
 

Promotional Activities 
 
Education and awareness are key methods of encouraging high standards in businesses 
across the district and informing the public.  
 
We support FSA media campaigns promoting messages through press releases, our website, 
social media and newsletters where resources allow.  
 
We continue to provide information to assist businesses to comply with legislation and ensure 
the Council’s website is maintained with relevant information. 
 
Press releases are issued following successful prosecutions to act as a deterrent to others 
and inform the public.  
 

4.3  Looking forward 2019/20 
 
Additional services  
 
To further support businesses a range of products and services are under development and 
will be charged on a cost recovery basis.  
 
This includes a bespoke on-site advice service which was launched at the end of 2018 and 
will be built on this year. Alongside this, those who want to improve but do not want on site 
advice will be able to access ‘pocket guides’ which provide information on a range of topics 
relevant to food safety management via the Council’s website. 

213



16 
 

 
Food hygiene and allergen training courses are being offered throughout the year.  It is 
anticipated that this offer will be extended to include health and safety and on-line training.    
 
Since 1 April 2018 we have offered printed versions of the FSAs Safer Food Better Business 
pack for a fee.  This document helps food businesses comply with the law and can be freely 
download this from the Food Standards Agency (FSA) website should the business prefer.  
We also offer a food safety organiser which provides additional templates and documentation 
to support the business with their food safety management system.  
 
Businesses can access free information on the Council’s website and receive basic advice to 
ensure they comply with the law.  
 
Better Business for All 
 
Better Business for All (BBfA) brings together businesses and regulators in local partnerships 
to identify the issues facing local businesses and provide support to them. Working with other 
Lincolnshire authorities and hosted by Lincolnshire County Council, businesses will be able to 
access a ‘hub’ of information about how to set up a business in our district, who they need to 
contact such as environmental health, planning, council tax and how they can access funding.  
 
Health and Safety 
 
Proactive health and safety interventions will be undertaken in accordance with the Health and 
Safety Executive’s National Priority Inspection Areas priority inspection areas as detailed in 
LAC67-2.  It is anticipated that manual handing in residential care homes will be a focus.   
 
Healthy Eating 
 
The Healthier Options Award was launched in January 2019.  To date,  4 businesses met the 
criteria with other applications in progress. The scheme is hosted by Lincolnshire County 
Council will all Lincolnshire local authorities participating. Food businesses with a Food 
Hygiene Rating Scheme score of 3 or above will be eligible to apply for the award providing 
they pledge to provide a range of healthy choices on their menu. We aim to increase 
participation in the scheme steadily throughout the year, publicising the scheme during food 
hygiene inspections.  
  
Food Standards Agency (Regulating Our Future) 
 
Between now and 2020, the FSA plans to implement and deliver a new regulatory model for 
food through its ‘Regulating our Future’ (RoF) programme.   The aim is to modernise the way 
food businesses are regulated, creating a system that is modern, risk-based, proportionate, 
robust and resilient. 
 
It is understood that the programme of transformation is not intended to result in a reduction 
in local authority funding to deliver this key public protection activity.  Rather, the changes will 
over time lead to a different balance of activities at local authority level.   
 
Although not yet confirmed, it is expected that changes will be needed to data collection 
methods, including the registration of food businesses which his currently being trialled by 
several local authorities.   Although this does not come into full effect until 2020, some changes 
are likely to be introduced later this year. We will keep abreast of these changes by attending 
meetings with the FSA and seek to implement changes in line with any proposed timetable.  It 
is not known at this point whether our current database will be able to accommodate the new 
registration system. 

214



17 
 

 
Another element of RoF will business ‘segmentation’. This national review of food business 
types will result in a more informed approach to inspections.  It is likely that some business 
types and those that consistently perform very well at inspection will have less frequent 
inspections or may fall entirely outside of the local authority inspection programme.  It is  
expected that segmentation will realign our officer resource, allowing a greater focus on poor 
performing and new businesses. The commercial team has submitted inspection data to the 
FSA to support this work. 
 
In addition, the FSA are introducing a National Inspection Strategy (NIS) for businesses with 
Primary Authority agreements. This is currently at the trial stage with 2 national companies 
but is likely to make inspections of businesses with agreements more focused, reducing 
burdens on business and making it less resource intensive for local authorities.   

5. Resources 

5.1 Financial 
 
The cost of providing the Commercial Service is detailed by area: 
 

Discipline Actual 2018/2019 Budget 2019/2020 

Food safety 210,658  220,097  

Health and Safety 111,436  104,106  

Water quality 28,659  30,129  

Infectious Diseases 40,618  38,581  

Total 391,371  392,913 

 
The service is resourced sufficiently to operate in the absence of exceptional events or 
demands.   

5.2 Staffing allocation  
 
The staff allocation for 2019/20 is as follows: 
 

Areas of Work 

 FTE Food H&S Infectious 
diseases 

Drinking 
water 

Team Leader 1 ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Environmental Health 
Officers (EHO) 

1 ✓ ✓ ✓  

0.8 ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Technical Officers 
(TO) 

1 ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

1 ✓ ✓ ✓  

Technical Support 
Officer (TSO) 

1 ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

 
The Lead Officer function required by the Food Law Code of Practice is undertaken by the 
Commercial Team Leader. 
 

215



18 
 

EHOs hold the BSc or MSc Environmental Health and are Authorised Officers, competent to 
carry out all levels of official and non-official controls, enforcement for food safety and 
undertake inspections of all approved food premises. 
 
TOs hold the Higher Certificate in Food Premises Inspection and are Authorised Officers with 
restrictions relating to premises closure and seizure and detention of foodstuffs.    
 
The TSO acts as a Regulatory Support Officer, supporting the work of the Authorised Officers. 
 
EHOs and TOs are competent to undertake the full range of health and safety enforcement 
activities and infectious disease investigation and enforcement. 

5.3 Staff training and development 
 
All officers are trained to a level commensurate with the work they undertake.  They receive 
an annual Personal Development Review and regular one to one meetings.  During this 
process consideration is given to Continual Professional Development (CPD) requirements 
for each area of work. 
 
The Food Law Code of Practice requires that local authorities ensure that authorised officers 
receive relevant structured ongoing training.  The minimum requirement is 20 hours CPD per 
year, of which 10 hours must be on core food matters.  Training is provided through short 
courses, in house training, cascade training, team meetings and self-learning.    

5.4 Quality assessment 
 
The Team Leader undertakes random checks of post inspection risk scores and database 
entries and authorises alterations to risk ratings or FHRS scores have increased/decreased 
dramatically.  Officers are accompanied on selected visits and participate in consistency 
exercises. 
 
A data cleansing exercise is undertaken annually to comply with the Data Protection Act 1988 
and the Council’s data retention policy as well as the General Data Protection Regulations.

216



 
 

Appendix 1 Programmed food safety intervention work for 2019/2020 

Risk 
category 

Intervention 
frequency 
(months) 

Minimum intervention 
permitted 

OFFICIAL 
CONTROLS 
Inspections 

(High/medium 
risk) 

ALTERNATIVE 
INTERVENTIONS 

Enforcement 
interventions 

(Low risk) 

Comments 

A 6 Official controls 19    N/A High risk premises 
Many of these businesses will be “broadly uncompliant” 
and require addition officer time to rectify. 
May have intrinsic high risks associated with the type of 
food activity and/or poor compliance   
 
 

B 12 Official controls 29 N/A 

C 18 Official controls 121 N/A 

D 24 
Alternates between official 

controls and alternative 
interventions 

 
203 

Medium risk premises 
Premises that prepare, cook or handle open high risk food 
or manufacture or re-wrap high risk foods will be visited 
each time.   All others receive alternate interventions 

E 36 Alternative interventions 119 119 

Low risk premises 
Premises that are low or minimal risk. Selling low risk food 
or not handling open food.  Business with significant 
changes or subject to complaints will be visited 

Outside  36 Alternative interventions N/A 24  

Not yet rated 
Within 28 
days of 

registration 
Official controls 28  

Initial inspections of new food establishments which 
should normally take place within 28 days of registration or 
from aware in operation (as at 31 March 2018) 

Outstanding 
Inspections 

from 
2018/2019 

 

Official controls and/or 
alternative interventions 
dependent on business 

type 

2 risk category D 
8 risk category E 

Outstanding inspections from 2018/19 prioritised for 
2019/20 

217



 
 

 

218



CABINET MEMBER 
DECISION

Decision:   

That the Work Plan for Food and Health and Safety Enforcement for 
2019/20 is approved. 

(1) Details of Decision

To seek approval for the Work Plan for Food and Health and Safety 
Enforcement for 2019/20.

(2) Considerations/Evidence

The Food Standards Agency (FSA) requires each Local Authority to produce 
an annual Food Work Plan in accordance with the guidelines set out in the 
Agency’s Framework Agreement on Local Authority Food Law Enforcement.  
This document dictates the structure and content of the work plan.

(3) Reasons for Decision:

The FSA use the information contained in the plan to assess the Council’s 
delivery of the service and compare performance against other authorities. 
The FSA has powers to take over the management of the food service from 
local authorities who fail to meet performance standards.

The work plan is predominantly produced to satisfy the requirements of the 
FSA, but also demonstrates how the Council will comply with the Health and 
Safety Executive (HSE) National Local Authority Enforcement Code and 
incorporates work undertaken on other associated activities, including 
infectious disease control and the regulation of private water supplies. 

Conflicts of Interest

(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded).

NONE

219



Dispensations

(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted).

NONE

Decision taken by:

Name: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations

Date of Decision: 08 July 2019

Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 09 July 2019

Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups):

17 July 2019

220



NON KEY DECISION:
REPORT TO CABINET MEMBER

DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley 
Cabinet Member for Commercial and 
Operations

REPORT AUTHOR: Head of Environmental 

REPORT NO: ENV719

DATE: 5 July 2019 

SUBJECT OF
NON KEY
DECISION:

Consultation on the draft ‘Gambling Statement of 
Principles’ 

CABINET 
MEMBER REMIT: Commercial and Operations

CRIME AND 
DISORDER 
IMPLICATIONS:

Minor

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION 
ACT 
IMPLICATIONS:

This report is publicly available on the Council’s website 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk via your Council and Democracy 
link

INITIAL EQUALITY 
IMPACT 
ASSESSMENT

Carried out and appended 
to report?

Yes

Full impact assessment 
required?

No
BACKGROUND 
PAPERS: None

221

Appendix 3

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


(1) PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 To seek approval to commence public consultation on the Council’s draft 
“Gambling Statement of Principles”.  

(2) RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1   It is recommended that the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations 
approve the commencement of a six week public consultation on the Council’s 
Gambling Statement of Principles. 

(3) REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)
(including any alternative options considered and rejected)

3.1 Licensing Authorities license gambling premises and issue a range of          
permits to authorise other gambling facilities in their area. 

3.2 The Gambling Act 2005 (the “Act”) requires Authorities on or before each 
successive period of three years, to prepare a Statement of Principles (the 
“Statement”) that they propose to apply in the exercise of their functions under 
the Act and to publish that Statement.  The last Statement was published in 
January 2017.

3.3 In formulating the Statement, the Authority must have regard to the statutory 
guidance issued by the Gambling Commission.  Once adopted, the Statement 
is the guiding principle for use by Members and Officers when applying the Act.

3.4 The Statement sets out the general approach the Council will take when 
carrying out its regulatory role under the Act and promoting the three licensing 
objectives:

 preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder, or being used to support crime

 ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way
 protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 

exploited by gambling.

3.5 The current Statement has been revised to reflect the current local profile and 
to include more robust local risk assessment requirements. There are no 
proposed changes to the intent or direction of the Statement. The draft 
Statement is at Appendix 1 with proposed amendments from the current 
statement highlighted.

3.6 The consultation will be available on the Council’s website and a wide range of 
stakeholders will be contacted as part of the consultation as detailed in 
Appendix 2 of the Statement.  

3.7 It is proposed that the consultation period will last for six weeks. The revised 
draft Statement and consultation results will be presented to the Environment 

222



Overview and Scrutiny Committee before proceeding to Council.   

(4) COMMENTS FROM FINANCIAL SERVICES 

4.1 There are no specific financial implications associated with this report. Any costs 
incurred as part of the consultation process will be met from existing resources.

(5) COMMENTS FROM LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

5.1 Section 349 of the Act requires the Council to prepare a Statement of Principles 
to cover each successive period of three years.  The Statement must contain 
the principles that it proposes to apply in exercising its functions under the Act 
during that period. The Council must then publish the Statement.

5.2 In preparing the Statement, the Council must consult the following people for its 
area: 

a) the chief officer of police 

b) people representing the interests of persons carrying on gambling 
businesses 

c) persons who may be affected by the Council exercising its functions 
under the Act

5.3 The Act specifies that the Statement of Principles must be agreed by full Council 
and cannot be delegated to the Licensing Committee (section 154 of the Act).  

(6) APPENDICIES

6.1 Appendix 1 – Draft revised Gambling Statement of Principles

6.2 Appendix 2 – Initial Equality Impact Assessment 

(7) OFFICER CONTACT

Anne-Marie Coulthard
Head of Environmental 
a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk
Tel: 01476 406319

(8) DATE DECISION EFFECTIVE:
If decision taken on Thursday 11 July date effective will be Monday 22 July 
subject to the decision not being called in.

223

mailto:a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Gambling Statement of Principles 
 

2019-2022 
 

 
 

 
  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Principles to be applied in exercising licensing functions under the Gambling 
Act 2005 

 
 
Date  Version Approver Comments 

12/6/19 1.0  Review- draft for consultation  

225



2 
 

  

Contents 
Part A ................................................................................................................................. 3 

1.    Introduction ............................................................................................................. 3 

2.    The Licensing Objectives ........................................................................................ 3 

3.    General Matters ...................................................................................................... 4 

4.    Declaration ............................................................................................................. 6 

5.    Responsible Authorities .......................................................................................... 6 

6.    Interested parties .................................................................................................... 6 

7.     Exchange of Information ......................................................................................... 7 

8.   Enforcement and inspection .................................................................................... 8 

9. Risk Assessment and Local Area Profiles ............................................................... 9 

Part B  - Premises Licences ............................................................................................. 11 

1.    General Principles................................................................................................. 11 

2.    Adult Gaming Centres (AGCs) .............................................................................. 18 

3.      Licensed Family Entertainment Centres (FECs).................................................... 19 

4. Casinos ................................................................................................................. 19 

5.   Bingo premises ..................................................................................................... 19 

6.   Betting premises ................................................................................................... 20 

7.   Tracks ................................................................................................................... 21 

8.     Travelling Fairs ...................................................................................................... 21 

9.    Provisional Statements ......................................................................................... 21 

10.   Reviews ................................................................................................................ 22 

11.   Appeals ................................................................................................................. 23 

Part C - Permits / Temporary & Occasional Use Notice / Lotteries ................................... 24 

1. Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre (FEC) gaming machine permits ............ 24 

2. Alcohol licensed premises gaming machine permits and notifications ................... 25 

3. Prize Gaming ........................................................................................................ 25 

4. Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits ............................................................. 26 

5. Temporary Use Notices ........................................................................................ 27 

6. Occasional Use Notices ........................................................................................ 28 

7.      Lotteries ................................................................................................................ 28 

8.      Review .................................................................................................................. 29 

9. Glossary ............................................................................................................... 29 

APPENDIX 1 .................................................................................................................... 30 

APPENDIX 2 .................................................................................................................... 32 

APPENDIX 3 .................................................................................................................... 33 

 

 

226



3 
 

Part A 
 
1.    Introduction 
 
1.1 South Kesteven District Council (hereinafter referred to as the ‘Licensing Authority’) 

is responsible for the licensing of premises and the issue of permits and 
authorisations under the Gambling Act 2005 (‘the Act’).  The Licensing Authority’s 
main functions under the Act are to: 

 

• Be responsible for the licensing of premises where gambling activities are to 
take place by issuing Premises Licences;  

• issue provisional statements;  

• regulate members’ clubs who wish to undertake certain gaming activities, via 
the issuing of club gaming permits and / or club machine permits; 

• issue club machine permits to commercial clubs; 

• grant permits for the use of certain lower stake gaming machines at unlicensed 
Family Entertainment Centres;  

• receive notifications, from premises licensed for the sale and consumption of 
alcohol on the premises (under the Licensing Act 2003) for the use of two or 
fewer gaming machines;  

• issue gaming machine permits, to premises licensed for the sale and 
consumption of alcohol on the premises (under the Licensing Act 2003) where 
there are more than two machines;  

• register small society lotteries below prescribed thresholds;  

• issue prize gaming permits;  

• receive and endorse temporary use notices (TUNs);  

• receive occasional use notices (OUNs);  

• provide information to the Gambling Commission regarding details of licences 
and permits issued (see section 7 within Part A of this Policy Statement 
‘Exchange of Information’); 

• maintain registers of the permits and licences that are issued under these 
functions. 

 
1.2 This Policy (Statement of Principles) is intended to provide clarity to applicants, 

interested parties and Responsible Authorities on how this Licensing Authority will 
determine applications.  Guidance is available to assist applicants but does not 
form part of this policy. 

 
 
2.    The Licensing Objectives 
 
2.1  In exercising most of their functions under the Act, Licensing Authorities must have 

regard to the Licensing Objectives as set out in Part 1, Section 1 of the Act and 
within the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities.  The 
Licensing Objectives are: 

 

• to prevent gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated 
with crime or disorder or being used to support crime; 

• to ensure that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way; 

• to protect children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling. 

 

227



4 
 

NB:  It should be noted that the Gambling Commission has stated: “The 
requirement in relation to children is explicitly to protect them from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling.” 

 
2.2 This Licensing Authority is aware that, as per Part 8 Section 153 of the Act, in 

making decisions about Premises Licences and Temporary Use Notices it should 
aim to permit the use of premises for gambling in so far as it thinks it is: 
 

• in accordance with any relevant Code of Practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission 

• in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission  

• reasonably consistent with the Licensing Objectives 

• in accordance with the Licensing Authority’s Statement of Principles 
 
2.3 The Gambling Commission has the power to issue two types of code of practice. 

The first is a social responsibility (SR) code. An SR code must be followed and has 
the force of a licence condition. The Commission may also issue ordinary codes 
(OC) which are intended to set out industry best practice. They are not mandatory 
but operators are expected to follow them unless they have alternative 
arrangements in place that they can demonstrate are equally effective. Both codes 
are set out in the Commission’s Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice  (LCCP) 
or as Gambling codes of practice - consolidated for all forms of gambling. 

 
2.4 S.153 of the Act requires licensing authorities, in exercising their functions, to have 

regard to the Code of Practice. 
 
3.    General Matters 
 
3.1 South Kesteven District Council is situated in the south-west corner of the county of 

Lincolnshire which contains 7 District Councils in total.  The area has a population 
of 141,700 (Office for National Statistics 2017 mid-year population estimates) 
making it the second largest district in the County in terms of population.  In terms 
of area it is the fourth largest, covering 365 square miles.  The area is mainly rural 
with 4 urban areas comprising of Grantham in the north of the district, with the 
towns of Stamford, Bourne and The Deepings in the south of the district.  
Additionally there are 100 villages and hamlets in the district. 

 
3.2 At the time of reviewing this policy the Licensing Authority was responsible for the 

following number of Premises Licences and Permits: 
 

Betting Premises 11 

Bingo Premises 1 

Adult Gaming Centres (AGCs) 2 

Family Entertainment Centres (FECs) 1 

Club Gaming Machine Permits 10 

Alcohol Licensed Premises Gaming Machine 
Permits – over 2 machines 

7 

Alcohol Licensed Premises Notifications of up to 2 
Gaming Machines 

124 

Small Society Lotteries 137 

Prize Gaming Permit (Unlicensed Family 
Entertainment) 

1 

 

228

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-gambling-businesses/Compliance/LCCP/Licence-conditions-and-codes-of-practice.aspx


5 
 

3.3 The Licensing Authority has worked in partnership with the other Councils in the 
county in preparing this Statement of Principles which is based, in part, on the 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities, issued by the Gambling Commission.  

  
3.4 In adopting this Statement of Principles the Licensing Authority recognises its 

duties to consider the impact of all its functions and decisions on crime and 
disorder under the requirements of Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998.  
The Council acknowledges the benefits to the community of properly regulating 
gambling in the district. 

 
3.5 The Licensing Act 2003 provides the delegated and procedural arrangements for 

the establishment of Licensing Authorities.   
 
3.6 Licensing Committees established under Part 2, Section 6 of the Licensing Act 

2003 are also the relevant Committees for the purpose of gambling functions.  
Therefore, the same Committee that deals with applications and other issues in 
relation to the Licensing Act 2003 will also be responsible for Premises Licence 
applications and other issues (e.g. permits) in relation to gambling. 

 
3.7 The proceedings of the Licensing Committee are regulated by Part 2, Section 9 of 

the Licensing Act 2003 and regulations made under that section.  Particular 
provision can be made for proceedings relating solely to the Licensing Act 2003 
functions or just the Gambling Act 2005 functions. 

 
3.8 The functions of the Licensing Authority under the Act may be carried out by the 

Licensing Committee, by a Sub-Committee or by one or more officers acting under 
delegated authority.  Delegated powers shall be in accordance with the table at 
Appendix 1 of this document.  

 
3.9 Licensing Authorities are required by the Gambling Act 2005 to publish a 

Statement of Principles which they propose to apply when exercising their 
functions.  This statement must be published at least every three years.  The 
statement must also be reviewed as required and any amended parts re-consulted 
upon. The statement must be then re-published. 

 
3.10 The Licensing Authority consulted widely upon this Statement of Principles before 

finalising and publishing.  A list of the parties consulted is provided in Appendix 2.  
The consultation period ran for 6 weeks. 

 
3.11 The Gambling Act 2005 requires that the following parties be consulted by 

Licensing Authorities: 
 

• the Chief Officer of Police (Chief Constable) 

• one or more persons who appear to the Licensing Authority to represent the 
interests of persons carrying on gambling businesses in the Licensing Authority’s 
area 

• one or more persons who appear to the Licensing Authority to represent the 
interests of persons who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the Licensing 
Authority’s functions under the Gambling Act 2005 

 
3.12 A copy of this document can be found on the Council’s website.  Copies will be 

available from the Council Offices, St Peter’s Hill, Grantham, Lincolnshire NG31 
6PZ. 

 

229

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-licensing-authorities/GLA/Guidance-to-licensing-authorities.aspx


6 
 

3.13 It should be noted that this Statement of Principles will not override the right of any 
person to make an application, make representations about an application or apply 
for a review of a licence, as each will be considered on its own merits and 
according to the statutory requirements of the Gambling Act 2005. 

 
Further information is available on the Council’s website 
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

 
4.    Declaration 
 
4.1 In producing the final statement the Licensing Authority declares that it has had 

regard to the Licensing Objectives of the Gambling Act 2005; the guidance issued 
by the Gambling Commission; and any responses from those consulted on this 
statement. 

 
5.    Responsible Authorities 
 
5.1 This Licensing Authority is required by regulations to state the principles it will 

apply in exercising its powers under Part 8, section 157 (h) of the Act to designate, 
in writing, a body which is competent to advise the Authority about the protection of 
children from harm.  The principles are: 

 

• the need for the body to be responsible for an area covering the whole of the 
Licensing Authority’s area; 

• the need for the body to be answerable to democratically elected persons, 
rather than any particular vested interest group;  

• that this body has proven documented experience in dealing with the protection 
of children.   
 

5.2 The body considered competent by this Licensing Authority for this purpose is 
Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Board 

 
6.    Interested parties 
 
6.1 Interested parties can make representations about licence applications or apply for 

a review of an existing licence.  Interested parties are defined in the Act as follows: 
 

“For the purposes of this part a person is an Interested Party in relation to an 
application for or in respect of a Premises Licence if, in the opinion of the Licensing 
Authority which issues the licence or to which the application is made, the person: 
 
a. lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the 

authorised activities 
b. has business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities 
c. represents persons who satisfy paragraph (a) or (b) e.g. Members of 

Parliament (MPs) and Ward Councillors.” 
 
6.2 Principles of determining Interested Parties 
 

The Licensing Authority is required, by regulations, to state the principles it will 
apply in exercising its powers under the Gambling Act 2005 to determine whether a 
person is an interested party.  

  
The Licensing Authority, in determining whether a person is an Interested Party, 
will consider each case on its merits.  The Authority will not apply a rigid rule to its 

230

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


7 
 

decision making.  In reaching its decision the Licensing Authority will consider 
factors such as the likelihood of the person/business being affected by the 
licensable activities at the premises as well as the geographical proximity.  Larger 
premises may affect people over a broader geographical area than smaller 
premises offering the same facilities. 

 
“Business interests” will be given its widest possible interpretation and may include 
partnerships, charities, faith groups and medical practices. 

 
Interested parties can be people who are democratically elected such as 
Councillors and MPs.  This will include County, District and Parish Councillors 
providing they represent the ward likely to be affected.  Other than these persons 
the Licensing Authority will require written evidence that a person represents 
someone who either lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be 
affected by the authorised activity(ies) and / or has business interest(s) that might 
be affected by the authorised activity(ies).  A letter from one of these persons 
requesting the representation is sufficient. 

 
6.3 If individuals wish to approach Councillors to ask them to represent their views then 

care should be taken that the Councillors are not part of the Licensing Committee 
dealing with the licence application.  If there are any doubts, advice should be 
sought from the Council’s Legal and Democratic Services. 

 
7.      Exchange of Information 
 
7.1 The Licensing Authority may share information received in the exercise of its 

functions with the Gambling Commission; a Responsible Authority as defined by 
the Act; an authorised officer of another Licensing Authority; The Gambling Appeal 
Tribunal; The National Lottery Commission; the Secretary of State and law 
enforcement agencies for purposes connected with the prevention and detection of 
crime.   Personal details will only be shared for this purpose if required to do so by 
law.  

 
7.2 The Licensing Authority will act in accordance with the Gambling Act 2005 in its 

exchange of information which includes the provision that the Data Protection Act 
2018 will not be contravened. 

 
7.3 The Licensing Authority will also have regard to any guidance issued by the 

Gambling Commission to Licensing Authorities as well as any relevant regulations 
issued by the Secretary of State under powers provided in the Gambling Act 2005. 

 
7.4 The Licensing Authority will inform the Gambling Commission without delay if: 
 

• information that causes the Licensing Authority to question the suitability of a 
person or business holding or applying to hold an Operating Licence is 
received 

• there are persistent or serious disorder problems that an Operator could or 
should do more to prevent so that the Commission may consider the continuing 
suitability of the operator to hold an Operating Licence 

• it comes to the Licensing Authority’s attention that alcohol-licensed premises, 
clubs or institutes are playing bingo during the course of a week which involves 
significant stakes and prizes that make it possible that £2,000 in seven days is 
being exceeded 

231



8 
 

• there is any other reasonable and relevant information that the Licensing 
Authority is of the opinion that the Gambling Commission should be made 
aware of 

 
7.5 Should any protocols be established regarding information exchange with other 

bodies then they will be made available on request.   
 

7.6 The Council is a signatory to the joint Protocol on Information Exchange under the 
provisions of Section 115 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 between South 
Kesteven District Council and all other Responsible Authority partners within 
Lincolnshire. The Council will seek to use this provision as appropriate. 

 
8.   Enforcement and inspection 
 
8.1 Licensing Authorities are required by regulation, under the Gambling Act 2005, to 

state the principles to be applied by the Authority in exercising the functions under 
Part 15 of the Act with respect to the inspection of premises and the powers under 
Part 18, Section 346 of the Act to instigate criminal proceedings in respect of the 
offences specified. 

 
8.2 The Licensing Authority’s principles are that it will be guided by the Gambling 

Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities and it will endeavour to be: 
 

• proportionate - regulators should only intervene when necessary: remedies 
should be appropriate to the risk posed, and costs identified and minimised 

• accountable - regulators must be able to justify decisions, and be subject to 
public scrutiny 

• consistent - rules and standards must be joined up and implemented fairly 

• transparent - regulators should be open, and keep regulations simple and user 
friendly 

• targeted - regulation should be focused on the problem, and minimise side 
effects. 

 
8.3 The main enforcement and compliance role for this Licensing Authority in terms of 

the Gambling Act 2005 will be to ensure compliance with the Premises Licences 
and other permissions which it authorises.  The Gambling Commission will be the 
enforcement body for the Operator and Personal Licences.  It is also worth noting 
that concerns about manufacture, supply or repair of gaming machines will not be 
dealt with by the Licensing Authority but will be notified to the Gambling 
Commission. 

 
8.4 As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities this 

Licensing Authority will endeavour to avoid duplication with other regulatory 
regimes so far as possible.   

 
8.5 The Licensing Authority has implemented a risk-based inspection programme 

based on: 
 

• the Licensing Objectives 

• relevant Codes of Practice 

• guidance issued by the Gambling Commission 

• the principles set out in this Statement of Principles 
 
8.6 This Licensing Authority carries out risk-based regular operations with other 

agencies including the Gambling Commission and the Police to ensure the 

232



9 
 

objectives are being promoted.  This includes test purchasing operations to ensure 
children and the vulnerable are being protected where required.  

 
8.7 As a general rule the Licensing Authority will consider formal action where there is 

evidence that the Licensing Objectives are being adversely affected. 
 
8.8 Premises Licence holders are advised that where, following the receipt of a 

warning or warnings in relation to a Premises Licence breach or breaches, an 
Operator subsequently breaches the licence conditions the Licensing Authority will 
seek to review the Premises Licence.   

 
8.9 The Licensing Authority keeps itself informed of developments regarding the work 

of the Better Regulation Executive in its consideration of the regulatory functions of 
Local Authorities. 

 
8.10 In considering enforcement action the Licensing Authority will bear in mind the 

Human Rights Act 1998 in particular - Part I, The Convention, Rights And 
Freedoms: 

 
Article 6  Right To A Fair Trial 
Article 8  Right To Respect For Private And Family Life 
Article 10  Freedom Of Expression 

 
and Part II, The First Protocol: 
 
Article 1  Protection of Property: Every natural  or legal person is entitled to the 

peaceful enjoyment of his possessions 
 
8.11 The Licensing Authority has established protocols with the Police and other 

enforcing Authorities.  These protocols will provide for the targeting of agreed 
problem and high-risk premises whilst applying a lighter touch to low-risk premises. 

 
8.12 Enforcement action will be taken in accordance with the Licensing Authority’s own 

enforcement policy which reflects the agreed principles that are consistent with the 
Regulatory Code.  To this end the key principles of targeting, consistency, 
transparency and proportionality will be maintained. 

 
9. Risk Assessment and Local Area Profiles 
 
9.1 Risk Assessment 
 
9.2 The Licensing Authority expects applicants to have a good understanding of the 

area in which they either operate or intend to operate.  The applicant will have to 
provide evidence that they meet the criteria set out in this policy and demonstrate 
that in operating the premises they will promote the licensing objectives.   

 
9.3 The Gambling Commission have introduced a Social Responsibility Code of 

Practice requiring operators of premises used for gambling to assess the local risks 
to the licensing objectives posed by the provision of gambling facilities at their 
premises, and have policies, procedures and control measures to mitigate those 
risks. In making these risk assessments, licensees must take into account relevant 
matters identified in the Licensing Authority’s Statement of Licensing Principles. 
The Commission have also produced an ordinary Code of Practice stating this risk 
assessment should be shared with the Licensing Authority in the following 
circumstances: 

233



10 
 

 

• when applying for premises licence,  

• applying for a variation to existing licensed premises, or  

• otherwise on request. 
 
9.4 The Licensing Authority expects applicants for Premises Licences in its area to 

comply with the risk assessment requirement. The risk assessment should 
demonstrate the applicant has considered, as a minimum: 

 

• local crime statistics; 

• any problems in the area relating to gambling establishments; 

• the location of any nearby sensitive premises, such as hostels and other 
facilities used by vulnerable persons e.g. drug and alcohol addictions; 

• the location of services for children such as schools, playgrounds, 
leisure/community centres and other areas where children will gather  

• whether there is any indication of problems in the area with young persons 
attempting to access adult gambling facilities of that type of gambling premises 
in the area; 

• how vulnerable people, including people with gambling dependencies are 
protected; 

• whether there is a prevalence of street drinking in the area, which may increase 
the risk of vulnerable persons using the premises; 

• any indication in the area of young people attempting to access adult gambling 
facilities of the type offered in the area. 

 
9.5  Applicants should liaise with other gambling operators in the area to identify risks 

and consult with any relevant responsible authorities as necessary. 
 
9.6 Local Area Profiles 
 
9.7 Risk assessments can make reference to the Council’s area profile which may be 

compiled with respect to reported gambling-related problems in an area.  At the 
time of preparing this edition of the Statement of Licensing Policy, there has been 
no evidence presented to South Kesteven District Council to support the assertion 
that any part of the area had or is experiencing problems from gambling activities.  
The position will be kept under review and if it changes, research will be carried out 
to discover the extent of the problems and to prepare an Area Profile accordingly.  
  

 
 

234



11 
 

Part B  - Premises Licences 
 

 
 
1.    General Principles 
  
1.1 Premises Licences are subject to the requirements set out in the Gambling Act 

2005 and regulations, as well as specific mandatory and default conditions, issued 
by the Secretary of State.  Licensing Authorities are able to exclude default 
conditions and also attach others where it is believed to be appropriate. 

 
This Licensing Authority is aware that in making decisions about Premises 
Licences it should aim to permit the use of premises for gambling in so far as it 
thinks it is: 

 

• in accordance with any relevant Code of Practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission 

• in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission  

• reasonably consistent with the Licensing Objectives and 

• in accordance with this Licensing Authority’s Statement of Principles 
 

1.2 Though licensing authorities are required to ‘aim to permit’ gambling, there is wide 
scope for them to impose conditions on Premises Licences or to reject, review or 
revoke Premises Licences where there is a clear evidence of conflict with the 
relevant Codes of Practice, Guidance to Licensing Authorities, the licensing 
objectives or this Statement of Licensing Policy. 

 
1.3 Licensing authorities can request any information from an operator they may 

require in order to make licensing decisions.  The Gambling Act 2005 requires a 
minimum level of information which must be provided, but the Gambling 
Commission state in their Guidance to Licensing Authorities that this does not 
preclude licensing authorities from making reasonable requests for any additional 
information they may require to satisfy themselves their decision is reasonably 
consistent with the licensing objectives and Codes of Practice. This may include, 
for example, a business plan or the operator’s own risk assessment with regard to 
the licensing objectives at a local level. 

 
1.4 It is appreciated that, as per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing 

Authorities, “…moral or ethical objections to gambling are not a valid reason to 
reject applications for premises licences” and also that unmet demand is not a 
criterion for a Licensing Authority. 

 
1.5 Premises Licences authorise the provision of gambling facilities on the following: 
 

• Casino premises 

• Bingo premises 

• Betting premises (including race tracks used by betting intermediaries) 

• Adult Gaming Centres (AGCs) 

• Family Entertainment Centres (FECs) 
 
1.6 Definition of ‘premises’ 

 
Premises is defined in the Act as “any place”.  Different Premises Licences cannot 
apply in respect of a single premise at different times.  However, it is possible for a 

235



12 
 

single building to be subject to more than one Premises Licence, provided that they 
are for different parts of the building and the different parts of the building can be 
reasonably regarded as being different premises.  This approach has been taken to 
allow large, multiple-unit premises such as a theme park, track or shopping centre 
to obtain discrete Premises Licences, where appropriate safeguards are in place.  
However, the Licensing Authority will pay particular attention if there are issues 
about the sub-division of a single building or plot and will ensure that mandatory 
conditions relating to access between premises are observed.  Each case will be 
judged on its individual merits. 

 
1.7 The Gambling Commission states in its Guidance to Licensing Authorities that 

“…In most cases the expectation is that a single building/plot will be the subject of 
an application for a licence, for example, 32 High Street.  But that does not mean 
that 32 High Street cannot be the subject of separate premises licences for the 
basement and ground floor, if they are configured acceptably.  Whether different 
parts of a building can properly be regarded as being separate premises will 
depend on the circumstances.  The location of the premises will clearly be an 
important consideration and the suitability of the division is likely to be a matter for 
discussion between the operator and the licensing officer.  However, the 
Commission does not consider that areas of a building that are artificially or 
temporarily separated for example by ropes or moveable partitions can be properly 
regarded as different premises.” 

 
This Licensing Authority takes particular note of the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities which states that: 

 
“Licensing authorities should take particular care in considering applications for 
multiple premises licences for a building and those relating to a discrete part of a 
building used for other (non-gambling) purposes.  In particular they should be 
aware of the following:  

 

• The third licensing objective seeks to protect children from being harmed by 
gambling.  In practice that means not only preventing them from taking part in 
gambling, but also preventing them from being in close proximity to gambling.  
Therefore premises should be configured so that children are not invited to 
participate in, have accidental access to, or closely observe gambling where 
they are prohibited from participating. 

• Entrances to and exits from parts of a building covered by one or more 
premises licences should be separate and identifiable so that the separation of 
different premises is not compromised and people do not ‘drift’ into a gambling 
area.  In this context it should normally be possible to access the premises 
without going through another licensed premises or premises with a permit. 

• Customers should be able to participate in the activity named on the premises 
licence.” 

 
1.8 The Guidance also gives a list of factors which the Licensing Authority should be 

aware of in determining whether two or more proposed premises are truly separate 
which may include: 

 

• Is a separate registration for business rates in place for the premises? 

• Is the premises’ neighbouring premises owned by the same person or 
someone else? 

• Can each of the premises by accessed from the street or a public 
passageway? 

• Can the premises only be accessed from any other gambling premises? 

236

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-licensing-authorities/GLA/Guidance-to-licensing-authorities.aspx


13 
 

 
The Licensing Authority will consider these and other relevant factors in making its 
decision depending on all the circumstances of the case. 
 

1.9  The Gambling Commission’s relevant access provisions for each premises type, 
stated within their Guidance to Local Authorities, are reproduced below: 

 
Casinos 
 

• the principal access entrance to the premises must be from a street (as defined 
at 7.23 of the guidance) 

• no entrance to a casino must be from premises that are used wholly or mainly 
by children and/or young persons 

• no customer must be able to enter a casino directly from any other premises 
which holds a gambling premises licence. 

 
Adult gaming centres 
 

• no customer must be able to access the premises directly from any other 
licensed gambling premises. 

 
Betting Shops 

 

• access must be from a street (as defined at 7.23 of the guidance) or from 
another premises with a betting premises licence 

• no direct access from a betting shop to another premises used for the retail 
sale of merchandise or services.  In effect there cannot be an entrance to a 
betting shop from a shop of any kind and you could not have a betting shop at 
the back of a café – the whole area would have to be licensed. 

 
Tracks 
 

• no customer should be able to access the premises directly from: 
 

o a casino 
o an adult gaming centre. 

 
Bingo premises 
 

• no customer should be able to access the premises directly from: 
 

o a casino 
o an adult gaming centre 
o a betting premises, other than a track 

 
Family Entertainment Centre 
 

• no customer must be able to access the premises directly from: 
 

o a casino 
o an adult gaming centre 
o a betting premises, other than a track. 

 
Part 7 of the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities contains 
further guidance which this Licensing Authority will also take into account in its 

237



14 
 

decision making. 
 

1.10 Premises ‘ready for gambling’  
 

The Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities states that “…a 
licence to use premises for gambling should only be issued in relation to premises 
that the Licensing Authority can be satisfied are going to be ready to be used for 
gambling in the reasonably near future, consistent with the scale of building or 
alterations required before the premises are brought into use.” 

 
1.11 In deciding whether a Premises Licence can be granted where there is outstanding 

construction or alteration works at the premises this Licensing Authority will 
determine applications on their merits, applying a two stage consideration process: 

 

• first, “…whether…the premises ought to be permitted to be used for gambling 

• second, …whether…appropriate conditions can be put in place to cater for the 
situation that the premises are not yet in the state in which they ought to be 
before gambling takes place” 

 
 If the construction of a premises is not yet complete, or if they need alteration, or if 

the applicant does not yet have a right to occupy them, then an application for a 
Provisional Statement can be made instead. 

 
 Applicants should note that this Licensing Authority is entitled to decide that it is 

appropriate to grant a Licence subject to condition but it is not obliged to grant such 
a Licence. 

 
 More detailed examples of the circumstances in which a Provisional Statement 

may be granted can be found at Section 11 of the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities. 

 
1.10 Location  
 

This Licensing Authority is aware that demand issues cannot be considered with 
regard to the location of premises, but that considerations in terms of the Licensing 
Objectives are relevant to its decision making.   
 
As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities, this 
Licensing Authority will pay particular attention to the protection of children and 
vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling, as well as issues 
of crime and disorder.  Should any specific policy be decided upon with regard to 
areas where gambling premises should not be located this statement will be 
updated.  It should be noted that any such policy does not preclude any application 
being made and each application will be decided on its merits, with the onus upon 
the applicant showing how potential concerns can be overcome. 

 
1.11  Planning permission  
 

The Gambling Commission Guidance to Licensing Authorities states: “In 
determining applications the licensing authority has a duty to take into 
consideration all relevant matters and not take into consideration any irrelevant 
matter, in effect those not related to gambling and the licensing objectives.  One 
example of an irrelevant factor would be the likelihood of the applicant obtaining 
planning permission or building regulations approval for their proposal.” 

 

238



15 
 

1.12 This Licensing Authority will not take into account any irrelevant matters as per the 
above guidance.  In addition this Licensing Authority notes the following excerpt 
from the guidance. 

 
 “When dealing with a premises licence application for finished buildings, the 

licensing authority should not take into account whether those buildings have or 
comply with the necessary planning or building consents.  Nor should fire or health 
and safety risks be taken into account.  Those matters should be dealt with under 
relevant planning control, building and other regulations, and not form part of the 
consideration for the premises licence.  Section 210 of the Act prevents licensing 
authorities taking into account the likelihood of the proposal by the applicant 
obtaining planning or building consent when considering a premises licence 
application.  Equally the grant of a gambling premises licence does not prejudice or 
prevent any action that may be appropriate under the law relating to planning or 
building.” 

 
1.13 Duplication with other regulatory regimes  
 

This Licensing Authority will seek to avoid any duplication with other statutory / 
regulatory systems where possible, including planning.  This Licensing Authority 
will not consider whether a licence application is likely to be awarded planning 
permission or building regulations approval in its consideration of it.  It will though 
listen to, and consider carefully, any concerns about conditions which cannot be 
met by Licensees due to planning restrictions should such a situation arise. 
 

1.14 When dealing with a premises licence application for finished buildings, this 
authority will not take into account whether those buildings have to comply with the 
necessary planning or building consents.  Fire or health and safety risks will not be 
taken into account, as these matters are dealt with under relevant planning control, 
buildings and other regulations and must not form part of the consideration for the 
premises licence. 

 
1.15 Licensing Objectives  
 

Premises Licences granted must be reasonably consistent with the Licensing 
Objectives.  With regard to these Objectives, this Licensing Authority has 
considered the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities and 
some comments are made below: 

 
 Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated 

with crime or disorder or being used to support crime  
 

This Licensing Authority is aware that the Gambling Commission will be taking a 
leading role in preventing gambling from being a source of crime.  The Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities however does envisage that 
Licensing Authorities should pay attention to the proposed location of gambling 
premises in terms of this Licensing Objective.  Thus, where an area has known 
high levels of organised crime this Licensing Authority will consider carefully 
whether gambling premises are suitable to be located there and whether conditions 
may be suitable such as the provision of door supervisors.  This Licensing 
Authority is aware of the distinction between disorder and nuisance and will 
consider factors such as whether Police assistance was required and how 
threatening the behaviour was to those who could see it, so as to make that 
distinction. 

 

239



16 
 

Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way  
 

This Licensing Authority has noted that the Gambling Commission has stated that it 
would generally not expect licensing authorities to become concerned with 
ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way as this will be 
addressed via operating and personal licences.  There is however more of a role 
with regard to tracks, which is explained in more detail within the ‘Tracks’ section of 
this document.  

  
Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited 
by gambling  

 
This Licensing Authority has noted the Gambling Commission's Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities which states that this objective means “…preventing them 
from taking part in gambling and for there to be restrictions on advertising so that 
gambling products are not aimed at children or advertised in such a way that 
makes them particularly attractive to children...”.  This Licensing Authority will 
therefore consider, as suggested in this guidance, whether specific measures are 
required at particular premises with regard to this licensing objective.  Appropriate 
measures may include supervision of entrances / machines, segregation of areas 
etc.  

 
This Licensing Authority is also aware of the Gambling Commission Code for 
Socially Responsible Advertising as regards this licensing objective in relation to 
specific premises.   

 
In considering the term ‘vulnerable persons’ it is noted that the Gambling 
Commission’s guidance does not seek to offer a definition but states that “…it does 
for regulatory purposes assume that this group includes people who gamble more 
than they want to; people who gamble beyond their means; and people who may 
not be able to make informed or balanced decisions about gambling due to mental 
health needs, learning disability, or substance misuse relating to alcohol or drugs.”  
This Licensing Authority will consider this licensing objective on a case by case 
basis.   

 
1.16 Conditions  
 

Any conditions attached to licences will be proportionate and will be: 
 

• relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a gambling 
facility 

• directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for 

• fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises 

• reasonable in all other respects 
 

Decisions upon individual conditions will be made on a case by case basis, 
although there will be a number of measures this Licensing Authority will consider 
utilising should there be a perceived need, such as the use of Door Supervisors 
and appropriate signage for adult-only areas etc.  There are specific comments 
made in this regard under some of the licence types below.  This Licensing 
Authority will also expect the licence applicant to offer his/her own suggestions as 
to the way in which the licensing objectives can be met effectively. 
 
This Licensing Authority will also consider specific measures which may be 
required for buildings which are subject to multiple Premises Licences.   

240



17 
 

 
Such measures may include the supervision of entrances, segregation of gambling 
from non-gambling areas frequented by children and the supervision of gaming 
machines in non-adult gambling specific premises in order to pursue the licensing 
objectives.  These matters are in accordance with the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities. 

 
This Licensing Authority will also ensure that where Category C or above machines 
are on offer in premises to which children are admitted: 

 

• all such machines are located in an area of the premises which is separated 
from the remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to 
prevent access other than through a designated entrance 

• only adults are admitted to the area where these machines are located 

• access to the area where the machines are located is supervised 

• the area where these machines are located is arranged so that it can be 
observed by the staff or the licence holder 

• at the entrance to and inside any such areas there are prominently displayed 
notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to persons under 18. 

 
These considerations will apply to premises including buildings where multiple 
Premises Licences are applicable. 

 
This Licensing Authority is aware that tracks may be subject to one or more than 
one Premises Licence, provided each Licence relates to a specified area of the 
track.  As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities, this 
Licensing Authority will consider the impact upon the third Licensing Objective, (i.e. 
the protection of children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited 
by gambling), and the need to ensure that entrances to each type of premises are 
distinct and that children are excluded from gambling areas where they are not 
permitted to enter. 

 
It is noted that there are conditions which this Licensing Authority cannot attach to 
premises licences which are: 
 

• any condition on the premises licence which makes it impossible to comply with 
an operating licence condition  

• conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or method of 
operation 

• conditions which provide that membership of a club or body be required (the 
Gambling Act 2005 specifically removes the membership requirement for 
casino and bingo clubs and this provision prevents it being reinstated) 

• conditions in relation to stakes, fees, winnings or prizes.   
 
1.17 Door Supervisors  
 

If there are concerns that premises may attract disorder or be subject to 
unauthorised access by children and young persons, then this Licensing Authority 
may require that door supervisors control entrances to the premises.  This 
Licensing Authority recognises that each premises application shall be treated on 
its own merit. In addition, the Licensing Authority shall take into account the 
previous trading history of the type of premises proposed and that any decision 
shall be necessary and proportionate. 

 

241



18 
 

1.18 Where door supervisors are imposed as a condition on a premises licence (except 
casino or bingo premises), Part 8, Section 178 of the Act requires that any person 
employed in that capacity will hold a relevant licence issued by the Security 
Industry Authority (SIA). 
 

2.    Adult Gaming Centres (AGCs) 
 
2.1 This Licensing Authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect children 

and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect 
the applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient measures to, for 
example, ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to the premises.   

 
2.2 This Licensing Authority may consider measures to meet the licensing objectives 

such as: 
 

• proof of age schemes 

• CCTV 

• supervision of entrances / machine areas (e.g. use of door supervisors) 

• physical separation of areas 

• location of entry 

• notices / signage   

• specific opening hours 

• self-exclusion schemes 

• provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as 
GamCare, the National Gambling Helpline.  

 
This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 
measures. 

 
2.3 This Licensing Authority will expect applicants to adopt an approved proof of age 

scheme (such as Challenge 21) for staff to be suitably trained and aware of the 
gambling laws, social responsibility and statutory requirements relating to age 
restrictions. 

 

242



19 
 

3. Licensed Family Entertainment Centres (FECs) 
 
3.1 This Licensing Authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect children 

and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect 
the applicant to satisfy the Authority, for example, that there will be sufficient 
measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to the adult- only 
gaming machine areas.  Children and young persons are permitted to enter an 
FEC and may play on Category D machines.  They are not permitted to play on 
Category C machines, and it is a requirement that there is clear segregation 
between the two types of machine, to prevent access by children and young 
persons to Category C machines. 

 
3.2 This Licensing Authority may consider measures to meet the licensing objectives 

such as: 
 

• CCTV 

• supervision of entrances / machine areas (e.g. use of door supervisors) 

• physical separation of areas 

• location of entry 

• notices / signage  

• specific opening hours 

• self-exclusion schemes 

• provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as 
GamCare, the National Gambling Helpline.  

• measures/training for staff on how to deal with suspected truant school children 
on the premises 

 
This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 
measures. 
 

3.3 The Licensing Authority expects that there will be dedicated staff supervision of 
FEC areas whether using a premises licence or permit. The Authority expects 
applicants to provide evidence to show that such direct supervision is in place. 

 
3.4 This Licensing Authority will, as per the Gambling Commission’s guidance, refer to 

the Commission’s website to see any conditions that apply to operating licences 
covering the way in which the area containing the category C machines should be 
delineated.  

 
4. Casinos 
 
4.1 Resolution not to issue casino licences – this Licensing Authority has not passed a 

‘no casino’ resolution under Section 166 of the Gambling Act 2005 but is aware 
that it has the power to do so.   Should this Licensing Authority decide in the future 
to pass such a resolution, it will update this statement of principles with details of 
that resolution. Any such resolution will be made by the Full Council. 

 
5.   Bingo premises 
 
5.1 This Licensing Authority notes that the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 

Licensing Authorities states in paragraph 18.5: 
 
“Licensing authorities need to satisfy themselves that bingo can be played in any 
bingo premises for which they issue a premises licence.  An operator may choose 
to vary their licence to exclude a previously licensed area of that premises, and 

243



20 
 

then apply for a new premise licence, or multiple new premises licences, with the 
aim of creating separate premises in that area, essentially providing multiple 
licensed premises within a single building or site.  Before issuing additional bingo 
premises licences, licensing authorities need to consider whether bingo can be 
played at each of those new premises”.  
 

5.2 This Licensing Authority also notes the guidance at paragraph 18.9 of the 
Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities, regarding the unusual 
circumstances in which the splitting of a pre-existing premises into two adjacent 
premises might be permitted and in particular that it is not permissible to locate 
sixteen category B gaming machines in one of the resulting premises as the 
gaming machine entitlement for that premises would be exceeded. 
 

5.3 Children and young persons are allowed into bingo premises however, they are not 
permitted to participate in the bingo and if Category B and C machines are made 
available for use these must be separated from areas where children and young 
people are allowed. 
 

5.4 In accordance with the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities, 
the Licensing Authority recognises that it is important that if children are allowed to 
enter premises licensed for bingo that they do not participate in gambling other 
than on Category D machines.  Where Category C or above machines are 
available in the bingo premises to which children are admitted, the Licensing 
Authority will seek to ensure that: 

 

• all such machines are located in an area of the premises separate from the 
remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to prevent 
access other than through a designated entrance 

• only adults are admitted to the area where the machines are located 

• access to the area where the machines are located is supervised 

• the area where the machines are located is arranged so that it can be observed 
by staff of the Operator or the Licence holder 

• at the entrance to and inside any such area there are prominently displayed 
notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to persons under 18. 

 
5.5 Where bingo is provided in alcohol-licensed premises and it reaches a certain 

threshold, it will no longer be authorised as equal chance gaming and a Bingo 
Operating Licence will need to be obtained from the Gambling Commission.  The 
aim of this provision is to prevent bingo becoming a predominant commercial 
activity on non-gambling premises. 

 
6.   Betting premises 
 
6.1 This Licensing Authority is responsible for issuing and monitoring Premises 

Licences for all betting premises.  Children and young persons are not permitted 
entry to a premise with a Betting Premises Licence.  They may, however, be 
permitted entry to tracks and special rules will apply.  The Licensing Authority 
recommends that an applicant for gaming machines in betting premises considers 
carefully the location of betting machines to ensure that they are not in sight of the 
entrance of the premises. 

 
6.2 Betting machines - this Licensing Authority will, as per the Gambling Commission’s 

Guidance to Licensing Authorities, take into account the size of the premises; the 
number of counter positions available for person-to-person transactions; and the 
ability of staff to monitor the use of the machines by vulnerable people or by 

244



21 
 

children and young persons (it is an offence for those under 18 to bet) when 
considering the number / nature / circumstances of betting machines an operator 
wants to offer. 

 
7.   Tracks 
 
7.1  There are currently no tracks operating in the district - however this Statement of 

Principles will be amended with appropriate regulation should such a facility require 
licensing within the district.  

 
8.    Travelling Fairs  

 
8.1 This Licensing Authority is responsible for deciding whether, where category D 

machines and / or equal chance prize gaming without a permit are to be made 
available for use at travelling fairs, the statutory requirement that the facilities for 
gambling amount to no more than an ancillary amusement at the fair is met. 

 
8.2 This Licensing Authority will also consider whether the applicant falls within the 

statutory definition of a travelling fair.  
 
8.3 It has been noted that the 27-day statutory maximum for the land being used as a 

fair applies on a calendar year basis and that it applies to the piece of land on 
which the fairs are held regardless of whether it is the same or different travelling 
fairs occupying the land.  This Licensing Authority will work with its neighbouring 
authorities to ensure that land which crosses our boundaries is monitored so that 
the statutory limits are not exceeded. 

 
9.    Provisional Statements 
 
9.1 Developers may wish to apply to this Licensing Authority for a Provisional 

Statement before entering into a contract to buy or lease property or land to judge 
whether a development is worth taking forward in light of the need to obtain a 
Premises Licence.  There is no need for the applicant to hold an Operating Licence 
in order to apply for a Provisional Statement. 

 
9.2 Part 8, Section 204 of the Gambling Act 2005 provides for a person to make an 

application to the Licensing Authority for a Provisional Statement in respect of 
premises that he / she: 

 

• expects to be constructed 

• expects to be altered 

• expects to acquire a right to occupy 
 
9.3 The process for considering an application for a Provisional Statement is the same 

as that for a Premises Licence application.  The applicant is obliged to give notice 
of the application in the same way as applying for a Premises Licence.  
Responsible Authorities and Interested Parties may make representations and 
there are rights of appeal. 

 
9.4 In contrast to the Premises Licence application the applicant does not have to hold 

or have applied for an Operating Licence from the Gambling Commission (except 
in the case of a track) and they do not have to have a right to occupy the premises 
in respect of which their Provisional Application is made. 

 

245



22 
 

9.5 The holder of the Provisional Statement may then apply for a Premises Licence 
once the premises is constructed, altered or acquired.  This Licensing Authority will 
be constrained in the matters it can consider when determining the Premises 
Licence application, and in terms of representations about Premises Licence 
applications that follow the grant of a Provisional Statement, no further 
representations from relevant Authorities or interested parties can be taken into 
account unless: 

 

• they concern matters which could not have been addressed at the Provisional 
Statement stage 

• they reflect a change in the applicant’s circumstances 
 
9.6 In addition the Licensing Authority may refuse the Premises Licence (or grant it on 

terms different to those attached to the Provisional Statement) only by reference to 
matters: 

 

• which could not have been raised by objectors at the Provisional Statement 
stage 

• which in the Licensing Authority’s opinion reflect a change in the Operator’s 
circumstances 

• where the premises have not been constructed in accordance with the plan 
submitted with the application.  This must be a substantial change to the plan 
and this Licensing Authority notes that it can discuss any concerns it has with 
the applicant before making a decision. 

 
10.   Reviews   
 
10.1 Requests for a review of a Premises Licence can be made by Interested Parties or 

Responsible Authorities.  However, it is for this Licensing Authority to decide 
whether the review is to be carried out.  This will be on the basis of whether the 
request for the review is relevant to the matters listed below: 

 

• in accordance with any relevant Code of Practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission 

• in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission 

• reasonably consistent with the Licensing Objectives 

• in accordance with this Licensing Authority’s Statement of Principles. 
 
10.2  The request for the review will also be subject to the consideration by this 

Licensing Authority as to whether the request is frivolous, vexatious or whether it 
will certainly not cause the Licensing Authority to wish to alter / revoke / suspend 
the Licence, or whether it is substantially the same as previous representation(s) or 
request(s) for review. 

 
10.3 This Licensing Authority can also initiate a review of a particular Premises Licence 

or a particular class of Premises Licence on the basis of any reason which it thinks 
appropriate. 

 
10.4 Once a valid application for review has been received by this Licensing Authority 

representations can be made by Responsible Authorities and Interested Parties 
during a 28 day period.  This period begins 7 days after the application is received 
by this Licensing Authority who will publish notice of the application within 7 days of 
receipt. 

 

246



23 
 

10.5  This Licensing Authority must carry out the review as soon as possible after the 28 
day period for making representations has passed. 

 
10.6 The purpose of the review will be to determine whether the Licensing Authority 

should take any action in relation to the Licence.  If action is justified the options 
open to this Licensing Authority are to: 

 

• add, remove or amend a Licence condition imposed by the Licensing Authority 

• exclude a default condition imposed by the Secretary of State (e.g. opening 
hours) or remove or amend such a condition 

• suspend the Premises Licence for a period not exceeding three months 

• revoke the licence. 
 

In determining what action, if any, should be taken following a review, this 
Licensing Authority must have regard to the principles set out in Section 153 of the 
Act as well as any relevant representation. 

 
10.7 In particular, the Licensing Authority may also initiate a review of a Premises 

Licence on the grounds that a Premises Licence holder has not provided facilities 
for gambling at the premises.  This is to prevent people from applying for licences 
in a speculative manner without intending to use them. 

 
10.8 Once the review has been completed this Licensing Authority must, as soon as 

possible, notify its decision to: 
 

• the licence holder 

• the applicant for review (if any) 

• the Gambling Commission 

• any person who made a representation 

• the Chief Officer of Police or Chief Constable 

• HM Commissioners for Revenue and Customs 
 
11.   Appeals 
 
11.1 There is a right of appeal both for applicants and those who have made relevant 

representations or applied for a review. This appeal must be lodged within a period 
of 21 days from the day on which the applicant was notified by this Licensing 
Authority of the decision and must be made to a Magistrates’ Court. 

 
 

247



24 
 

Part C - Permits / Temporary & Occasional Use Notice / Lotteries 
 
1. Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre (FEC) gaming machine permits  
 
1.1 Where a premise does not hold a Premises Licence but wishes to provide 

Category D gaming machines it may apply to this Licensing Authority for a permit.  
It should be noted that the applicant must show that the premises will be wholly or 
mainly used for making gaming machines available for use (as per the Gambling 
Act 2005 Part 10, Section 238). 

 
1.2 The Gambling Act 2005 states that a Licensing Authority may prepare a Statement 

of Principles that it proposes to consider in determining the suitability of an 
applicant for a permit and, in preparing this statement, and / or considering 
applications it need not (but may) have regard to the licensing objectives and shall 
have regard to any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission under 
Section 25.   

 
1.3 The Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Local Authorities, paragraph 24.6 also 

states  “...An application for a permit can only be made by a person who occupies 
or plans to occupy the premises to be used as an unlicensed FEC and, if the 
applicant is an individual, he or she must be aged 18 or over.  Applications for a 
permit cannot be made if a premises licence is in effect for the same premises. 

 
 24.9 “....An application may be granted only if the licensing authority is satisfied 

that the premises will be used as an unlicensed FEC and if the chief officer of 
police has been consulted on the application. 

 
 Licensing authorities might wish to consider asking applicants to demonstrate: 

 

• a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling that is 
permissible in unlicensed FECs 

• that the applicant has no relevant convictions (those that are set out in 
Schedule 7 of the Act) 

• that employees are trained to have a full understanding of the maximum stakes 
and prizes”.  

 
It should be noted that a Licensing Authority cannot attach conditions to this type of 
permit. 

 
1.4 Statement of Principles 
 

This Licensing Authority will expect the applicant to show that there are policies 
and procedures in place to protect children and vulnerable adults from harm.  Harm 
in this context is not limited to harm from gambling but includes wider safeguarding 
considerations.  The efficiency of such policies and procedures will each be 
considered on their merits, however, they may include appropriate measures / 
training for staff as regards, vulnerable adults on the premises, suspected truant 
school children on the premises, measures training covering how staff would deal 
with unsupervised very young children being on the premises, or children causing 
perceived problems on / around the premises.   
 
 
 
 

 

248



25 
 

2. Alcohol licensed premises gaming machine permits and notifications  
 
2.1 Notifications of 2 or less machines  
 

There is provision in the Act for premises licensed to sell alcohol for consumption 
on the premises and have a bar at which alcohol is served, without a requirement 
that alcohol is served only with food, to automatically have 2 gaming machines of 
categories C and / or D.  The premises licence holder merely needs to notify this 
Licensing Authority.  This Licensing Authority can remove the automatic 
authorisation in respect of any particular premises if: 

 

• provision of the machines is not reasonably consistent with the pursuit of the 
Licensing Objectives 

• gaming has taken place on the premises that breaches a condition of Part 12, 
Section 282 of the Act  

• the premises are mainly used for gaming 

• an offence under the Gambling Act 2005 has been committed on the premises 
 
2.2 Permits for 3 or more machines  
 

If a premises wishes to have more than 2 machines then the licence holder needs 
to apply for a permit and this Licensing Authority must consider that application 
based upon the licensing objectives, the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities, Section 25 and “such matters as they think relevant”.   This 
Licensing Authority considers that “such matters” will be decided on a case by case 
basis but generally there will be regard to the need to protect children and 
vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the 
applicant to satisfy this Licensing Authority that there will be sufficient measures to 
ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to the adult-only gaming 
machines.  Measures may include the adult-only machines being in sight of the bar 
or in the sight of staff who will monitor that the machines are not being used by 
those under 18.  Notices and signage may also be helpful.  In ensuring the 
protection of vulnerable persons applicants may wish to consider the provision of 
information leaflets and helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare. 

 
2.3 It is recognised that some alcohol-licensed premises may apply for a Premises 

Licence for their non-alcohol licensed areas.  Any such application would most 
likely need to be applied for, and dealt with, as an Adult Gaming Centre Premises 
Licence. 

 
2.4 It should be noted that this Licensing Authority can decide to grant the application 

with a smaller number of machines and / or a different category of machines than 
that applied for.  Conditions (other than these) cannot be attached. 

 
2.5 It should also be noted that the holder of a permit must comply with any Code of 

Practice issued by the Gambling Commission about the location and operation of 
the machine, in particular the Gaming Machines in Alcohol Licensed Premises 
Code of Practice.  This code contains details of the conditions which apply to 
permits. 

 
3. Prize Gaming  
 
3.1 The Gambling Act 2005 states that a Licensing Authority may “prepare a Statement 

of Principles that they propose to apply in exercising their functions under this 

249



26 
 

schedule” which “may, in particular, specify matters that the licensing authority 
proposes to consider in determining the suitability of the applicant for a permit”.   

 
3.2 This Licensing Authority has prepared a Statement of Principles which is that the 

applicant should set out the types of gaming that he or she is intending to offer and 
that the applicant should be able to demonstrate:  

 

• that they understand the limits to stakes and prizes that are set out in 
regulations  

• that the gaming offered is within the law 

• clear polices that outline steps to be taken to protect children from harm 
 
3.3 In making its decision on an application for this permit this Licensing Authority does 

not need to (but may) have regard to the Licensing Objectives but must have 
regard to any Gambling Commission guidance.   

 
3.4 It should be noted that whilst there are conditions in the Gambling Act 2005 with 

which the permit holder must comply, the Licensing Authority itself cannot attach 
conditions.  The conditions in the Act are: 

 

• the limits on participation fees, as set out in regulations, must be complied with 

• all chances to participate in the gaming must be allocated on the premises on 
which the gaming is taking place and on one day; the game must be played 
and completed on the day the chances are allocated; and the result of the 
game must be made public in the premises on the day that it is played  

• the prize for which the game is played must not exceed the amount set out in 
regulations (if a monetary prize) or the prescribed value (if a non-monetary 
prize)  

• participation in the gaming must not entitle the player to take part in any other 
gambling.  

 
4. Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits  
 
4.1 Members’ clubs may apply for a Club Gaming permit or a Club Machine permit 

(Commercial Clubs cannot apply for a Club Gaming Permit).  The Club Gaming 
permit will enable the premises to provide gaming machines (3 machines of 
categories B, C or D), equal chance gaming and games of chance as set out in 
regulations.  A Club Machine permit will enable the premises to provide gaming 
machines (3 machines of categories B, C or D). 

 
4.2 The Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities states: “Members’ 

clubs must have at least 25 members and be established and conducted ‘wholly or 
mainly’ for purposes other than gaming, unless the gaming is permitted by 
separate regulations.  The Secretary of State has made such regulations and these 
cover bridge and whist clubs.  A members’ club must be permanent in nature and 
established and conducted for the benefit of its members and not as a commercial 
enterprise.  Examples include working men’s clubs, branches of the Royal British 
Legion and clubs with political affiliations.” 
 

4.3 The Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities notes that 
"Licensing Authorities may only refuse an application on the grounds that: 

 
(a) the applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members’ or commercial 

club and therefore is not entitled to receive the type of permit for which it has 
applied 

250



27 
 

(b) the applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children and/or young 
persons 

(c) an offence under the Act or a breach of a permit has been committed by the 
applicant while providing gaming facilities 

(d) a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the previous ten years 
(e) An objection has been lodged by the Commission or the police.” 

 
4.4 There is also a ‘fast-track’ procedure available under the Act (Schedule 12 

paragraph 10) for premises which hold a Club Premises Certificate under the 
Licensing Act 2003.  The Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing 
Authorities states, "Under the fast-track procedure there is no opportunity for 
objections to be made by the Commission or the police, and the grounds upon 
which an authority can refuse a permit are reduced.  The grounds on which an 
application under the process may be refused are: 

 
(a)    the club is established primarily for gaming, other than gaming prescribed by  

regulations under Section 266 of the Act 
(b)   in addition to the prescribed gaming, the applicant provides facilities for other 

gaming 
 (c)    a club gaming permit or club machine permit issued to the applicant in the 

last ten years has been cancelled." 
 
4.5 There are statutory conditions on Club Gaming permits that no child uses a 

category B or C machine on the premises and that the holder complies with any 
relevant provision of a Code of Practice about the location and operation of gaming 
machines. 

 
5. Temporary Use Notices  
 
5.1 Temporary Use Notices allow the use of premises for gambling where there is no 

Premises Licence but where a Gambling Operator wishes to use the premises 
temporarily for providing facilities for gambling.  Premises that might be suitable for 
a Temporary Use Notice, according to the Gambling Commission, would include 
hotels, conference centres and sporting venues.  The meaning of “premises” in 
Part 8 of the Act is discussed in Part 7 of the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities.  As with “premises”, the definition of “a set of premises” will 
be a question of fact in the particular circumstances of each notice that is given.  In 
the Act “premises” is defined as including “any place”.  In considering whether a 
place falls within the definition of a “set of premises” this Licensing Authority needs 
to look at, amongst other things, the ownership/occupation and control of the 
premises. 

 
5.2 This Licensing Authority can only grant a Temporary Use Notice to a person or 

company holding a relevant Operating Licence i.e. a Non-Remote 1968 or 2005 
Act Casino Operating Licence. 

 
5.3 The Secretary of State has the power to determine what form of gambling can be 

authorised by Temporary Use Notices the relevant regulations (SI no 3157: The 
Gambling Act 2005 (Temporary Use Notices) Regulations 2007) state that 
Temporary Use Notices can only be used to permit the provision of facilities for 
equal chance gaming, where the gaming is intended to produce a single winner, 
which in practice means poker tournaments. 

 
5.4 This Licensing Authority has to ensure that the statutory limit of 21 days in a 

calendar year is not exceeded.   

251



28 
 

 
5.5 There are a number of statutory limits applied to Temporary Use Notices. These 

can be found in the Gambling Act (Part 9). 
 
5.6 This Licensing Authority expects to object to notices where it appears that their 

effect would be to permit regular gambling in a place that could be described as 
one set of premises as recommended in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities. 

 
6. Occasional Use Notices  
 
6.1 This Licensing Authority has very little discretion as regards these Notices aside 

from ensuring that the statutory limit of 8 days in a calendar year is not exceeded.  
This Licensing Authority will though consider the definition of a ‘track’ and whether 
the applicant is permitted to avail him / herself of the Notice.   

 
7.  Lotteries 
 
7.1 This Licensing Authority registers and deals with Small Society Lotteries.  

Promoting or facilitating a lottery falls within one of the following categories: 
 

• Licensed Lotteries (requiring an Operating Licence from the Gambling 
Commission) 

• Small Society Lotteries (registered with the Licensing Authority) Exempt 
Lotteries 

 
7.2 Lotteries permitted to be conducted without a Licence from the Gambling 

Commission are: 
 

• Small Society Lotteries (registered with the Licensing Authority) 

• Incidental Non-Commercial Lotteries 

• Private Lotteries (Private Society Lottery, Work Lottery, Residents’ Lottery) 

• Customer Lotteries 
 
7.3. Societies may organise lotteries if they are licensed by the Gambling Commission, 

registered with this Licensing Authority or fall within the exempt category. This 
Licensing Authority recommends those seeking to run lotteries take their own legal 
advice on which type of lottery category they fall within.  However, guidance notes 
with regard to all lotteries, limits placed on small society lotteries and information 
setting out financial limits is available by contacting this Licensing Authority. 

 
7.4 Applicants for lottery licences must apply to the Licensing Authority in the area 

where their principal office is located. Where the Licensing Authority believes that 
the Society’s principal office is situated in another area it will inform the Society as 
soon as possible and, where possible, will inform the other Licensing Authority. 

 
7.5 This Licensing Authority will keep a Public Register of all applications and will 

provide information to the Gambling Commission on all lotteries registered by this 
Licensing Authority.  As soon as the entry on the Public Register is completed, this 
Licensing Authority will notify the applicant of registration. 

 
7.6 This Licensing Authority will ask applicants to set out the purposes for which the 

Society is established and will ask the Society to declare that they represent a 
bona fide non-commercial society and have no relevant convictions.  This 

252



29 
 

Licensing Authority may seek further information from the Society and in particular 
may require a copy of the Society’s constitution. 

 
7.7 Where this Licensing Authority intends to refuse registration of a Society it will give 

the Society an opportunity to make representations and will inform the Society of 
the reasons why it is minded to refuse registration and supply evidence on which it 
has reached that preliminary conclusion. 

 
7.8 This Licensing Authority may revoke the registered status of a Society if it thinks 

that they would have had to, or would be entitled to, refuse an application for 
registration if it were being made at that time. However, no revocations will take 
place unless the Society has been given the opportunity to make representations. 
This Licensing Authority will inform the Society of the reasons why it is minded to 
revoke the registration and will provide an outline of the evidence on which it has 
reached that preliminary conclusion. 

 
7.9 As regards to where Small Society Lottery tickets may be sold, the Licensing 

Authority applies the following guidance criteria to all Small Society Lotteries it 
registers: 

 

• tickets should not be sold in a Street.  (‘Street’ includes any bridge, road, lane, 
footway, subway, square, court, alley or passage (including passages through 
enclosed premises such as shopping centres)).   

• tickets may be sold in a street from a kiosk, in a shop or door to door. 
 
This approach is consistent with the Operating Licence conditions imposed by the 
Gambling Commission upon operators of large lotteries. 

 
8.  Review 
 
8.1 This Statement of Principles will remain in existence for a period of three years and 

will be subject to review and further consultation before 1st January 2022.  
However, following consultation, the Licensing Authority may make revisions to it 
as deemed necessary.  

 
9. Glossary 
 
9.1 A glossary of terms is attached at Appendix 3 

253



30 
 

APPENDIX 1 
 
Summary of Licensing Authority delegations permitted under the Gambling Act 
(This summary is for information purposes only and does not form part of the 
Statement of Principles proper.  The delegations may be amended at any time). 
  

Matter to be dealt 
with 

Council Alcohol, 
Entertainment & 
Late Night 
Refreshment 
Committee 

Officers 

Final approval of three 
year Licensing 
Statement of 
Principles 

All Cases   

Pass a resolution not 
to permit casinos 

All Cases   

Fee setting  
(when appropriate) 

X 
 X (recommend to 

Council) 

Application for 
Premises Licence 
(including applications 
for Re-instatement 
under S195*) 

 Representation 
made and not 
withdrawn (S154 
(4) (a)*)  
 

No representation 
made or 
representations 
have been 
withdrawn  

Application to vary 
Premises Licence 

 Representation 
made and not 
withdrawn (S154 
(4)(b)*) 
 
 

No representation 
made or 
representations 
have been 
withdrawn 
 
 

Application for transfer 
of Premises Licence 

 Representation 
made by the 
Commission (S154 
(4) (c)*) 
 
 

Where no 
representations 
received from the 
Commission 

Application for a 
Provisional Statement 

 Representation 
made and not 
withdrawn 
(S154 (4) (d)*) 
 
 

No representation 
made or 
representations 
have been 
withdrawn  

Revocation of a 
Premises Licence (for 
failure to pay annual 
fee under S193*) 

  All Cases 

  

254



31 
 

Matter to be dealt 
with 

Council Sub-Committee of 
Licensing 
Committee 

Officers 

Review of a Premises 
Licence 

  
X 
 

 

Application for Club 
Gaming/Club Machine 
Permits 

 Objection made 
and not withdrawn 
(Schedule 12 
Paragraph 28 (2)*) 

No objection made 
or objections have 
been withdrawn 

Cancellation of Club 
Gaming / Club 
Machine Permits 
under Schedule 12 
Paragraph 21* 

 

X 

 

Consideration of 
Temporary Use 
Notices (including 
Notices modified 
under Section 223) 

 All cases where an 
objection notice 
has been received 
unless each 
person who would 
be entitled to make 
representations 
agrees that a 
hearing is 
unnecessary. 
 
All cases where a 
counter notice may 
be required (S232 
(3)*) 
 

All other cases 

Decision to give a 
Counter Notice to a 
Temporary Use Notice 

 All Cases except 
where time limits 
for temporary 
events are 
exceeded pursuant 
to Section 218 (3) 
and Section 218 
(5) 

All cases where 
time limits for 
temporary events 
are exceeded 
pursuant to Section 
218 (3) and Section 
218 (5) 

Applications for other 
Permits, Registrations 
and Notifications 

  
X 

Cancellation of 
Licensed Premises 
Gaming Machine 
Permits (Schedule 13 
Paragraph 16*) 

  

X 

 
*Gambling Act 2005 
‘X’ - Indicates at the lowest level to which decisions can be delegated. 
 
 
The Sub-Committee of the Alcohol, Entertainment and Late Night Refreshment 
Licensing Committee, shall be comprised of, normally a minimum of 3 members. 
 

255



32 
 

APPENDIX 2 
 

Parties consulted 
 
Statutory Consultees 
 
Chief Officer of Lincolnshire Police  
One or more persons who appear to the Authority to represent the interests of person 
carrying on gambling businesses in the area 
One or more persons who appear to the Authority to represent the interests of persons 
who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the Authority’s functions under the Act. 
 
Public Bodies 
 
Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Board 
Gambling Commission 
Lincolnshire County Council (Social Services) 
Lincolnshire County Council (Trading Standards) 
Lincolnshire Safeguarding Adults Board 
HM Customs & Excise 
 
Lincolnshire Authorities 
 
Lincoln City Council 
North Kesteven District Council 
South Holland District Council 
West Lindsey District Council 
East Lindsey District Council 
Boston Borough Council 
North East Lincolnshire Council 
 
Community Consultees 
 
GamCare 
Addaction 
Samaritans 
 
Trade Associations involved in Gaming and Entertainment Industry 
 
British Beer & Pub Association 
British Institute of Innkeeping 
The Bingo Association 
Gamestec 
Association of British Bookmakers Ltd 
Claremont Automatics 
Keeday Leisure 
Gala Bingo 
Bet Fred 
Coral UK 
Mark Jarvis Betting 
Ladbrookes 
All alcohol licensed premises and registered club premises 
Amusement arcades permit holders in the district 
 
Telephone: (01476) 40 60 80 or email: licensing@southkesteven.gov.uk

256

mailto:licensing@southkesteven.gov.uk


 

APPENDIX 3 
 
GLOSSARY OF TERMS UNDER THE GAMBLING ACT 2005 

Council/Licensing 
Authority: 
 
Applications: 
 
 
Notifications: 
 
Act: 
 
Regulations: 
 
Premises: 
 
Track  
Premises 
Licence 
 
Operator Licence 
 
Personal 
Licence: 
 
 
Family 
Entertainment 
Centre 
 
Adult Gaming 
Centre 
 
 
 
Gaming Machine 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Gaming Machine 
 
Money Prize 
Machine 
 
Non- Money 
Prize Machine 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
South Kesteven District Council 
 
Applications for licences and permits as stated in the Statement of 
Principles 
 
Notifications of temporary and occasional use notices 
 
The Gambling Act 2005 
 
Regulations made under the Act 
 
Any place, including a vehicle, vessel or moveable structure 
 
Section 53 of the Act defines a track as a horse racecourse, greyhound 
track or other premises on any part of which a race or other sporting 
event takes place or is intended to take place. 
 
Issued by the Council to authorise premises to be used for the activities 
as defined by Section 150 of the Act 
 
Issued by the Gambling Commission to organisations and individuals 
who are providing facilities for gambling as defined by Section 65 of the 
Act 
 
Issued by the Gambling Commission to certain categories of people 
working in the gambling industry as defined by Section 127 of the Act 
 
The Act creates two classes of Family Entertainment Centres: 
 
Licensed: which provide category C and D gaming machines and 
require a premises licence 
 
A machine which is designed or adapted for use by individuals to 
gamble as defined by Section 235 of the Gambling Act. Gaming 
machines fall into categories depending on the maximum stake and 
prize available.  
 
The Gambling Commission’s web site contains up to date information 
about gaming machine categories, stakes and prizes 

  
 
 
Unlicensed: which provide category D gaming machines in reliance on a 
Gaming Machine Permit. 
 
Premises which provide category B, C and D gaming machines and 
require an operating licence and a premises licence. 
 
A machine which is designed or adapted for use by individuals to 
gamble as defined by Section 235 of the Act 
 
A machine in respect of which every prize which can be won as a result 
of using the machine is a money prize as defined in regulation 3 (7) of 
the Categories of Gaming Machine (Amendment) Regulations 2009 
 
A machine in respect of which every prize which can be 

257

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-gambling-businesses/Compliance/Sector-specific-compliance/Arcades-and-machines/Gaming-machine-categories/Gaming-machine-categories.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-gambling-businesses/Compliance/Sector-specific-compliance/Arcades-and-machines/Gaming-machine-categories/Gaming-machine-categories.aspx


34 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Crane Grab 
Machine 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Coin Pusher 
or Penny Fall 
Machine 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Other 
Categories of 
Gaming 
Machines 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Code of Practice: 
 
 
 
Responsible 

won as a result of using the machine is a non-money prize 
as defined in regulation 3(7) of the Categories of Gaming 
Machine (Amendment) Regulations 2009. For non-money 
prize machines in general, the maximum stake (charge for 
use) must be no more than 30 pence, and the maximum 
prize value must be no more than £8. 
 
A crane grab machine is defined as a non-money prize 
machine in respect of which two conditions are satisfied. 
The first is that every prize which can be won as a result 
of using the machine consists of an individual physical 
object (such as a stuffed toy). The second is that whether or not a 
person using the machine wins a prize is determined by the person’s 
success or failure in manipulating a device forming part of the machine 
so as to separate and keep separate one or more physical objects from 
a group of such objects. The maximum stake may be anything up to and 
including £1, and the maximum prize value may be anything up to and 
including £50 
 
These machines are commonly found in seaside arcades 
and are defined in regulation 2(3) of the Categories of 
Gaming Machine Regulations 2007 with the additional 
requirement that the machine be neither a money-prize 
nor a non-money prize machine. The maximum stake may be anything 
up to and including 20 pence, and the 
maximum prize value may be anything up to and including £20 (no more 
than £10 may be a money prize). 
 
A – No category A gaming machines are currently 
permitted 
B1 – Maximum Stake: £5, Maximum Prize: £10,000* 
B2 – Maximum Stake: £100, Maximum Prize: £500 
(multiples of £10) 
B3 – Maximum Stake: £2, Maximum Prize: £500 
B3A – Maximum Stake: £2 Maximum Prize: £500 
B4 – Maximum Stake: £2, Maximum Prize: £400 
C – Maximum Stake: £1, Maximum Prize: £100 
D – Money Prize (other than a coin pusher or penny falls 
machine) Maximum Stake: 10p Maximum Prize: £5 
D – Non-money prize (other than crane grab, coin pusher 
or penny falls machine)) Maximum stake: 30p Maximum Prize: £8 
D- Non-money prize (crane grab machine) 
Maximum stake: £1 Maximum prize: £50 
D – Combined money and non-money prize (other than 
coin pusher or penny falls machine) 
Maximum Stake: 10p maximum prize: £8 (of which no 
more than £5 may be a money prize) 
D – Combined money and non-money prize (coin pusher 
or penny falls machine) 
Maximum stake: 20p Maximum prize: £20 (of which no 
more than £10 may be a money prize) 
 
Means any relevant code of practice under section 24 of 
the Gambling Act 2005 
 
 
 
For the purposes of this Act, the following are responsible authorities in 
relation to gambling premises: 

258



35 
 

Authority: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Interested Party: 

 

• The Licensing Authority in whose area the premises are wholly or 
mainly situated (South Kesteven District Council); 

• The Gambling Commission; 

• Lincolnshire Police; 

• Trading Standards; 

• HM Customs and Excise. 
 
 
For the purposes of this Act, a person is an interested 
party in relation to a premises licence if, in the opinion of 
the Licensing Authority which issues the licence or to 
which the application is made, the person: 
 
a) Lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely 
to be affected by the authorised activities; 
b) Has business interests that might be affected by 
the authorised activities; 
c) Represents persons who satisfy a) or b) above. 
 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

259



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Equality Impact
(Initial Analysis)

Gambling Statement of Principles

Lead officer:
 Anne-Marie Coulthard
Assessors:
Anne-Marie Coulthard

Service Area:
Environmental

Neutral Assessor:
Carol Drury

Date of Meeting 

12/06/19

261



2

1. Name and description of policy/service/function/strategy

Licensing Authorities licence gambling premises and issue a range of      
permits to authorise other gambling facilities in their area. 

The Gambling Act 2005 requires Authorities on or before each successive 
period of three years, to prepare a Statement of Principles that they propose 
to apply in the exercise of their functions under the Act and to publish that 
Statement.  The last Statement was published in January 2017 and is now 
under review.

The Statement sets out the Licensing Authorities approach to regulation and 
aims to control operators of licensed premises within the local area.
The licensing objectives are set out in the Act and are: 
• preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime 
• ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 
• protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling. 

Is this a new or existing policy? Existing

2. Complete the table below, considering whether the proposed 
policy/service/function/strategy could have any potential positive,  or 
negative impacts on groups from any of the protected characteristics (or 
diversity strands) listed, using demographic data, user surveys, local 
consultations evaluation forms, comments and complaints etc.

Equality Group

Does this 
policy/service/function/
strategy have a positive 
or negative impact on 
any of the equality 
groups? 

Please state which for 
each group

Please describe why the impact is 
positive or negative.
If you consider this policy etc is not 
relevant to a specific characteristic 
please explain why  

Age Yes – under 18s Positive - The statement sets out how 
the Licensing Authority will consider 
applications in accordance with 
licensing objectives. One is to protect 
children from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling.  Premise 
Licence applicants must consider a 
range of relevant factors in their risk 
assessments as part of their 
application e.g. locations near schools

262



3

Disability Yes – in respect of 
mental health and 
learning disability 

See comment under “other Groups”

Race Not applicable

Gender 
Reassignment

  

Not applicable

Religion or 
Belief  

Not applicable

Sex

  

Not applicable

Sexual 
Orientation

Not applicable

Pregnancy and 
Maternity

Not applicable

Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership

Not applicable

Carers Not applicable

Other Groups 
(e.g. those from 
deprived (IMD*) 
communities; 
those from rural 
communities, 
those with an 
offending past)

*(IMD = Indices 
of multiple 
deprivation)

Vulnerable persons – for 
regulatory purposes 
Gambling Commission 
guidance states “assume 
that this group includes 
people who gamble more 
than they want to; people 
who gamble beyond their 
means; and people who 
may not be able to make 
informed or balanced 
decisions about gambling 
due to mental health 
needs, learning disability, 
or substance misuse 

Positive - ensuring that venues and staff 
of those venues are aware of vulnerable 
groups, are alert to excessive gambling 
and provide appropriate information for 
organisations that provide help such as 
GamCare.  Where venues are operating 
outside of conditions or without 
appropriate permits, a range of 
enforcement provisions are available in 
the Act.

263



4

relating to alcohol or 
drugs.”  

General 
comments

3. What equality data/information did you use to inform the outcomes of 
the proposed policy/service/function/strategy? (Note any relevant 
consultation who took part and key findings)

The current Statement (2017-2020) was subject to consultation. A range of 
licences/permits have been issued under the current statement and no 
significant risks have been identified.  However, in line with current 
guidance, the information to be provided as a minimum for Local Area 
Assessments (page 10 of the statement) has been increased in the latest 
Statement to provide for increased considerations relating to children and 
vulnerable people.  

If there are any gaps in the consultation/monitoring data, how will this 
be addressed?

The revised Statement will be subject to consultation statutory consultees, 
relevant bodies and the public. Full list of consultees is at Appendix 2 of 
the Statement.

4. Outcomes of analysis and recommendations (please note you will be 
required to provide evidence to support the recommendations made): 
Please check one of the options.   

a) No major change needed: equality analysis has not identified any 
potential for discrimination or for negative impact and all 
opportunities to promote equality have been taken

If you have checked option a) you can now send this form to the Lead 
Officer and your Neutral Assessor for sign off

b) Adjust the proposal to remove barriers identified by equality 
analysis or to better promote equality. 

264



5

If you have checked option b) you will need to answer questions b.1 
and b.2 

c) Adverse impact but continue

If you have checked option c) you will need to answer questions c.1

d Stop and remove the policy/function/service/strategy as equality 
analysis has shown actual or potential unlawful

b.1 In brief, what changes are you planning to make to your proposed 
policy/service/function/strategy to minimise or eliminate the negative 
equality impacts?

b.2 Please provide details of whom you will consult on the proposed 
changes and if you do not plan to consult, please provide the rationale 
behind that decision.  

If you have checked option b) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis

c.1 Please provide an explanation in the box below that clearly sets out your 
justification for continuing with the proposed policy/function/service/ 
strategy.

If you have checked option c) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis. You should consider in stage 2 whether there are sufficient plans to 

reduce the negative impact and/or plans to monitor the actual impact.

Signed (Lead Officer):  Anne-Marie Coulthard
(Name and title) Head of Environmental

Date completed: 12/06/19 

Signed (Neutral Assessor): Carol Drury
(Name and title) Community Engagement and Policy Development Officer

Date signed off:    12/06/19

265



6

266



CABINET MEMBER 
DECISION

Decision:   

That approval is granted to the commencement of a six week public 
consultation on the Council’s Gambling Statement of Principles.

(1) Details of Decision

To seek approval to commence public consultation on the Council’s draft 
“Gambling Statement of Principles”.

(2) Considerations/Evidence

Licensing Authorities license gambling premises and issue a range of          
permits to authorise other gambling facilities in their area. 

The Gambling Act 2005 (the “Act”) requires Authorities on or before each 
successive period of three years, to prepare a Statement of Principles (the 
“Statement”) that they propose to apply in the exercise of their functions 
under the Act and to publish that Statement.  The last Statement was 
published in January 2017.

In formulating the Statement, the Authority must have regard to the statutory 
guidance issued by the Gambling Commission.  Once adopted, the 
Statement is the guiding principle for use by Members and Officers when 
applying the Act.

(3) Reasons for Decision:

The Statement sets out the general approach the Council will take when 
carrying out its regulatory role under the Act and promoting the three 
licensing objectives:

 preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, 
being associated with crime or disorder, or being used to support 
crime

 ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way
 protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being 

harmed or exploited by gambling.

267



The current Statement has been revised to reflect the current local profile and 
to include more robust local risk assessment requirements. There are no 
proposed changes to the intent or direction of the Statement. The draft 
Statement is at Appendix 1 with proposed amendments from the current 
statement highlighted.

The consultation will be available on the Council’s website and a wide range 
of stakeholders will be contacted as part of the consultation as detailed in 
Appendix 2 of the Statement.  

It is proposed that the consultation period will last for six weeks. The revised 
draft Statement and consultation results will be presented to the Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee before proceeding to Council.   

Conflicts of Interest

(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded).

NONE

Dispensations

(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted).

NONE

Decision taken by:

Name: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations

Date of Decision: 11 July 2019

Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 12 July 2019

Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups):

22 July 2019

268



 

NON KEY DECISION:
REPORT TO CABINET MEMBER

DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY: Councillor Barry Dobson
Cabinet Member for Housing

REPORT AUTHOR: Harry Rai

REPORT NO. RIM0422

DATE: 24th July 2019

SUBJECT OF
NON KEY
DECISION:

Purchase of land and property in Grantham

CABINET 
MEMBER REMIT:  Housing
CRIME AND 
DISORDER 
IMPLICATIONS:

None

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION 
ACT 
IMPLICATIONS:

This report is exempt from publication by virtue of paragraph 3 
of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 because it 
contains financial information relating to a transaction. 

INITIAL EQUALITY 
IMPACT 
ASSESSMENT

Carried out and appended 
to report?

Not Applicable

Full impact assessment 
required?

No
BACKGROUND 
PAPERS: None

(1) PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 To seek approval for the purchase of land and property at a strategic site in 
Grantham town centre.

1.2 The purchase of the land and property will enable the Council to explore options 
with the objective of improving the area and street scene and explore and deliver 
the residential development potential of the area.

269

Appendix 4



 
1.3 Details of the proposed acquisition is attached as Exempt Appendices to this 

report. 

(2) RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 The Cabinet Member for Housing approves the purchase of the land and 
property detailed in the Appendices for £600,000 for the freehold acquisition. 

(3) REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 The land and property, which is the subject of the offer, is situated adjacent to 
Council owned residential properties in Grantham. The acquisition will enable 
the Council to secure land in a strategic location with the potential to 
regenerate brownfield land, improve the street scene and pursue a 
development opportunity in Grantham and surrounding the station.

3.2 It is proposed that the Site will be purchased with from the £5.0m HRA Capital 
budget for Property Development for 2019-20.

(4) COMMENTS FROM FINANCIAL SERVICES 

4.1 The proposal to acquire this land and property will provide an opportunity to 
provide social and affordable housing units that will provide an income stream 
to the HRA 30 year business plan. The initial financial assessment provides a 
financial return of circa 5%.   The financing of the acquisition and development 
will be financed from the approved housing development capital funding that 
was approved by Council on 1 March 2019.

(5) COMMENTS FROM LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

5.1 The District Council has the authority to acquire land/property by agreement for 
its use by virtue of s.120 of the Local Government Act 1972. The land/property 
acquired can be used for any purpose required to exercise the functions of the 
District Council or to benefit, improve or develop the area of the district whether 
or not the land is immediately required for the purpose intended.  In addition, 
s.17 of the Housing Act 1985 permits the acquisition of land for housing 
purposes.

5.2 The details of the land in question are set out in exempt appendices attached 
to this report to preserve the Council’s commercial position.  Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 applies to exempt the 
information contained in the exempt appendices.  Having regard to the public 
interest test, it is considered that on balance it is necessary to protect the 
Council’s and the vendor’s respective commercial positions by applying this 

270



 
exemption.  If that was not the case, both parties’ positions could be 
compromised and/or prejudiced. 

(6) OFFICER CONTACT

Gemma Harte
Senior Project Officer - Development
Tel: 01476 40 6259
E-mail: g.harte@southkesteven.gov.uk

(7) DATE DECISION EFFECTIVE:

If the decision is made on 5 August 2019, then it will become effective on 
Wednesday 14 August 2019 subject to the decision not being called-in by the 
Chairman of the relevant overview and scrutiny committee or any five 
members of the Council

271



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

273

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

277

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

279

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET MEMBER 
DECISION

Decision:   

That approval is granted to purchase the land and property in 
Grantham as detailed within the exempt appendices to report 
RIM0422 in the sum of £600,000 as a freehold acquisition.

(1) Details of Decision

To seek approval for the purchase of land and property at a strategic site in 
Grantham town centre. The purchase of the land and property will enable the 
Council to explore options with the objective of improving the area and street 
scene and explore and deliver the residential development potential of the 
area. Details of the proposed acquisition are set out in the exempt 
appendices to report RIM0422.

(2) Considerations/Evidence

The proposal to acquire this land and property will provide an opportunity to 
provide social and affordable housing units that will provide an income stream 
to the HRA 30 year business plan. The initial financial assessment provides a 
financial return of circa 5%.   The financing of the acquisition and 
development will be financed from the approved housing development capital 
funding that was approved by Council on 1 March 2019.

(3) Reasons for Decision:

The land and property, which is the subject of the offer, is situated adjacent to 
Council owned residential properties in Grantham. The acquisition will enable 
the Council to secure land in a strategic location with the potential to 
regenerate brownfield land, improve the street scene and pursue a 
development opportunity in Grantham and surrounding the station.

It is proposed that the Site will be purchased with from the £5.0m HRA 
Capital budget for Property Development for 2019-20.

283



Conflicts of Interest

(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded).

NONE

Dispensations

(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted).

NONE

Decision taken by:

Name: Councillor Barry Dobson
Cabinet Member for Housing

Date of Decision: 06 August 2019

Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 07 August 2019 

Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups):

14 August 2019 

284



NON KEY DECISION:
REPORT TO CABINET MEMBER

DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley 
Cabinet Member for Commercial and 
Operations 

REPORT AUTHOR: Steve Frisby, Parks Contract Manager 
Corporate Operations Team
01476 406080 ext: 6016 
s.frisby@southkesteven.gov.uk

REPORT NO.:  FM0015

DATE: 2nd August 2019

SUBJECT OF
NON KEY
DECISION:

Award of Capital Works Contract (Car park extension); 
Wyndham Park, Grantham. FM0015

CABINET 
MEMBER REMIT:

Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations

CRIME AND 
DISORDER 
IMPLICATIONS:

None Identified

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION 
ACT 
IMPLICATIONS:

N/A

INITIAL EQUALITY 
IMPACT 
ASSESSMENT

Carried out and appended 
to report?

N/A

Full impact assessment 
required?

No
BACKGROUND 
PAPERS: None

(1) PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 The report is to;

1. Obtain approval for the award of a contract to facilitate delivery of the car park 
extension at Wyndham Park, Grantham.

2. Confirm compliance with the Council’s approved purchasing process.

285

Appendix 5

mailto:s.frisby@southkesteven.gov.uk


3. Ensure commencement of the contract by August 2019 and completion within 
a timeframe of 4 weeks.

1.2 Tender evaluation summary:

Summary Scores

Supplier
Method 

Statement 
Score

Price Score
Total Score 

(Award 
Criteria)

Rank 

Tender 1(option A) 60 40 100 2
Tender 1(option B) 50 56 106 1

Tender 2 0 0.00 0.00 0
Tender 3 0 0.00 0.00 0
Tender 4 0 0.00 0.00 0

 Opted Out of the Process (No bids received)

(2) RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 That the contract to the tendered value of £18,758.36 be awarded to Tender 1 
(option B); A Coupland (surfacing) Ltd, having achieved the highest score on 
the cost/quality evaluation and considered to be the most economically 
advantageous tender received by the Council.

(3) REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)
(including any alternative options considered and rejected)

3.1 On the *March 2019 the Council approved funding to the value of £29,000 for 
the extension of the car parking facilities at Wyndham Park.  Four local 
suppliers were invited to respond to a Request for Quotation (RFQ) priced 
against work requirements detailed within a written specification supported by 
standard terms and conditions. A process delivered in accordance with the 
Council’s Contract Procurement and Procedures Rules.

3.2   Procurement Method / Tender process applied:

A Request for Quotation (with standard terms and conditions, written 
specification, quantities and drawings) was issued to 4 suitably experience 
contractors. 

3.3     Tenders returned and evaluation:

286



Just one supplier tendered for the work before the closing date of 17th May 
2019, as follows:

Tender 1 (option A) - A Coupland (surfacing) Ltd. 
This tender was produced in accordance with the Council’s specification. 

Tender 1 (option B) - A Coupland (surfacing) Ltd. 
This tender was submitted by the supplier as an alternative solution to the 
Council’s specification.

3.4   The tenders were evaluated against the standard terms and conditions of the 
RFQ along with the specification. Quality and price (predefined quality/cost 
criteria at a ratio of 40/60) were evaluated which resulted in the following 
rankings (A Coupland (surfacing) Ltd offering the best value under option B); 

Company Tendered price (£)

Tender 1 (option A) 25,496.45
Tender 1 (option B) 18,758.36
Tender 2 
Tender 3
Tender 4

Quality 
Criteria

C
rit

er
io

n 
W

ei
gh

tin
g

Te
nd

er
 1

 
(o

pt
io

n 
A

) 
sc

or
e

Te
nd

er
 1

 
(o

pt
io

n 
B

) 
sc

or
e Comments  

Compliance 
with 
specification

60% 60% 50% Option B score is adjusted in 
the light of the reduced 
compliance with specification

Price 40% 40% 56% Option A scores maximum 
points when the tender is 
assessed against the 
specification. However, as 
option B is more cost 
effective then it scores higher 
for value for money. 

TOTAL 100% 100% 106%

Test that Tender 1 (options A and B) offer value for money: 

3.5 As the Council received just one tender for the above it has been necessary to 
establish if the tender is offered at a competitive price. To establish this, we 
calculated the value of the tender as a unit rate (per sqm) and compared this to 

287



the unit rate offered by supplier who have tendered for work to a similar 
specification during 2016.

3.6   Contract award at the time was based on unit rates which compare as follows:

        Unit rate comparison: 

Comparison Item used for 
comparison

Unit rate 
2019 per sqm

Unit rate 2016 
per sqm 

Tender 1 
sample price

Supply, lay and roll 60mm 
thick AC 20 dense binder 
course

£13.73 £18.73

Tender 1
sample price

Supply, lay and roll 40mm 
thick AC 10 dense 
surface course

£11.77 £14.34

        With inflation adjustment (average 2% per annum) the current figures are very   
        competitive.

3.7 Value engineering, Clarifications and Options

In addition to the price offered by company offering Tender 1 (option A), they 
provided an alternative and more cost-effective solution as follows:

Option B – variations to specification;
I Excavate and regrade to shape new levels (existing surface)
ii. Utilise existing surface as sub base thereby reducing extent of binder course 
from 637sqm to 470sqm.
iii. Supply, lay and roll to 75mm average depth MOT type 1 with a fall towards 
the field side of the car park (as opposed to filling void areas and laying MOT 
type 1 to create fall from the East to West – towards the park side of the car 
park)
iv. Omit specified drainage and install French drain to field side. 

As option B offers a significant saving against the works as specified we are 
inclined to recommend accordingly and, on the understanding, that the 
alternative offer will:

         -    Provide a durable surface fit for purpose.
         -    A French drain will be installed on the field side of the car park and will be fit 
              for purpose.
         -    Provide better value for money.

3.8   Theoretically by opting for tender 1 (option B) there is a net surplus of 
£10,241.55 against the £29,000 budget. However, there are several additional 
work requirements omitted from the tender pack which require completion – 
including; barrier relocation, line marking etc (Separate quotations will be 
sought for these additional works and outcomes managed to ensure completion 
within budget)

 

288



3.9    In addition, an element of this budget surplus will enable us to compensate the 
£1003.00 funding shortfall in respect tenders received to facilitate the provision 
of the new car park at Queen Elizabeth Park – see report FM0016

3.10 The financial outcome of the proposals mentioned above will be; project delivery 
of both car park projects (Wyndham and Queen Elizabeth park) within budget.

3.11 Tender analysis:

Arithmetic Check; 

An arithmetical check was carried out as part of the price evaluation and no errors 
were detected. 

        Due Diligence; 

Compliance with standard terms and conditions has been checked.

3.12   Form of Contract

         RFQ Standard terms and conditions.

3.13 Programme of works 

A programme of works has been provided by company offering Tender 1 which 
confirms their ability to complete the works in accordance with our 
requirements.  With works scheduled to complete within 4 weeks we anticipate 
potential completion by the start of the school Summer Holidays. 

3.14 Cost and quality control  

As tenders have been priced on the basis of a full suite of tender documents 
(bill of quantities, drawings, technical specifications etc) the price is fixed. 

3.15 Payment for the works will be made upon satisfactory completion of the 
        contract. 

3.16 All costs will be closely monitored to ensure that spend is within the project 
budget of £29,000. 

3.17 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

Alternative surfacing, permeable solution:

3.18 Considerations was given to the use of an alternative type of surfacing. However, 
in the interests of the landscape design continuation of the existing car park 
surfacing was considered most appropriate. In addition, the costs savings (if any) 
for using an alternative system were negligible. 

289



(4) COMMENTS FROM FINANCIAL SERVICES 

4.1 The financial implications are included in the body of this report.  The contract 
value is within the £29k budget approved for this project.  

(5) COMMENTS FROM LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

5.1 The award of Contract is in accordance with the Council’s Contract 
Procurement and Procedure Rules.  

(6) OFFICER CONTACT

Steve Frisby, Parks Contract Manager, Corporate Operations Team.    
01476 406080 ext: 6016 
s.frisby@southkesteven.gov.uk

(7) DATE DECISION EFFECTIVE:

If decision taken on 12 August date effective will be 21 August subject to no 
call-in being received.

290

mailto:s.frisby@southkesteven.gov.uk


CABINET MEMBER 
DECISION

Decision:   

That approval is granted to award the contract in the sum of 
£18,758.36 to A Coupland (Surfacing) Ltd to facilitate the delivery of 
the car park extension at Wyndham Park, Grantham having 
achieved the highest score on the cost/quality evaluation and 
considered to be the most economically advantageous tender 
received by the Council.

(1) Details of Decision

To seek approval for the award of a contract to facilitate delivery of the car park 
extension at Wyndham Park, Grantham.

(2) Considerations/Evidence

Considerations was given to the use of an alternative type of surfacing. However, in 
the interests of the landscape design continuation of the existing car park surfacing 
was considered most appropriate. In addition, the costs savings (if any) for using an 
alternative system were negligible. 

(3) Reasons for Decision:

In March 2019 the Council approved funding to the value of £29,000 for the extension 
of the car parking facilities at Wyndham Park.  Four local suppliers were invited to 
respond to a Request for Quotation (RFQ) priced against work requirements detailed 
within a written specification supported by standard terms and conditions. A process 
delivered in accordance with the Council’s Contract Procurement and Procedures 
Rules.

Procurement Method / Tender process applied:

A Request for Quotation (with standard terms and conditions, written specification, 
quantities and drawings) was issued to 4 suitably experience contractors. 

Tenders returned and evaluation:

Just one supplier tendered for the work before the closing date of 17th May 2019, as 
follows:

291



Tender 1 (option A) - A Coupland (surfacing) Ltd. 
This tender was produced in accordance with the Council’s specification. 

Tender 1 (option B) - A Coupland (surfacing) Ltd. 
This tender was submitted by the supplier as an alternative solution to the 
Council’s specification.

The tenders were evaluated against the standard terms and conditions of the RFQ 
along with the specification. Quality and price (predefined quality/cost criteria at a ratio 
of 40/60) were evaluated which resulted in the following rankings (A Coupland 
(surfacing) Ltd offering the best value under option B); 

Company Tendered price (£)

Tender 1 (option A) 25,496.45
Tender 1 (option B) 18,758.36
Tender 2 
Tender 3
Tender 4

Quality 
Criteria

C
rit

er
io

n 
W

ei
gh

tin
g

Te
nd

er
 

1 
(o

pt
io

n 
A

) 
sc

or
e

Te
nd

er
 

1 
(o

pt
io

n 
B

) 
sc

or
e Comments  

Compliance 
with 
specification

60% 60% 50% Option B score is adjusted in 
the light of the reduced 
compliance with specification

Price 40% 40% 56% Option A scores maximum 
points when the tender is 
assessed against the 
specification. However, as 
option B is more cost 
effective then it scores higher 
for value for money. 

TOTAL 100% 100% 106%

As the Council received just one tender for the above it has been necessary to 
establish if the tender is offered at a competitive price. To establish this, we calculated 
the value of the tender as a unit rate (per sqm) and compared this to the unit rate 
offered by supplier who have tendered for work to a similar specification during 2016.

Contract award at the time was based on unit rates which compare as follows:

292



        Unit rate comparison: 

Comparison Item used for 
comparison

Unit rate 
2019 per sqm

Unit rate 2016 
per sqm 

Tender 1 

sample price

Supply, lay and roll 60mm 
thick AC 20 dense binder 
course

£13.73 £18.73

Tender 1

sample price

Supply, lay and roll 40mm 
thick AC 10 dense 
surface course

£11.77 £14.34

With inflation adjustment (average 2% per annum) the current figures are very 
competitive.

In addition to the price offered by company offering Tender 1 (option A), they provided 
an alternative and more cost-effective solution as follows:

Option B – variations to specification;
I Excavate and regrade to shape new levels (existing surface)
ii. Utilise existing surface as sub base thereby reducing extent of binder course 
from 637sqm to 470sqm.
iii. Supply, lay and roll to 75mm average depth MOT type 1 with a fall towards the 
field side of the car park (as opposed to filling void areas and laying MOT type 1 
to create fall from the East to West – towards the park side of the car park)
iv. Omit specified drainage and install French drain to field side. 

As option B offers a significant saving against the works as specified we are 
inclined to recommend accordingly and, on the understanding that the alternative 
offer will:

         -    Provide a durable surface fit for purpose.
-    A French drain will be installed on the field side of the car park and will be fit 
for purpose.

         -    Provide better value for money.

Theoretically by opting for tender 1 (option B) there is a net surplus of £10,241.55 
against the £29,000 budget. However, there are several additional work requirements 
omitted from the tender pack which require completion – including; barrier relocation, 
line marking etc (Separate quotations will be sought for these additional works and 
outcomes managed to ensure completion within budget)
 
In addition, an element of this budget surplus will enable us to compensate the 
£1003.00 funding shortfall in respect tenders received to facilitate the provision of the 
new car park at Queen Elizabeth Park – see report FM0016

293



The financial outcome of the proposals mentioned above will be; project delivery of 
both car park projects (Wyndham and Queen Elizabeth Park) within budget.

Tender analysis:

Arithmetic Check - An arithmetical check was carried out as part of the price 
evaluation and no errors were detected. 

Due Diligence - Compliance with standard terms and conditions has been checked.

Form of Contract - RFQ Standard terms and conditions.

Programme of works 

A programme of works has been provided by company offering Tender 1 which 
confirms their ability to complete the works in accordance with our requirements.  With 
works scheduled to complete within 4 weeks we anticipate potential completion by the 
start of the school Summer Holidays. 

Cost and quality control  

As tenders have been priced on the basis of a full suite of tender documents (bill of 
quantities, drawings, technical specifications etc) the price is fixed. 

Payment for the works will be made upon satisfactory completion of the         contract. 

All costs will be closely monitored to ensure that spend is within the project budget of 
£29,000. 

Conflicts of Interest

(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded).

NONE

Dispensations

(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted).

NONE

294



Decision taken by:

Name: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations

Date of Decision: 12 August 2019

Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 13 August 2019 

Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups):

21 August 2019 

295



This page is intentionally left blank



NON KEY DECISION:
REPORT TO CABINET MEMBER

DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley 
Cabinet Member for Commercial and                    
Operations

REPORT AUTHOR: Steve Frisby, Parks Contract Manager
                                 Corporate Operations Team
                                 01476 406080 ext: 6016 
                                 s.frisby@southkesteven.gov.uk

REPORT NO.: FM0016

DATE: 2nd August 2019

SUBJECT OF
NON KEY
DECISION:

Award of Capital Works Contract (New car park); Queen 
Elizabeth Park, Grantham. FM0016

CABINET 
MEMBER REMIT:

Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations

CRIME AND 
DISORDER 
IMPLICATIONS:

None Identified 

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION 
ACT 
IMPLICATIONS:

N/A

INITIAL EQUALITY 
IMPACT 
ASSESSMENT

Carried out and appended 
to report?

N/A

Full impact assessment 
required?

No
BACKGROUND 
PAPERS: None

(1) PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 The report is to;

1. Obtain approval for the award a contract to facilitate the provision of a new car 
park; Queen Elizabeth Park, Grantham.

2. Confirm compliance with the Council’s approved purchasing process.

297

Appendix 6



3. Ensure commencement of contract by August 2019 and completion within a 
timeframe of four weeks.

1.2 Tender evaluation summary:

Summary Scores

Supplier
Method 

Statement 
Score

Price Score
Total Score 

(Award 
Criteria)

Rank 

Tender 1 60 37 97 1
Tender 2 0 0.00 0.00 0
Tender 3 0 0.00 0.00 0
Tender 4 0 0.00 0.00 0

 Opted Out of the Process (No bid received)

(2) RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 That the contract to the tendered value of £31003 be awarded to Tender 1 - A 
Coupland (surfacing) Ltd having achieved the highest score on the cost/quality 
evaluation and considered to be the most economically advantageous tender 
received by the Council.

(3) REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)
(including any alternative options considered and rejected)

3.1 During March 2019 the Council approved funding to the value of £30,000 for 
the provision of a car park at Queen Elizabeth Park.  Four local suppliers were 
invited to respond to a Request for Quotation (RFQ) priced against work 
requirements detailed within a written specification supported by standard 
terms and conditions. A process delivered in accordance with the Councils 
procurement framework and EU treaty principals.

3.2 Procurement Method / Tender process applied 

A Request for Quotation (with standard terms and conditions, written 
specification, quantities and drawings) was issued to 4 suitably experience 
contractors. 

3.3 Tenders returned and evaluation

Just one supplier tendered for the work before the closing date of 17th May 
2019, as follows:

298



Tender 1 - A Coupland (surfacing) Ltd

3.4      The tender was evaluated against the standard terms and conditions of the RFQ 
along with the specification. Quality and price (predefined quality/cost criteria at 
a ratio of 40/60) were evaluated which resulted in the following rankings (A 
Coupland (surfacing) Ltd offering the best value); 

Company Tendered price (£)

Tender 1 31,003
Tender 2 0
Tender 3 0
Tender 4 0

Quality Criteria

C
rit

er
io

n 
W

ei
gh

tin
g

Te
nd

er
 1

 
sc

or
e Comments  

Compliance with 
specification

60% 60%

Price 40% 37% Over budget but surplus budget 
available via the Wyndham Park 
car park project (see report 
FM0015)

TOTAL 100% 97%

            Test that Tender 1 offers value for money: 

3.5 As we received just one tender for the above it has been necessary to 
establish if the tender is offered at a competitive price. To establish this, we 
calculated the value of the tender as a unit rate (per sqm) and compared this 
to the unit rate offered by supplier who have tendered for work to an identical 
specification during 2016.

3.6      By comparison the contract awarded at that time was based on a unit rate of   
           £42.02 per sqm.

           Unit rate comparison: 

Comparison Unit rate Notes
 Tender 1 £44.28 per sqm Compared to tendered unit rates 

received during 2016 the price 
would still be below inflation 
adjusted price of £44.59 per sqm

299



Previous 
winning tender 
(2016)

£42.02 per sqm With inflation adjustment 
(average 2% per annum) this 
figure would now be in the region 
of £44.59 per sqm

3.7 Value engineering

          As the budget for this development is set at £30,000 and the tender is £31,003     
- we propose to use an element of the projected £10,241.55 underspend from 
the Wyndham Park car park project (see report ref FM0015) to support the 
Queen Elizabeth Park scheme.

3.8     The financial outcome of the proposals mentioned above will be; project 
delivery of both car park projects (Wyndham and Queen Elizabeth park) within 
budget.

3.9 Tender analysis 

Arithmetic Check; 

An arithmetical check was carried out as part of the price evaluation and no 
errors were detected. 

3.10   Due Diligence; 

Compliance with standard terms and conditions has been checked.

3.11 Form of Contract

RFQ Standard terms and conditions.

3.12 Programme of works 

A programme of works has been provided by company offering Tender 1 
which confirms their ability to complete the works in accordance with our 
requirements. With works scheduled to complete within 4 weeks we anticipate 
completion by the start of the school Summer Holidays. 

3.13 Cost and quality control  

As tenders have been priced on the basis a full suite of tender documents (bill 
of quantities, drawings, technical specifications etc) the price is fixed but 
subject to mathematical adjustment (using tendered unit rate) to align with our 
budget.

3.14 Payment for the works will be made upon satisfactory completion of the 
contract. 

300



3.15 All costs will be closely monitored to ensure that spend is within the project 
budget of £30,000. 

3.16 Consents; Highways, Environment Agency and Planning

All consents have been secured

3.17 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

Alternative surfacing, impermeable solution:

Considerations was given to the use of an alternative type of surfacing. 
However, in the interests of the landscape a softer, permeable solution, was the 
most appropriate solution. In addition, the costs savings (if any) for using an 
alternative system were negligible. 

(4) COMMENTS FROM FINANCIAL SERVICES 

4.1 The financial implications are included in the body of this report.  The award of 
this contract is higher than the budget of £30k allocated to this project but it is 
proposed that £1k is transferred from the Wyndham Park Car Park budget 
underspend.

(5) COMMENTS FROM LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

5.1 The award of Contract is in accordance with the Council’s Contract 
Procurement and Procedure Rules.  

(6) OFFICER CONTACT

Steve Frisby, Parks Contract Manager
Corporate Operations Team.    
01476 406080 ext: 6016 
s.frisby@southkesteven.gov.uk

(7) DATE DECISION EFFECTIVE:

If decision taken on Monday 12 August date effective will be 21 
Wednesday 21 August subject to no call-in being received.

301

mailto:s.frisby@southkesteven.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET MEMBER 
DECISION

Decision:   

That approval is granted to award the tender to facilitate the 
provision of a new car park; Queen Elizabeth Park, Grantham in the 
sum of £31,003 to A Coupland (surfacing) Ltd having achieved the 
highest score on the cost/quality evaluation and considered to be 
the most economically advantageous tender received by the 
Council.

(1) Details of Decision

To seek approval for the award a contract to facilitate the provision of a new car park; 
Queen Elizabeth Park, Grantham

(2) Considerations/Evidence

Considerations was given to the use of an alternative type of surfacing. However, in the 
interests of the landscape a softer, permeable solution, was the most appropriate 
solution. In addition, the costs savings (if any) for using an alternative system were 
negligible.

(3) Reasons for Decision:

During March 2019 the Council approved funding to the value of £30,000 for the 
provision of a car park at Queen Elizabeth Park.  Four local suppliers were invited to 
respond to a Request for Quotation (RFQ) priced against work requirements detailed 
within a written specification supported by standard terms and conditions. A process 
delivered in accordance with the Councils procurement framework and EU treaty 
principals.

Procurement Method / Tender process applied 

A Request for Quotation (with standard terms and conditions, written specification, 
quantities and drawings) was issued to 4 suitably experience contractors. 

Tenders returned and evaluation

303



Just one supplier tendered for the work before the closing date of 17th May 2019, as 
follows:

Tender 1 - A Coupland (surfacing) Ltd

The tender was evaluated against the standard terms and conditions of the RFQ along 
with the specification. Quality and price (predefined quality/cost criteria at a ratio of 
40/60) were evaluated which resulted in the following rankings (A Coupland (surfacing) 
Ltd offering the best value); 

Company Tendered price (£)

Tender 1 31,003
Tender 2 0
Tender 3 0
Tender 4 0

Quality Criteria

C
rit

er
io

n 
W

ei
gh

tin
g

Te
nd

er
 

1 
sc

or
e Comments  

Compliance with 
specification

60% 60%

Price 40% 37% Over budget but surplus budget 
available via the Wyndham Park 
car park project (see report 
FM0015)

TOTAL 100% 97%

As we received just one tender for the above it has been necessary to establish if the 
tender is offered at a competitive price. To establish this, we calculated the value of the 
tender as a unit rate (per sqm) and compared this to the unit rate offered by supplier 
who have tendered for work to an identical specification during 2016.

By comparison the contract awarded at that time was based on a unit rate of   
£42.02 per sqm.

304



Unit rate comparison: 

Comparison Unit rate Notes

 Tender 1 £44.28 per sqm Compared to tendered unit rates 
received during 2016 the price 
would still be below inflation 
adjusted price of £44.59 per sqm

Previous 
winning tender 
(2016)

£42.02 per sqm With inflation adjustment 
(average 2% per annum) this 
figure would now be in the region 
of £44.59 per sqm

As the budget for this development is set at £30,000 and the tender is £31,003     - we 
propose to use an element of the projected £10,241.55 underspend from the Wyndham 
Park car park project (see report ref FM0015) to support the Queen Elizabeth Park 
scheme.

The financial outcome of the proposals mentioned above will be; project delivery of both 
car park projects (Wyndham and Queen Elizabeth park) within budget.

Tender analysis 

Arithmetic Check - An arithmetical check was carried out as part of the price evaluation 
and no errors were detected. 

Due Diligence - Compliance with standard terms and conditions has been checked.

Form of Contract - RFQ Standard terms and conditions.

Programme of works 

A programme of works has been provided by company offering Tender 1 which 
confirms their ability to complete the works in accordance with our requirements. With 
works scheduled to complete within 4 weeks we anticipate completion by the start of 
the school Summer Holidays. 
Cost and quality control  

As tenders have been priced on the basis a full suite of tender documents (bill of 
quantities, drawings, technical specifications etc) the price is fixed but subject to 
mathematical adjustment (using tendered unit rate) to align with our budget.

Payment for the works will be made upon satisfactory completion of the contract. 

All costs will be closely monitored to ensure that spend is within the project budget of 
£30,000. 

305



Consents; Highways, Environment Agency and Planning - All consents have been 
secured

Conflicts of Interest

(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded).

NONE

Dispensations

(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted).

NONE

Decision taken by:

Name: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations

Date of Decision: 12 August 2019

Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 13 August 2019 

Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups):

21 August 2019 

306


	Agenda
	4 Local Plan (Key Decision)
	Appendix 1 Schedule of Main Modifications
	Schedule of Main Modifcations
	MM Appendix 1 Figure 41, page 205
	MM Appendix 2 Key Diagram to be inserted on page 45 of the plan following strategic Ob
	MM Appendix 3 Monitoring Framework
	MM Appendix 4 Schedule of Saved Policies to be include at appendix 5

	Appendix 2 Schedule of Policy Map Modifications
	Appendix 3 Sustainbility Appraisal Addendum
	Appendix 4 Local Development Scheme 2019-2022

	5 University Centre, South Kesteven (Key Decision)
	6 Witham Slea Blue/Green Corridor (Key Decision)
	7 Climate change emergency
	8 Matters Referred to Cabinet by the Council or Overview & Scrutiny Committees
	OSC_App1

	10 Cabinet Forward Plan
	1 Sept 2019 to 31 August 2020

	11 Items raised by Cabinet Members including reports on Key and Non Key Decisions taken under Delegated Powers.
	PD0124 - 280619 - NKD Sale of Mkt Deeping Town Hall
	Market Deeping Town Hall - Heads of Terms (Disposal) - Without Prejudice and Subject to Contract
	KC PD0124 08.07.19
	ENV718 FHS workplan_
	FINAL FHS workplan 19-20
	PM  ENV718 08.07.19
	ENV719 Gambling Policy Statement
	Appendix 1 (Cab)
	Appendix 2
	PM ENV719 11.07.19
	RIM 0422 Purchase of land in Grantham. Non Key Decision  24.7.19 clean
	RIM0422 EXEMPT APPENDIX 1 - DETAILS RELEVANT TO THE TRANSACTION  FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
	RIM0422 EXEMPT APPENDIX 2 - SITE PLAN
	RIM0422 Exempt Appendix 3 Heads of Terms
	BD RIM0422 05.08.19
	FM0015 - Wyndham Park NKD
	FM0015_DN
	FM0016 Queen Elizabeth Park NKD
	FM0016_DN




